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Introduction

A.G. Barr is a UK-based branded multi beverage
business focused on growth and the creation of
long-term shareholder value.

Ambitious and value driven, with strong consumer
focus, we are brand owners and builders, offering
a diverse and differentiated portfolio of brands
that people love.

Established over 145 years ago in Scotland, now
operating across the UK and with export markets
throughout the world, we strive to grow our business
both organically and through targeted acquisition.

Employing over 1,000 people across four business units
and ten UK locations, we are proud to be a responsible
business that listens to our consumers, builds lasting

Our locations

customer relationships, takes care of our people, values @ ofices
diversity, gives something back to our communities and Cumbernauld - Head Office; Bolton (Barr Soft
o ) . inks): FUNKIN); Dept OMA);
works to minimise our environmentalimpact. Drinks): Camden (FUNKINY: Deptford (MOMA):
Leeds (Boost)
Barr Soft Drinks
. Factories

g ' Curnbernauld; Miitor Keynes; Forfar

. Distribution centres
Cumbernauld; Miltar: Keynes

. Distribution depots
Dagenham; Mostor; Wednesbury

r more information visit our website agharr.co.ule (]
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Purpose, values and culture

Our purpose is:

To create value, with values -
for our shareholders, consumers,
customers and for society as a whole

We do this by:

Building great brands

Qur business purpese has always been
underpinned by strong values. We
believe that how we act reflects who
and what we are. We strive to behave

responsibly across our four core values:

For over 145 years we have developed
a positive, results-driven and supportive
culture. As we grow our business
ergarically and through acquisition,
itis important that we retain the
entrepreneurial spirit of the new and
exciting additions to our Group, while
also ensuring that we continue to value
and nurture the unique essence of
what makes A.G. Barr a great business
to be part of.

For more information o ultur
and employee volues see pages 34 19 38 =

Acting with Respecting the
integrity environment

Supporting Giving back
healthy living
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Corporate Governance

Our section 172(1} statement describing how the
directors have had regard to the matters set out in
section 172(1)(a) to {f} when performing their duties
under section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 is set
out in the Carporate Governance Report an pages
60 to 71 and is incorporated by reference into this
Strategic Repart.
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2023 highlights

Highlligihitis
. @@ﬁ Tilne}yveci

Revenue Adjusted profit before tax* Employee engagement
%

£317.6m £43.5m 75%
+18.2% +13.3%

Acquisitions
Basic earnings per share (EPS) Full year dividend* during the year
30.47p 13.1p 2
+21.4% , Boost drinks and MOMA.

No Time To Waste Environmental
Womenin Leadership Sustainability Progromme

38% 100%

Science-based targets approved
and our first 100% recycled plastic
bottles in market.

For more infor i ur N ial KPls see page 32—

e non-GAAP rreasures. Definitions and relevant
@ Glossary on pages 189 1o 204.

Items marked with ar asteris
reconciliations are provided




Our investment case
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FIND OUT MORE ABOUT QUR
COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGES
Our business model can be found

on pages8and9

Ambitious with Strong corebrandswith  Clear growth
volue-driven strategy challenger mentality opportunities
Disciplined Responsible Financial
capital allocation and sustainable strength

in us?
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Our business and brands

We are brand owners and builders, offering a diverse
and differentiated portfolio of brands that people love.

Barr Soft Drinks

Atour core is the Barr Soft Drinks business unit,
home to some of the UK’s most loved soft
drinks brands.

Whether it's the iconic IRN-BRU, launched in 1901
and still going strong today, the vibrant RUBICON
fruit based brand or the unique range of BARR
flavours, Barr Soft Drinks’ brands offer people a
choice of great tasting products and bring exciting
innovation to the market, available across

multiple channels.

Established

Business units Number of brands

4 16

Employees

1875

922

FUNKIN

Our FUNKIN business unit operates within the exciting
and growing cocktail market.

Real fruit means authentic taste and FUNKIN believes
that to shake the best cocktail you have to use'the best
ingredients. That's why they use the best fruit to create
their premium products, famous amongst top
bartenders. Now the UK's number 1 cocktail brand
FUNKIN provides innovative and unique purées, syrups.
mixers and ready to drink cocktails, for behind the bar
and at home. Making ordinary moments extraordinary.

Established

Acquired Employees

1999

2015 42
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Number of employees UK Sites _)

INFORMATION ON OUR FULL
’ . PORTFOLIO OF BRANDS

can he found at www.agbarr.co.uk/our-brands

MOMA s006 3022 W

MOMA uses a blend of the highest quality
wholegrain jumbo oats that give its oat drinks a
full-bodied flavour and its porridge a distinctively
creamy texture.

MOMA believes in crafting simple, natural
ingredients into food and drink that tastes awesome,
because a little extra skill and care turns ‘good for
yau' into ‘great’.

Boost 2006 2022 34

Our BOOST business is always looking for new trends
and to appeal to the evolving tastes of drinkers.

Proud to offer an exciting range of flavours across
several functional drinks categories — Energy
Stimulation, Sport and Iced Coffee — BOOST enjoys

a very strong position within the UK independent retait
channel and has an exclusive sales and distribution
partnership with the fruit drinks brand RIO.
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Chair’s introduction

64

I am incredibly proud to have taken

on the role of Chair at A.G. Barr. | am
delighted to report that the business
has made excellent progress in pursuit
of both its strategic objectives and its
short-term operating performance.

99

Mark Allen OBE
Chair

Overview

Following the challenges of the glabai pandernic we
had all hoped for & period of more stability and perhaps
sorme return to normality, however the tragic events in
Ukraine nave led directly to a significant tevel of human
suffering and we have all felt 3 sense of coilective grief.
We have also seen the rise of global econornic
uncertainty, rampant inflation and the resultant cost

of living =risis impacting consumers and businesses.

Against this difficult backdrop the whole team across
the A.G. Barr Group has delivered an excellent
performance. Reported revenue grew by 18.2%
year-on-year and we finished the year with adjusted
profit before tax* of £43.5m, 12.3% shead of the
prior yeer.

Highlights during the year included:

.+ Strong growth across our soft drinks portfolio

as consumers return to more established
purchasing patterns, post parndernic
« Innovation and growth in cocitails across alt
channels as FUNKIN consolidated its position as the
Nurnoer 1 cocktail brand in the UK take horrie market
«  The strength of our balance sheet, our clear strategy
and scalable business model have supported the
exciting acquisition: of Boost Drinks and the early
completicn of our planned acquisition of the
remaining equity in MOMA Foods

The entire A.G. Barr team has remairied focused on
delivering our brand building strategy, investing for
growth and creating a business we are proud of.

Dividend

The Board is pleased to miaintain its progressive
dividenco policy and recormmends a final dividend
of 10.6p per share to give a proposed totat dividend
for the full year of 13.1p per share. The final dividend
is payabie on 9 June 2023 to shareholders on the
Register of Members at the ciose of business on

12 May 2023. The ex-dividend date is 11 May 2023.



Board

In the reparting period we said a fond fareweil to John
Nicolson who | succeeded i the role of Chair in March
2022, It has been a pleasure to transition into tiie role
waorking atongside our diverse, experienced and
capable Board and managernent team.

Succession planning is an important Board
responsinility and with that in mind | can confirm that
after over 62 years with the business, Rokin Barr has
infarmed me of his intertion to step down from the
Board at the Annual General Meeting in 2023. Robir
epitoniises ait that is great in UK corporate leadership
- knowiedge, honesty, balance, commitment and
capability. NGt 1© mention experience and & Qreat sense
of humour. We will all miss Robin's counsel and
cararaderie but after 58 years on the Board we can
understand his decision. | am delighted o announce
that Julie Barr will relinquish her Company Secretarial
duties to join the Board as a Non-Executive Director.
Juiie. who has been with the Company for 19 years,
and is a qualified corporate lawyer, will stand for
election at the Annual General Meeting in May.

We will continue 1o seek to strengthen the capatility,
diversity and experience of our Board as we grow and
develop the Company.

Responsibility

A.G. Barr has always put responsikle behaviour at the
rieart of its business and the last year has seen further
excellent progress across our core areas of focus.

Our environmentat sustainatility prograrmime No Time
To Waste has continued to drive innovative thinking and
actions across & wide range of aress. We have now
agreed and validated our science-based targets as we
head towards our net-zero ambition. We have increased
our use of more sustainable packaging and are taking

& very active role in the run ug to the launch of the
Deposit Return Scheme (DRS) in Scotland, planned for
August 2023.

Strategic Report

People and culture

| believe that A.G. Barr has a unique and positive culture
whict although longstanding, is ernbodied, nurtured
and developed by the executive leadership team. With
high levels of colleague engagement across the Group.
each operating business has its own unique feel, but
are all connected by some shared A.G. Barr cultural
characteristics — a challenger mentality, a peogple first
approach and a drive for performance.

Whiist we have performed well as a Group, in these
challenging times we recognise that many of cur tearn
are facing a period of difficulty and where pcssible we
have taken steps to support our colleagues. Where
appropriate we have tried to maske our working patterns
as flexible as possible. We continue to provide mental
health support to those who want our help and made
two special cost of living payrnents during the course
of the year to those in our business who need it most.
We are equally as proud of our values and behaviours
as we are of our performance.

Prospects .

There remain many headwinds to consider as we look
forward, however | am confident that the brand
rmornentum, quality and strategy of the business will
contirue tc deliver superior returns to shareholders for
rnany years to corme.

SN

Mark Allen OBE
Chair
28 Marchi 2023

Iterns marked with an astarisk are non-GAAP measures. Definitions and relevant

reconciliations ate provided in the Glossary on pages 195 to 204.

Corporole Governance Accounts

Creating valuve

Basic Earnings Per Share

Reported profit attributable to equity
holders divided by weighted average
number of shares in issue.

Dividend

Total dividend declared for the full year
excluding any special dividend.
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Our business model

First and foremost we build great brands. We also
believe that how we operate sets us apart from the
competition. With more than 145 years of history and
heritage, coupled with a track record of successful
acquisitions, we believe we have a unique blend of
experience and entrepreneurialism - all of whichis
built on our longstanding desire to act responsibly.

— WHAT WE DO

We make...

We pride ourselves on our safe and effective
manufacturing capabilities. We produce high quality
products across our well-invested and efficient Barr
Soft Drinks production sites in Cumbernauld,
Forfar and Milton Keynes. With glass. carton,

We move...

Operating across multiple
routes to market, we have a
well established and efficient
distribution network servicing
our diverse sales channels.

Our people

Our fleet/network

1,014

We are now a bigger Group with

four pusiness units, each with its owr
distinct team and its own unique
cuiture. However what we all share,
across the A.G. Barr Group. is a positive
chaiterger mentality and a focus

on resulits. Whether it's aur newer
coiteagues at MOMA or our
experienced team at Barr Soft Drinks,
we hgve 3 passion for our progucts
and 3 belief that we ¢an succeed,
even when positioned beside giobal
cempetitors. Ye work collaboratively.
enjoy high levels of employee
engagement and are proud of our
talented and committed tearns who
are central to our success.

Our brands

65

With our own fleet of more than

65 vehicles. as well as long-standing
refationiships with our key distribution
partners, our business Model supports
our drive to deliver great service o all Gur
custorners, from the biggest food service
custorner to the smallest local shop.

Our direct suppliers

70+

We work in partnership with cur
key suppliers to ensure high quality
products that are sourced and
manufactured in a fair, ethical and
environmentally respensible way.

Our UK locations

16

Quir brands are as special as our people.

From the unigue taste of IRN-BRU 1o
the premium oar quality of our FUNKIN
Cocktails. we pride ourselves on our
diverse and dilferantiate portfolio

of branded products that meet the
changing needs of our consumers and
offer great choice and value. We listen
carefully to our consumers and. as
brand cwners. we are able to develop
and innavate across our portfolio with
creativily, pace and insight.

10

Vile operate across ten UK sites — our
Cumbernauld site is horne to our
Head Oflice. as well as Barr Soft Drinks
manufacturing, warehousing and sales
offices, and across the rest of the UK
we have offices at Boiton, Camden,
Leeds and Deptford, two further
manufacturing faciiities at Milton
Keynes and Foifar, and three regional
distribution depots at Moston,
Wedriesbury and Dagenhani.

We behave
responsibly...

Qur Barr Direct channel

in particular sets us apart,

by offering a tailored and
personal direct to store service
to thousands of independent
retailers across the UK.

plastic and can capability, we produce ove- 99% of
Barr Soft Drinks’ praducts in-house. We also now
produce FUNKIN's unique nitro-infused ready to
drink cocktails in cans at Miiton Keynes. We source
all our raw materials, with a particular competency
in exotic fruit, develop our own recipes and design
all our packaging - alt underpinned with the aim of
reducing our environmentalimpact and delivering
continuous improvement.

FUNKIN's ready to drink cans now
produced at Milton Keynes.

Underpir ning everything we do is our belief that how we

act reflects who we are. We take our responsibilities seriously
and continuously strive to be a sustainable and resporisible
business that listens o our consumers, takes care of our
pecple, walues diversity, works to minimise cur environrnentat
impact 3" gives scmething back to the communities we
serve. We have an important role to play in the transition

10 a low =arbon and climate-resilient economy and this is



We market...

From IRN-BRU's signature style of
maverick adverts to Boost's connection
with sporting activity, when it comes to
marketing, innovating and building our
brands we like to have some fun and to
appeal to the widest possible range of
consumers. Whether through mainstream
advertising, digital and social media,
sponsorship or supporting local
community events, we use our creativity
and consumer insight to deliver distinctive
and memorable brand building.

becoming an increasingly imporlant and integral part of our

overall A.G. Barr business model.

Qur responsible behaviour also encompasses cur

management of fisk, ensuring that we are thinking ahead and
taking mitigating actions to minirise any potentiat impact en

We sell...

Building long-lasting relationships
with our customers across all our
key markets is fundamental to our
business. Whether it's a large food
retailer, a wholesaler, a regional
restaurant group or a local
independent retailer, we work

collaboratively with all our customers

to understand their businesses and

find winning consumer propositions

in a practical and profitable way.

our business. We have a robust risk management framework in
piace that is empedded across the business, allowing a wide

Strategic Report

range of employees at different levals to contribute to our risk
assessrnent and assurance processes. In the past 12 ronths
we have taken action in response to a number of identified risks,
including making additional payrments to some employees in
the context of the UK's cost of living crisis, 35 well 35 ceasing
trading with customers in Russia at the oriset of the war in Ukraine.

Corporate Governance

Accounts

— WE CREATE VALVUE, WITH VALUES...

Our busi model has p

ful for more

than 145 years and continues to create and deliver
value, with values, to a wide range of stakeholders.

£13.9m of dividends paid during
the year. £17.0m re-invested in
long-term business growth
through annual capital expenditure

£13.9m

n 70 suppliers with an annual
spend of over £10

70+

£44.2m

£44.2m

With 96% of our revenue
generated in the UK, and through
our £6.8m corporation tax and
£5.4m national insurance
payments to the government,
we continue to play our partin
growing the UK economy while
also donating over £90k to good
causes across our communities

Years of responsible actions

145+
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Ovur strategy

Our overarching purpose is to create value, with values - for our

shareholders, consumers, customers and for society as a whole.
We do this by building great brands.

Qur strerregic priorities -

Connecting with
consumers

Consumer insight drives our business.
Consumer preferences are changing and
we take the time to listen, to understand
and to respond proactively to ensure our
portfolio of brands constantly develops
to meet our consumers’ changing needs.

At an A.G. Barr Group level this insight is
a key factor in how we identify potential
acquisition opportunities. We monitor
consumer trends closely, specificaily

in relation to fast moving packaged
consumer goods, specifically identifying
developmenits in the beverage sector

as well as emerging or high growth
categories of interest.

At a business unit level these consumer
trends underpin our approach to
innovation. including product, packaging
and ingredients, as well as our consumer
engagement and marketing activities.

In the past 12 months we have placed

a particular focus on areas such as
digital sales and marketing as well as
using our brands to raise awareness

of our sustainability progress.

Building
brands

We are brand owners and builders,
growing our diverse and differentiated
brand portfolio both organically and
through acquisition.

: Forour existing portfolio of povserful
i brands we do this in a number of ways

- we innovate, we grow brand awareness
and loyalty through consumer
engagement activity, and we build our
product distribution through effective
sales execution with customers.

We are also ambitious, with a proven track
record of successfully acquiring new brands.
Our core competency lies in soft drinks,
however we have broadened our brand

i portfolioin recent years with a particutar

focus across the multi-beverage landscape.

Our strategic priorities bring this purpose
to life and set out the steps we take to build
a great business with great brands.

Driving efficiency

We continually strive for greater
effectiveness across our business.
investing for growth and efficiency,
while also ensuring sirong financial
controls are in place.

+ From investment in new software

platforms to an increasing focus on digital
development and automation. as our
business develops, we are committed to
griving continuous improvement across
our processes and infrastructure.

Ard in our Barr Soft Drinks business unit
we have a well-invested asset base where
we drive operationai improvements and
flexibility through our expansionary capital
investment programmes, equipping us
with some of the industry’s most efficient
operational capability.

Building
trust

Building and maintaining long-tasting
trust and successful relationships is central
to our business and always has been. Our
responsible behaviour over the iast 145
years has created a firm foundation, upon
which we want to build further.

Being a trusted business that acts with
integrity is fundamental to our stakeholder
relationships — from our consumers

and customers to our suppliers and
communities. Equally, as the warld around
us changes, wilh climate change in
particular becoming increasingly more
pressing, our strategic choices are more
thar: ever informea and supported by our
desire to do the right thing and to play our
part in addressing the key issues facing

: the world and society.

We have a clear strategy and quantifiable
goals across our four responsibility
commitments — Acting with Integrity.
Respecting the Environment, Supporting
Healthy Living and Giving Back. Whether
it's our increased use of recycied materials,
our increasing number of women in
leadership roles or our charitable giving.
we are committed to delivering against
our long-term responsibility strategy.

our in Action see pages 18t 29—
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Financial key performance indicators
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NON-FINANCIAL KPIs
Can be found on page 32

Revenue Gross margin* Adjusted profit before tox*

% £43.5
£317.6m 40.3% S5m
18.2% (390)bps 13.3%

The increase in value of revenue recorded relative
to the pricr year.

Adjusted operating margin*

Reported gross profit dividad by reveriue.

Adjusted EBITDA margin*

Agjusted prafit before tax is reporied profit before tax after
agjusting items.

Return on capital employed*

13.6%

{130)bps

Adjusted operaling profit and before the deduction
of interest and taxation, divided by adjusted reveniue.

12.1%

(204)bps

EBITDA {defined as adjusted operating profit before
depreci

tion and amortisation) divided by adjusted revenue.

18.0%

(191)bps

Reported profit before tax as a percentage of invested capital.
Invested capital is defined as year end nori-current pius current
assets less current liabilities excluding all balanices relating to
any provisions. financial instruments, interest-bearing liabilities
and cash or cash equivalents.

Net cash from operating activities Basic earnings per share Full year dividend per share*
£35.9m 30.47p 13.1p
(17.3%) 21.4% 9.2%

Net cash from operaling activities is defined as the cash

generated in the ongoing regular business activities in
the year.

Items matked with an asterisk are non-GAAP measures.

Definitions and relevant reconciliations are provided in the

Glossary on pages 199 to 204

Reported profit attiibutable to equity holders divided
by weighted average number of shares in issue.

Total dividend declared tor the full vear excluding
any special dividend.

—>

CEO AND FINANCIAL REVIEWS
Can be found on pages12 and 56

n
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Chief Executive's review

36

| am pleased to report our results for
the 52 weeks ended 29 January 2023.
Over the past 12 months we delivered
an excellent financial performance and
made significant progress across our
strategic objectives. We emerged from
the pandemic period a stronger
business and | would like to thank

all the teams across the business,

as well as our partners,

suppliers and customers,

for their support.

99

Overview

Tre following financial metrics quantify our strong
performance:

« Reported revenue £317.6m (2022: £268.6m)
Adjusted profit before tax* £43.5m (2022: £38.4m}
« Reported profit before tax £44.4m (2022: £42.2m)
« Adjusted operating margir* 13.6% (2022: 14.9%)

« Netcash at bank* £52.9m (2022: £68.4rn)

» Basic earnings per share 30.47p (2022: 25.09p)

Strategic objectives

QOur overarching purpose - to create vaiue with values
- remained central to A.G. Barr across the year,
underpinned by our consistent strategic pricrities:

« connecting with consumers

+ building brands

« driving efticiency

o Duilding trust

We continued to invest in our brands, cperations arid
people, driving innovation and delivering strong organic
growth across all our business units. We are proud to
have delivered this growth responsibly.

Qur organic growth ambition remains as strong as ever,
3s is our desire to acquire high quality brands with
strong future growth potential. This was evidenced

in 2022 by the completion of tboth the Boost Drinks
Holdings Limited acquisition and the early completion
of fuil ownership of the MOMA business. Operating

in the high arowth functional beverage and oat mitk
categories, both businesses are exciting additions to
the A.G. Barr Group.

As our partfolio grows, so does our opportunity

to increase our connection and engagement with
consumers. By entering different rnarkets, supporting
different consurnption occasions and appealing to
different consumers, we are increasing the long-term
growth potential for the Group as a whole.

While the economic uncertainty being felt across the
UK has the potential to stifle industry and business
progress, we pelieve that both our brand and financist
strengths ensure we are well positioned to invest
through the economic cycle. By driving operational



etfficiency from the bottom up, and by providing
great brands that offer real value to consumers, we
are in a strong position to accelerate our growth
hoth organically and through further acquisition,
ir turn creating long-term shareholder value.

Soft drinks market

The UK's high cost inflation is reflected across the total
UK soft drinks retail market, which saw value increase
by 8.8% whiie volurmes feli by 2.2%. The impact of
righer prices and lower promotional activity. coupied
with the associated impact ori volume and generat
corisurner caution, are mirrored across Carbonates
and Stilts, both of which increased in value and
experienced lower volume. Taking 3 longer term vies,
and comparing to the pre-pandemic soft drinks market
i 2019, soft drinks volumes have grown by 1.5%, with
carbonates the key contribiitor, growing by 5% over the
same period despite the significant headwinds crested
by the pandemic in particular.

At a subcategory level we continue to see some of

the effects of the pandemic unwinding across the

soft drinks retail market. Lemonade, Mixers, Dilutes and
Fruit Juice have declined in both value and voilumne,
reflecting the normalisation of at home consumption
and the steady recovery of the on-trade hosgitality
sector. By conurast, Flavoured Carbonates, Sports and
Energy are increasing in volume, supported by the
recovery of the "drink now” chaninel.

Against this backdrop Barr Soft Drinks has enjoyed
particularly strong rnarket share value gains in England
and Wales halanced by a more subdued performance in
Scotland which did not benefit from the better surnmer
weather experienced in much of the rest of thie UK.

The Boost business, which becare part of the Group
in December 2022, has performed excepticnatly well
within the total soft drinks market across the past 12
months, with a double digit increase in its value and
voluime share.

Strategic Report Carporate Governance Accounts
STRATEGY IN ACTION o f. . I
can be found on pages18to 29 ur rinancia
performance
Cocktail market
The hospitality sector continued its recovery across Revenue

the year despite experiencing significant chatlenges.
The cocktail category in particular has proven its
strength and increasing popularity, with cocktails in the
on-trade now worth £586m, an increase of mere than
13% versus 2C19 pre-pandemic levels. With 9.6 rnillion
UK cecnsumers now drinking cocktails out of home,
1.6 million of whom joined the category since 2019,
cocktails rernain a significant growth opportunity for
the hospitality sector.

The increase in value of revenue
recorded relative to the prior year.

The growth momentum of the ready to drink (RTD)
category in the off-rade has cortinued, with consurners

- increasingly seeking to replicate the bar quality experience

at home, The RTD market has grown to over £500m
and continues to be driven by RTD cocktails which
have grown by more than 20% in value terms over the
past 12 months.

Within this rnarket we are delighted to report that

FUNKIN remains the UK's Number 1 RTD cocktait Adjusted profit before tax

brand. the UK’s fastest growing Top 10 RTD brand

and is now a Top 5 RTD Grocery brand Adjusted profit before tax is reported

profit before tax after adjusting items.

{Sources: CGA Mized Drinks Report C3 2022; Nielsen Pre-Mixed
Alcohoiic Drinks Total Coverage Data MAT 14/01/20232).

Source: IRI Marketplace Total Soft Drinks Markat 52 weeks to 28 January 2023)
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Chief Executive’s review continued

Plant-based milk market

The value of the total plant-based miik market fell by
1.4% in the year to September 2022, driver largely by &
decline in soya, nut and coconut miilks. In contrast, oat
rnilk cantinues to grow, up 13.3% to £166m in the same
period. One in five UK households now purchases oat
milk, with 750.000 rnore households adding it to their
shopping baskets in the last 12 rnonths.

As a challenger oat milk brand, the MOMA business hias
had a particularly strong year, growing by 41% on s year
on year basis. well ahead of the category, driven by
increased sales of its ambient range and distribution
gains for its new chilled range that launched in the
Spring of 2022.

{Sources: Kantar UK Matket 52 weeks ending 04/09/2022; Kantar
UK Househoid Penetration 52 weeks ending 62/16/2022)

C ing with ]

The connection we make with consumers is central

_to our strategy. Over the past 12 ronths we have

continued to invest in a wide range of consumer
marketing, promotion and communication
programmes across our business units and brands.

With a growing consumer base, covering a broad
demoagrsphic and geographic spread, we have evoived
our engagernent approach considerabiy over recent
years. Social and digital media play an increasingiy
irportant role, as does our comrmitment to bringing

a pipelin2 of great tasting, innovative news praducts to
market, in new pack formats which unlock new drinker
occasions. More traditional rnedia channels of TV,
print anc outdosr remiain an important part of our
marketing mix.

The acceleration of the investment i our portfolic
demonsrates the irmportance we piace on supporting
the long-term deveioprvient of our core brands. In
March 2022 we launched our new IRN-BRU “Taste
Debate” campaign on TV, digital and social medis to
ensure cur biggest brand remains fun, fresh and
relevant. We aiso invested in FUNKIN, which launched
its biggest ever brand investment with the highly
successlul “It's FUNKIN Tire” campaiar which ran
throughout the key trading periods of summer and
Christrnas. The FUNKIN brand has significantiy
increased its brand awareness to 45% within the 18-34
year old cohort {Source: Kantar January 2023).

MOMA's award-winning oat milk has high growth
potentia. and we have invested in its first ever above
the line advertising campaign, whicn appeared on
screens at the start of September across TV, outdoor
and digi-al/social channels. The advert highlights how
MOMA is perfectly crafted for both expert and home
coffee creations, as “The Barista’s Choice”,

Sponsorship remains an effective and exciting
engagemenit tool and is a key focus for our Rubicon
RAW Enzrgy brand, supporting its brand positioning
as A Foice of Nature” in the great outdoors. Part of a
rultirition pound marketing carnpaign, the brand
sponsorzd the Boardrnasters Festival in Cornwall in
August 2022 and we are also pleased to have
announced the brand's four year partriership as the
official energy drink of GB Snowsport.

Our recent addition to the brand portfolio. Boost. has
fosterec a strong consumer connection through its
sponsorship of Leeds United Football Club. We are
excited -0 be a part of this successful partnership and
fook forward to building the brand’s awareness in the
year shead.



Building brands

Qur brand building strategy remains focused on

growing awareness, trial and loyalty through consurrner

engagernent activity, increasing our product
distribution through effective sales execution and
supporting brand development through innovation.

Barr Soft Drinks has delivered 5 strong revenue
performance across its core brands.

IRN-BRU's total revenue grew by 6% while velures, as
anticipated, fell by 4%, reflecting the short-term impact
of price changes across the market. The IRN-BRU

Strategic Report

growta strategy has delivered increases in low
caiorie {IRN-BRU XTRA up 9%), increased innovation:
{IRN-BRU 1901 up 5%), development in the Energy
category (IRN-BRU Energy up 15%) and increased
distribution within Englard and Wales.

The Rubicon masterbrand performed very strongly
across all variants — Sparkling up 18%), Stili {up 14%),
Spring (up 27%) and Rubicon RAW Eriergy (up 30%).
It is particularly pleasing to see the acceleratior in
Rubicon Spring which has been in the market for
over s x years and is now the UK's number 1 sparkling
flavoured water brand.

FUNKIN benefited from the recovery of the hospitality
sector arid the ongoing market growth of cocktait
consumption, with on-trade revenue up by 23%. The
rnomentum in the take hormne RTD cocktail cstegory

Corporate Governance Accounts
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Over the past 12 months
we have continued to
invest in a wide range
of consumer marketing,
promotion and
communication
programmes across

our business units

and brands.

99

was sustained with FUNKIN's sales in this channiel

up 8%, consolidating its Number 1 position. FUNKIN
continues to innovate across product, packaging and
formats and in addition has progressed its international
business development, on track to launch a state
specific market trial within the US in 2023.

Qur drive to build a multi-beverage portfolio has made
positive progress across the last year. The successful
acquisition of the Boost and-MOMA busiriesses hightight
our desire to participate in high growth categories
where our brand building expertise and business model
can add significant vaiue.

15
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Chief Executive’s review continued

Driving efficiency

Qur drive for continuous improvernent 3Cross our
assets, processes and technology remains a constant
across the business. This is particularly the case in Barr
Soft Drinks where we invest significantly in our asset
base to drive effi cy and increase our manufacturing
and logistics capacity and capability.

2022 saw us embark on the first phase of an extensive
asset replacement programme st our Curnbernautd
facility. Over the next 3-4 yesrs this prograrmme witl
deliver new high speed PET and can filling lines,
advanced packaging and palletising capability. as

well a number of associated energy and environmenital
sustainability benefits. Phase 1 of the programme is
now well underway and we expect to have a new
small format PET line and new dowristream packaging
rnachinery installed and comrmiissioried in the next

12 months.

As a high growth and innovative business, FUNKIN

has operated with an outsourced manufacturing
business rnodel that provides both agility and flexibility.
Its recent move into RTD cocktails in cans pr
an opportunity to leverage some of the benefit of being
part of the wider A.G. Barr Group. Foliowing ani £8m;
investrnent at our Milton Keyries facility, we successfully
installed and commissioned new stim 250t can filling
and cardboard multipack capabilities. This opens up
new growth opportunities for Barr Soft Drinks, and
allows us to produce FUNKIN's nitro-infused ready to
drink cocktail cans in-house, bringing with it significant
operational efficiency benefits

For moreinformation on our Strategy in Action
seepages18t029—>

Building trust

Trust is earned. We continue to work hard to retair
the trust of all our employees, our wide range of
stakeholders and our commuriities, as we have done
for over 145 years.

As the cost of living crisis continues to place pressure
on households and businesses across the UK, we
recognise the duty of care that we have for our
people. Our employees have shown huge ievels of
comritment aver recent years and in recognition of
this, and the difficult economic landscape, we rmade
two special cost of living payments in 2022 to those
colleagues who we believed would berefit the rnost
from adaditional financial support. We will continue to
monitor the welfare and welibeing of cur people and
have plans in 2023 to offer additional financial support
services, as well as maintaining our longstanding
cormmitment to mental health support within the
workplace.

Qur environrnental sustainability programime No Time
To Waste continued to deliver clear and tangible
progress throughout the year, from our first plastic
botties made of 100% recycled content, launched in
Aprii 2022, to the formal approval of our science-bssed
targets and net-zero commitinents by the Science
Based Targets Initiative. We have a stretching vet
achievable net-zero roadmap, coupled with a genuine
drive and arnbition to push further and faster. This is
particularly the case for our use of recycled material,
notwithstanding current challenges associated with
availability and quality. We are well advanced in our DRS
preparations, due to go live in Scotland in August 2023,
which has the potential to increase the availability and
quality of recycled material, as well as supporting our
long-term circular packaging goals.

For us, a successful business also means being
2 sustainable business and we will continue to
dermnonstrate our values in this respect threugh
honest and meaningful actions.



—

DETAILS OF ALL OUR
RESPONSIBILITY COMMITMENTS,
GOALS AND ACTIVITIES

can be found on pages 30to 55

Outlock

We anticipate a continuation of our strong brand
momentum across the Group in 2023/24 as we
continue to invest in the deveiopmenit of our business,
brands and people. This is despite a backdrop of
continued high inflation and the planried introduction
of the Scottish DRS in August 2023, both of which have
the potential to impact consumer purchasing behaviour.

We do however aniticipate a short-term impact on
operating rnargins, as a result of the combination of this
investrnent, ongoing inflationary cost pressures, and
the initial dilutive impact from the Boost acquisition.

Itis our belief that our growing brand portfolic and our
ongeoing actions to mitigate cost inflation will support
the delivery of our growth ambitions and at this early
stage we remain confident of delivering further revenue
and profit growth in the year ahead in line wiith
rnanagernent expectations.

Locking to the iong term, it is our strategy to build

and develop a muiti-beverage portfolio capable of
significant growth. We are now in an investrnent

phase, designed to capitalise on the strategic growth
opportunities ahead. This growth and investment phase
will support the rebuilding of our operating margin over
the medium term and the creation of a stronger and
rnore sustainable business.

Roger White
Chief Executive
28 March 2023
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We continue to work hard to retain
the trust of all our employees, our
wide range of stakeholders and
our communities, as we have done
for over 145 years.

99

* hems imarked with an asterisk are non-GAAP imeasures. Definitions and relevart reconcilistions are provided in the Glossary on pages 199 to 204.
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Ovr strategy in action

Rulsfcem RAW
[Enereyy, a force
of nature

Rubicon RAW Energy, launched in 2021, is enjoying its
first big sponsorship campaigns, supporting its brand
positioning as ‘A Force of Nature' in the great outdoors.

Part of a multirniliion pound marketing campaign the
brand sponsored the Boardimasters Festival in August.
The event was a huge success with 100,000 people
attending the five day surfing extravaganza. Thousands
of sarnples of Rubicon RAW Energy were handed

out - and sold at every bar — coupled with impactful
branding across both festival sites, making a
rmernorable impact with consumers and driving
awareness and trial.

The event was supported by several weeks of
brand activity running across all Rukbicon RAW
Energy social chiannéls.

Building
brands

Connecting

Strategqy 1 =

The brand also teamed up with two surfing chiarmpions
and rnedia influencers - Ellie Turner and Ben Skinner - to
create a digital content series that shows people what it
really takes to keep your cool to compete professionally.

Rubicon RAW Energy also announiced a four year deat
that saw the brand become the official energy drink of
GB Snowsport.

The partnership kicked off in November srnd will see
athiletes across different disciplines including skiers,
snowboarders and elite para snowsport athletes display
Rubicon RAW Energy logos on race suits and
comipetition equipment.

The wide-ranging partnership will also see
GB Snowsport and Rubicon RAW Energy
collaborate on different cpportunities t bring
British world-class skiers and snowboasrders
closer to fans across the country.

with consumers
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AYnew; for
Barr Flavours

Gur Barr Flavours range got a bolder and brighter new
lock late in 2022 creating stronger shelf standout and
appealing to shoppers looking for a fun, young and
energetic brand of great tasting and great value flavours.

Barr hias a longstanding, loyal custormier base in
Scettand and increasingly across the rest of the UK,
and continues to be a firm favourite for shoppers.

The new packaging began roliing out to stores in
December across its full product range with marketing
supportin place for retailers and wholesalers to bring
the brand to life for shoppers.

Building Connecting
brands with consumers

19



Welcening
Boost

ane MOMA



Building
brands

Aligned to our longstanding growth ambitions,
we were delighted to complete two acquisitions
in December 2022 — Boost Drinks and MOMA
Foods — accelerating the development of

the A.G. Barr Group'and further building our
portfolio of differentiated brands.

The Boost brand, founded in 2001, operates

in the high growth functional beverage category
spanning energy, sport and iced coffee, with a
strong market position in the UK independent
retail channel. We are excited about the
significant potential for further growth,
development and operational synergies for
Boost working in partnership with the wider
A.G. Barr Group.

Strategic Report Corporole Governance

Following our initial majority equity stake
investment in MOMA Foods Limited in
December 2021 we are delighted to have
now taken full ownership of the MOMA
business. With its strong position in the high
growth oat milk category we can now fully
support the MOMA business and brand to
leverage its growth potential even sooner
than originally planned.

Accounts
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Our strategy in action continued

Digital screens

We welcorned the arrival of new digital screen
techneiogy to our Curnbernauld and Miltor: Keynes
sites in 2022. Part of & phased roll-out plar, the screens
allow us 1o cascade information directly to our sites
using the AppSpace content rmanagement systein.

Thanks to the new screens, we can present enQaging
and important content across the business centrally
at a corporate {evel, as well as working with site-based
editors to share iocal news.

The content can be updated in an instant and offers
real opportunity for efficient employee cornmunication
inthe yesr ahead.

Driving
Efficiency

Slimlcan
precuciieon begins
@ Milton Keynes

Foliowing an £8m investment at our Milton Keynes site we
successfully installed and commissioned a new 250mtl slim
canline.

This important investment increases the manufacturing
capability of our Barr Soft Drinks business unit, opening up
new growth opportunities. It has also allowed us to produce
FUNKIN's nitro-infused ready to drink cocktail cans in-house
and includes the capability to produce cardboard multipacks.

Driving
Efficiency
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@ d April saw the first production run cn our 560ml 500ml IRN-BRU and Rubicon
e IRN-BRU and Rubicon plastic bottles - ail now made plastic bottles made with

with 100% recycled material (PET). 100% recycled material

IRN-BRUGR: e
With a lower carborn footprint, the new pack is still
] 100% recyclable, and our new 100% rPET bottles are a o
Rublcon m fantastic example of the progress we're making in reducing °

our impact on the environimerit thiough our No Time To

b o** % Waste environmental sustainability programme.

Building
Trust



advend
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Connecting
with consumers

As part of its continued growth strategy MOMA
launched a major advertising campaign for its
award-winning oat milk.

The ads appeared on screens at the start of
September across TV, outdoor and digital/social
channels, with the campaign highlighting how
MOMA is perfectly crafted for both expert and
home coffee brews, as “The Barista's Choice”.

The campaign also signified the launch of MOMA's
new brand positioning as “The Craft Oat Co.”
cementing the company’s challenger heritage,
expertise and passion for oats as the driving force
behind all things delicious and healthy.

This was MOMATs first TV campaign.

25
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Our strategy in action continued

Rubicon Spring
infsleeldcans;

Innovation remains criticsl to brand development and was a key
griver for our taunch of Rubicon Spring Black Cherry Raspberry
and Crange Mango variants in a sleek 330ml can forrnat.

With just nine calories in a premium sleek car., the new format
provides consumers with an exciting low-calorie refreshing drink
to be enjoyed at any time.

Building
brands

While taste remains the nurnber one reason for shoppers to choose a soft
drink, drinking occasions are changing, with more healthy lunchies now
enjoyed at home. Consurners are increasingly locking for new and
exciting flavours and formats to try and the new sieek can offers just that.

The new format launch was supported by a trade marketing campaign
with the tagline "It's spring water fabulously fortified’.



348

£linevery £5
spent on ready
to drink cocktails

is now spent on
FUNKIN.*

99
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Building
brands

Connecting
with consumers

Corporate Governance Accounts

FUNKIN'’s

Liggest
everdadventising

campaign

FUNKIN invested in its biggest ever advertising
campaign in 2022, spending over £4m across TV,
outdoor, social and digital channels.

Launched in the summer the successful "Whenever
you're feeling fine... it's FUNKIN time” campaign
was followed by national Christmas outdoor and
TV activity.

FUNKIN created a fun and vibrant campaign for the
UK's Number 1 cocktait brand, featuring a miniature
drag queen — the FUNKIN Queen played by award-
winning drag queen, Divina De Campo.

* Nielsan PRE MIXED ALCOHGLIC DRINKS
Total Coverage Data MAT 12.03.2022.

27
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Our strategy in action continued

TWIE MEWY

IRN-BRU
advents

Building
brands

Connecting
with consumers



In March, IRN-BRU revealed two new ads to the
world — created in the brand’s signature
maverick style. In “Prom”, a tuxedoed ginger teen
shows up to pick up his date — but is appalled to
hear she thinks IRN-BRU tastes like “cream soda”.

In “Mob” we pay homage to the gangster movie
genre — with a dark fate awaiting a mobster who
claims IRN-BRU “definitely tastes like tutti frutti”.

The campaign comically reflects on the
ambiguity of IRN-BRU's taste, which in itself
contributes to its fame as a brand — no one can
agree upon the exact flavour, however everyone
can definitely agree that it tastes phenomenal.

The new adverts build on last year's Western-
themed short, where the great taste debate
triggered an all-out saloon brawl.

The new creative features across TV, social
channels and online — with the multi-channet
approach reaching the numerous media
touchpoints that IRN-BRU's target audience
engage with during their day.

Strategic Report

Corporale Governance

Accounts
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Responsibility report

Behaving responsibly for over 145 years. We are proud
of our brands and business. We are also proud of the
positive contribution we believe we male to society.

It is our belief that how we act reflects who and what
we are.

For over 145 years we've been brand owners and
builders, offering s diverse and differentiated portfolio
of brands that people love and our busiriess has grown
3s a resuit. The continued financial strength of our
husiness is important not only to cur ernployees and
our shareholders, but 5ls0 on a broader basis, where
our performance positively impacts a wide range of
stakeholders and the UK ecoriomy.

Our overarching business purpose is 1o create value,
with values - for our sharenolders, consumers,
custarners and for society as a whole. Our values
inciude a commitment to behave responsibly. Qur
responsioility agenda has always been woven into the
fabric of our business and, in today's world, as we grow
and develop, it's rore important than ever that we play
our part in addressing the key issues facing society, such
as the need (o tackie the impact of climate change.

We are aiso mindful that our actions can contribute
towards global improvements. The 2030 Agenda for
Sustainabie Development, adopted by all United Nations
Member States in 2015. provides & shared blueprint for
peace and prosperity for people and the plariet, now
and into the future. At its heart are the 17 Sustainable
Development Goals (SDGs), whict: are an urgent call
for action by all countries - deveioped and developing
—in a global partnership. They recoanise that ending
poverty and other deprivations must 9o hand-iri-hand
with strategies that improve heslth and educstion,
reduce inequality and spur eccriomic growth - all while
tackling climate change and working to preserve our
oceans and forests.

S

While there will be actions we take that contribute both directly
and indirectly to many of the SDGs, we have focused our SDG
i where we beli we can most directly play our part.

These are:

Goaod health and wellbeing

Ensure hea.thy lives and promote wellbeing
for all at all ages

Gender equality

Achieve gender equality and empower all
women and girls

Decent work and economic growth

Promote sustained, inclusive and sustainable
economic growth, full and productive
employment, and decent work for all

Responsible consumption and production

Ensure sustainable consumption and
production patterns

Climate action

Take urgent action to combat climate change
and its impacts

We have high expectations of our suppliers, our partners and
ourselves. Across more than 145 years of operation, we have
developed robust and responsible policies that guide what
we do and how we work with others. The key policies,
statements and guidelines we rely upon and that support our
responsibility commitments are now available on our Group
website at www.agbarr.co.uk.
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oL sqe .
Our key responsibility commitments
We focus our specific responsibility goals and commitments on those areas where we believe we can make the greatest positive economic,
environmental and social impact, supporting our contribution to a sustainable future for all. We also engage with a wide range of stakeholders,
as set out on pages 74 to 80, to ensure that our priorities are aligned. As such, behaving responsibly at A.G. Barr is underpinned by four key
commitments which we believe to be material matters to both our business and our key stakeholders: .
We act with We respect We support We give back
integrity the environment healthy living
Key focus areas Key focus areas Key focus areas Key focus areas

« Safety and weitbeing » Carbon reduction
* Employee engagement * Packaging
+ Responsible policies and practices » Water ana waste
: » Sustainable sourcing

Catorie reduction
Resporiible advertising
and marketing
Labelling

« Community engagement
« Charity partnership
« Employee volunteering

Long-term goals Long-term goals

Accident incident rate
« Zero work-related accidents

Never again send non-hazardous
waste to landfill

Employee engagement®

Carbon emission reduction across our
+ 2025 Goal: 80% i

own operations (Scopel1 &2

Long-term goals

To i to i ponsi offer
awide range of pack sizes to assist with
portion control and, by providing clear
P A ing our
choices.

to make i

market-based approach)**
Women in Leadership® « 2030 Goal: 60% reduction from a
« 2025 Goal: 45% 2020 base year
+ 2035 Goal: 90% reduction from a
2020 base year

Carbon emission reduction across

our wider supply chain

{Scope 3 emissions) **

« 2030 Goatl: 25% reduction from a
2020 base year

« 2050 Goal: 90% reduction*** from a
2020 base year

Improvement In water

usage efficlency

« 2025 Goal: 10% improvement from
a 2020 base year

Recycled PET content
+ 2025 Goat: Full porttolio 100% rPET

+ Further information on employee engagement and women in
** Science-based taiget as approved by Science Based Target Initiative (SBTI).

nip is provided on page 32 vathin the ron-financial KFl section.

Long-term goats

To support our corporate charity
partnership by donating £150,000 over
three years and raising awareness across
our own teams.

*+* Net-zerc achievement in accordance with SBTi requirements. Reductions are targeled across Scope 3 emissions associatad with purcriased goods and servicas and upstream

ard downstream ransport and distribution. See page 39 for more inforrmation

Ngote: Goals above stated in caiendar years

3
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Responsibility report continued

Non-financial key performance indicators

In support of our responsibility commitments we rmeasure a range of non-financial KPIs as set cut below:

Accident incident rate

Employee engagement

Women in leadership

4.0

Number of accidents (RIDDOR) per 1,000 peopie - relative
o both our amployees and agency workers. 2023 inciudes
Bouost ang MOMA data from the dates of acquisition. Further
information is provided in our Safety and weiibeing cuiture
section on page 34.

Carbon emission reduction across our own operations

75%

As measured by our annual “Your Yoice
Due te the irpact of the panderriic, no survey was conducted in
2020/21. 2023 excludes Boost and MOMA which were not part of
the A.G. Barr Group at the time the survey was conducted,

Improvement in water usage efficiency

IS’ employee survey.

38%

Nurmber of females defined as leaders/senior managers

at the close of the financial year. 2023 includes Boost and
NMOMA employees — not included in prior vears. See page 37
for further information.

Non-hazardous waste diverted from landfill

38%

Previous long-term goal achieved and repiaced with new
science-based target as detaiied above. Percentage reduction
in total Scope 1 and Scope 2 greerhouse gas emissiorns using
a rnarket-based approach.

1.1%

KPI reset in 2021 followirig detailed analysis of cur water
tootprint, our refreshed water strategy and action plan. Ratio of
total water used relative 1o total litres of product preduced.
Further information is provided in our Waste and water section
on page 43.

100%

Quantity of waste fromi Company-owried sites diverted from
landfill relative to total waste.
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Non-fi ialinfor

The information presented here and throughout the
report, as cross-referenced teo the right, complies with
the requirement under sections 414CA and 414CB of
the Companies Act 2006 to provide inforration on
certain non-financial matters. Our Responsibility Report
provides the required information in relation to content
on envircnrental matters, our ernployees, community
issues and social matters, as well as setting out our
non-financial metrics. Our business risks are included
within cur Risk Management section. The Responsibility
Report also complies with the Streamlined Energy and
Carbon Reporting (SECR) requirements as required by
the Cornpanies (Directors’ Report} and Limited Lisoility
Partnerships (Energy and Carbon Report) Regulations
2018. We have complied with the requirements of
Listing Rule 9.8.6R by including climste-related financial
disclosures consistent with the Task Force on Climate-
related Financial Disciosures (TCFD) recommendations
and recommended disclosures.

Itis the Group's policy to conduct all of its business in
an honest and ethical rmanner. Itis commitied 1o acting
professionally, fairly and with integrity in all its business
dealings and relationships wherever it operates.

The Group is a UK Living Wage sccredited employer.

The Group publishes its Modern Slavery Act
Transparency Staternent annually. This explains the
steps that we take to seek to ensure that there are

rio incidents of modern slavery within the business
and our supply chain, in accordance with the UK
Modern Stavery Act 2015, The Board reviews the
Group's operatioral, legal and compliance framework
to prevent modern slavery in its supply chain, which
includes employee training, contractual terms and
conditions. and due diligence processes.

The Group's Anti-oribery and Corruption Policy (ABC
Policy). available on the Group website, emphasises
the Group’s zero tolerance approach to bribery and
corruption. It sets out the Group's responsibilities, and
of those working for it and parties acting on its behalf,
in observing and upholding its position ori bribery and
corruption in compliance with applicable laws, and
provides information and guidance to those working
for the Group and parties acting on its behalf on how

Strategic Report
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Cross reference (within Annual Report

Theme & Accounts uriless otherwise stated)

Page reference

Environmental matters + Responsibility Report — We respect the environment Pages 39 10 53

Employees Business model

Responsibility Report - We act with integrity

Pages 81w 9
Pages 34 10 38

Social matters « Business model Pages8109
« Responsibility Report — We support health living Page 54
+ Responsibility Report — We give back Page 55
Non-financial metrics - Responsibility Report — Non-financial KPls Page 32

Business risks

Risk Management

Pages 62 to 68

Business model Business model

Pages8tc9

SECR

Responsibility Report — SECR reporting

Pages 52 to 53

TCFD

Responsibility Report — TCFD disclosure

Pages 44 to 53

ABC Governance

Audit & Risk Committee Report

Pages 85 to 88

Supplier controls

Responsibility Report — Sustainable sourcing

Pages 43 tc 44

Policies & Procedure

Protection Policies

Including Supplier Code of Conduct (Human Rights), WWW.agbarr.co.uk/
Modern Slavery Statement, ABC and Employment

responsibility/
policies-terms-of-
business-and-
brand-rules

to recognise and deal with bribery and corruption
issues. The ABC Policy is clearly cornmunicated to

alt empioyees and ABC training is provided to all
ernployees on induction and on 3 regular basis
thereafter. The Group maintains an anti-bribery arid
corruption register, which records details of corporate
hospitslity, and gifts given and received by employees
over a specified value. The Group's internationat
department undertakes appropriste due diligence on
all third-parties acting on its behalf and maintains a third
party anti-bribery and corruption reqister. The Audit
and Risk Committee reviews the effectiveness of the
Group's anti-bribery systems and controls, reviews and
approves the Group's ABC Policy on an annual basis.
No brioery and corruption issues arose during the year.

There is currently no specific human rights policy in
place however our Supplier Code cf Conduct, available
on the Group website, sets out the minimurn standards
we require our suppliers to meet, including human
rights, and forms part of their contractual commitrnent
to us. As a UK business, we cornply with the full
spectrum of ernployee protection legistation. We
believe our existing policies ensure the rights of our
own employees are respected fully ard our robust
suppiier controls provide assurance when considering
hurnan rights impacts beyond our direct control.

33
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Responsibility report continued

We act with integrity

Safety and wellbeing culture

We work hard to create 3 culture in which hesith, safety
and wellbeing are our top priorities. Our ultirnate goals
iri this area are zero work-related accidents and the
provision of safe and healthy working environments for
all. We continuously improve our management systems
to underpin our cbjectives and & ensure comgliance
with all health and safety related legislation as a
minimum. Our thorough and varied heaith and

ssfety management activity prograrmme is designed

to keep safety at the top of everyone’s agends, with
actions ranging from safety swareness initiatives and
safety training, to site audits and reporting.

Qver the past 12 months we have continued to review

our workplace activities and focus on reducing risk

through the implementation of suitabie control

rneasures. Our health, safety and wellbeing related

activity has included:

« Ongoing review and roli-out of updated risk
assessments and safe systems of work

Infocus

Health, Safety, Environment
and Wellbeing Days

With short and engaging sessions. our Health,
Safety, Environrent and Wellbeing Week
involved impact speakers, workshops and video
content, specifically tailored 1o meet the needs of
production, logistics and office colleagues. From
rnental weilbeing and improving workstation
ergenomics to recyciing tips and manual
handling equipment awareness, the sessions
gave employees at our Barr Soft Drinks sites the
appeortunity to raise their awareness across &
variaty of important topics.

internal training, including dynamic risk assessmernit,
contractor control and accident investigation
Provision of IOSH Working and Managing Safely
courses across our supply chain teams

All people managers have either completed

IOSH Managing Safely or a one day Safety for
Managers course

Provision of Mentaily Healthy Workplace Training
for Managers

Two-way comrmunication via health and safety
committees and representatives across ail
business areas

Continued partnership with the Keil Centre,
supporting our drive to increase our safety cultural
maturity

Health, Safety, Environiment arid Wellbeing Days -
a series of face 10 face events were carried out
across all of our sites to help drive improved
behaviours, awareness and decision making
Health and Safety Awards - recogrnising those
employees who have gone above and beyond

to improve the safety of themselves and others
Health and Safety pulse surveys gauging the views
and priorities of empioyees

In focus

Forfar sets the safety
standard

Our Forfar site achieved 5 very
significant rnilestone - four years
with zero lost tirne accidents.

This is an impressive result for
a manufacturing facility and
testimony to the hard work and
strong safety cuiture across the
Forfar site.



We are pleased to report that our accident incident rate
reduced from 8.6 to 4.0 during the past 12 months.
This, along with our ISO 45001 certification, are clear

. validations of the hard work that is ongoing to improve
our safety standards and culture.

Qur accident incident rate KPY, as detailed in our
non-financial KPls on page 32, includes those acciderits
involvirg our own and agency employees, however as
part of our reqular accident monitoring and reporting
processes, any accidents that occur on cur prermnises

by contractors or other third parties are recorded, fully
investigated and the learnings taken into account.

We will continue to work hard towards delivering an
improved cafety performance in the year ahead.

From a wellbeing perspective we support our
employees acioss a wide range of areas. For 5 number
of years we have placed an increasing focus on raising
mental health awareness within the workplace, creating
a culture where rmental health conversations are
encouraged and our people are properly supported.
We now have over 70 Mental Health First Aiders across
the business, specially trained to be there for those who
need them, corplemented by Mentaily Healthy
Workplace employee training.

Over the past 12 months we have listened 1o our
ernployees and understand the important role fiexible
working can play in their wellbeing. As such we have
riow irnpternented formal hybrid working arrangement
for those employees who are able to work from home.
This approach seeks to strike a balanice between the
benefits of working from home with the cultural
benefits of collahcrating and engaging with colieagues
in person within the workplace. This approach is
supported with our partnership with Posturite, a
market-ieading workplace heslth, welibeing and
ergonarnics company, who help ensure sli display
screen equipment users are trained with 3 suitable set
up at home and at work.

Strategic Report

Employee Engagement

For aver 145 years we have developed a posilive,
results-driven and supportive culture. As we grow
our business organically and throuah acquisition,

itis important that we retain the entrepreneurial spirit
of the new and exciting additions to our Groug. while
also ensuring that we continue to value and nurture
the unique essence of what rmakes A.G. Barr a great
business to be part of.

Underpinning everything that we do is our belief in
performance through peopie - positive ard engaged
tearns are central to our succe:

Comrnunication is key 1o this engagement and we
use a wide range of channels and twols 1o suit the
different needs and preferences of our pecple. Frorn
rmonthly Town Halls and reqular tearn events to sorne
of our more recent communication improvements,
such as digital screens and podcasts, we keep our
communications positive and engaging, striving to
miaintain a sense of fun and involvement.

Corporale Governance Accounts

In focus
Our improving safety culture

The Keil Centre, with whom we have partnered
since 2018, are chartered psychologists and
ergonomists with significant safety-related
erxperience. Specialising in identifying where
an organisation sits from a safety culture peint
of view, they have developed a five level
maturity model.

We were-delighted, following re-assessment
warkshops with our Barr Soft Drirks Supply
Chain colieagues, to have improved our maturity
from level two to level three. Our goat was to
reach a more consistent level of maturity across
all elements, which we are pleased to have
achieved, with significant improvements made
in "Safety Communication” and becoming

a "Learning Organisation’.
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Responsibility report continued
We act with integrity continued

Employee values

Underpinning our corporate vaiues, our four business
units have their own employee values. These
behavioural frameworks are central to who they are
3and how they operate, playing ann important rolg in
building teams and strengthening performance.

At Barr Soft Drinks, which comprises our largest group
of colleagues, employee values are embodied by the
Barr Behaviours. Created by our own people they
represent what is important to 5 business that has been
successfui for over a century - Beinig Brilliant, Aiways
Learning, Resuits Driven aind Relationships Matter.

For the rore recent additions to the A.G. Barr Group
= FUNKIM, MOMA and Boost — their employee values
are rnore reflective of the entrepreneurial and agile
nature of their businesses, which we believe are
important characteristics o retain and nurture.

Infocus

No Time To Waste
learning portal

This year we created 3 No Time To Waste
iearning portal 1o heip our emiployses develop
their environmental sustainability knowledge and
their understanding of our own strategy.

Using sirmple videos and guick quides, the portal
provides learning and support across our five
No Time To Waste focus areas

« Net-Zero

« Plastic and Packaging

» Sustainable Sourcing

« Waste

« Water

The portal launched during Recycling Week

in Septernber, with high levels of engagement,
and now forms part of our emnplovee induction
programme, so people new to the business
understand the importance of our environmental
sustainabiiity strategy.

Frorm recruiting news employees to developing existing
teams, these emnployee values support how our tearns
work together to enhance perforrnance and are
fundamental to our success.

For rnore information on our emiployee values visit our
website at agbarr.co.uk

Learning and development

Learning and development in our business is about
creating 3 Company-wide culture irn which everyorie is
supported and challenged to take ownership of their
perforrmance, the impact they have on others and their
careers. Our teams are encouraged to take the lead in
their own personal development, drawing from a wide
range of learning opportunities. Our sward-winning
iLearn platform is our online hub for development
activity, with hundreds of hours of learning irmmediately
accessible to all. We also recognise that peopie learn in
rnany different ways - from classroom training and job
shadowing to our successful mentoring programme
and externally provided training courses, we try to
ensure there's something to suit every individual in
every area of the business.

In addition to our regular technical and compliance
based training, over the past 12 months we have
continued to offer as many learning opportunities as
possible to our people including our popular Manager
Essentials programme, Mentaily Heaithy Workplace
training, Project Management development,
psychornetric team-building workshops and a new
environmental sustainability learning portat.

In focus
Your voice matters

Cur 2022 “Your Voice Matters” employee
engagement survey, which sought the views

o our Barr Soft Drinks and FUNKIN tearns,
achieved a high oversil engagement index of
75%. Mostimproved aress included Diversity
and Inclusion. Communication and Change

as well as Working Together, however we did
not achieve our previously set 80% target which
was set before the pandernic. We rernain
committed to increasing our employee
engagement levels and hiave reset our target with
a new date of 2025.



Diversity and inclusion

We believe that diverse and inclusive organisations that
respect and value difference allow people to perform
at their best, That's why we're taking steps to create

an inclusive, respectful and supportive working
environment that encourages people with different
backgrounds, experiences and perspectives to corme
together to work more effectively and creatively, with
gender equality a specific and current area of focus.

The gender balance across the organisation now sits

at 69% rnen and 31% women, broadly indicative of

our industry. On our journey towaids greater gender
equality we set a new KPl in 2020 relsted to women in
ieadership, targeting 45% women across the leadership
population by 2025. Having made progress in recent
years, increasing from 25% in April 2017 to 41% in
2021/22, senior female representation across the Group

Gender Diversity 2022

Strategic Report

currently sits at 38%. This year end data reflects the
addition of the wornen in leadership at both MOMA
(50%) and Boost (23%).

The key metrics from our latest Barr Soft Drinks Gender
Pay Report are detailed below:

The mean gender pay gap is the differerice in the
average hourly pay for women compared with men
within & cormpany. We have narrowed our gap from
4.9% i1 2018 however we do see slight percentage
rnovenents due to year on year payroll differences —
sorne years favourable to men and sorme years
favourable to women.

In cornmon with many businesses, our borius scheme
paymeant thresholds are linked to business perforrmance
and ganerally increase with seniority.

Board & Company Secretary Leadership Team All employees

2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023
W tMate 8 7 B Male 54 63 B Male 625 701
B Female 3 3 B remale 33 39 B Female 270 313

Corporale Governance Accounts

The key metrics from our latest Barr Soft Orinks Gender
Pay Report are detailed betow:

Mean Gender Pay Gap Median Gender Pay Gap
() 0,

-501 /O - 600 /O

2021: 3.0% 2021: 2.7%

Mean Bonus Pay Gap Median Bonus Pay Gap

-1.1%

2021: 42.2%

-17.6%

2021: 0%

Positive numbers are favourable to men, and negative
numibers are favourable to women.

% 1

g a bonus pay

Male Female

89% 93%
(-] (-]

2021: 84% 2021: 82%

QOver 80% of employees received bonus paymenits
in this reporting period refiecting our positive
financial performance.

We will continue to work towards creating an
environiment that is inclusive, where pecple feel
they can be themselves at work and where their
opinions caunt.

The full Barr Soft Drinks Gender Pay Report is available
on our wepsite at www.agbarr.co.uk
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Responsibility report continued
We act with integrity continued

Reward .

Qur approach to reward aims to link remuneration
with the delivery of our key strategic priorities and

our overarching purpose, to create vaiue, with values
- for our shareholders, consumers, customers and for
society as a whole.

We strive to offer a fair and transparent total reward
package that drives a performance-led culture and
is linked to both the long-term sustainable success
of the business and our values.

We target our pay at the market median or above,
ernsuring we can attract and retain high ibre
ernployees. We operate a number of incentive and
bonus schemes, as well as performanice related

pay arrangements, desigred to reward and rnotivate
strong individual and collective performance.

We offer empioyees a modern and flexible range

of benefits, offering choice to our increasingly diverse
workforce. Employees receive a flexible benefit
aliowance with which they can select the benefits
rnost suitable to them personally. Healthcare features
prominently, with a selection of hesltri-related benefits
made available either on a core benefit basis or

within the suite of flexible benefits made available

to ernployees.

We cemply fully with all the requlations associated
with rewarding our employees fairly and are a UK
Living Wage accredited empioyer.

More information on how we ensurs that our approach

o remunerstion SUPpPOrts our strategy is available in the

Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 89 to 121.

Risk and regulation awareness

We have a robust risk management framework in piace
that is embedded across the business. In additior to the
corperate risk register, governed by the Board, business
unit and functional risk registers have beeri developed
across our teains, allowing a wide range of employees
at different levels to contribute to our risk assessment
and assurance processes.

Our reputation is extremely impcrtant to us and it is the
responsibility of every employee to act professionaily,
fairly and with integrity. This requires an understanding
of the regutatory risks we face and how we car all play
a partin mitigating these risks.

In support of this, we require employees o complete
the following five mandatory training modules:

« Intreduction to Risk

+ Data Protection

« Competition, Pricing and Confidentiality

+ Bribery and Corruption

+  Anti-facilitation of tax evasion

Eor moreinfi i our Risk M h

seepages62t0 69—

In focus
Increasing menopavuse
awareness and support

In support of our cornmitment to creste an cpen
and supportive culture, 2022 saw us introduce a
new Menopause Policy. The policy aims 1o foster
an inclusive and respectful working environment
within which our colieagues can openly and
comfortably initiate conversations or engage in
discussions about the menopause. The Policy
also airns to raise wider awareness and
understanding among all empioyees and
managers while aiso outlining the support and
ressonable adjustments available.

Tne Policy is supported across & number of

aress:

« The Menopause Café - a safe space created
by our own employees with an open
invitation for both women and men

« Menopause Lunch & Learn sessions

« Conversation guidelines for employees and
managers

« Menopause training

« A menopause section on our Health &
Wellbeing intranet hub
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Responsibility Report continued

We respect the environment

We take cur environmental responsibilities very

seriously, constantly seeking to minimise our irnpact on OUR 2021/22 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS

the world we operate in, whether through carbor and

energy reduction, our water and waste controf actions SCOPE1 SCOPE 2 SCOPE 3

of the reduction of our environmental impact through Direct emissions from Market-based. Indirect emissions All other emissions that occur

areas such as packaging. activities we control from purchased energy in the value chain
We have been sccredited to the Environmental

Standard ISO 14001 since 2003. This certification

provides a tramework against which we have 20/ . 10/ 970/
developed comprehensive environmental procedures (-] (-] (-]
and monitoring systems. These processes have aitowed

us to measure our environmental performarnice and

focus our activities on delivering long-term
improvements. 3,848 tonnes CO,e 1,036 tonnes CO,e 160,107 tonnes CO,e

Carbon reduction N Where our emissions come from
We have an irnportant role 1o play in the transition

to & tow carbon and clirnate-resilient econcrny.

In 2021, working with independerit sustainability
experts the Carbon Trust, we undertook a thorough
assessment of our 2020/21 Scope 1, 2 and 3
greerihouse gas (GHG} emissions to establish our 12'3_% 1'0'3.% ' . 9.3% . 2.5% X
carbon footprint across our full product life cycle and Ingredients Packaging Equipment & Services Manufacturing
value chain. This covered the goods we purchase arid
the resources, fuel and energy we use in our day to day
activities, right through to distribution to customers and
thie management of consurmer waste. This important
work provided us with an accurate rmeasurervent and
verification of our full carbon footgrint for the first time.

31.6% 1.2% 2.6% 0.2%
We are pleaszd to report that following this full carbon Tr'an_sport b A‘. homg Waste Staff Commuting
X ) p ; _ - distribution refrigeration Management & Travel
footprint assessiment, and aligned to the Science Based
Target Initiative's (SBTi) updated Net-Zero Staridard, J
published in Novembper 2021, we now have SBTi
approved near and long-term science-based emission Total Emissions: 164,991 tonnes CO,e

reduction targets and an SBTi verified science-based
net-zero target of 2050. Further information is available
on page 50.
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Responsibility report continued
We respect the environment continued

With continued support from the Carbon Trust we
have now cornpleted a second full carbon footprint
assessrnent for our 2021/22 tinancial year covering
our Scope 1, 2 and 3 areenhouse gas emissions.

A detailed breakdown of our 2021/22 greenhouse gas
emissicns is contained within the Metrics and Targets
section of our TCFD disclosure on page 50. This also
contains our Streamilined Energy Carbon Reporting
{SECR) disclosure which sets out our Scope 1 and 2
data for the 2022/23 financial year.

We are fully cornmitted o achieving our science-based
targets. For our Scope 1 and 2 emissions we have

a deliverable and realistic decarbonisation roadmap
which builds on the progress we have made and
pushes further, from electric vehicles and solar panels
1o air source heat purnps and degasification projects.
For our Scope 3 targets, including purchased aoods
and services as well as upstream and downstream
transport and distribution, we are workirig closely with
our suppliers and partners. Our roadmap to net-zero
is set cut on the right.

THE ROAD TO NET-ZERO

2020

Our progress

Our plans

FE—Y

ESG Board Committee established

Launch of No Time To Waste environmental
sustainability programme

Switch to 100% renewable electricity

CDP score improves to B classification
Introduction of 100% recycled packaging film
on Barr Soft Drinks consumer multipacks

12030

.

2030-35

« Deagasification at our main i+ Become net-zero
manufacturing sites through H
solar, heat pumps and biogas

Reduce Scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions by 60%
Reduce Scope 3 GHG emissions from
purchased goods and services and

Pp: and d port

and distribution by 25%

2035

across our own
operations



.

2023-2030

StrategicReport
« Completion of first full carbon ¢« SBTiapproved science-based targets
footprint assessment : and net-zero commitment
« 45% reduction in greenhouse gases since 2015 i« Fullcompliance with TCFD
= CDP score improves to A- classification i« First bottles in 100% recycled plastic (rPET)
« Electric vehicle charging points installed at alt + New signatory of UK Plastics Pact
main company-owned sites 1« FUNKIN glass bottle recycled contént increased

« Fully electric fork lift truck fleet H from 14.6% to 42.5%

i« Successful trial of Hydrotreated Vegetable
: Qil (HVO) as fuel alternative to diesel

100% rPET across fult Barr Soft Drinks portfolio
Plastic lightweighting

Supplier engagement and collaboration programme
Commencing transition away from fossil fuels using
compressed natural gas and HVO for our heavy goods vehicles
Reduce Company car fleet and move to electric vehicles

2035-50 2050

Recipe reformulations
Increased use of recycled content : Become nef'zero
Supplier transition to green electricity across our fU"

Logistics partners move away from diesel

value chain

Corporate Governance Accounts
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Responsibility report continued

We respect the environment continued

Qur arnbitious commitments are being delivered
through our No Time To Waste ervircnmental
sustainabitity programime, which brings together
net-zero, plastic and packaging, waste, water and
sustainaple sourcing workstreams. No Time To Waste is
a hugely important programme for the Group and to
date our Barr Soft Drinks and FUNKIN business units
have worked closely and collaboratively. The intention is
to bring both Boost and MOMA into the fold in the
coming 12 months to ensure that we work together to
increase our overall sustainability and reduce our
environmental impact. Further information is available on
pages 44 to 53 within cur TCFD disclosures.

In focus
Science-based targets explained

Packaging

We believe that packaging should be treated by ali

as a valuable rescurce and recycled, not discarded as
litter.100% of our Barr Soft Drinks packaging is already
recyclable, with clear on-pack recyciing messages,
and we continually seek to reduce the amount of
packaging we use.

As part of our No Time To Waste environmerital
sustainability programme, our piastic and packaging
workstream has established a clear strategy with

a long-term goal of 100% circular packaging. This
means a future where packaging is reduced. recycied
and reused.

In 2015, 196 governmeérits signed the Paris Agreement. which aims to keep average
temperature increase to weill below 2°C above pre-industrial levels. More expiicitly, the
agreernent sets out to limit the ternperature increase even further to 1.5°C.

The Science Based Target Initiative (SBTi) enables companies to demonstrate their leadership
on climate action ty publicly committing to science-based greenhouse gas (GHG) reduction
targets. Science-based targets provide clearly defined pathways for companies to reduce
GHG emissions. Targets are considered science-based if they are in line with what the latest
clirate science deems necessary to meet the goals of the Paris Agreement.

SBTi requires companies to focus initially ori ernissions from their direct GHG emissions
{Scope 1), their indirect emissions, including the consumption of purchased electricity (Scope

2) and then on their wider indirect {(Scope 3) ernissions.

Reducing the footprint of cur packaging will be a
critical part of our journey to reach net-zero. We are
proud to have made a significant step forward in this
regard with the introduction of our first 100% recycled
plastic bottles. All our IRN-BRU and Rubicorn 500mi
plastic bottles moved to 100% rPET in Aprit 2022,
supported by a high profile advertising campaign

1o raise consumer awareriass and understanding.

Qur longer term gosl of having our fuil port'folio in
100% rPET by 2023 nas been impacted by the current
lack of availability cf appropriate quality food grade
recycled plastic. Dernarid is exceeding supply across
the food and drink industry, in the UK and beyond. We
remain committed to our goal, however realistically the
date by which this can be achieved is now expected 1o
be the calendar year 2025 and we have adjusted cur
long-terr target accordingly.

We remgsin committed tc cresting & truty circular
system for drinks containers with the expectation that
Scotland's deposit return scheme (DRS), due to be
implemented in August 2023, will play an important
role inirproving the availability and quality of high
orade recyclates. As a large producer member of the
DRS scheme administrator, Circularity Scotland Limited
(CSL), we will benefit from first right of refusal for our
proportionate share of the scheme’s collected material.
The recycled material available from a DRS system is
expected to be of a much higher quality than that
produced by current household recycling. As such we
anticipate that this will significantly improve our rPET
supply in particular and altow us to resurne our path t©
our 100% rPET goal.

36

We are fully committed
to achieving our
science-based targets.
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We are in the important planning and preparaticn DRS
phase, working with our custorners and CSL to ensure
as srooth a transition and as successful a scherne as
possible. By incentivising consumers to returri their
drinks containers, DRS will set arinks packaging apart,
as drinks containers will become part of & truly

circular economy. Iy countries where DRS is already
operational, such as Norway and Germany, return rates
of plastic bottles for example reach as hiagh as 98%.

Water and waste

As a multi-beverage business, water is a principal
ingredient, as well as a necessary resource we rely
upon acress our operations. There is increasing
awareness of the chailenges faced in managing water
resources and wve are extremely aware of the part we
iave to piay in protecting this precious commodity.

Water is a key workstreaim within our No Time To Waste
environmental sustainability programme snd in 2021
we undertook a detailed analysis of our water footprint
at all our production sites, working with an independent
3Q€ENCy to give us a better understanding of how and
where we use water. With this data we have developed
an evidence-based water strategy with langible actiors
in place for each of our sites over a three-year horizon.

As part of our sustainable sourcing strategy we also
know that the most significant water use in our value
chain is in agriculture. The crops that we rely upon

for many of our products, such as iangos, are grown
in hot, potentially water-stressed areas, and we are
working in partnership with our global suppliers to
encourage sustainable practices.

Akey eiernent of our internal water strateqy is our focus
on cleaning procedures, where smali chariges carn make
significant reductions in our water usage, We have aiso
focused on changing our own behaviours, supported
by our "Drop by Drop” awareness raising initiative and
an employee education and engagemerit camipaign
coinciding with World Water Day in March. We are
pleased to report that cur renewed water strategy

is already making a difference with vear-on-year
improvements in our water usage efficiency against
cur 2020 haseline. More information can be found in
our non-financial KPl section on page 32.

Strategic Report

Once again we are pleased to have achieved our
tong-term target related to waste. 100% of our
non-tiazardous waste is diveried from landfill and
our objective is to maintain this performance on
3 permanent basis.

Sustainable sourcing

As climate change and a rising population put pressure
on our limited natural resources, it is important for

ail ou’ raw materials to be sourced sustainably and
used effectively.

As one of our No Time To Waste workstreams,
sustainakie sourcing is key to ensuring our high-quality
ingredients and rnaterials are sourced and mariufactured
in a fair, ethical and environmeritally responsible way.

Our Supplier Code of Conduct, currently applicatle

0 both Barr Soft Drinks and FUNKIN, sets out the key
suppt er principies we work to and the rinirmurn
standards we require our suppliers to meet, which forrn
part of their contractual commitments to us. This Code
is fundarnental to ensuring we work with suppliers who
uphod the highest standards with respect 1o human
rights, conditions of employmerit and who actively
reduce their environrnental tootprint. We ensure our
criticat suppliers have embedded sustainable and ethical
practices in their organisations, and that they are
committed to maintaining these principles within their
own supply chain.

Corporate Governance Accounts
In focus
The UK plastics pact

As part of our No Time To Waste erivironmental
sustainability programme, we are proud to have
become signatories to The UK Plastics Pact.

What is The UK Plastics Pact?

The UK Plastics Pact is a bold and unique
initiative that will ransform the UK's plastic
system. By bringing together the entire plastics
vaiue chain behind a common set of arnbitious
targets, it will move us towards a system which
keeps plastic in the economy and out of the
environment. It will encomipass innovation,
research and new business rodels to rethink and
redesign what packaging we put on the market in
the first place, and how we can encourage more
reuse of packaging.

What will it achieve?

By 2025. The UK Plastics Fact will transforrm
the UK plastic packaging sector and help stop
plastics polluting the environment. Members
have signed up to the following targets:

+ Eliminate problematic or unnecessary
single-use packaging through redesign,
innovation or alternative (re-use) delivery
models

« 100% of plastic packaging to be reusable,
recyclable or compostable

« 70% of plastic packaging effectively recycled
or composted

« 30% average recycled content across all
plastic packaging
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Responsibility report continued
We respect the environment continued

Infocus .

100 Litre Challenge

Our No Time To Waste programme is not only
sbout achieving our environmental sustainability
goals — it is also about encouraging our
employees to take personal responsibility.

To rnark Worid Water Day in March 2022, we
issued our ernployees with a 100 litre challenge.

For one day. we chalienged empioyees to see if
they could cut their personal water consumgtion
to just 100 litres. Using a purpose-built intranet
portal, we used engaging content to share details
of where everyone is potentially wasting water —
and what sirnple steps they can take to reduce
water waste.

Qur suppliers must acknowledge their compliance on
an annual basis through our stringent supplier approval
process, which uses questionnaires and audits to
confirm adherence to our standards acioss a broad
range of requirements. For many years we have used the
Supplier Ethical Data Exchange (Sedex) platform, a
not-for-profit global membership organisation dedicated
to driving improvements in ethical and responsible
business practices. We also use the Sedex Supplier
Approval Questionnaire as an important secoridary
validation step which allows independent benchmarking
of suppliers on a consistent measurable basis.

The output frem these questionnaires also allows

us to collaborate and erigage with our suppliers to set
objectives and action plans to deliver sustainable and
continuous improvements. This includes active and
ongoing dialogue with our key suppliers — their actions
support the delivery of our Scope 3 science-based
targets, and ultimately our net-zero srbition.

Materiality and stakeholder engagement

We regularly engage with internial and external
stakeholders to ensure that our responsibility agenda
is addressing the material issues.

Governance

Cur responsibility agenda is integrated into our
strategic. financial and business planning, as weil
as our risk Management processes, with ultimate
accountability sitting with the Board.

Our Executive tearns are responsible for the delivery
and execution of our resgonsibility actions ang
programmes, supported whiere appropriate by
sub-committees and functional or project teams.
Further information on the governance of our
climate-related risks and opporturnities is detailed

in cur TCED disclosures on pages 44 1o 53,

Independent assurance

We continued to work with third-party auditors, the
Carbon Trust, across the past 12 morniths. They have
completed an audit and verification of our Group
operations for Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions for the
year ended January 2022, and verification for the year

ended January 2023 is underway. Having developed
the world's first certification for organisational CO,e
Reduction Standard and product carbon footprints,
the Carbon Trust is the leading carbon footprint
certificazion body.

Qur Scope 1 and 2 greenhouse gas emissicns for the
year ended January 2022 have been verified against
the ISO 14064-3 standard.

During 2022 we were also pleased to maintain our A-
climate change rating with the Clirnate Disclosure Project
(CDP}. CDP is a not-for-profit charity that runs a global
envirnmental disclosure system. CDP is widely used
and considered to be one of the most comgreherisive
independent environmental data sets available. The CDP
Sccre Report allows us to benchirnark and compare our
environmenital stewardship with peers, and provides
additional information that can help inform our forward-
tooking improvement programmes.

Task Force on Climat: Fi ial Di: s
The Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures
(TCFDj provides a tramework for companies to report
the potential financial impacts from climate change on
their business, as well as reporting the progress made
by the organisation against the targets set to rnitigate
climate-related risks and to reduce its impact on

the environment.

This framework is designed to help investors and wider
stakeholders understand how businesses are managing
climate-related tinancial risks, across four key areas:

Governance - setting out the respective roies of the
Board and management tearn in rariaging risks and
opportunities.

Strategy - identifying risks and opportunities over
different time horizons and explaining how these
impact strategic and financial planning.

Risk Management - having processes in place for
managing identified risks and including these within
the overall risk management frarnework.

Metrics and Targets - explsining how both climate
change ‘mpact and exposure (o risks are measured,
setting targets and tracking onQoing progress.



Using this framewark we set cut our full TCFD
disclosures below. These reflect the structure of the
A.G. Barr Group for the rnajority of the 2022/23
financial year i.e. covering the Barr Soft Drinks and
FUNKIN business units. MOMA and Boost Drinks,
acquired in December 2022, will be incorporated
into future disclosures.

Governance

Board of Directors

The A.G. Barr Board has responsibility for the oversighit
of climate-related risks and opportunities impacting
the Group.

The Board of Directors considers climate-related risks
and opportunities when setting and reviewing thie
Company strategy, agreeing future objectives, budgets
and KPIs, setting policies and when considering
potential MEA activity.

The Board carries out a full review of our corporate risk
reqister and principal risks, including those related to
clirnate change, twice a year. In addition, the Board
reqularly discusses climate-related issues across a
variety of Board meeting agenda items. These include
matters arising from its sub-committees, particularty
from the Environmental, Social and Governanice (ESG)
Committee, as well as from general business updates,
where climate-related issues will often be irtegral.
Examples during the year inciude discussions on

science-based targets. net-zero roadmaps, as well as the
approval of our strateqic capital investment prograrnme,

incorporating greenhouse gas reduction projects.

A structured process for identifying and quantifying
emerging risks and opporturiities across the Group,
sirnilar to our risk rnanagernent approach, provides a
framework to support broader thinking on new and
emerging areas, including those rzlated to climate
change. With input frorn both our Barr Soft Drinks and

FUNKIN Executive teams, this plays an irportant role in

the Board's strategic planning process. The Board
completed a robust assessment of the Group's
emerging risks, including those related to climate
change, duting the year.

Strategic Report

Corporate climate-related targets, set by the Executive
tearms and ratified by the ESG Committee, are
rnonitored by the Board on a monthly basis.

The Board, in turn, delegates some elements of its
responsibility to its various sub-committees, as set
out below:

« The Audit and Risk Committee ras the delegated
responsibiiity to monitor our internal financial
controls as weii as our internal control and risk
managernent systems. [ts risk managernent
oversight includes the review of our corporate risk
register and principal risks, including those related
to climate change, at least twice per year.

« The Environmental, Social and Governance
Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight
responsibilities with respect to the Comipany’s
menagernent of all relevant ESG matters. The ESG

Cornmittee has deiegated responsibility for approving

the Corapany's environmental sustsinability strategy
and reporting back to the Board. it meets twice each
year and otherwise as required. The ESG Committee

owrs, and is responsible for monitoring and updating,

our material risks and opportunities related to
climate change.
« The Remuneration Committee is responsible for

determining our remuneration policy, including how

climate-related factors are taken into consideration
and reflected in reward. Executive Directors’
long-term incentive plan awards, by way of
iltustration, include an environmental sustainability
performance rneasure. Further information is
available in our Directors’ Remuneration Report
on page 91.

« The Nomination Committee is responsibie for
Board appointments and succession planning.

Barr Soft Drinks and FUNKIN Business Units
Our Executive tearns sCross both business units, Barr
Soft Drinks and FUNKIN, are responsible for maniaging

the climate-related risks and opportunities faced by cur

business on both a long-term strategic basis and day
to day. Our strategic planning process considers both
the risks and opportunities arising from climate charge
and a specific process related to ermnerging risks and
opportunities has recentiy beer agreed and is now

Corporate Governance Accounts

being introduced. The Executive teams are supported
across a number of areas as set out below:

« Our Group Risk Committee ersures that a strong
framework is in place to manage operational risks
effectively, including those associated with climate
change. The Committee oversees our principal
risks and uncertainties, and reviews the effectiveness
of risk management and compliance systems in
mManaging those risks. The aim of the Commiittee
is to ensure that employees understand the
importance of good risk managerrent, a supportive
risk rnanagernent culture is emnbedded across the
Group and that risk management Lrocesses are
clearly deployed.

» The No Time To Waste Steering Group, chaired
by our CEQ, governs our Group-wide envirornmental
sustainability programme. The No Time To Waste
Steering Group has overall resporisibility for setting
the Group's environmental sustainability strategy, for
achieving the Company's climate charnge objectives,
and for monitoring and managing risks and
opportunities related to climate change. The No
Time To Waste programme encompasses five key
workstreams associated with reducing the effects of
climate change. Each workstrearn, arid its associated
team, owns a risk register relevant to its specific area
of focus. The risks identified. slong with opportunities
arising from the climate change agenda, are
reviewed on a montnly basis by the Steering Group.

« Our Capital Allocation Committee is resporisible
for ensuring the best use of our capital resources
in line with our strategy and plans. This includes
the review and approval of capital expenditure
programmes reiated to environmentai sustainability,
taking into account the risks and opportunities in
investrnent decisions.

+ Qur Emerging Risks and Opportunities Group is
responsible for identifying and rnanaging emerging
risks and opportunities at an A.G Barr Group level.
This group conducts an annual review prior to
making recommendations to the Board, the output
tfrorn which forms part of our Board's annual
Strategy Review.
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Responsibility report continued
We respect the environment continued

Strategy Our climate-related governance
QOur Board has ultimate responsibility for agreeing

our business strategy, taking into account, and
retlecting where approgpriate, the risks and opportunities
associated with climate change. As detailed above,

the Board's strategic thinking and decision making is
supported and informed by our Executive teams and by
a nurnber of Board sub-cornmittees. As detailed in the
rnetrics and targets section that foliows, our key climate . i
related objective, borre out of our strategy. relates to Barr Soft Drinks and
our achievement of our scierce-based targets and our FUNKIN Executive Teams
ultimate net-zero commitment. Our associated rcad
rnap is set out on pages 40 and 41.

Emerging Risks
& Opportunities Group

Our strategic timeframes are as foilows: Group Risk Committee = EELEEEEEEEE Audit and Risk Committee
= Shart-term: G to 1years

» Medium-term: 110 5 years
» Long-termn: S5+ years

. . " “No Time To Waste” Steering Group ESG Committee
The opportunities, as well as physical and transition

risks considered material to our business, are detailed
on the following pages along with our strategic
responses, Our methodology for defining materiat
financial and strstegic impacts on our business is Capital Allocation Committee Remuneration Committee
sligned with our risk management approach, detaiied
in the Risk Managerment section that follows. Gross risk
impacts that fall in the categories of “moderate”, "major”
or “critical” would be deemed to be raterial.

Nomination Committee
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Physical risks
d with i d severity of events such as cyclones and floods (acute), and iated with changes in precipitation patterns and
extreme variability in weather patterns, rising mean temperatures and rising sea levels (chronic).

Risk Type & Description Timeframe Potentlalfmanua\
impact
Chronic risk

Long-term [ [} ]
The risk that climate change impacts the future availability, quality and cost of the natural ingredients required to

manufacture our products, such as sugar, fruit juices and water.

Strategic response:

We hiave dedicated Sustainable Sourcing and Water workstreams within our No Time To Waste environmiental sustainability programme with amibitious strategies in these
areas. Further information is availzble on pages 42 and 45, however by way of illustration of acticr taken related 1o fruit availability, we have developed s network of
suppliers who can supply materials from different origins and have set up a programine to approve fruit juices from different geographic sources, such as passion fruit
frorn Vietnam, in addition to our existing supply from Ecuador. thus reducing risk of supply and ultimately protecting sales.

Transition risks
associated with changes to policy and legislation, technology, the market and reputation.

Risk Type & Description Timeframe Fotenna\fmancnal
impact
Policy and legal risk

Long-term [ ]
The risk of higher costs as a consequence of planned/potential regulation such as a carbon tax, or packaging reiated

regulations/taxes such as UK Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) and the EU Single-Use Plastics Directive.

Strategic response:
We Iy

ve approved science-based targets that will see us becorming net-zero across our own operations by 2035 and across our full supply chain by 2050, if not sooner.
We have already begun our decarbonisation journey in areas such as transitioning to 100% renewable electricity and 100% electric forklift trucks.

We are aiso focused on reducing. recycling and reusing across cur packaging. 100% of our Barr Soft Drinks packaginig is already recyciable and we are increasing our use
of recycied material. We rnow have 100% recycled plastic fitrn across all of our Barr Soft Drinks consumer muitipacks and intzoduced our first 100% recycied bottles in Aprit
2022. as part of a longer-term objective of having 100% recycled content across our full portfolio of plastic botties by 2025. Discussions are aiso uriderway with our glass

and atuminiurn can suppliers on how we can work togethier to increase recycled content in the products they previde. We are reducing packaging where possible, such
as in a recent reduction of stretch wrap weight.

In addition. we are positive supporters of the implementation of DRS in the UK, which will help to miitigate potential EPR costs for the business - the latest government
proposats in this area have confinmed that containers subject to DRS will be out of scope of EPR.

Potentia! finaricial impact Movernent: BB Moderate  WEB Major  BEE Critical
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Responsibility report continued
We respect the environment continued

Transition risks
associated with changes to policy and legislation, technology, the market and reputation.

Risk Type & Description Timeframe Po(emlal financial
impact
Market rigk . Medium-term nma

The risk that consurner behaviours change in relation to single-use packaging or as a result of regulatory changes
designed to reduce the impact of climate change, such as DRS, resulting in a reduction in dernand for our products
or consumers swsitching to brands perceived as more sustainable.

Strategic response:

As already detailed, we are positive supporters of the implementation of DRS, due to be impiemenited in Scotiand in August 223, and expected to launch in England
no eariier than 2025. By incentivising consumers o return their diinks containers, DRS will set drirks packaging apart. as drinks containers will become part of & truly
circular economy.

The detlivery of our net-zero roadimaps, and specifically our drive © reduce, recycle and reuse across our packaging, are key tC improving our environmental credentials and
further building trust with consumers.

Opportunities

associated with resource efficiency, energy sources, products and services, markets and resilience.

Potential financial
impact

Energy source opportunity Madium-term [ L] ]

Use of lower-ernission energy sources, such as photovoltaic panels and heat pumps for the generation of electricity,
heat and'steam, leading to a reduction in greenhouse gas emissions.

Opportunity Description & Type Timeframe

Strategic response:

These initiatives present a significant opportunity to reduce our Scope 1 {reduction of gas consumption from heat purnps) anc Scope 2 {on-site electricity generatior
from photovoltaic panels) emissions, thereby mitigating the on-cost associated with the potential introduction of carbon pricing while also potentially delivering utility
cost reducticns.

Market opportunity Lcng-term [ [ ]]
The opportunity that consumer behaviours change, with consumption patterns shifting towards products perceived

1o be more envirornmentally frierdly, resulting in sales cpportunities. More environmentally orientated consumer

behaviours could include supporting cormparnies who have clear plans to achieve riet-zero or who are actively engaged

in DRS. It couid also extend to increased ‘staycations’ or the favouring of domestic produced products.

Strategic response:
Cornmunication with cur customers and consumers is key to ensuiing our environmental sustainability plans and progress are well understood. We provide regular updates
1o our customers via our sales force and we are increasingly comimunicating directly with all consumers, both on-pack and th-ough traditional and socisl media channels.

Potential financiai impact Movement: BEE® Moderate HEE Major  EEE Critical



We believe that our strategic actions are currenitly
providing an acceptable degree of long-term resilience,
taking into consideration different climate related
SCenarios as set out beiow.

Risk Management

Identifying risks .
Each department or function in the Company has its
own risk register that is reviewed on a reqular basis.
Climate-related risks, including those associated with
existing and emerqging regulatory requirernents, are
identified and assessed alongside other business risks
during the deparimental reviews. Departrnental risk
registers feed into the corporate risk register, which
is reviewed by our Group Risk Comimittee every

two months.

Best-case climate scenario
(EA Net-Zero by 2050

StrategicReport Corporate Governance Accounts

The Ermnerging Risks and Opportunities Group.

etailed in the Governance section, is
responsible for the Group's emerging risk register,
with a longer-term horizon than that considered

by the departmental units. The Group Risk Committee
will retain oversight of emerging risks going forward.

The ESG Committee owns, and is responsible for
rnonitoring and updating, our material risks and
opportunities relsted to climate change, as aliready
detailed in the Strategy section. The ESG Cominittee
is supported by a cross-functional graup of senior
executives who heip input into this process both in
terms of risk identification and assessment aligned
to worst-case and best-case climate scenarios, as
detailed here.

Worst-case climate scenario
IPCCRCPB.5/SSPS

Scenario narrative & context

Under this scenario, giobal warring is limited to below
1.5°C above pre-industrial levels by 2100 through

global collaboration and policy interverition to reduce
greenhouse gas emissions and reach riet-zero emissions
by 2050.

Scenario narrative & context

Limited efforts are made by governments and businesses to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, leading 1o

temperature rises of 4°C above pre-industrial levels by 2100.

In this scenario, the emphasis turns o protecting the population and operational assets from the catastrophic

impact of the changing climate as opposed te reducing the emissions themselves.

For example, this scenario foresees the irplementation  We chaose this scenario to assess the potential physical risks on our business ard supply chain, as itis supported
of a carbon price/tax that could start at $75 per tonne with long-terrm data ranges on temperature, precipitations and rise in sea levels. The data from the scenario
CO,e in 2025 for developed countries, rising 1 $205 extends t© 2100 and allows us to take medium and long-term views on risks, considering the impact of market
per tonne CO,e in 2040. chiange in the locations of our owr assets and at the origin of our key materials.

We chose this scenafio to assess transition risks
and because its time horizon aligns with the UK
Government's pledge to achieve net-zero by 2050,
thierefore offering a plausible pathway for cur
tocal authorities.

The climate-related risks considered material to our business are detailed on pages 47 and 48, however this scenario planning process identified a range of other risks
and opportunities.
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Responsibility report continued

We respect the environment continued

Assessing risks

Our corporate risk register guidelines provide the
framework for defining financial and strategic impacts
on our business. This framework applies equally to
clirnate-related risks and categorises five ievels of risk
impact: “insignificant”, ‘mincr’, “rnoderate”, ‘major” .
and “critical”.

The corpoiate risk register guidelines also include
definitions for the likelirood of the risks, inciuding:

“rare”, “unlikely”, “possible”, “likely” arid “almost certain”.
Different parameters are takeri into account when
assessing the potential impact of a risk, including
financial aspects, environmental aspects, and other
aspects such as health and safety and corporate
reputation. Each risk is given a risk rating before and
after rnitigating actions.

Gross risk impacts that fall in the categories of ‘moderate”,
“major” or “critical” would be deemned to be rnaterial.

From a financial perspective, a "moderate” impact is
defined as impacting financial turricver or profit by
between 3% and 10%, & "major” irnpact is defined as
impacting financial turnover or profit by more than 10%
and less than 25%. A financial impact of 25% of more
on turnover or profit would be deerned as “critical”.

Managing risks

The resolution cf moderate impacts requires the input
from the Executive team. Thie resolution of major and

critical impacts requires the input frorn the Beard and/
or its sub-comrnittees.

The Group Risk Committee reports back to the Audit
and Risk Comimittee, sttended by Directors on the
Baard, Sirmilarly, the ESG Cornrnittee reports to the
Board on the material climate-related risks identified.

Mitigating actions are developed for each risk and their
effectiveness is reviewed on an cngoing basis. New
actions are triggered in order to further reduce the

net score of each risk, especially for those risks that

sit outside of the Board risk appetite. Furictional risk
registers are reviewed in depth by the Risk Committee
according to an annual schedule to ensure that risks

are well represented and that actions are taken to
reduce the level of risk for the business.

Metrics & Targets

The mitigating actiors for our key clirate-related risks,

identified through our ESG Comrnittee and our
raulti-functional and business-wide risk mariagement
process, are being managed primarity through our
No Time To Waste environmiental sustainability
programme. This prograrnme hias identified & number
of long-term clirnate-related goals, with the key
deliverables being the achievement of our science-
based targets and the ultirnate delivery of our net-zero
by 2050 commiitment. Other climate-related targets
and KPls, including those related to packaqing, waste
and water are detailed within our leng-term geals and
non-financial key perfermance indicators on pages 31
and 32.

On a cross-industry basis we are working
collaboratively with other producers on the effective

introduction of a deposit return scheme across the UK.

Cur SBTi approved science-based carbori reduction
targets are in line with the latest ciimate science
recommendations necessary to meet the goals of the
Paris Agreement and limit the temperature increase
to 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels. These targets are
detaiied beiow and set out our commitment to be
net-zero &Cross our own operations by 2035 and
across our wider supply chain by 2050, if not sooner.

Ovr science-based
targets

Overall Net-Zero Target

We commit to reach net-zero greenhouse
gas {GHG) emissions across the value
chain by FY2050 from a FY2020 base year.

Near-term Targets

We commit to reduce absolute scope 1
and 2 GHG emissions 60% by FY2030
from a FY2020 base year.

We aiso commit to reduce absolute scope
3 GHG emissions from purchased goods
and services, upstream transport and
distribution and downstream transport
and distribution 25% within the same
timeframe.

Long-term Targets

We commit to reduce absotute scope 1
and 2 GHG emissions 90% by FY2035
from a 2020 base year.

We also commit to reduce scope 3
GHG emissions from purchased goods
and services, upstream transport and
distribution and downstream transport
and distribution 90% by FY2050 from

a FY2020 base year.

Notes:

F¥2020 refers 1o AG Barr financial year 2623/21
erded in January 2021. The same conventior:
applies o FY2030, FY2035 and FY2030



Our 2021/22 greenhouse gas emissions
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Emissions (1 CO e)

2020/2021 2021/2022
Total Scope 1 5,434 3,848
Total Scope 2 (market-based) 1.838 1,036
Scope 3
Purchased goods and services (product) 106,608 86,767
Purchased goods and services (non-product) 7625 11,877
Capital goods 1,763 3,311
Fuel and energy related activities 2,150 2,158
Upstream transportation ard distribution 4,587 30,616
Waste generated in operations 66 117
Business travel 226 85
Ermployee comrnuting 427 223
Upstream leased assets - -
Downstream transportation and distribution 18.768 18,254
Processing of sold products - 348
Use of sold products (direct) - -
Use of sold products (indirect) 3,428 2,016
End-of-life treatrment of sold products 1,57¢ 4,236
Downstream leased assets - -
Franchises 62 -
Irvestments - 99
Total Scope 3 147,280 160,107
Total Scope 1,263 154,602 164,991

Qur Scope 3 ernissions increased by ¢.7% in 2021. This reflects our increased sales volumes as we recovered following the pandernic and some discrepancies and omissions
identified in 2020's baseline assessrent. The discrepancies and ornissions have now been rectified and the learnings will be carried forward in our tuture carbor footpririt

assessiments and future target setting.

While aur full carbon footprint assessrnents run 3 year behind due to calculation and validation requirernents, our Scope 1 and 2 emissions data is available for the 2022/23

finaricial year as foilows.
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Responsibility report continued

We respect the environment continued

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR)
We are reporting against the SECR framework for the

third year, for the period 31 January 2022 to 29 January

2023. We report as a quoted Comipany and confirm
that all the minimum regquirermernits have been
addressed and are presznied here. All global energy
and emissions reported related to UK operations -
there are no non-UK energy and emissions.

Qur total energy consumption for 2022/2G23 was
44,658,466 kWh. This includes our electricity, steam
and natural gas usage for our production, distribution
and office buiidings, as well as trarisport fuels for
logistics vehictes and Company cars.

Under a location-based approach, the total global
Scope 1& 2 carbon emissions associated with our
reported energy use and fugitive emissions from

‘refrigerant leaks for 2022/2023 were 8,822.831CO,e,

as summarised in the table below:

Carbon Emissions (Location-based)* 2022/23 2021722
Scope 1emissions - (tCOe) 4,363.67 3.84787
Scope 2 emissions -

purchased electricity (COe)  4,328.29  4.752.63
Scope 2 ernissions -

purchased stream (tCO,e) 130.87 999.68
TotalScope1&2

emissions {tCO e} 8,822.83 9600.19

= The fecation-based approach appiies UK grid average €arpbon
emission l5ctors 1o all Scope 2 purchased elactricity.

Under a market-based approach the total global Scope
18 2 carbon ernissions asscciated with our reported
energy use and fugitive emissions frorn refrigerant leaks
for 2022/2023 are 4.539.70 tCO,e. as summarised in
the table below:

Carbon Emissions (Market-based)* 2022/23 2021/22

Scope 1 emissions - tCO,e) 4,363.67 384787

Scope 2 emissions —

purchased electricity (tCO €) 45.16 359%

Scope 2 emissions ~

purchased stream (tCO,e) 130.87 999.68

Total Scope1&2

emissions (tCO,e) 4,539.70 4,883.52

* It should be notad that, in 2021/22 purchased stearn provided

by a 3rd party at Curnbernauld is categorisea under Scope 2 and
accounted for $99.7tCO . In 2022/23 we began generating our
own steam rather than continuing te purchase steam from a third
party. This change occurred on the 1t Aprit 2022 and remained in
place until the end of the finaricial period. A srail amount of Scope
2 steam purchase remains for the first two raeninis of the year
refiecting 130.87tCO,g of emissions.

Methodology

The rethodology used is the WBCSD/WRI Greenhouse
Gas Protocol - a corporate accounting standard

revised edition in conjunction with UK Government
environmental reporting guidelines inciuding SECR
guidance. An operational control approach has been
taken. We have used the UK Governiment greenhouse
gas conversion factors for cormpany reporting 2022.
Scope 2 emissions from purchased electricity have
been measured using a location-pased approach.

Intensity ratio

For 2022/2023, cur emissions intensity, measured

as the totai Scope 1 and 2 emissions relative to the
thousand litres of product produced is 20.34 kg CO.e
per thousand litres of product produced. This compares
with 21.55 kg CO,e per thousand litres of product
produced, as detailed in our previous Annual Report.

Energy efficiency actions

1
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We a-e procuring REGO backed renewable
electricity across all our operational sites, leading
to a significant reduction in Scope 2 emissions
{under market-based reporting).

. We a-e rolling out our "Brilliance in the Making”

continuOUS IMProvement prograrnime across our
manufacturing sites. Througrh this programme e
are irvesting heavily in the training of our staff in
better problem sclving and tearn working skills.
This prograrnme irnproves energy efficiency
throw.gh reduction in charigecver times,
improvemerits in line reliakility and the reduction
of waste.

. We are awaiting the delivery of 12 CNG trucks that

will run on biomethane instead of diesei. We are
expecting CNG trucks to deliver a 98% reguction in
CO,e when compared o diesel trucks.

. We carried out a trial with hydrotreated vegetable oit

{HVQO} at one of our depots. The trial has beer:
extended into 2023 and is expected to deliver a 97%
reduction in CO,e when compared to diesel trucks,

. We Fave initiated a prcject at our Miltor Keynes site

aiming to reduce natural gas consurmption by $0%
throuq e use of solar panels and heat pumps.
The “easipility study is undervsay.

. The fights on our Campsies campus at

Cuirbernauld were switched tc LED, with an
expected annual energy saving of 76,000 kWh.
We iritiated a project to install rore efficient water
purnss at our Cumbernauld site, expected to save
circa 470,000 kWi in energy.

. We rave amended our company car policy so

that “rom the st April 2023, nevs company cars
allocated to staff will be either fully electric or
hybrd. EV charging points have been installed
st our Cumbernauld and Mitton Keynes sites

in order to support this transition.

. Forkiitt use has been fully electrified in 2022/23

with no further use of LPG equipment



Reported emissions (and carbon offsets) {tonnes CO2e)
of carbon dioxide equivalent in the stated period

Strategic Report

2022/23 2021/22
Total net emissions 8,823 9,600
Total gross emissions (scope 1and 2) 8,823 9.600
Total direct and indirect emissions (scope 1 and 2) 8,823 9.600

Direct emissions (scope 1) 4,364 3.848
Direct emissions (scope 1) stationary combustion 2,526 1,839
Direct emissions(scope 1) imobile combusticn 1,837.3 2,009

Direct emissions (scope 1) from: transport fuels 1,837 2.009
Direct emissions (scope 1) from other mobite combustion 0.0 0.0
Direct emissions (scope 1j from process sources 0.0 0.0
Direct ernissions (scope 1} from fugitive sources 0.0 0.0
Oirect emissions (scope 1) from agricultural scurces 0.0 0.0
Total direct emissions (scope 1)
Indirect emissions (scope 2) 4,459 5752
Indirect emissions {scope 2) fromn electricity 4,328 4753
Indirect erissions {scope 2) from purchased steem 1309 9967
Indirect ernissions {scope 2) frorn purchased heating 0.0 0.0
Indirect emissions {scope 2) from purchased cooling 0.0 00
Totalindirect emissions {(scope 2)
Energy consumption (kWh)
Kilowsatt hour equivalent in the stated period
Energy consumption used to calculate emissicns 44,658,446 46,218,415
Energy consumption, combustion of gas 13,840,144 9,129,265
Energy consumption, electricity . 22,382,308 22,383,215
Energy consumption, combustior of transport fuel 7.719,044 8,459.091
Energy consumption, other (Thermat Fuels) 0.0 107,296
Intensity ratio
Intensity ratio 0.020 0.022
The reported emissions intersity ratio is the total gross emissions

{Scope 1& 2in tonnes CO,e} per thousand iitres of preduct produced
Intensity ratio based solely or mandatary data True True

Corporate Governance Accounts

TCFD Compliance Statement

Our climate-related financial disclosures are
consistent with all of the TCFD recommendations
and recommended disclosures. By this we mean
the four TCFD recommendations and the 11
recommended disclosures set out in Figure 4 of
Section C of the report entitled "Recornmendations
of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures™ published in June 2017 by the TCFD.
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Responsibility report continued

We support healthy living

Calorie reduction

QOur job has always been, and continues to be, about
understanding consurners and their changing tastes
and preferences, and providing them with great
products. Evidence shows that most soft drinks
consurners want to reduce their sugar intake while stiil
enjoying great tasting drinks. 'We have been reducing
the sugar content across our soft dririks portfolio
and introducing new and innovative reduced sugar
products in response to our consurners’ chianging
tastes and preferences for many years.

98% of our Barr Soft Drinks portfclio by volurne is
censidered no or low sugar, containing less than 5g
total sugars per 100mI, and exempt from the UK Soft
Drinks Industry Levy, often referred to colloquially as
the “sugar tax".

New price and location restrictions came into force in
England in October 2022, applicatle to High Fat, Sugar
and Salt (HFSS) products. The definition of high sugar”
for standard soft drinks is greater than 4.59 total sugar
per 100mtand fror April 2022, six rnonths ahead of the
rew regulations, 98% of our Barr Soft Drinks partfolio
was HFSS exempt.

Responsible advertising and marketing

We take our responsibility in how we rnarket, promote
and advertise our products very sericusily. We advertise
responsibly, offer a wide range of pack sizes to assist
with portion control and, by providing clear nutritional
informaticon, enable our consumers 1o make informed
choices. We fully comply with all of the appropriate
regulations and in some cases go beyond the standards
set, such as in the area of energy drinks where our
industry code exceeds regulatory requiremerits.

Labelling

We have always been committed to providing clear
caiorie and nutritional information on our soft drinks
packs to help consumers choose products that are
right for them. We were one of the earliest adopters of
the government’s voluntary front of pack nutritionat
Iabelling on all our Company-owned Barr Soft Drinks
brands, which is a simple traffic light style scheme,
making it even easier for consurners to find the
information they need.

Research and Development

Gur positive portfolio positicn is supported by our
in-house research, developrment and innovation team,
which delivers 3 wide range of refermulation and
innovation projects, using the experience they hiave
gained over many years to optimise recipes and carry
out robust consumer research to ensure our recipes
meet consumer needs.

In focus
Investment in new
R&D laboratory

In September 2022 we hosted employees from
around the business in a series of open days at
our newly refurbished Middlebrook laboratory.

The tab plays a vital role in the business and the
investment in an extensive refit of the facilities
demonstrates the importance placed on flavour,
quality and innovation. Colleagues were invited
tc view a new sensory suite, packaging tab and
enhanced general lab space giving them the
opportunity to see how our famous products
are developed. Colleagues were also offered the
opportunity to design their own beverage, give
ita name and take it home for their friends and
family to try.



We give back

E ing with it

Supporting and working with our local commuriities
has been at the core of our business since we were
first established in 1875.

We support a range of charities and commurity
groups acrass the UK, from local clubs and charity
fundraisers 10 large charities heiping peopie on

a nationai scale. We help in various ways, including
financially. through donations or ori  practical level
with employee volunteering.

Infocus

Support for GroceryAid

September 2022 saw us become headline
sponsors for "Checkout Scotland” an inaugural
music event held in support of retailer charity
GroceryAid.

GroceryAid is a charity that offers invaluable
support to colleagues across the retail sector
giving them access to vital financial and
wellbeing services.

The gig took place in the fantastic Glasgow
venue Barras Art & Design with over 700 guests
attending to enjoy an impressive line-up of acts
including Scouting for Girls, The Feeling and
Sophie Ellis-Bextor.

As headline sponsors, IRN-BRU'’s presence was
unmissable from our branding. to our VIP area
and even IRN-BRU burger sauce.

The event helped raise awareness of the charity
and the life-changing work it does for industry
colleagues in need of a little help.

Strategic Report

New charity partner

I June 2022 our employees voted for a new three-year

charity partner — Marie Curie.

After three successfui years working with Mental Health

UK, our employees voted for Marie Curie as our new
partner, a fantastic charity that provides care and
suppart to people coping with terminal iilness as well
as thcse close to them,

The three-year partnership will see the business donate

£150,000 directly 1o the charity, with additionat
fundraising frorn employees adding further support.

Employee volunteering

Our employees are encouraged to take partin
volun:eering activities, often giving something back
to the local communities we serve. This year saw
employees volunteering for a range of deserving
causes, including Women's Aid, the Children’s Panel
and & local biodiversity project.

Corporate Governance

Accounts

In focus

FUNKIN and The Drinks Trust

FUNKIN's marketing team spent a volunteer day
hosting a marketing workshop for aspiring future
leaders within the hospitality and drinks industry.

In collaboration with The Drinks Trust, 21
members of its Develop programme - ranging
from hospitality staff to managing directors
and business owners — attended five separate
workshops learning about brands, trade and
digital marketing, menu-building, mixology
and innovation.

A rewarding day for both the participants and
our FUNKIN colleagues, it was an opportunity
to share expertise and inspire the future
professionals of the drinks industry.

Since 1886, The Drinks Trust has provided care
and support to the drinks hospitality industry
workforce, both past and present. The Drinks
Trust is run by industry professionals, funded by
drinks industry partners, including FUNKIN, and
supported by thousands of drinks hospitality
industry fundraisers, donors and contributors.
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Financial review
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A positive financial
performance with strong
organic revenue and profit
growth and two exciting
acquisitions.

%%

Stuart Lorimer
Finance Director

Overview

The bus.ness has delivered another year of impressive
financial performance with top and bottom line growth
during a vear of high cost inflation, supply chain
challenges and macroeconormic uricertainty:

2022/23 Versus 2021/22

Reported revenue  £317.6m  £268.56m +18.2%

Reported profit

hefore tax £44.4m £42.2im +5.2%
Adjusted profit

before tax™ £43.5m  £384m +13.3%
Adjusted operating

margin* 13.6% 14.9% {1.3pp)

Net cash at bank* £52.9m £68.4m {22.7%)

Reported EPS
{basic p/share) 30.47p 25.09p +21.4%

Dividend per share
(proposed final
and interirn} 13.10p 12.0p +5.2%

Qur revenue increase was driven by a combination
of branc momentum, revenue rnanagernerit and the
incrernental contribution from our MOMA and Boost
Drinks acquisitions. Like-for-like reverue growth?,
adjusting for MOMA and Boost riew business and the
extra week in the prior year, was 15.9%.

Throughout the pandemic, and the disruption that
followed as the economy reopened, we worked
collaboratively with our customers to ensure we
recognised the impact of restrictions on the brand
suppert and discounts we provided. This involved
numerous commercial discussions, and in certain
circumstances, changes to promotional terms. This
has resulted in a change in estimate and recognition
of E5.1m (2021/22: £4.Sm) of additicnal variable
consideration.



In a challenging cost environment our adjusted profit
betore tax* increased by 13.3%. While recessionary
concerns, inflationary pressures and supply chain
disruption: were clear headwinds, we continued to
invest for the future, in our brands, cur people and
our assets. Our operating margin was compressed

as a result of supply chain costinflation, the impact of
MOMA and Boost's lower margins, and investment in
marketing ahead of saies in both FUNKIN arid MOMA,

Qur cash generation remains strong having generated
£35.9m of net cash from operations.

Qur capital allocation principles are consistent with cur
strategic ambition to consistently grow our business.
We prioritise the utilisation of funds to support organic
growth, finance appropriate acquisition opportunities,
provide sharehcider income and optimise debt when
sppropriate. ln 2022/23, in addition to increased
marketing spend across our core brands, we chese

to invest in long-term sustainable growth through our
acquisitions and a step up in capital investrnent across
our operating sites. Qur capital programrne is expected
to result in investment in excess of ES0m over the next
three years.

Qur core brand strength, our clear strategy and our
engaged workforce provide a strong foundation to
deliver sustainabie long-term sharenolder value.

Adjusting items

The Group reported results include a net credit of

£09rn (2021/22: £EQ.7rn credit) relating to pre-tax

adjusting items which are excluded from adjusted profit:

* MBA - MOMA: A net credit of £1.6m relating to the
re-rmeasurernent and reiease of the excess
contingent consideration in respect of MOMA Foods
Limited following the Group's acquisition of the
remaining 38.2% minority interest in Decermber
2022.

« MB&A - Boost Drinks: A net charge of £2.0m
relating to costs associated with the successful
acquisition of Boost Drinks Holdings Lirnited. This
comprises £1.2m of one-off acquisition fees and a
further £0.8m accrual related (o the potential

Strategic Report

2024/25 payment of E10rn associated 1o the
acquisition earn-out. Both the acquisition fees
and the earn-out accrual have been charged to
operating expenses in the income statement.

« Assetdisposal: A £1.3m one-off gain on the sale
of cur Newcastle distribution site which was ciosed
in April 2022 as part of the completed Group-wide
restructuring programme that was announced
in 2021/22.

Segmental performance

There are three reportable segments in the Group:
+  Soft drinks

+  Cocktail solutions

« Otner

Soft drinks

The soft drinks segment comprises two business urits,
Barr Soft Drinks and Boost Drinks, with decisions made
at a business unit level. This aliows agile and effective
operational management and strong Group oversight.

Barr Soft Drinks

Barr Soft Drinks delivered a year of strong top line
revenue growth, up 12.4% on 2021/22, driver: by
volume growth, disciplined pricing and promotionat
management as well as 3 small element of favourabie
brand and channel mix. Gross margin declined as high
and sustained ravs materiai inflation was only partially
mitigeted by pricing action and disciplined cost
rnanagement.

IRN-BRU revenue grew by 6% with a strong
performance in the out-of-home channel more
than cornpensating for Iower take home sales
as the channels continue to rebalanice following
pandernic disruption.

Rubicon’s growth was particularly pleasing. up 8%
in volume and over 20% in revenue, with the brand
benefiting from increased distribution, continued
innovation, and a strong rarketing prograrnrne.
Growih was broad based across the whole Rubicon
range with Sparkling, Spring, Stills and RAW Energy.
all delivering double digit reveniue growth.

Corporate Governance Accounts

Gross rnargin in the second haif of the finaricial year
was impacted by high exotic fruit costs following
particularly poor harvests.

Our other portfolio brands, including Barr Flavours,

A and Simply Fruity, grew in both volume and revenue
terms as consumers sought value in the face of cost of
living challenges.

Boost Drinks

The Boost Drinks portfolio, spanning energy, sport,
iced coffee, protein and including the franchise brand.
Rio, was acquired by the Group in December 2022.
QOur financial results include Boost's contributior for
the two months since acquisition — ¢.£7m of revenue
and c.£1m of gross profit. The impact tc Group profit
was negligible and is in line with the acquisition
business case.

46

Our capital allocation
principles are consistent
with our strategic
ambition to consistently
grow our business.
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Financial review continued

Segmental
performance -
reported revenue

Soft drinks

+16%

+41%

Cocktail solutions

FUNKIN delivered another year of significant growth
with revenue up 16.0% and gross profit up 10.2%. The
business benefited from s strong on-trade recovery,
especially in the first hatf of the financial yesr, and
continued distribution gains in the growing off-trade
ready to drink cocktail market. Gross margin was
impacted by increases in input costs, fruit in particular,
and a more challenging macroeconomic environment
for our on-uade customers in the secord haif of the year.

Other

The ‘Other’ segment represents our MOMA business
unit, comprising oat milk drinks and other oat based
products. MOMA continues ¢ tuild distribution across
both grocery and food service channels with revenue
up over 41% versus the prior year. Cost inflation in both
processing and raw raterials has adversely irmpacted
gross margin. The Group secured full ewnership of the
MOMA business in December 2022 and this will niow
allow us to invest for the long-term: growth of the brand.

Operating margin

The combination of the intlationary macroecoriomic
environment, the medium-term margin dilutive impact
of the Boost and MOMA acquisitions and cur
commitrnent to maintaining marketing investrment
behind our long-term growth drivers, led to an adjusted
operating rargin” of 13.6% (2021/22: 14.9%).

Our marketing spend was ahead of sales growth for the
second sUCCEessive year as we continued to invest

behind our core brands, innovation and our acquisitions.

During the year we also provided support with the
irnmediate cost of living challenges, through targeted
one-cff payments as well as longer term investrment
in personal skills and capabilities.

interest

The Group remained net cash positive throughout
2022/22. Finance income of £0.5m reiates to interest
earned on cash held on roliing short-termi deposits.
The tinance charge of £1.4m primarily relates to the
non-casn MOMA scquisition accounting (£1.1m),
included as an adjusting item in determining adjusted
profit as explained in the adjusting items section. The
rernainirg finance charge of £0.3m relates to banking
costs associated with the Group's revolving credit
facilities and lease interest costs under IFRS 16.

Taxation

The reported tax rate for the year ended 29 January
2023 was 23.6% compared with 24.1% for the year
ended 37 January 2022. The tax rate for the year is
above the 19% UK corporation tax rate due to c.E2m
of MGA related costs recognised in the year that are
nen-decuctible for tax purposes. These primarily rate
to c.E1m of acquisition transaction costs anid £0.8m
of accruad earn-out recogrised in the year.

The reported tax charge for the prior year included the
impact of the change in corporation tax rate from 19%
10 25% on deferred tax which increased the deferred tax
liability &y £5.7m. Exciuding the irpact of the increase
in rate fcr deferred tax, the effective tax rate for the year
ended 32 January 2022 would be c.21%.

Earnings Per Share (EPS)

Adjustea basic EPS* for the year was 29.66p, an
increase of 27.4% on the prior year due to higher
aperating profits and the adverse inipact on the prior
year EPS from an incresse in deferred tax as detailed
abaove. Basic reported EPS was 20.47p. an increase

of 21.4% on last year. Based on 5 diluted weighted
average of 112,178,721 shares, diluted EPS was 30.22p
(2021/22: 24.95p).

Dividends

The Group resumed dividends, after the pandemic
related pause, with the announcement in September
2021 of a 2.Gp interim dividend and a one-off special
dividend of 1G.0p in recognition of the benefit from &
nurnber of one-off cash inflows that had been received
kut that were not part of normal trading.




The Group's dividend policy aims to deliver a
progressive and sustainabie dividend to sharehotders
that nas regard to current performance trends including
revenue, profit after tax and cash, and that satisfies
c&rtain guiding principles:

« Dividend cover: targeting two times cover

«  Payout ratio: targeting 50% of free cash flow*

»  Consistent with mediurm-term profit cutlook

Based on this framework, and foilowing the interim
dividend of 2.50p per share paid in October 2022, the
Board is recornmending a final dividend for the period
of 10.60p. This will bring the full year dividend to 13.10p
per share {2021/2022: 12.0p per share) which provides
two tires dividend cover and delivers a payout ratio

of 437%. The Board believes the final dividend growth of
6.0% is sustainable. Subject to approval by shareholders
at the AGM in May, the final dividend wili be paid to
holders of ordinary shares on the register as of 12 May
2023 with an ex-dividend date of 11 May 2022.

Balance Sheet and Cash Flow

The balance sheet as at 29 January 2023 recognises
the first time inclusion of the Boost Drinks acquisition
and the associated assets and liabilities of this company.

The Group remains financislly strong with riet cash at
bank. no materiai trade debt issues, healthy inventory
ievels, a defined benefit pension surpius arid a £20.6m
increase in the net asset base to £268.8m.

Inventory values have increased due to the Boost Drinks
acquisition, inflation and a planned stock-build to
support the installation of our new FET line as part of
our Curnbernauld factory refresh. Year end payables
and accruals have increased, reflecting the Boost Drinks
acquisition, significant capital spend accruals ang the
timing of our month end payment ruri which 1ok
place after the year end in 2022/23 but before the year
end in the prior year.

Strategic Report

Global disruptions and geo-political challenges haove
reinforced the importance of resilient supply chain
capabilities. We remain committed to internal
manufacturing when scale and capabilities permit,
and recognise the vaiue of a well-invested asset base.
After a period of restricted spend associated with

the pandemic, our capital programme resurned with
total additions in the year of £17.0m (2021/22: £5.8m)
comgrising £14.6m of cash capital expenditre and
£2.4rn of accruals. This reflects investment in
production capacity, capability and sustainability. The
commissioning of a new can filler in Milton Keynes

delivers the capability and capacity for 250ml cans and

alcoholic products for the first time. We have utilised
these facilities to successfully bring a proportion of
FUNKIN can requirements in-house. Qur multi-year
production line refresh in Cumbernauld continues to
plan with an upgraded PET line scheduted for
commissioning by summer 2023.

Despite the return to 3 more typical level of capitat
investment, the higher inventory levels and the
inciusion of the Boost Drinks acquisition, returri on
capital employed remains robust at 18.0%, 3 modest
decline frorn 19.9% in 2021/22.

Acquisitions

In the year ended 29 January 2023, the Group
comgleted the early full acquisition of MOMA Foods
Limited and the acquisition of Boost Drinks Hoidings
Limited. Both acqyuisitions were fully funded from
Group cash reserves and the Group remains néet cash
positive. The prirnary financial implications of these
acquisitions were:

MOMA Foods Limited

The Company acquired an initial 62.8% equity stake in
MOMA in December 2021. MOMA was corisolidated
as a fully owned subsidiary in the 2021/22 accounts.
with 2 non-controlling interest reported in respect

of the 38.2% not acquired at that time, alongside

a put option liability that recognised a cormmitrnent
{contingent consideration) to secure full A.G. Barr
ownership by the end of financial vear 2024/25.

Corparate Governance Accounts

In December 2022 the Company acquired the
rermnaining 38.2% equity stake in MOMA. As A.G. Barr
now owns a 100% equity stake in MOMA, the minority
interest in the business and the put liability have been
removed from the balance sheet. There has been

no change in the year to goodwill or brand vaiuation
and the removal of the contingent consideration has
resulted in a net non-cash credit 1o the incorne
statement of £1.6m. This release has been recognised
within adjusting items as detailed in the adjusting items
section above.
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Boost Drinks Holdings Limited

In December 2022 the Group acquired 100% of Boost

Drinks Holdings Limited for an initial consideration

of £20m. on & cash-free debt-free basis. Boost will

operate as a standslong business unit during 5 two year

earn-out period. The financial reporting impact of the

Boost acquisition is as follows:

« Initial acquisition consideration {(£19.9m) recognised
within the consolidated finarcial position as £16.9rn
of brand intangibles, £1.9m of goodwill intangibles
and net assets of £1.1m

« Consolidated in Group results from December 2022

« Boost revenue recognised wiithin 'Soft Drinks’
segmental reporting

« The acquisition includes a potentisl additicnal
consideration of up to £12m, contingent on the
future performance of the Boost business over a
two year period from completion. Any earn-out will
be charged through the Group's income staternent
over the earn-out period and reported as an
adjustment to reported profit. The financial
staternents ending 29 January 2023 inciuded
£0.8m in respect of this earn-out accrual.

38

Our core brand strength,
our clear strategy and
our engaged workforce
provide a strong
foundation to deliver
sustainable long-term
shareholder value.
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Financial risk management

The Group's risk management process is owried by
the Board and operales at every ievel within the
business to support the successiul delivery of cur
strategic objectives and financisl plans. The process is
based on a balance of risk and opportunity, determined
through assessment of the likelthood and impact of the
risk and within the context of the Group’s risk appetite,
as established by the Board. Risks are monitored
throughout the year with consideration to internal and
external factors, and updates to risks and mitigation
plans are made as required. The principal risks that
could potentially have a significant impact ori our
business have not changed since the end of the
financial year.

Treasury and dity risk g

The treasury and comimodity risks faced by the Group
continue to be idertified and managed by the Group
Treasury and Commodity Committee whose activities
are carried out in accordance with Board approved
policies and subject to regular Audit and Risk
Committee reviewss. No transactions are entered into
for speculative purposes. Key financisl risks managed
by this committee include exposures to foreign
exchange rates and the managernent of the Group's
deht, comrnodity and liguidity positions. The Group
uses financial instruments to hedge against foreign
CUrrenCy exposures.

The Group seeks to miitigate risks i relation to

the continuity of supply of key raw miaterials and
ingredients by developing strong carmnrnercial
relationships with its key suppliers. The Group
rmanages commodity pricing risk actively and where
cornmercially appropriste will enter into fixed price
supply contracts with suppliers to reduce risk.

The Group enters into insurance arrangements to
cover certain insurable risks where external insurance
is considered by managemerit to be an appropriate
economic means of mitigating these risks.

As at 29 Januaty 2023, the Group had £40m of funds
held on short-term, interest earning, depasit with two

relationship banks. In addition to the Group's cash
position, the Group had £20m of comrnitted and
unutilised debt facilities, consisting of a revolving
credit fazility with our principal relationship bank.

This expires in February 2026. Our funding
requirements and facilities are contirually reviewed

to ensure they remain appropriate, providing a balance
of security and optionality.

Accounting Policies

The Group's financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Internationial Financial Reporting
Standards and the Listing Rules of the Financial
Caonduct Authority.

There have been no changes to the accouriting policies
applied this vear. All new or amended standards that are
applicatle have been adopted with o material impact

on the results for the current and prior reporting periods.

Pensions

The Group continues to operate two pension plans:
the A.G. Barr p.l.c. (2C05) Defined Contribution Pension
Scheme and the A.G. Barr p.l.c. (2008) Pension and
Life Assurance Scheme. Tre latter is a defired benefit
scherne based on final salary, which aiso includes

a defined contribution section for pension provision

to senior managers,

The defined benefit scheme has been ciosed to new
entranis since 5 Aprit 2002 and closed to future accruat
for mernbers in May 2016. Existing and new ernployees
have bean invited to join the Company-wide defined
contribution scheme.

The defined benefit pension scheme trieninial valuation
as at April 2020 ideniified a £7.7m deficit on a techrical
provisions basis as at that date, reflecting the substantial
reducticn in the value of the Schemie's investments
which occurred at the start of the pandemic. The
Company agreed with the Pensicr: Scheme Trustee
that the ongoing deficit recovery plan of a £1.0m per
annurn Cornpany contribution stiould continue for the
next three years with the intention of eliminating the
deficit over the medium-term. This plan was approved



by the Pension Regulator. A deficit recovery
contribution of £1.0m was made by the Company
under this arrangement in May 2022, At the end of
September 2022 gilt yields rose rapidly in reaction to
the UK Government's mini budget. As gilt yields rose,
the value of liability driven investment (LDJ) assets held
by many defined benefit pension schemes in the UK
felt sharply. Additional cash was required in order to
rebalance the Company's defined benefit pension
scheme's LD portfolio and maintain the majority of the
hedging that the Scheme had in place. The Trustee
took a number of actions to meet these recapitalisation
calls. In support, the Company made a further payment
of £1.0m to the Scheme in October 2022 as a
prepayment of the deficit recovery contribution due in
May 2023 and also pre-paid the Central Asset Reserve
(CAR) contribution payments of £1.5m due in 2023. The
next triennial actuarial valuation will be as at April 2023.

Onan IAS 19 valuation basis, which is determined before
the benefit of the CAR funding arrangement, the deficit
of E1.0m as at 30 January 2022 improved to a surplus of
E2.4m as at the balance sheet date. As noted above,
2022 was an unusually volatile year for the pension
industry generally and the Group scheme was impacted
by this. The A.G. Barr defined benefit scheme has a long
established financial risk strategy that includes pensioner
buy-in policies and asset hedging. The purpose of the
strategy is to provide an element of protection against
pension assumption and financial market volatility.
During the year 2022/23 this strategy resulted in the
scheme reporting both a significant decrease in the
scheme’s liabilities, driven by a large increase in discount
rates, and a similarly significant decrease in the value of
scheme assets due to changes in financial markets,
particularly the bond market. The move from deficit to
surplus is attributable to these changes and to the
£4.9m (2021/22: £2.4m) Company contributions made
in the year. The Company contributions comprise both
agreed 2022/23 contributions of £2.4m and £2.5m of
2023/24 contributions paid in advance to support
scheme liquidity.

StrategicReport

The Group continues to work proactively with the
Pension Trustee to further de-risk the pension liabilities
and secure the commitments to employee benefits as

part of the Group's ongoing strategic risk management.

The Group has, again, delivered a strong financial
performance despite the challenging economic
backdrop. This performance dernonstrates the
consistent delivery of our strategy and a successful
blend of resilience, agility, efficiency and strong
commercial execution. In an environment that remains
volatile and challenging, the business has a well
investad asset base backed by strong financial
fundamentals and is well placed to continue to invest
for the future in our brands, assets and people.

Stuart Lorimer
Finance Director
28 Mearch 2023

Note: Financial metrics marked with an asterisk are non-GAAP
measures. Definitions and relevant reconciliations are provided in
the Glcssary on pages 199 to 204.

Corporate Governance Accounts

—

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Can be found on pages 138 to 198

_.___‘)
GLOSSARY
Can be found on pages 199 to 204
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68

The Board is responsible for the
Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and for
reviewing their effectiveness,
supported by the Audit and

Risk Committee.
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Julie A. Barr
Company Secretary

Risk management approach

A risk rmanagement framework is in place, which

sets out the ongoing processes for the identification,
assessment and managemenit of risks, and for their
ongoing monitoring and review. The Board hiss
defined its risk appetite in a number of key areas for the
husiness — this sets out the relative level of risk that the
Group is prepared to seek or accept in the pursuit of
its long-term strategic okjectives. The aim is to ensure
that the risks taken by the Group fall within its defined
risk appetite.

Effective risk managemenitis essential to enable us to
achieve our operational and strategic cbjectives and
deliver long-term value creation. During the reporting
period we have continued tc erhance cur culture of
risk management throughout the organisation, which
will contribute towards the successful executiorn of the
Group's long-term strategy.

Robust risk assessment

The risk management framework sets cut a systematic
approach to risk management, which is designed to
identify risks to the business, regardless of source. Once
identified, risks are assessed according to the likelinood
and impact of the risk occurring and an appropriate risk
response is determined in line with the Group's risk
appetite. Risks are re-assessed based on the strength
of the mitigating controls implemented. The
implementation of risk mitigation plans is subject t¢
ongoing monitoring and review. A risk-scoring matrix
is used to ensure that & consistent approach is taken
across the business at both s corporate and functicnal
level. This risk assessrment and review process is
documented in the appropriate risk register. Risks are
reviewed on an ongoing basis; thie Group’s risk reqister
is formally reviewed by the Risk Cornmittee every two
months and by the Board and the Audit and Risk
Committee {"ARC") twice each vear.

The Board carries out a robust assessmenit of the
Group's emerging risks at least once each year using an
haorizon-scanning approach together with internal and
external insights. The purpose of these assessments

is to identify key emerqing risks for further evaiustion,
monitoring and action planning. During the year, a new



structure and processes were implemented to improve
thie identification and management ot emerging risks
for the Group, linked to the Board's strategic planning
process. Standalone emeraqing risks and opportunities
registers have been put in place for each of Barr Soft
Drirks and FUNKIN; emerqging risks are captured on the
relevant risk register and are subject to arinual review by
a group comprising senior executives from acioss the
business, including the CEQ and Finance Director.
Recormmendations arising from that review are
preserted to the Board and the output therefrom
informs the Group's strategy review presented to the
Board each year. The Risk Committee reviews the
ererqing risk registers at least annually. Emerging risks
remain on the reievant emerging risk register uritit they
are captured on an appropriate risk reqister or are no
longer deerned to be an ernerging risk. The Board has
completed a robust assessment of the Group's
emerging risks, including those related to climate
change and technology, during the period.

Risk control assurance

Internal audit work is undertaken by an independent
organisation which develops an annuat internal audit
plan hiaving reviewed the Group's risk register and
following discussions with the external auditors,
rnanagement and members of the ARC.

During the year the ARC has reviewed reparts covering
the internal sudit work. This has included assessrenit of
the general control environment, identification of any
control weaknesses and guantification of any associated
risk, together with a review of the status of mitigating
actions. The ARC has also received reports from
rnanagement in relation to specific risk items, together
with reports from the external auditors, whie consider
controls to the extent necessary to form an opinion as
to the truth and fairness of the financial statements.

The Group’s internal control and risk management
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives arid can
provide only reasonable but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

The report of the ARC can be found on pages 85 to 88.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

The Board has carried out a robust, systematic
assessment of the principal risks facing the Group
during the period. including those which would
threaten its business model, future performance,
solvency. liquidity or reputation. The table below sets
out the Group's principat risks as determiined by the
Board, the net risk ratings, the net risk rnovement from
the pricr year and examples of corresponding controls
and mitigating actions. The Group’s principal risks have
continued to evolve during the year against the
backdrop of a challenging and uncertain external
envirsniment; managernent has continued to focus on
the implementation of approprizte imitigating actions
and controls, in line with the Group's risk appetite. The
principal risks set out in the table below represent the
Group's current risk profile - these are not intended to
be an exhaustive list of all risks facing the Group. The
principal risks are prioritised on a net risk basis.

Covid-19

As the Covid-19 crisis continued during the early part

of the year, our primary concern rernained the weifare
of our employees, their families end the commiunities
in which we operate. We followed Government advice
at all t'mes as a minimum throughout the Covid-19
pandernic and took action as appropriate to protect our
ernployees and our operations. Following the relaxation
of Covid-related restrictions in March 2022, we
continued to take appropriate actions to minimise the
irpact on our business, with the heaith and safety of
our employees remaining paramount

Corporale Governance Accounts
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Effective risk
management is
essential to enable
us to achieve our
operational and
strategic objectives
and deliver long
term value creation.
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Risk management continued

Thie net risk movement from the prior year for each principal risk is set out in the table below.

Principal risks and uncertainties
Net risks relating to the Group

Impact

Movement: Il No change Increased

Net risk Net risk

Controls and mitigating actions

Decreased

New

Government Governrnent intervention
intervention on on climate chiange and
climate change and environmental issues, e.g. the

environmentat
issues, e.g. packaging

intreduction of a Deposit
Return Scheme in England or

impact

The increased pace of change and levél of environmental Moderate High
carnpaigning in relation to clirate change and areas such as

packaging reported last year has continued during the year.

We have clearly defirned responsibility commitments with

regard (o waste, water, energy, sustainable sourcing and

waste the introduction of a carbon paciaging. We continue to work constructively with the British
tax, could have an adverse Soft Drinks Association, the UK and Scottish governments,
impact on consumer and other key stakeholders in relatior: to potential
consuniption patterns. sales interventions, such as the planned introduction of 8 Deposit
and operating profits. Return Scheme ("DRS’) in Scotland and the expecied
introduction of a DRS in England.
Various environmental sustainability relsted workstrearns
continue to be progressed through our “No Time To Waste®
environmental sustainability programeme — further details are
set out below.
Loss of product Aloss of product integrity Appropriate risk assessments are carried out on a regutar Moderate Low Moderate -
integrity in the manufacturing supply basis and robust quality controls and processes are in place
chiain could iead to a product  te maintain the high quality of our products. Product recall
withdrawsl or recail. procedures are tested reguiarly.
Environmental An inabiiity to meet the £SQ risks were classified as a niew principal risk for the Moderate Low Moderate -
Social Governance Group’s ESG cornmitments Group in the prior year dus to the increased focus from all
(“ESG"} risks could impact revenue stakeholders (including Governiments, custamers, consumers,

if consumers chocse ©
purchase and cenisume
alternative brands,
Governments impose
additional taxes or the
associated reputational
damage makes it difficult
10 recruit tatent.

cornpetitors, employees and investors) on ESG rnatiers,
in particular environmerital sustainability.

Five environmenital sustainability related workstrears
continue to be progressed through our Group-wide “No Time
To Waste™ ('NTTW") environmental sustainability programme:
plastic and packaging, net-zero, sustainatle sourcing. water
and waste. The NTTW programime reports to the NTTW
Steering Group, which is responsibie for setting the Group’s
environrmentat strategy, for achieving the Group’s
environmentai targets, and for monitoring and managing

the associated risks. The NTTW Steering Group is overseen
by the ESG Board Committee. Further detail is provided in the
Resporsibility Report on pages 30 to 55.
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movement: B Nochange B Increased Decreased [ New

Netri Net risk

|
mpact likelihood

Controls

itigating actions

Movement

Changes in consumer
preferences,
perception or
purchasing
behaviour

Consumers rnay decide

10 purchase and consuine
alternative brands or spend
less on soft diinks.

The Group offers a broad range of branded products across
a range of flavours, subcategories and rnarkets which offer
choice 1o the end consumer. Changing consurmer attitudes
and behaviours aie monitored on an ongoing basis and
inform our brand plans and new product developrment.
Througr investment in innovation across the year we have
adaptec cur portfolio to align with these changing consumer
needs.

impact

Moderate

Moderate

Failure of critical IT
systems or a breach’
of cyber security

A faiiure of critical IT s;/stems
could resultin a loss of key

systems, business interruption,

lost sales or lost production.
A cyber security breach
could lead to operational
disruption, financial loss and
reputational damage.

IT assets within the Group are proactively managed and
procedures exist that support effective and efficient recovery.
Robust business continuity plans and contingency measures
are in place and are requiarly tested. Appropriate processes
and controls retater to IT systerns resilience and recovery
capakility are in place.

The risk of cyber attacks continues to increase on an ongoing
hasis, including the risk of a ransomware attack. Appropriate
cyher risk raonitoring controls are in place and various actions
have been taken during the year to mitigate cyber security
related risks and facilitate business recovery in the event of an
attack. During the year, a ransomware simulation training
exercise 00k place for the crisis management tean to ensure

the business is as prepared as possibie iri the vent of an attack.

Empioyze awareness campaigns and training continued
during the year to increase employee cyber risk awareness.
A Digitat Governance Group is in place, overssen by the Risk
Committee, the purpose of which is 1o manage the risks
related to the Group's externally facing digital properties.

Moderate

Low

Moderate

Failure of the
Group's operational
infrastructure

A catastrophic fsilure of the
Group's major production
or distribution facilities could
lead to a sustained loss in
capacity or capability.

Assets within the Group are proactively rmanaged and
maintained. Risk assessments are carried out on a reqular
basis and appropriate actions taken, Rebust busiriess
continuity plans are in place and are regularly tested.

The husiness continuity emplovee training programme

-continued during the year.

Moderate

Low

Moderate
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Risk management continued

movement: B No change Increased Decreased [ New

Net risk

Net risk

Impact Controls and impact liketihood Movement
Financial risks Financial risks are reviewed and rnanaged by the Treasury Moderate Low Moderate .
it to a variety of financial risks  and Cormmodity Committee, which seeks to minimise
which include market risk adverse effects on the Group's financial performance through
{including medium-term hedging known currency exposures throughout the year.
::;\;E:g(eer'-;ss:r;;:c’r:;wagid The Group's finance t@m reviews cash fI'ow foreclas&s
commodity price risk), credit throughout the year, with headroom against banking
b LT coverants assessed reqularly. The finance team uses external
risk and liquidity risk. RGN
tools to assess credit limits offered to custerners, manages
trade receivable balances vigilantly and takes promipt action
on overdue accourits. The Group's financial control
environment is subject to review by both internal and external
audit. Internal audit’s focus is to work with and challenge
rnanagerment to ensure an appropriate control environment
is maintained.
Loss of continuity The loss of continuity of There is 3 robust supplier selection process in place. Supptier
of supply of major supply of raw materiat perforrnance is monitored on an ongoing kasis and zudits
raw materials ingredients and/or packaging  are undertaken for major suppliers. Dual sources of supply
materials could impact our are sourced wherever possible.
2:!3\/:;27;:23 \g:“\::h Co_mmodity risks are managed by the pfocure:‘ne‘j& tearn and
Groug's sales and operating rewex_/ved by the Treasury aqd Commodity Committee,
profits. Contingency measures are in place and are tested regutarly.
During the early part of the year we continued to work closely
with key raw material supptiers in relatior to the cnacing
impact of Covid-19 on their businesses.
Inability to protect Failure to protect the Group's  The Group invests considerable effort in proactively
the Group's inteltectual property rights protecting its intellectual property rights, for example through
intellectual could resuit in a loss of tradernark and design registrations and vigorous iegal
property rights brand value, enforcement as and when required.

66



Adverse public
relation to the soft
drinks industry, the
Group orits brands

Impact

Adverse publicity in relation
to the soft drinks industry, the
Group or its brands could
nave an adverse impact on
the Group's reputation,
consunier CoNsuMpLiorn
patterns, sales and operating
profits.

Strategic Report Corporate Governance

Movement: B No change

Net risk

Controls and mitigating actions N
impact

QOur risk management process is designed to identify and Low
rnonitor events that may impact the Group as a resutlt of

adverse publicity and to ensure that controls are in place

to manage these risks.

Processes are in place to ensure compliance with health and
safety legisiation and ethical working standards, and these are
requiarly reviewed by the Board and Executive Committee.
Quality standards are weii defined, implemerited and
rnonitored. Qur environmental cormmiumeris are being
progressed through our “No Time To Waste™ environmental
sustainability programme - further detsils are set out above.
The Group maintains and develops (SO $001 and 14001
systems and AA rated BRC standards which are subject

to annua. external audits, with any non-conformarices
addressed in a timely manner. The Company aiso holds

1SO 45001 certification.

Nutritional information is showr on alt of our Barr Soft
Drinks products and we are iong-standing users of the
UK Government's voluntary front of pack nutritional
{abelling scheme.

As noted above, the Group followed Covid-related advice
from the Government at all times throughcut the crisis as &
minimum, prior to the relaxation of Covid-related restrictions
in March 2022,

Increased

Net risk
likelihood

Moderate

Accounts

B Cecreased

Net risk

Moderate

New

Movement
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Risk management continued

Movement: B No change Increased Decressed [ New

Net risk Net risk Movement

impact likelihood !
Failure to Failure 1o maintain The Group offers a broad ranige of brands that it Low Moderate Moderate -
maintain customer appropriate customer rnanufactures and distributes through a variety of trade

relationships ortake  reiationships or a reduction charnnels and customers. Performance is moritored closely
account of changing  in the customer base could by the Board and Executive Committee by trade charninel

market dynamics have an adverse impact and customer as appropriate. This includes mionitoring of
on the Group's sales and metrics which review brand equity strength, financisl and
operating profits. operational performance.

The Group focuses on deliveririg high quality products

and invests heavily in building brand equity. We work closely
in partnership with our customers or an Ongoing basis.
Members of the senior management team meet with key
customers throughout the year.

During the earty part of the year we continued to engage
with customers in relation to control messures put in place
to minirnise Covid-related risks for our respective employees
and the wider pubiic.

Consumer rejection Consurners may decide Qur extensive innovation and reformuiation programme was Low Moderate Moderate .
of reformulated 1o purchase and consurme completed prior 1o the introduction of the Soft Drinks Industry
products alternative brands cr spend Levy in April 2G18. 98% of our current Barr Soft Drinks

less on soft dririks. portfotio produced by volurne contains less than 5g of total

sugars per 100mi. Since April 2022, 8% of our Barr Soft
Drinks portfolio has been exempt from the new reguiations
applicable to High Fat, Sugar and Salt (HFSS') products.

V/e recognise that the risk of consumer rejection of the
enhanced sweeteners used in our reformulated products
rernains, We continue to closely monitor consurner
acceptance levels and brand performance across our wotal
portfolio and take sppropriste mitigating actions.




Viability statement

In accordance with provision 31 of the UK Corporate
Governance Code 2018, the directors have assessed the
viability of the Company over a three year period to
January 2026, taking account of the Group’s current
financial and market position, future prospects and the
Group's principal risks, as detailed in the Strategic Report.

The directors have determined that a three-year period is
an appropriate time frame given the dynamic nature of
the FMCG sector and given that this is in line with the
Group's strategic planning period. The starting point for
the viability assessment is the strategic and financial plan
which makes assumptions relating to the economic
climate, market growth, input cost inflation and growth
frorn the Group’s performance drivers. The prospects of
the Group have been taken into account, including the
size of the current market, the strength of the Group's
brands and past production capacity investment. The
model was then subject to a series of theoretical “stress
test” scenarios based on the materialisation of principal
risks. with input from the business functions.

Scenario Estimated impact

No sales for the month following attack, followed by a
gradual return to normalised levels from month 5 onwards.
Significant incremental one-off costs as a direct result

Disruption as a result of cyber attack, resulting in
factories ceasing production.

StrategicReport

The directors have considered the impact of a number
of severe but plausible scenarios associated with the
principal risks, including those set out in the table below.

The directors also measured the impact of a number of
scenarios occurring together. Finally, a reverse “stress test”
was performed allowing the Board to assess circumstances
that would render its business rmodel unviable.

As part of our Task Force on Climate-related Financiat
Disclosures ((TCFD") the Group has assessed potential
financial impacts from climate change to the business.
The financial plan for the Group includes the best
estimate of the impacts of climate change on financial
performance, including material cost inflation, an
increase in climate-related regulatory costs. and a change
to consumer behaviour. None of the physical and
transiticn risks which are considered material to our
business would present a risk to viability over the planning
period. These risks are detailed on pages 47 and 48.

Significant adverse damage to one of the Group's
principal brands (e.g. IRN-BRU).

A sizeable reduction {in the region of 40%) in brand
revenue, sustained over the duration of the viability period.

Significant changes in consumer preferences and

A reduction in volumes sold (<5%) over and above

governmental impact in relation to sugar, plastics and  current estimates as a result of the DRS, from the

the introduction of a Deposit Return Scheme ('DRS’).
specifically in Scotland.

proposed DRS implementation date until the end
of the viability period.

The impact of a pandemic (e.g. Covid-19), associated A reducticn in revenue (in the region of 10%) for one year,

restrictions, and a consequent channel shift and
reduction in consumer demand.

to the extent experienced during the Covid-13 pandemic.

Rising costs across energy and material supplies.

Substantizl cost increases suffered for the duration of the
viability period, with consequential impact on pricing and
volumes sold {in the region of 2% reduction).

* liems marked with an asterisk are non-GAAP measures. Definitions and reconciliations are provided in the Glossary on pages 199 to 204.
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Credit facilities

The outputs of these scenario tests were reviewed
against the Group's current and projected future net
cash/debt and liquidity position. The Group closed the
financial year with net cash at bank* of £52.9m. In
addition, the Group had £20m of committed and
unutilised debt facilities, consisting of one revolving
credit facility with one bank. The revolving credit facility
has two financial covenants, relating to interest cover
and teverage, and a material adverse change clause.

Result of stress tests

Under the most severe but plausible combined scenarios
above, and with no cost mitigation, the Group's liquidity
requirements would be satisfied within existing credit
facilities. Should the financial loss be worse than this
scenario assumes, sizeable cost mitigation opportunities.
such as a reduction in brand investment, a reduction in
capital investment, a reduction in discretionary overhead
spend, reduced dividend payments. and a business
reorganisation, would be available to the Group to
further preserve viability.

The reverse stress test showed that a volume drop
significantly beyond our severe but plausible scenarios,
both in depth and duration, would be required in order
to render the business model unviable. These
circumstances are therefore considered implausible.

The results of these tests were reviewed taking into
account the Group's current position, the Group’s
experience of managing adverse conditions in the past
and mitigating actions available to the Group. Based on
this assessment, the directors have a reasonable
expectation that the Group will be able to continue in
operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over
the three year period to January 2026.

The Strategic Report set out on pages 1 to 69 of this
annual report has been approved by the Board.

By order of the Board
/‘h."_‘.‘ .
v
it
JulieA. Barr
Company Secretary
28 March 2023
69



70

A.G.BARRp.Lc. Annual Report and Accunts 2023

Board of Directors

Mark Allen OBE Roger A. White Stuart Lorimer Jonathan D. Kemp W. Robin G. Barr
L.L.B. (Hons) M.A. (Hons) BAcc. (Hons), CA, M.CT. B.A.{Hons) C.A.

Chair Chief Executive Finance Director Commercial Director Non-Executive Director
Biography

Marw's early career in the police force
sparked an interestin law. After
cornpleting a law degree Mark hald a
variety of corporate 1oles, initially witn
Sneli ana latteriy witn Dairy Crest where
he was CEQ from 2067 to 2019. Mark
has held non-ezecutive roles at
Howdens, Dairy UK, Warburtons and
Norcros plc, where ke was Chair frem
July 2020 untit April 2021,

Hark brirgs a deep understanding of
consurner goods as well as significant
public company experience.

Roger is a member of the Board of
Management and Executive Council
and is a past President of the British Soft
Drinks Association. Previcusly heid
numerous senior positions in food
group Rank Hovis McDougali. Scottish
plc Chiief Executive of the year in 2010,
Honorary Doctorate fram the University
of Edinburgh i 2014.

Roger brings a weaith of consurner
goods experience and corporate

leader:

Stuart was with Diageo for 22 vears

in 3 range of roles ana countries,
ultimately as the FD for Diageo’s
Giobal Supply Operation.

Swart brings significant experience

in F14CG in both alcoholic ang soft
drinks sectors and a strong background
in governance and performance
managerment as a qualified CAsnd FD.

Jonathan has had a successful career
in various commercial roles within
Procter and Gamole.

Jonathan brings FMCG speciatism

in customer business developrnent.
consurmer brand building and
corrumercial proposition optimisation.

Robin is a past Prasident of the British
Soft Drinks Associatior. Robin brings.
financial skills arid an exterisive
understanding of UK markets to

the Board.

As Execidtive Chair from 1978 10 2009
Robin brings a historical backgrourid
10 discussions to the Board. He is a
qualified accountant and a Trustee of
the Company’s penision scheme.

Term of Office

Jained the Cempany in July 2021 as 3
Non-Executive Director. Appointad
Chair in March 2022.

Joined the Company in 2002
as Managing Director. Appointed
Chief Executive in 2004.

Joined the Company as Firance
Director in January 2015,

Joined (he Company in 2003
as Commercial Director.

Joined the Company in 1969.
Appointad Director in 1964 and Chair
in 1978. Retired as Chair and appointed
Non-Executive Director in 2008.

External Appointments
Mon-Executive Chair of Halo Foods Ltd.

Non-Erecutive Director of Troy Incorne
& Growth Trust, Non-Executive Director
of Williarn Jackson Food Group Limited,
Director of Elegantly Spirited Limited.

Non Executive Director of Carr's
Group ple.

Norie,

Hore.

Committee Membership
Nomination Committee (Chair).

Ervirenmental, Sccial and Governance
Committee

Momination Committee.



David J. Ritchie
B.A. (Hons), A.C.A.

Non-Executive Director

Susan V. Barratt
B.A.{Hons), A.C.A.

Senior Non-Executive Director

Sirategic Report

Nicholas B. E. Wharton
ACA.

Non-Executive Director

Corporate Governance

Zoe Howorth
B.A. (Hons)

Non-Executive Director

Accounts

Julie A. Barr
M.A. (Hons), L.L.B. (Dip), M.B.A. {Int)

Company Secretary

Biography

David is & quaiitied Chartered
Accountant and former Chief Executive
of Bevis Homes Group pic {Bovis). He
joined Bovis in 1998 from KPMG as
Group fFinancial Controlier, becoming
Group Finance Director in 2302 and
Crief E<ecutive in 2008.

David trings significant operational
erperience and governance knowtedge
from his 15 years leading a listed
FTSE250 company. plus strong financial
oversight through: his 30 years as a
financiat professionai.

Susan is a Chartered Accountant and
spent the early part of her career in
serior finance roles at Geest plc,
Whithbread plc and Laurel Pub
Company. Subsequently Susan has
been CEO at Eldridge Pope plc. Natures
Way Foods Limited and is currently CEQ
of IGD. a not-tar-profit organisation that
sits at the heart of the tood industry.
Susan has also been Non-Evecutive
Chair of Higgidy Limited.

Susari brings considerable operational
and comreicial experience and
kriowiedge of the FMCG industry.

Nick is a qualified Chartered Accountant
and has naid senior executive roles
across retail and FMCG businesses.

He was forrnerly CFO of listed retaiters
Pepco MY, Superdry plc and Haifords
Group plc and CEC of Dunigir pic. He
is @ Non-Executive Director and Chair
of the Audit Comrrittee of the Swedish
multinational personal core business
Oriflame Investment Holding plc,
havirg previously held sirnilar roles av
Mothercare plc.

Nick brings extensive finance and
retail experience both in the UK and
internationaliy and substantial plc a
governance experience from executive
and non-executive rolas on listed
company boards.

An economics graduate, Zoe nas had a
successful career spanning a range of
roles at Procter ana Gamble, United
Biscuits and The Coca-Cola Company
where she spent 16 years, culminating
in her role as UK Marketing Director
fror 2010 - 2013. Zoe has also held
nuriber of nor-execudive direclor roles
vaith private coimpanies.

20e brings extensive FMCG experience,
specitically across the food and

* beverage seclor, as well as corisurner

rand marketing capability and direct to
consumer digital understanding.

Jutie is a qualified lawyer with a
background in corporate iaw. In
addition 1o being Comparny Secretary,
she heads up the Group's risk and
legal tearns and sits on the Execulive
Committee. She is 5150 3 Trustee of
the Cornpary’s perision scheme.

It elected. Julie will replace her tather
Robiri Barr 3s a non-executive director.
Julie will step dowri as Compary
Secretary but otherwise will continue
35 an employee of the Corngany in her
cunerd role. For the purposes of the UK
Cotporate Governance Cade, Julie Barr
is not independent.

Term of Office
Jeined the Cornpany in April 2015
as a Non-Executive Cirecior.

Joined the Company in January 2018
as a Non-Executive Director.

Joinad the Compary in Novermber
2018 as a Non-Executive Director.

Joined the Company in July 2021
as a Mon-Executive Directer.

Joined the Company in 2604,
Appointed Compary Secretary in 2008.

External Appointments
CEQ of WElink Homes UK, Chair of
Aspire LFP Limited.

CEQ of The Institute of Grocery
Cistribution. Men-Executive Director
of Edward Billington and Son Lirnited.

Won-Executive Director of Critlame
Investment Holding ple.

Nori-Executive Director of Walter Babies
internaticnal. Non-Executive Director of
International Schools Partnership
Limited.

Mor-Executive Director of Gabriel
Precision Oncology Limited.

Committee Membership
Audit ard Risk Comimittee
Nonmiration Commitiee
Remuneration Committee (Chair).

Audit and Risk Cornrnittee
Nomination Committee
Remuneration Comimittee
Environmental, $ociai and
Governance Commiittee.

Audit and Risk Committee (Chair)
Nemination Committee.

Remuneration Committee
Environmental, Social and
Governance Committee (Chair}.

Environmental, Sociai ard
Governarice Commitiee.

n
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Corporate Governance Repori'
Chair'sintroduction

38

| am pleased to present our »
Corporate Governance Report for
the year ended 29 January 2023

99

Dear Shareholder,

This year's Corporate Governance Report describes our
approach to governance and sets out how the
principies of the 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code
have been applied during the year. Inforrmation sbout
the operation of the Board and its cornmittees, our
engagernent with stakeholders, and an overview

of the Company's system of interrnal controls are

also included.

Having completed nine years as a non-executive
director of the Company. seven of which were as Chair
of the Board. John Nicolsor stood down from the
Board at the end of March 2022. 1 would like to thank
John for his valuable contribution to the busiress over
those nine years and in particular for his guidance and
leadership during his tenure as Chair. Otherwsise there
were no changes to the Board during the year.

Further details of the Board's compositior: are giver on
pages 70 and 71,

SN

Mark Allen OBE
Chair
28 Maich 2023

The Board

The Company is led by a strong and experiericed board of
directors (the "Board’) which biings a depth and diversity
of expertise to the ieadership of the Comrpany. The Board
is cormimit:ed to ensuring that it has an appropriste
balance of skills, experience and knowiedge of the Group
10 enable it to discharge its ditties and responsibilities
effectively The Normination Cornmittee report set out
Lelow describes how the Board achieves that aim. The
Board currently has nine members, comprising three
executive Jirectors, the non-executive Chair, four
independent non-executive directors and one non-
independent non-executive director. Bicgraphical details
of the directors are set out on pages 70 and 71.

The rotes of Chair and Chief Executive are separate and
there is a clear division of responsibilities between those
roles. The Chair leads the Board and ensures the effective
engagement and contribution of all nor-executive and
executive directors. The Chair facilitates constructive
Board relations and ensures that Board meetings are
underpinred by a culture of openriess and chialienge,
with sufficient time made available 10 debate issues
arising. The Chair ensures that the Board receive accurate,
timely anc clear information. The annuat Board
performance evaluation referred to below evaiuates the
Chair's perforrnance in these areas. The Chief Executive




has responsibility for alt Group businesses arid actsin
accordance with the authority delegated from the Board.
The non-executive directors support the development of
the Group's strategy and provide constructive challenge
tc the executive directors. SV. Barratt fulfilled the role of
senior independent director during the year to 29 January
2023 and is available to shareholders if they have
concerns which have not been resolved via the normal
chaninels of Chair, Chief Executive, or the other executive
directors, or where communication through: such
charinels would be inappropriate.

The Beard considers that S.V. Barratt. Z.L. Howorth,

D.J. Ritchie and N.B.E. Wharton are independent for

the purposes of provision 10 of the 2018 UK Corporate
Governance Code, issued by the Financial Reporting
Couricilin July 2018 (the “Code’), and that the
refationships and circurnstances set outin that provision
which may appear reievant to the determinaticn of
independence do not apply. The Board corsiders that
M. Allen OBE was independent for the purposes of the
Code prior to being appointed as Chair of the Board

on 31 March 2022. The Board considers that, on
appoiritment, the Chair was independent for the purposes
of provision § of the Code. M. Allen does not hoid any
significant appointments in addition to his role as Chair
of the Company.

The Company's Articles of Association provide that the
Company rnay by ordinary resoiution appoint ary person
who is willing to act to be a3 director, either 1 filt a vacancy
or as an addition to the existing Board. W.R.G. Barr will
retire from the Board at the Annual Generat Meeting
{'AGM") and J.A. Barr will offer herself for election at the
AGM. The Articles of Association require directors to retire
and subrmit themselves for election at the first annual
gerieral meeting following appointment and to retire

no later than the third annual general meeting after the
annual general meeting at which they were last elected
or re-elected. However, in order to comply with the Code,
ail directors other than W.R.G. Barr will subrnit themselves
for re-election at the AGM. J.A. Barr will offer herself for
election at the AGM. Biographical details of the Board and
J.A. Barr as a proposed director are set cut on pages 70
and 71 of this report.

Strategic Report

Details of directors’ remuneration and interests in shares
of the Company are given in the Directors’ Remuneration
Report on pages 89 to 106. :

Role of the Board

The Board is responsible for the long-term success

of the Group, determines the strategic direction of

the Grecup and reviews operating, finarcial and risk
performance. There is a formal schedule of rmatters
reserved for the Board, which is subject to annual
review and includes approval of the foliowing:

« the Group's annual business plar;

« the Group’s strateqy, acquisitions, disposais and
capital expenditure projects sbove certain
thresholds;

+ the financial statements:

+ the Group's tax strategy:

« the Group’s diversity and inctusion policy for the
Board and Executive Committee;

«+ the Cornpany’s dividend policy;

« transactions involving the issue or purchase
of Company shares;

«  borrowing powers;

« appointments to the Board;

« alterations to the Memorandum and Articles
of Association;

« legal actions brought by or against the Group
above certain thresholds; and

« the scope of delegations to Board cominitiees,
subsidiary boards and the Executive Coninittee.

The Board is also responsible for the Group’s ESG
strategy. Responsibility for the developrment of policy,
strategy and operational management is delegated to
the executive directors and an Executive Committee,
which as at the date of thic report includes the
executive directors and six senior managers.

The Besrd's governance supports the delivery of its

strategy to deliver long-term sustainable value through:

» Leadership: the Board is collectively responsible for
the tong-term sustainable success of the Cornpany.
The cornposition of the Board and an explanation
of their skills, experience and contribution are set
out on pages 70 and 71. Further information on the

Corporate Governance

Accounts

Board's leadership, its division of responsibilities

and the rote of the non-executive directors in
providing constructive challenge and supporting the
development of strategy is set out above. The Board
approves the Group's strategy arid annual budget,
reviews subsequent progress and makes decisions
related to matters reserved for the Board in order

to support the delivery of its strategy.

Effectiveness: the Board's governance framewerk
ensures the effectiveness of the Board. Please see
below for information on inducticn, training and
developrnent for directors and the Board
performance evaluation.

Accountability: the Audit and Risk Committee
Report (pages 85 to 88) and the report ori Risk
Management {pages 62 to 69) describe how the
Board ensures a fair, balanced and understandable
assessrment of the Company's performance and
prospects and how it assesses its principai risks. The
Audit and Risk Committee Report sets cut how the
Company rmaintains an appropriate relationship with
its external auditor, consistent with the Code and
statutory reguirements.

Remuneration: the Directors’ Remuneration Policy
(pages 167 to 121) and detailed remuneration report
(pages 89 to 106) describe how the Remuneration
Committee ensures that the executive directors’
remuneration is designed to promote the long-term
success of the Company.

Shareholder relstions and engagement: the section
172(1) statement set out below describes how the
Company engages with shareholders.
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Section 172(1) statement
Stakeholder engagement

Effective engagement with ouir key stakeholders is
critical to the long-term success of the Comipany.
Uriderstanding the perspectives of our stakeholders
and building good relationships enables their views
to be taken into account in Board and Cornimittee
discussions and decision-making. The Board will

Key Stakehols
Shareholders

Form of Engagement

We niave reqular discussions with, and briefings for. investors.
The Company endeavours to ensure senior management is
availabie to interact with existing and potential shareholders
on as flexible a basis as possible. The Chief Executive and
Finance Director offer meetings to institutional shareholders
twice annually as a minimurr in order to communicate
business updates and to develop an understanding of their
views on perforrnance agairist strategy, Environmental,
Social and Governance (ESG)) related matters, and other
matters of interest. All directors have the opportunity to
attend these mestings.

Board committee chairs seek engagernent with shareholders
on significant matters related to their areas of responsibility.

The Chair ensures at each Board meeting that the Board as a
whole has a clear understanding of the views of shareholders.

Following the relaxatior: of Covid-related government

. restrictions, shareholders were invited (o atiend the 2022 AGM

in person. All sharetiolders, including private investors, had the
opportunity to submit questions in advance of the AGM

and 1o participate in questions and answers with the Board

at the AGM on matters relating to the Company's operation
and performance.

The Board assesses the effectiveness of engsgement with
the investrrent community through rmeasurement of the
number of analysts following the Cornpany and the nurnber
of meetings held with investors and analysts.

continue to focus on enhancing its engagernent with
ey stakeholders. Our key stakeholders that the Board
considers to be relevant (o the business model, strateqy
and Cornpany success are set out in the table below.,
together with how we engaged with them during

the year, and the impact of that engagerent on the

Company's strateqy and the principal decisions taken
during the year, Further information on how we engage
with our key stakeholders is set out in the Strategic
Report on pages 1to 69 and in the Directors’ Report
on pages 122 to 127,

Howv This Stakeholder Influenced Board/Commillee Dis Decisions

The Chief Executive anid Finance Director brief the Board on discussiors with investors
and institutional shareholders. Independert feedback foliowing key meetings is
coordinated and provided to the Board by the Company's brokers and financial PR
agencies ori a regular basis.

Board members listen and respond to the views of investors and institutional
shareholders and feedback to the business as necessary. Following the termporary
suspension of dividend payments in 2020 and their subsequent resumption during
2021, with thie pavrnent of an interir dividend and a cne-off special dividend in
October 2021, engagement with and feedback from major shareholders ang the
investrnent comrnunity took place at investor roadshows heid foliowing the release

of the Comipany’s fuli year results for the vear to January 2022, to ensure they were
supportive of the Board's plans to recomrriend a final dividend in respect of that year to
sharehoiders. A final dividend for the year 1o January 2022 was subsequently approved
by sharsholders at the Company’'s Annual General Meeting held on 27 May 2022 (2022
AGM) and paid in June 2022.

We engaged with key shareholders during the year in relation to various ESG related
matters, Feedback from cur major shareholders and investor base on their key ESG
challenges influenced the ongoing 3genda and operatior: of the Board's ESG
Cornrittee and reaifirmed the Board's comrmitment to be net-zero across our own
operations by 2035 and across our full supply chain by 205G, it not scorner. These
decisions were taken by the Board with the aim of promoting the success of the
Company for its shareholders in the long term.

During the year, we engaged with key shareholders regarding the Compary's capital
allocation strategy. In line with this strategy, the Board took the key capital asset
investrnent decision during the year to apgrove the initial phases of a multi-year asset
replacemerit prograriumie to replace PET and can line assets at the Curnbernauld
factory. The new factory iayout will optimise employee safety, efficiency and material
flows. The project will aiso deliver ESG oerefits in termns of providing PET lightweighting
Copporiunities via the move to market-ieading 26/22 neck and cap dimensions. and the
introduction of tethered cap capability. The project was evsluated on & suite of financial
metrics designed to drive shareholder return over the lorg term.




Key Stakeholder

Shareholders
continued

Form of Engageme
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4+ This Stakeholder Group Influenced Board/Committee Discussions and Decis

During the year, the Board received regular updates on the Company's planning activity
in relation to the introduction of a Deposit Return Scherne (DRS') in Scotland. The
Board discussed and approved a contract with Circularity Scotland Lirnited {CSL). the
not-for-profit organisation approved to discharge industry's Scottish ORS legat
obligations, the purpose of which was to provide CSL with the right to receive further
funding under certain circumstances to support the costs of the Scotiand DRS
administration during its first year of aperation. This will help to ensure the successful
operation of the ORS in Scetand and Company compliance with the DRS regulations
for the iong term benefit of shareholders.

During the year, the Beard took the key decisions (o approve the acquisition of Boost
Drinks Holdings Lirited anid the acquisition of the remaining niinority {38.2%) equity
stake in MOMA Foods Limited. Both of these acquisitions demonstrate the Company’s
commitment to its growth sirategy. facused on developing its portfolic in high growth
and functional categories for the long term benefit of shareholders.

During the year, the Chair of the Rernuneration Committee wrote to aii rajor
shareholders whio had voted against the resolution to approve the Directors’
Remuneration Report put to shareholders at the 2022 AGM seeking feedback regarding
why they were unabie to support the resolution and to understand their views. The
primary coricern raised by the two shareholders who provided feedback in response
to this letter related to the structure and performance targets for the 2021 long-term
incentive arrarigements — these were specific to the exceptionai circurnstances caused
by the Covid-19 pandemic and it is unlikely that they will be repeated, Shareriolder
feedoack frorn major shareholders and the investor base influenced the performance
metrics agreed for the directors’ arinual bonus for the year to January 2023 and the
2022 LTIP awards.

During the year, tre Chair of the Remuneration Committee aiso wrote to and engaged
with shareholders representing ¢.70% of the issued share capitsl of the Comparny
seeking their feedback or the Remunerstion Comimittee’s proposals for the new
Directors’ Remuneration Policy that will be brought for shareholder approval at the
AGM in May 2023. Feedback from these shareholders informed the final proposed
Directors’ Rernurnieration Policy.

The Cornpany will continue to engage with its shareholders on executive directors’
rernunération going forwards.
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Key Stakeholder

Customers

Form of Engagement

We have reqular engqagemient with our customers through
virtual or face-to-face rneetings, conferences and events.
Regular reviews of joint business plans take place to ensure
that we are aligned on our shared geals.

During the early part of the year we continued to engage

with customers in relation to control rneasures put in place to
minimise Covid-related risks for cur respective employees and
the wider public.

N

During the year we engaged with customers in relation

to key product launchies. We aiso continued to engage with
customers ori their views and attitudes towards plastic
packaging and the planned DRS in Scotiand.

During the year, we engaged with Gur customers in relation
to & planined price increase, with the airn of mitigating the
impact of significant inflationary cost pressures on the business.

Hows This Stakeholder Group Influenced Board/Committee Discussions an

The Commercial Director provides a cornmercial update to every Board meeting.
A forral review of customers and channels is presented to and discussed by the
Board annually.

Irformation on customer service levels, including perforrance against a customer
service {evel KPI, is included in the Board papers for every reeting. We have worked
hard during the year to maintain good customer service levels despite significant supply
chain chatienges, and aiso raw rnaterial and driver shortages. The Board also received
updates regarding customers’ data an their respective suppliers’ pericrmance, which
indicated a good customer service performance from the Comipany comipared to many
other suppliers.

Discussions with custorners regarding Covid-related risks and controls infiuenced the
Board's discussions and support for the Covid Steering Group’s decisions dufing the
carly part of the year regarding the heaith and safety of our enipioyees.

During the early part of the year. the Board discussed updates provided (o it regarding
the impact of Covid-19 on different customer channels, customer investment plans and
customer rnanagement strategy.

Feedback from key custorners regarding their ESG concerns and commitments
infiuenced the Board's discussions during the year. For examiple, customer feedback

in relation to plastic packaging and their desire to reduce the use of and increase the
recyclability of plastics used in product packaging influenced the Board's key decision
to support the move to increase the recycled PET conterit of our IRM-BRU and Rubicon
500m! plastic bottles to 100% rPET - see further below. Custorner feedback also
influenced the Board's key decision to continue to support the Group’s environrnental
sustainability strategy. which is being delivered through the ‘No Time To Waste’
programme of activity, including the delivery of a number of initiatives under the plastics
and packaging workstream, for example the move to 100% recycled filr and various
plastic lightweighting initiatives.

Customer feedback alsc infiuenced the Board's key decision to approve the initial
phases of 3 raulti-year asset replacement programme to replace PET and can ling assets
at the Curnbernauld factory, which will deliver ESG berefits in terrns of providing PET
lightweighting opportunities and the introduction of tethered cap capability, as noted
sbove.

Consideration of the chianging requiremerits of the Company's impuise customers
influericed the Board's key decision to invest in  new single custormer management
system with significantly enhanced capability, which wili deliver growsth in cur impulse
business through digital transformation; “Winning iri Impulse' is a core foundation of the
Company’s business growth strategy.

Engagemienit with key customers during the year influenced the Board's discussions and
decisioris regarding the annual budgeting and long-term strategic planning processes
for the Group.




Stakeholder
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Consumers

Form of Engagemen!

We are committed 1o engaging with our consumers through
a variety of channels regarding any guestions, concerns or
feedback which they rnay have, Our consurnier care tearm aims
to respond efficiently and effectively to all matters raised by
consumers, whether by email, telephone, social media or post.

Consumer research is conducted prior to the launch of
key products and in relation to key marketing campaigns,
as appropriate.

The Board gains insight into consumer needs, behaviours and
motivations through reguiar detailed brand reviews at Board
meetings througricut the year. The Board also reviews market
and consurner insight data at every Board meeting. The Board
receives presentations fram senior rmernbers of managernent
on consumer trends, brands end key marketing initiatives.

p Influenced Board/Con ee Discussions a

The Commercial Director provides a rarketing update to every Board meeting.
A formal review of brands and innovation is presented to and discussed by the
Board annually.

A structured research programmme of consumer usage and attitudes is carried out on a
regular basis, which informs the Board's risk review process and its discussicns regarding
its appetite for risks and opportunities in this area. During the year, qualitative consumer
research was carried out across different focus groups: the results of this research
informed certain key brand piarns for the foliowing year.

During the year the Board received presentations on the performance of key brands,
innovation and marketing campaigns. The Board discussed and were supportive of the
brand and inrovation strategy and key brand plans for the following year.

Research to understand conisumers’ attitudes and behaviours towsards environmerital
sustainability influenced the Board's key decision to approve the initial phases of a
muiti-year asset replacerment prograrnme to replace PET and can line assets at the
Curnbernauld factory, which will deliver ESG benefits in terms of providing PET
lightweighting opportunities and the introduction of tethered cap capab s noted
above. Consumer feedback aiso infiuenced the Board's key decision to continue to
support the Group's environmental sustainability strategy. which is being delivered
through the "Mo Tirne To Waste” prograrnime of activity, including the delivery of a
number of initiatives under the plastics and packaging workstream, as noted above.

Suppliers

We ensure that we source raw materials in a responsible manner
and require our suppliers to comimit to our Supplier Code of
Conduct and to comply with the provisions of our Modern
Slavery Statement and Anti-bribery and Corruption Policy.

We seek to mitigate risks in relation to the continuity of supply
of key raw materials and ingredients by developing strong
commercial relationships with our key suppliers.

We have regular engagement with our suppliers through virtal
and face-to-face meetings, conferences and events.

During the early part of the year we continued to engage with
key raw material suppliers in relation to the immpact of Covig-19
on their businesses in light of ongoing supply chain challenges.
We also continued to engage with third party contractors
regarding visits to Company sites, to ensure that only essential
activities were undertsken and that appropriate control
measures were in place to minimise Covid-related risks for

our respective employees and the wider public,

Updates on supply chain activities, including key suppliers, are provided to every Board
meeting and are considered and discussed by the rneeting. A review of supply chain
strategy. including procurement, is presented to and discussed by the Board anriually.

The Board approves all key supplier contracts above certain thresholds in accordanice
with the Company’'s Staternent of Delegated Authorities.

During the year, the Cornpariy's net-zero science-based targets were approved by the
Science Based Target Initiative. We have continued to work closely with our suppliers in
relation to our commitment to become net-zero across our own operations by 2035
and acioss our full supply chain by 2050, if not sooner.

During the year, the Board supported the move to 100% rPET for IRN-BRU and Rubicon
500mi, which was delivered in April 2022. Due to concerns raised by key suppliers
regarding the quality and security of supply of rPET, the Board tock the key decision

to pause progress on the rPET prograrmme for the remainder of the portfolio untii such
time as higher quality material is available, anticipated to be following the introduction
of a DRS in Scotland.

During the year, the Board reviewed and approved the Group’s Moderrn Slavery
Statement, cogrisant of the need to ensure that adequate processes are in place to
prevent moderr siavery iri the Group's supply chain and to maintain its reputation for
high standards of business conduct.




78

A.G.BARRp.\.c. AnnualReportand Accounts 2023

Corporate Governance Report continued

Key Stakeholder

of Engagement

Suppliers
continued

During the year we engaged with key suppliers on matters
related to clirnate change. including innovation in sustainable
packaging.

The Company complies with the Prompt Payment Code
guidelines, paying in excess of 90% of its supplier invoices
ontime.

Monthly cross-functional supplier perforrnance scoring is
conducted; the results are shared with suppliers and discussed
at review meetings. Regular review meetings are held with key
supgliers to review various KPIs, including performance, risk
management arid £SG objectives. An annual cross-functional
supplier review mieeting is held which informs our sourcing
strategy for the following year. Quarterly credit checks are
carried cut on suppliers to assess their financial health.

Hovr This Stakeholder Group In ittee Discussions and Decisions

Engagement with key supptliers during the year informed the Board's discussions and

decisions regarding the annual budgeting and long-term strateqic planning processes
for the Group.

Employees The Group is committed to engaging employees at all levels
regarding matters which affect them and the performarice of
the Group. This is achieved in a number of ways, including the
use of regular briefing procedures. which twice yearly include
a report on trading results. Regular comimunication meetings,
including "town halls”, are held to keep ernployees up-to-date
with Group performance. Leadership team "hangouts” take
place on a monthly basis to keep this group updated and to
provide the opportunity for them to ask guestions on business
related matters. Consuitation rneetings also take place when
the Company is making decisions that are likely to affect
employees’ interests, at which eniployee representatives’ views
are taken into account. The Group's intranet site provides
up-to-date information regarding the Group's activities. In

addition, an empioyee engagement survey “Your Voice Matters”

is carried out on an annual basis, which seeks feedback from
all employees on a range of areas: action plans are created in
response to the resuits of each survey. Employees’ opinions are
sought on varicus specific topics throughout the vear.

In addition to the Company’s existing employee engagement
mechanisms, and as required by the UK Corporate Governarice
Code, duiing the year the Nomination Committee reviewed
and approved the Board's current mechanism for workforce
engagement, being & designated non-executive director,

3s an appropriate mechanism for workforce engagement.

Z.L. Howorth was the designated workforce engagement
director during the year.

The continued appointment of a designated non-executive director as a mechanism for
workforce engagement stengthens the link betweer employees and the Board, helps
to build ar open and transparent culture and to ensure that sll employees have a voice
in the Company's future success. It also helps the Board to make better informed
decisions based on the broad perspectives of the workforce. Updates on progress
regarding workforce engagement are provided at Board meetings throughout the year.
It was reported that, overall, the good level of workforce engagement had continued
during the year and feedback from the employee engagemenit sessions was generally
positive, with & high level of employee engagement and commitrent to the business.
Discussion areas during these sessions included the ongoing impact of Covid-19 on the
busiriess and ernpicyees’ heaith and safety and mental wellbeing in the eariy part of the
year, hybrid working arrangements, heaith and safety generaily, employee
cornmunications, employee pay and benefits, how executive rernuneration aligns with
wider Comipany pay policy, Cornpany purpose and leadership developrment. The Board
discussed the updates provided to it by the workforce engagement director throughout
the year and were supportive of the Covid Steering Group's decisions during the early
part of the year regarding the heaith and safety of our employees.

The Board regularly reviews various employee retrics throughout the year, including
turnover and absenteeism data.

The results of the "Your Voice Matters” employee engagement survey carried out during
the year were presented to and discussed by the Board. The results of the survey were
generally positive, with a high emiployee response rate and overall ernployee
engagement score; the continued strong results in the area of health and safety and the
improvernent in the area of diversity. equality and inclusion: year-ori-year were
particularly pleasing. The Board were supportive of local action planring activities which
would take place in response to the resulis of the survey.




Key Stakeholder

Employees
continued

A structured plan for workforce engagerment is developed
for each year. During the year, this included face-to-face
engagement sessions held by Z.L. Howorth ~ supported
by the Chair and certain cther nori-executive directors —
for employees of different roles ard levels across different
Compary sites, the aim of which was to encourage
participation across the workforce in order to understand
their viewss on matters whichi affect thern.

During the early part of thie year the high level of engagement
with emiployees regarding Covid-related matters continued,
through regular communications and briefings and via the
Coronavirus portai o the intranet. The process continued to
be ied by the Covid Steering Group, which rmet weekly untit
May 2022 with the aim of managing the crisis as effectively

as possible, with the health and safety of employees being
paramount. The implementation of Covid-related processes
and procedures continued in accordance with the
government's guidance as a minirurn, with reqular
communication to employees. A Merital Health Hub was
available on the intrariet and various other mentai health
activities took place to continue to help suppart employees
through the crisis. Guidarice and support was aiso provided by
the corporate charity choseri by employees, Mental Health UK.

The Company has a Spesking Up Policy in place, which
complies with the 2018 UK Corporate Governisnce Code,
together with associated procedures, including employee
awareness and training, tc ensure that employees are

encouraged to raise any matters of concern in a tirnely manner.

The Speaking Up Policy is comrmunicated to alt employees
through a variety of channels. A designated ernail address is
available to employees to enabie thiem to raise any matters of
concern. A commurications camipaign contirued during the
year 10 help raise employee awareness of the Speaking Up
Policy and to encourage employees to come forward if they
want to raise any matters of concern.

The Board assesses the effectiveness of engagernent with
employees through a number of metrics, including the resutts
of the "Your Voice Matters” erployee engagement survey,
turnover and absenteeisrn data. exit interview dJata and
employee ‘speaking up’ data.

Strotegic Report Corporate Governance Accounts

ttee Discussions and Decisions

Howv This Stakeholder Group Influenced Board/Cor

During the year the Board received feedback from the workforce erigagement director
and from employees through the "Your Voice Matters” ernployee engagement survey
regarding hybrid working arrangernents for office workers and noted ernployees’
desire for fiexible workirnig arrangements, and were supportive of the key decision

to implerment and maintain a structured return to work programme following the
relaxation of Covid-related restrictions.

In resporise to employse concerns and feedback on the negative irpact of the
of living crisis on their health and welibeing, and in light of the challenging external
economic environmeri, thie Board made the key decisions o support a onie-off cost of
living paymenit o all Group emplayees with a biasic salary below a certaini level in August
2022 and a further lump sum payment to all employees except the most senior level

of management in January 2023. These payrnents were well received by employees.

St

Employee focus groups were held during the year with a cross-section of empioyess to
seek their feedback on refreshing Batr Soft Drinks’ purpose, to ensure itis fit for purpose
in the context of & changing workforce.

During the year, an empioyee consuitation precess in relation to the proposed closure
of the Barr Direct Engiand Depot at Newcastle concluded; employees’ feedback from
this consultation process directly influenced the Board's discussions and decision to
close the site from the end of April 2022.

During the year, the Board reviewed and approved the Company's Workforce
Engagement Terms of Reference.

During the year, the Board reviewed employee ‘speaking up’ data and reviewed ahd
approved tne Conipany’'s Speaking Up Policy and associsted procedures.

The Board held two sessions on peopie and succession planning during the year.
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Key Stakeholder Form of Engagement

Government

During the year much of our government engagernent
continued to be related to the introduction of a DRS in Scotland
and has been carried out in conjunction with the BSDA and
Circularity Scotland Limited. We have taken steps to
communicale our position on key implementation matters to
ensure our views were understcod and where possible taken

into account in decision-making.

We engage with governments and political bodies in an open
and constructive ranner ori issues which affect our business,
both directly and through relevarit trade associations such as
the British Soft Drinks Association {'BSDA’).

during the year.

Group.

is Stakehotder Group Influenced Board/Comrnittee Discussions and Decisions

Updates on engagement with UK and devolved governmerits and political bodies were
provided to the Board by the Chief Executive throughiout the vear and influenced its
discussions. This erigagement also shaped internal activity in relatior to these areas

Qur insights and understanding frorn engagernent with UK and devolved governrments
and political bodies during the year informed the Board's discussions and decisions
regarding the annual budgeting and long-term strategic planning processes for the

Reviews of the requlatory framework under which the Group operates are presented
to the Board on a requtar basis and inform the Board's discussions and decisions

regarding capital expenditure and areas of business develogment.

The Board discussed and supported our internal project planning for the introduction
of a DRS in Scotland and progress against our net-zerc plans — this work was informed
by our engagement with the Scottish government during the year.

Corporate culture and reputation

The Board and the Executive Committes have 3 critical
role in creating and ernbedding the right corporate
cultwre for the business. The Board aims to raintain
the Company’s reputation for the highest standards

of business conduct and to create 3 cuiture that is
responsible, diverse and inclusive. The Compariy's
workforce is critical to its future success. The
Company's focus on employee engagement will
continue in order to create a culture that enables and
supports a highly motivated and diverse workforce,

to ensure that its workforce do the right thing for its
stakeholders and deliver long-term sustainable success
for the business. During the early part of the year
activities continued in response to the ongeoing
Covid-19 pandemic tc ensure that this culture was
maintained, as described i the table above.

The Board regularly assesses and monitors the
Company's culture and, where appropriate, seeks
assurance from management that it has taken
corrective action to ensure that policy. practices and
behaviour throughout the business are aligned with the
Cornpany’s purpose, values and strategy. The Board
achieves this primarily through reviewing feedback from
employees from the annual employee erigagement

survey "Your Yoice Matters’, and ensuring that
appropriate actions are taken to address the findings
thereof, The results of the employee engagement
survey undertaken during the year showed 3 high
employee response rate and overall employee
engagement score. The Board were supportive of the
local action planning activities which would take place
in response to the results of the survey. The Board also
receives regular updates on workforce engagement
from the Board's designated rion-executive director
which helps it to assess and monitor the Comipany’s
culture. The Board regularly reviews certain health and
safety KPls, including the number of lost time accidents
during the year and performance agsinist the Group’s
lost time accident incident rate target. During the year,
the Board reviewed the overall hesith and safety
performance of the Group. including the results from
the latest Keil Centre health and safety culture raturity
assessments, which showed improvements in the
health and safety culture across Supply Chain
compared to three years 390; the Board were
supportive of the local action planning activities which
would take place in response to the results of the
survey. The Board also noted the positive results from
an internal health and safety culture survey cornpleted
by the Commercial and Central functions during the

year. The Board regularly reviews employee turnover
and absence data, and were suppaortive of an action
plan presented in August to engage employees and
reduce tumover. The Board also assesses and monitors
the Company’s culture through its annual review of

the Group's Speaking Up policy, procedures and any
concerns raised: during the year the Board were
satisfied that the procedures in place were working
effectively and reapproved the Company’s Speaking Up
policy. Further information ori the Company's culture
and workforce engagement is inciuded in the table
above and in the Directors’ Report on pages 122 to 127
and in the Strategic Report on pages 1 to 69.

C ity and

Information regarding the impact of tihe Company’'s
operations on the comrnuriity and the environment is
included in the Responsibility Report on pages 30 to 55.

Acting fairlyas b bers of the Company
The Board recognises its legal and reguiatory duties to
act fairly as between members of the Company and
has put appropriate structures and processes in place to
ensure it complies with all relevant iegal requirernents,
for exampie in relstion to the disclosure of inside
information to shareholders.




Conflicts of interest

The Articles of Association allow the Board to authorise
potentiai canflicts of interest that may arise from time
to tirme. subject to certain conditions. The Company
has established appropriste conflicts suthorisation
procedures, whereby actual or potentist conflicts are
reqularly reviewed and authorisations sought as
appropriate. During the year, no such conflicts arose
and no such authorisations were sought.

Professional advice

Ali directors have access to the advice of the Company
Secretary, who is responsible for advising the Board cn
3li governance matters. The non-executive directors
have access 1o senior managernent of the business.
Ind g and )

On appointment to the Board, directors are provided

with a full, formal and tailored prograrmime of induction,

to famiiliarise them with the Groug's businesses, the
risks and strategic challenges the Group faces. and

the economic, compeltitive, legal and regulatory
enviranment in which the Group operates. The
inguction includes, amonast other activities, meetings
with Board mernbers, the Company Secretary, senior
rnanagement and other empioyees, site visits, market
visits and the provision of information relating o the
Group, including briefings on key business activities.
Tne Company Secretary provides information to new
directors regarding Board policies and procedures,

and corporate governance matters. A programme of
strategic and other reviews, together with the otner
training provided during the year, ensures that directors
coritirually update their skills, their kniowledge and
familiarity with the Group’s businesses, and their
awareness of sector, risk. regulstory. legal. financisl and
other developments to enable thern to fulfil effectively
their role on the Board and committees of the Board.

Sirategic Report

Board performance evaluation

Every y=ar the performance and effectiveness of the
Board, its commitiees and individual directors is
evaluated. In line with the Code, this year the evaluation
was externally facilitated, having last been externally
facilitated during the year to January 2020. ODuring the
year Clare Chalmers Limited {"Clare Chalrners’)
conducted a formal, externally facilitated review of the
effectiveness of the Board and its principal committees.
Clare Chalmers is an independernt adviser with no other
connection to the Company or any of the individual
directors. The evaluation was conducted by the
completion of detailed and comprehensive writter
survey questionnaires by all Board memibers and the
Compeny Secretary. The questionnaires were sgreed
with the Company Secretary and the Chair of the
Board. The Board questionnaire covered such thernes
as strategy. leadership and accountability, Board
composition, diversity, culture and risk management,
and how effectively Board members work togethier to
achieve ohjectives, with similar coverage for each of
tihe comrnittees. Clare Chalmers provided a fuil, written
repart hased on the responses o the survey, which
they discussed with the Chair. The full report was
shared with and discussed by the Board and each of the
committees. Overall, the review fourd that the Board
and its comrnittees were functioning in an effective
manner and perforring satisfactorily, with no major
issues identified. Actions will be taken to address certain
areas aising from the evaluation, including an
increased focus on purpose and hiow it cascades down
into strategy, values and culture, ari increased focus on
the Board's risk appetite, dedication of more tirme to
succession planning for executive directors and senior
management, increasing the non-executive directors’
contaci with the business and certain improvements to
the Board papers.

Corporate Governance Accounts

The non-executive directors, led by the senior
independent director, carried out a perforrance
evaiuation of the Chair without the Chair present. taking
into account the views of the executive directors. It was
concluded that M. Aller's perforrance continues to be
strong and that he demonstrates effective leadership.
The Chair is pleased to confirm that, foliowing
performance evaluation of the directors, all of the
directors’ performances continue to be effective and all
of the directors continue to demonstrate commitiment
to the role of director, including commitment of time
for Board meetings and commiitiee meetings and any
other relevant duties.

Meetings and attendance

Board meetings are scheduled to be held seven times
each year. Between these meetings, as required,
additional Board meetings {and/or Board comimittee
meetings) rnay be held to progress thie Company’s
business. A part of each Board meeting is dedicated
to the discussion of specific strategy matters.

In advance of all Board imeetings the directors are
supplied with detailed and comprehensive papers
covering the Group’s operating functions. Memters of
the management team attend and rnake presentations
as appropriate at meetings of the Board. The Company
Secretary is responsible to the Board for the timeliness
and quality of information provided to it. Thie Chair
helds meetings with the non-executive directors during
the year without the executive directors being present.

The attendance of directors at schieduled Board and
committee meetings in the year to 29 January 2023

is set out below. During the year, the Board aiso
convened two additional Board meetings in relation to
various matters, including certain contract approvais
and a potential acquisition. All of the directors who
could have attended those Board meetings did so. with
the exception of S.V. Barratt who was unavailabie for
one of those meetings.
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Auditand Risk  Remuneration Nomination ESG
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee
Maximum 9 Maximum 4 Maximum 4 Maximum 3 Maximum 2
Executive
R.A. White™ 9 - 4 3 2
S. Lorimer** g 4 - - -
J.D. Kemp 9 - - - _
Non-executive
J.R. Nicolson*** 1 - - - -
M. Allen=*== 9 1 1 3 -
W.R.G. Barr 9 - - 3 -
S\V. Barratt 8 4 4 3 2
Z.L. Howorth! 9 1 4 1 2
D.J. Ritchie 9 4 4 3 -
N.E.E. Wharton 9 4 - 3

R.A. White attended Board comrmitiee meetings during the year by trvitation.
S. Lerimer attended ~uait and Risk Committee meetings during the y2ar by invitation.

* J.R. Nicoison resigned from the Beard on 31 March 2022 and could have attended a maximum of one Beard meeting.

" M. Allen resigned from the Audit and Risk Comnittee on 31 March 2022 fellowing his appointment as Chair of the Board and could have
attended a raximum of one Audit and Risk Cornmittee meeting. M Allen attended a Remuneratiors Commitiee rneeting during the year

by invitation.

Z.L. Howorth atterded Audit and Risk Cornmittee and Nornination Committee meetings during the year by invitation.

Committees of the Board

The terms of reference of the principal cornmittees of
the Board - Audit and Risk, Remuneration, Nornination
and ESG - have been approved by the Board and are
avaitable on the Company’s website, www.agbarr.co.uk.

Those terms of reference have been reviewed in the
current year and are reviewed at least anriually. The
work carried out by the Nomination Commiittee in
discharging its responsibilities is surnmarised beilow.
The wark carried out by the Audit anid Risk Comimittee
is described within the Audit and Risk Commitiee’s
Report on pages 85 1o 88. The work carried out by
the Remuneration Committee is described within the
Directors’ Rernuneration Report on pages 104 1o 105.
The work carried out by the ESG Comimittee is
described within the Responsibility Report oni page 45.

The Board has a Market Disclosure Cornmittee which
comprises SV. Barratt, R.A. White, S. Lorimer and the
Company Secretary. The Market Disclosure Cornmittee
rmeets only when required and is responsible for
overseeing the disclosure of information oy the
Company to meet its obligations under the Market
Abuse Regulation and the Financisi Conduct Authority's
Listing Rules and Disclosure Guidance and
Transparency Rules. SV. Barratt, R.A. White and $.
Lorirner attended the one meeting of the Market
Disclosure Comrittee held during the vear.

The Board also has an Equity Irvestment Commiittee
which comprises M. Allen, R.A. White, S. Lorimer
and the Company Secretary. The Equity Investmerit
Comimittee meets only when required snid is

responsible for overseeing the Company’s equity
investments in Elegantly Spirited Limited and MOMA
Foods Limited and any other future sirmilar equity
investments in investee companies. M. Allen, R.A. White
and S. Lorimer attended the two meetings of the Equity
Investment Committee held during the year in relation
¢ equity investments in Boost Drirks Hoidings Limited
and MOMA Foods Limited.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Cornmittee comprises M, Allen, W.R.G.
Barr, S.V. Barratt, D.J. Ritchie and N.B.E. Wharton. The
Nomination Committee is chaired by M. Allen. The
Nomination Commiittee leads the process for making
appointments to the Board and ensures that thiere is 3
formal, rigorous and transparent procedure for the
appoirtment of new directors to tne Board. The remit
of the Nomination Committee aiso includes reviewing
the composition of the Board through s fuil evaluation
of the skils, knowledge snd experience of directors and
ensuring ptans are in place for orderly succession for
appoinunents to the Board. When ideritifying potential
new directors for appointment to the Board, the
Nomination Committee retains the services of an
external s2arch consultant. The Nominatiors Committee
makes recommendations to the Board on its membership
and the memoership of its principal committees.

The Nomination Committee is required, in accordarnce
with its te'ms of reference, to meet st ieast once per
year. The Nominatior Commitiee met three times
during the year and, amongst other rnatters, considered
the structure, size and composition of the Board and its
committees, cogrisant of the need to ensure that they
have the right combination of skilis, experience arnd
knowledge, and bearing in mind the length of service
of the Board as & whole and the need to regularly
refresh its membership. The Homination Comimittee
considered a corporaste succession plan for the Board
and senior management, based on merit arid objective
criteria and cognisant of the need 1c build 8 diverse
and inclusive culture. The Norninatiors Committee

also approved the Board's current rechanism for
workforce engagement and recommended the
workforce engagemernt terms of reference to the
Board for approval.



The Board believes that building a diverse and inclusive
culture is integral to the success of the Company.
Diversity includes aspects such as diversity of skills,
perspectives, industry experience, educational and
professional backgrund, gender, ethinicity and age.
Trie Company's Board and Executive Committee
Diversity Palicy ("Diversity Policy’) provides that these
aspects will ne considered in determining the optimum
composition of the Board and Executive Cominittee,
with the aim of achieving an appropriate baiarice. Alt
appointments to the Board and Executive Cornmittee
are rnade on merit, against objective criteria, and with
due regard for the benefits of diversity and inclusion.
The Company remains committed to the principle of
diversity and aims to achieve at least 40% female
representation on the Board and Executive Commiittee
and at least one director from an ethinic mincrity
background on the Board. The Nomination Comimittee
is responsible for overseeing the implementation of the
Diversity Policy. The Nomination Cornmittee reviews
the Diversity Policy at least annually to ensure its
effectiveness, with any amendrments recormmended
to the Board for approval. Prior to the resignation of
J.R. Nicolson as a non-executive director ori 31 March
2022, 20% of the Board were female. Following the
resignation of J.R. Nicolson, 22% of the Board were
female. As at the date of this report, 33% of the
Executive Committee are female ang 44% of the
Executive Committee’s direct reports are fernale.

The disclosure relsting to gender diversity withiry

the Company is included in the Strategic Report

ori page 37.

Treasury and Commodity Committee

The Treasury and Commodity Committee consists

of R.A. White, S. Lorimer and senior members of

the finance, legal and procurement departments.

The Treasury and Commaodity Cornmiittee’s terms

of reterence are reviewed and approved annuaity

by the Audit and Risk Committee. The Treasury

and Commodity Comrnittee reviews purchase
requirements in foreign currencies and implernents
strategies, including the use of foreign exchange
hedges, in order to reduce the risk of foreign exchange
exposure and provide certainty over the value of
non-domestic purchases in the short to medium term.

Sirategic Repo;v

The Treasury and Comimodity Comrmittee’s remit
includes the ability to utilise certain financial
instrurnents in order to hedge the Group's exposure to
interest rate fluctuations. The Treasury and Commodity
Comnnittee also monitors the Group's short and
rmedium term funding requirements, provides oversight
of hedge accounting and adherence to hedge
accounting standards, monitors the ongoing
requirements of the Company's various employee
share schemes, monitors cash flow and any capital
restructure programrmes, oversees the Group's dividend
policy znd proposals for the payrnent of dividends

and annually reviews the Cornpany’s Statemerit of
Delegated Authorities.

Internal control

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group's
internal control systems and annuaily reviews their
effectiveriess, including a review of financial,
operational, corpliance and risk management
controls. The implementation and maintenance of
the risk managernent and internal control systems are
the responsibility of the executive directors and cther
senicr rnanagement. The systems are desigried to
manage rather than elimirate the risk of faiiure to
achieve business objectives and o provide reasonabie,
but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the
Group's risk management and interral control systems,
including financial, operationat and compliance
controls, in accordance with the Code for the period
from 31 January 2022 to the date of approvat of this
annual report. No significant failings or weaknesses
were identified from this review during the year.

Had any failings or weaknesses been identified then
the Board would have taken the action required to
remedy them.

The Board confirms that there is an ongoing process,
ernbedded in the Group's integrated internai control
systerns, allowing for the identification, evaiuation
and management of significant risks, as well as a
reporting process to the Board. This risk management
process has been in piace throughiout the year ended

Carporate Governance Accounts

29 January 2023 and up to the date of the approval of
this annual report. The Board has carried out a robust,
systernatic assessment of the principal and emerging
risks facing the Group during the period, including
those which would threaten its business model, future
performance, solvency or liquidity. Information on the
Group's risk management framework, including the
operation of the Group's Risk Committee, is set out in
the Strategic Report on pages 62 1 68.

The three main elements of the Group's interrial control
systern are as follows:

The Board

The Board has overall resporisibility for the Group's
internal control systems and exercises this throuah an
organisational structure with clearly defined levels of
responsibility and authority as well as appropriate
reperting procedures.

The Board has a schedule of matters that are brought
to it, or its duly authorised committees, for decision,
airmed at rnaintaining etfective control over strategic,
financial, operational and comgpliance issues.

This structure includes the Audit and Risk Committee
which, with the Finance Director, reviews the
effectiveness of the internai financial and operating
contrel environment.

Financial reporting

There is a comprehensive strategic planning, budgeting
and forecasting system with an annuat operating plan
approved by the Board. Monthly financial information,
including trading results, cash flow staternent,
statement of financiai position and indebtedness,

is reporied.

The Board and the Executive Committee revisw the
business and financial performance against the prior
year and against annual plans approved by the Board.
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Audits and reviews

The key internal risks identified in the Group are subject
to regular audits or reviews by the internal auditors. This
role is fulfilled by an external professional services firm
which is independent from the Board and the Group.

The review of the internal auditor’s work by the Audit
and Risk Committee and monitoring procedures in
place ensure that the findings of the audits are acted
upon and subsequent reviews confirm compliance with
any agreed action plans.

The Board confirms that there has been an independent
internal audit function in place for the year.

Share capital structure
The share capital structure of the Company is set out in
the Directors’ Report.

UK Corporate Governance Code compliance

The Company is committed to the principles of
corporate governance contained in the Code. A copy
of the Code is available on the Financial Reporting
Council's website, www.frc.org.uk.

Each of the provisions of the Code has been reviewed
and, where necessary, steps have been taken to ensure
that the Company is in compliance with all of those
provisions as at the date of this report. The directors
consider that the Company has complied throughout
the year ended 29 January 2023 with the provisions of
the Code, except as set out below.

Provision 19 of the Code states that the Chair should
not remain in post beyond nine years from the date of
their first appointment to the Board. J.R. Nicolson was
appointed as a non-executive director to the Board on
1 January 2013 and was appoeinted as Chair of the
Board on 1 January 2015. J.R. Nicolson resigned from
the Board on 31 March 2022. J.R. Nicolson therefore
remained as Chair of the Board for a period of three
months following the expiry of the nine year period
from the date of his first appointment to the Board.
J.R. Nicotson remained in post for this brief three

month period to complete the financial cycle for the
year to 30 January 2022 and to ensure an orderly
handover to his successor as Chair, M. Allen.

Provision 38 of the Code states that pension
contribution rates for executive directors, or payments
in lieu, should be aligned to those available to the
workforce. As disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration
Report, R.A. White, S. Lorimer and J.D. Kemp receive

a cash allowance equal to their contractual pension
provision of 24% of salary. These provisions will
continue to be honoured as contractual commitments
made to these incumbent executive directors. As
disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration Policy, the
maximum company pension contribution for any new
executive director appointments wilt be aligned to that
available to the wider workforce, which is currently

8% of salary.

_ Provision 39 of the Code states that executive directors’

contracts should contain @ maximum notice period of
one year. As disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration
Report, the service contracts with R.A. White and J.D.
Kemp provide for a notice period of 12 months except
during the six months following either a takeover of or
by the Company or a Company reconstruction. Under
these conditions and certain circumstances the
directors are entitled to a liquidated damages payment
equal to the director’s basic salary at termination plus
the value of all contractual benefits for a two year
period. Given the size of the Company and the sector
dynamics at the time these directors were recruited,
the Remuneration Committee considered this provision
appropriate in order to attract and retain high calibre
executive directors. As disclosed in the Directors’
Remuneration Report, this provision will continue to be
honoured as a contractual commitment made to these
directors: however this provision was not included in

S. Lorimer's service contract and wil not be included

in service contracts with other new executive directors
appointed in future, to ensure that future executive
directors' service contracts comply with provision 39
of the Code.

A copy of the financial statements has been placed
on the Campany’s website, www.agbarr.co.uk.

The mainzenance and integrity of this website is the
responsibility of the directors. Legislation in the UK
governing the preparation and dissemination of
financial statements may differ from legislation in
other jurisdictions.

By order of the Board

J.A.Barr
Company Secretary
28 March 2023
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Audit and Risk Committee Report

On behalf of the Audit and Risk Committee,
|am pleased to present its report for the
year ended 29 January 2023. The report
describes the key activities undertaken by
the Committee during the year and how it
has discharged its role and responsibilities.

Nick Wharton
Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee

Compasition

During the year the Audit and Risk Cornmittee {the
“ARC’") comprised four non-executive directors: N.B.E.
Wharton, M. Allers OBE, SV. Barratt and D.J. Ritchie.

M. Alten resigned from the ARC upori being appcinted
Chair of the Board on 31 March 2022. Foliowing

M. Allen’s resignation, the ARC comprised three
non-executive directors. The ARC is chaired by N.B.E.
Wharton. The Board is satisfied that N.B.E. Wharton has
recent and relevant financial experience as required by
provision 24 of the 2018 UK Corporate Governance
Code. Biographical details of the Chair and other
members of the ARC are shown on pages 70 and 71.
The Board has determined that the current cornposition
of the ARC as a whoie has competence relevarit to the
sector in which the Company operates, tc enable it to
deasl effectively with the matters it is required to address
and to challenge rmanagement when recessary.

Meetings

Thie ARC met four times during the vear. The meetings
are attended by the ARC rmembers and, by invitation,
the Finance Director, the Group Financial Cantroller,
the Company Secretary and representatives from the
externai and internai auditors. The ARC meets reqularly
with executive directors and management, as well as
privately with the external and internal auditors.

Role and responsibilities
The primary role of the ARC is to assist the Board in
fulfitling its oversight responsibilities. This includes:

Financial reporting:

- mronitoring the integrity of the annual and interirn
financial staternents and formal announcements
relating to the Group's financial performance and
reviewing any significant finarcial reporting
judgements and disclosures which they contain:
if requested by the Board, providing advice on
whether the Annual Report and Accounts are fair,
balanced and understandable; and

reporting to the Board on the appropriateness of
tre Group's accounting policies and practices.

Internal control and risk management:
reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness of
thie Group's internal control and risk management
systems;

- reviewing and rmonitoring the effectiveness of
the internat audit function, which is resourced
externally, and ranagement’s resporisiveness
¢ any findings and recommendations; and

- reviewing the identification and mitigation
of the Group's existing corporate risks and
ernerqging risks.

Policies and procedures:

- reviewing and approving the terrns of reference

for the Cormpany's Treasury and Comirnodity

Committee;

reviewing the Group's delegated suthority limits;

reviewing and ronitoring the Group’s Tax risk

management policy:

- reviewing and rnonitoring the Group's Anti-
facilitation of tax evasion policy;

- reviewing and monitoring the appropriateness of

the Group's Anti-bribery policy and procedures:

approving the appointment and remaval of the

internal augitor;

making recommendations to the Board in relation

10 the appointment and removai of the external

auditor and approving its remuneration and terms

o’ engagernent;

reviewing and monitoring the external auditor’s

independence and objectivity and the

effectiveness of the audit process;

reviewing the policy on the engagement of the

external auditor to supply non-audit services; and

reporting to the Board on how it has discharged

its responsibilities.

Corporate Governance

Accounts

Activities of the Audit and Risk Committee
In respect of the year to 28 January 2023 (pericd under
review'). the ARC has:

Financial reporting:

- reviewed and discussed with the external auditor

the key accounting considerations and -
judgernents reflected in the Group's unaudited

results for the six month period ended 31 July 2022;
reviewed and agreed the external suditor's audit
strategy memorandum in advance of its audit for

the year ended 29 January 2023;

- discussed and agreed the nature and scepe of the

work to be performed by the external auditors:
received and reviewed reports from rmanagement
regarding their approach to key accounting
considerations and judgements in the half year
and full year financial statements;

reviewed the half year and full year financiat
statements;

discussed the report received from the externai
auditor regarding its audit in respect of the
year ended 25 January 2023, which included
comments on its findings on internal controt
and key audit risks and a statement on its
independence and objectivity; and

reviewed the results of this sudit work z3nd the
response of management to miatters raised.

Internal control and risk managernent:
received reports from internal audit covering
various aspects of the Group’s operations,
controls and processes;

- received reports on the operstion of the Group’s

Risk Cormmittee;

reviewed the Group's risk register and the Group’s
principat risks in light of the Board's risk appetite
for key risk aress, together with the systerns and
processes for mitigating those risks;

received reports from management on the
actions taken by the business to mitigate cyber
risks. including the risk of a ransomware attack;
received reports from mansgemerit reqarding the
operation of the new structure and processes in
relation to the identification and management

of emerging risks for the Group and reviewed the
Group’'s emerging risks reiated to techinology;
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reviewed and recommended the Group's
enterprise risk management framework, incluging
the Group's risk appetite statemenit, to the Board;
discussed and agreed the nature and scope of the
work to be performed by the internal ayditor;
reviewed the results of this audit work and the
response of management to matters raised;
reviewed the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems
{including financial, operational, compliance

and risk management controls); and

- reviewed and approved the Cornpany’s viability
and going concern staternents.

Consideration of the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal coritrol systems is set out in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 83 and 84.

« Policies and procedures:

reviewed and approved the Treasury policy,
Cornmodities management policy and the terms
of reference for the Group's Treasury and
Cornmodity Committee;

reviewed and recommended the Group’s Tax risk
management policy to the Board:;

reviewed and approved the Group's Anti-
facilitation of tax evasion policy;

reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s
Anti-oripery systems and controls and reviewed
and approved the Group's Anti-bribery and
Corruption policy;

reviewed the Group's delegated authority lirnits:

'

made recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and remuneraticn of the external
auditor and monitored the performance of

the auditor;

monitored and reviewed the performance of the
incumbent internal auditor and the effectiveness
of the Group's internal audit sctivities;

reviewed its policies on the supply of non-audit
services by the external auditor and on the
ernployment of former employees of the Group's
external auditor;

approved the reappointment of the internal auditor;

reviewed the non-audit services provided to the
Group by the external auditor and monitored and
assessed the independence of both the external
and internal auditors; and

reviewed the performance of the ARC and its
terms of reference.

At the request of the Board, the ARC aisc considered
whether the Annual Report and Accournts for the year
ended 29 January 2023, taken as a whoie, are fair,
balanced and understandable and provide the
inforrnation necessary for shareholders to assess the
Company’'s position and perforimance, business modet
and strategy. Following review of management’s
processes in this regard and consideration of the draft
Annual Report and Accounts, the ARC recommended
to the Board that it coutld make the required disciosure
as set outin the Directors’ Responsibilities Staternent on
page 128.

Significant areas

The significant matters and key accounting judgernents

independently assessed and considered by the ARC

in respect of the period under review were:

« Revenue recognition - brand support accruals:
judgement is required by management when
determining the level of brand support accruals at
the year end. During the year, the ARC received and
considered reports from management on the
improvernents made to the internal processes and
controls in place with regard to brand support
accruals, and the level of accruals at the half year
and at the year end. It also received and conisidered
reports from the external auditer following their
review of net revenue and brand support accruals
during the period. The ARC corisidered these
reports and was satisfied that the estimates and
judgements made by managemient are appropriate,

«  Management override of controls: there is a risk of
fraud associated with the potential override of
internal controls by management. During the year,
the ARC assessed this risk, and received and
considered a report frorm the external auditor which
stated that its procedures, which included the use of
data analytics, did not identify any errors or
significant deficiencies iri internal controls. Trie ARC
was content that there were no issues arising.

Other areas

Other matters independently assessed and considered
by the ARC in respect of the period under review were;
Impairment of intangible assets: the ARC considered
a report from managemerit iri relation to their
impairment reviews of the intanigible asset base and
was satisfied with managemenit's conclusion that,
following irmpairment assessrnents carried out as
part of the interim and full vear reporting processes,
which concluded that the carrying values of
intangible assets on the balance sheet remained
supportable, no impairment was required. The
external auditor concurred with management's
assessment.

Assumptions used i the Company's defined

benefiz pension scheme: the Cornpany operates the
A.G. BARR p.l.c. (2008} Pension and Life Assurance
Scherne, which includes a defined benefit section.
The Company engages a third party, Hymans
Robertson, to assist in the valuation of the defined
benefi: pension schieme liability. There is a risk
relatec to judgerments made by management in
vaiuing the defined berefit pension scheme liability,
including the appropriateness of the discount rate
and inflation rate assumptions. These varizbles can
have a material impact in calculating the quantum of
the defined benefit liability. During the year the ARC
were satisfied that rnanagernent had considered and
were comfortable with the assumgptions used by
Hymans Rebertson (the "Assurmptions’), and
received and considered a report from the external
auditor which stated that it had carried cut a review
and benchmarking exercise of the Assumptions

and concluded that they were within ar acceptable
range. After discussion and chalienge the ARC

was satisfied that the Assumptions proposed

were r2asonable and these were approved.

Going concern: the ARC cornisidered and challenged
reports from managemernit regarding the going
concern assumption and the key environmental and
trading sensitivities applied, and was satisfied that
this assumption was appropriate.




Viability: the ARC considered and chalienged reports
frorm rmanagernent regarding the viability statement,
including information on the Group's financing
facilities, and approved the viability statement.

The Company's investment in Boost Drinks Holdings
Limited {"Boost™}: the Company acquired a 100%
equity stake ir: Boost in December 2022.
Management concluded that the Cornpany
obtained control over Boost and has therefore
consolidated Boost as 3 fuilly owned subsidiary in the
Company's accounts for the year ended 29 Jaruary
2023. The identification and valuatiorn of intarigibles
as well as the valuation of other assets acquired

and related assumptions, including any impairment
consideratians, were a key area of focus. The ARC
received and considered regorts from managemernt
and the external auditor on these matters. The ARC
was satisfied with these reports and with the
accounting for the investment in Boost.

The Cornpany’s acquisition of the remaining 28.2%
equity stake in MOMA Foods Limited ("MOMA’):

the Company obtained control of MOMA in the
prior year following its acquisition of ar initiat ¢.62%
equity stake in MOMA in December 2021. MOMA
was consolidated as a fully owned subsidiary in

the Cornpany's prior year accourits and 3 ron-
controliing interest was recognised. Following the
Company's acquisition of the ramaining 38.2%
equity stake in MOMA in December 2022, the
Cempany holds a 100% equity stake in MOMA,
Management concluded that the non-controtiing
interest should be derecognised as a result of this
transaction, with the difference between the put
option liability and the consideration paid released
to the income statement for the year under review.
The external auditor reviewed managerment’s
treatment of this transaction, including the
recalculation of the amounts released. The ARC
received and considered reports from management
and the external suditor on these matters. The

ARC was satisfied with these reports and with the
accounting for the investment in MOMA.

Siralegic Report

The presentation and explanation of the use of
alternative performance measures ("APMs’): the ARC
considered a report from managernent regarding
the move from reporting exceptional items in the
financial statements to a singular tabular reporting
structure for the income statement and the use of
adjusting items as APMs for the year erided

29 January 2023; this move was made ir line with
market and best practice. The ARC also considered
& report from the external auditor on management's
presentation of APMs in the Annual Report and
Accounts for the year ended 29 Jaruary 2023,
including a report on whether the use of APMs and
statutory figures was generally well balanced and
APMs were appropriately iabelled and defiried, and
was saticfied that APMs were appropriately presented.
Adjusting items: the ARC considered and chalieriged
a report from management in relation to the
classification and presentation of certairi items as
adjusting iterns, and was satisfied with the treatment
and presentation of these items which arose during
the period under review as adjusting. Please see
above regarding the change from reporting
exceptional items to reporting adjusting items for
the year ended 25 January 2023.

Valuation of inventory: inventory was an area of
focus due to the price volatility related to raw
materials. The ARC received a report frorm
management confirming that the arinual sversge
actual cost per case would be used as the method
of calcuiation for the purposes of valuing inventory
at the year end; this was supported by the external
auditor and the ARC. The ARC also received and
considered a report from the external auditor
foliowing their review of management’s coritiols
and processes in relation to the valuatior: of inventory,
and their assessment of the risk identified. The ARC
was satisfied that the estimates and judgements
made by imanagement were appropriate.

Corporate Governance Accounts

The ARC receives reqular presentations from members
of the senior management team. During the year, the
ARC considered presentations frorr representatives of
the rnanagement team on treasury and commodities
managernent, intellectual property risk, emerging

risks related to technology. brand support accruals,
procedures to prevent bribery and corruption, tax
strategy and the project to transition the Cormpany's
defined contribution pension schemes to ar
outsourced master trust arrangement.

External audit

The Group's externai auditor is Deloitte LLP {"Deloitte’).
The current audit partner is David Mitchell, who
replaced David Sweeney with effect from Juty 2022
following David Sweeney's completion of five years as
the Group's audit partner. The ARC reviews the external
auditor's performance, independence and objectivity
annually. The ARC ensures that procedures are in place
10 sateguard the external suditor's independence and
objectivity. The external auditor reports regularly to the
ARC on the actions that it has taken to cornply with
professional and regulatory requirernents and current
best practice in order t6 maintain its independence
and objectivity.

The Group has & policy in place which ensures that the
provision of non-audit services by the external auditor
does not impair the auditor’s indeperidence or objectivity.
This policy refiects the Financial Reporting Council's
Ethical Standard 2019, such that the external auditor may
only provide non-audit services which are closely linked
to the audit itself or are required by law or reguiation.
The policy was complied with during the year.

Details of the amounts paid tc the external auditor
during the year for audit and non-audit services are set
outin Note 3 to the financial statements. The ratio of
fees for non-audit services to those for audit services
tor the year was 18%, within the 70% cap in the Financial
Reporting Council's guidance, The ARC consigered thie
nature and level of non-audit services provided and was
satisfied that the objectivity and independence of the
external auditor were not affected by the non-audit
wark undertaken. The non-audit fees during the year
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related to the performance of the half year review and
work regarding the verification of German sales volumes
t0 the German packaging authority for the purposes of
the ‘Green Dot packaging scheme. The nature of and
level of fees for the non-audit services provided were
considered by Deloitte who concluded that they did not
present a threat to Deloitte’s independence.

Deloitte was appointed as the Group’s external auditor
in May 2017 following a competitive tender process.
There are no contractual obligations which restrict the
ARC's choice of external auditor. The senior statutory
auditor rotates every five years to ensure independence.
David Mitchell therefore replaced David Sweeney during
the 2022/23 financial year, as noted above. The ARC
acknowledges the requirement to tender the external
audit contract at least every ten years. The Company
confirms that it has complied with the provisions of the
Competition and Markets Authority’s Statutory Audit
Services Order in respect of the financial year.

During the year, the ARC reviewed and monitored the
external auditor's independence and objectivity and the
effectiveness of the external audit process. The ARC
reviewed and approved the external auditor’s plan for
undertaking the half year review and the year end audit,
including the scope of their work and their proposed
approach to the key risk areas identified. After
discussion and challenge the ARC approved this plan.
The ARC reviewed the detailed reports prepared by the
external auditor setting out their findings from the half
year review and the year end audit, with a particular
focus on the areas of audit risk identified. The ARC also
received comprehensive papers from management in
relation to the half year review and the year end audit.
The ARC held meetings with the external auditor in the
absence of management to discuss the interim review
and the year end audit findings and processes. The
ARC was satisfied with the internal processes run by
management and their response to challenge by the
external auditor.

The ARC carried out a review of the effectiveness

of the external auditor and the external audit process
during the year, led by the Chair of the ARC. This
review included an internally facilitated detailed and
comprehensive evaluation of the Group's external
auditor and the external audit process using written
survey guestionnaires, which were completed by the
executive directors and relevant members of senior
management. Members of the ARC carried out an
externally facilitated review of the Group's external
auditor and the external audit process during the year
using written survey questionnaires. The results of the
evaluation were shared with the ARC and the external
auditor. A small number of improvement opportunities
were identified and discussed with the external auditor.

Following these reviews and meetings, and after debate
and discussion. the ARC was satisfied with Deloitte’s
performance during the year, that it was objective and
independent, and that the external audit process
remains effective, with no major issues identified. The
ARC has recommended to the Board that a resolution
proposing the appointment of Deloitte be put to
shareholders at the 2023 AGM.

Internal audit

At the beginning of each year, an internat audit plan is
developed by the internal auditor foltowing meetings
with directors and senior managers within the business
and with reference to the significant risks contained
within the Group's risk register and identified controls.
The ARC approves the internal audit plan for the first
half of the year at the beginning of the year and the
plan for the second half of the year at the June ARC
meeting. The ARC receives updates on progress against
the plan and the recommendations arising from the
internal audits throughout the year, together with
updates on management’s progress against
outstanding actions. The ARC held meetings with the
internal auditor in the absence of management to
discuss the internal audit findings and processes.

The ARC carried out a review of the effectiveness of
the internal audit function and the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems during the
year. ted by the Chair of the ARC. This review included
an internally facilitated detailed and comprehensive
evaluation of these matters using written survey
questionnaires, which were completed by the executive
directors and relevant members of senior management.
Members of the ARC carried out an externally facilitated
review of the Group’'s internal audit function and the
Company'’s risk management and internal control
systems during the year using written survey
questionnaires. The results of the evaluation were
shared with the ARC and the internal auditor.

Following these reviews and meetings, the ARC was
satisfied that the internal audit function was performing
in an effective manner and that the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems were
effective, with no major issues identified.

Audit and Risk Committee evatluation

The ARC carried out a review of the performance and
effectiveness of the ARC during the year, led by the
Chair of the ARC. In line with the 2018 UK Corporate
Governance Code, this year the evaluation was
externally facilitated, having last been externally
facilitated during the year to January 2020. This review
included a detailed and comprehensive evaluation of
the performance and effectiveness of the ARC using
written survey questionnaires, which were completed by
members of the ARC, the Finance Director and the
Company Secretary. The results of the evatuation were
shared with the ARC. Overall, the review found that the
ARC was functioning in an effective manner and
performing satisfactorily, with no major issues identified.

Nick Wharton
Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee
28 March 2023
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Directors’ Remuneration Report
Remuneration Committee - Chair’s Statement

Introduction

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the
Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year ended
29 January 2023, which sets out the new
Remuneration Policy intended to take effect from the
close of the 2023 AGM on pages 107 to 121. and the
Annual Report on Rernuneration which provides details
of the arnounts earned by the directors in respect of
the year ended 29 January 2023 and how we intend
to operate the Remuneration Policy for the year
commencing 30 January 2023 ori pages 92 to 106.

The current Remuneration Policy was approved by

3 binding vote at the 2020 AGM and became effective
for three years from the close of that meeting. The
proposed new Remuneration Poticy will be subject to

3 binding vote and the Annual Report on Remuneration
wilt be subject o an advisory vote at the 2023 AGM.

1 am pleased to report a successful period of
cornisultation with chareholders cr the proposed
riew Remuneration Policy, which was undertaken in
December 2022 through to February 2023 prior to the
ration Committee finalising the proposed new
Remuneration Policy. Shareholders representing ¢.70%
of the shares on the register were consulted. There was
good support for the changes being proposed to align
the new Reruneration Policy with evalving governance
guidance. There was aisc good support for the
confirmed position in respect to new executive director
pension provision being aligned with the wider
workforce and a recognition that it remains challenqing
to alter the pre-existing legacy contractual position
of pension provision for existing executive directors.
There was consistent support for the overail levels of
remuneration, recognising the relatively modest levels
of total pay, cornpared to cornpanies of comparable
size and complexity, combined with the challenging
perfarmance targets set by the Remuneration
Comrnittee each year. Whilst individual stakehoider
views did vary. we take comfort from the broad
consensus of supportive shareholder feedback received
as we finalised the proposed new Remuneration Pol

There were no changes to the composition of the
Remuneration Committee during the year. The
Rernuneration Committee carried out an externally

facilitated review of its performance and effectiveness
during the year. This review ermnployed written survey
questicnnaires, which were completed by rernbers
of the Remuneration Committee and the Company
Secretary. The results of the evaluation were shared
with the Remuneration Commiittee. Overall, the review
found that the Remuneration Committee was
functioning in an effective manner and perfonming
satisfactorily. with no major issues identified.

Proposed Remuneration Policy

As required by the 2018 UK Corporate Governarice
Caode, the Rernuneration Committee has cornpleted
an extensive review of the Remureration Policy at

the third anniversary of the last sharehoider approval,
having held the existing Remuneration Policy uraitered
over the last three years. In completing this, the
Remuneration Cornmittee has reviewed the
appropriateness of the existing Remuneration Policy
based on the Company's strategy and culture. market
conditions and corporate performance since the last
Rermiuneration Policy review, alongside devetopments
in rnarket practice. Following this revievs, the
Remuneration Committee has made chianges to the
Remuneration Policy to ensure that it is appropriate for
the next thiee years, so that it complies with the 2018
UK Corporate Governance Code and effectively
supports the delivery of the business strategy, is aligned
with its culture and values, adequately rewards strong
performance snd suitsbly aligns reward with the
creation of shareholder value.

The details of the proposed new Rernuneration
Policy are set cut on pages 107 to 121. In summary,
the changes planned for the new Remuneration
Policy as compared to the existing Remureration
Policy approved at the 2020 AGM aie as foilows:

Pensian provision: new executive directors wilt
receive pension contributions st levels aligned with the
wider workforce in the Company. The Company will
continue tc honour its contractual obligations to
incurnbent executive directors which recognises that
there is a legacy positior with base salary and pension
contributions at levels which enisure an appropriate and
baianced total ievel of fixed pay;

Corporate Governance Accounts

Increase in annual bonus deferral: executive
directors will be required to hold 25% of any annual
bonus earned in shares in thie Cormpany for & pericd of
twe years, this requirement previously being 20%:

LTIP holding period: 5ii executive directors will be
required to hold any shares vesting frorn LTIP awards
granted after adoption of the new Rernurieration Policy
for a pericd of two years, previously this requirement
excluded any executive director who already heid
shares with a value greater than 300% of base salary;

Increase in shareholding guidelines: ali new
executive directors will be required tc build and hold

a sharehoiding in the Company of 200% of base salary,
currently the requirement is 150% of base salary for
existing executive directors otrer than the Chief
Executive where the requirernent is already at 200%;

Increase in post cessation shareholding period: ior
new xecutive directors there will be a requirermernit to
hold their shares in the Company (up to a maximurm of
the shareholding guidelines) for two years after leaving
the employment of the Company: the incurribent
executive director requirement will remain at one year
after leaving employment;

Extension of malus and clawback provisions: trie
existing maius and clawback provisions are extended
to align with atest best practice and corporate
governance guidelines.

Remuneration in context

The last year has remained very challenging with the
evolution of globai supply chain issues associated with
the Covid-19 pandemic transitioning to 3 cost of living
crisis with high levels of cost inflation. In this context,
the Remuneration Cornmittee has considered the
experiences of key stakeholders over the year, as well
as overall Group performance, when making executive
remuneration decisions in respect of 2022/23 and the
forthcoming financial year. Below is a surmmary of the
key drivers of our decisions:
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Group performance

« Revenue increased by 18.2% to £317.6m.

« Adjusted profit before tax of £43.5m, an increase
of 13.3% on the prior year.

» Netcash at bank* at year end of £52.9m.

Shareholder experience

< Aninterir dividend of 2.5p per share paid in
Qctaber 2022 and a proposed firal dividend for the
2022/23 financial year of 10.6p.

= The share price at the end of the financial year of
£5.24 was c.6% higher than at the start of the year.

Employee experience
« The Group paid bonuses for the 2021/22 financiai
ear 0 employees based on strong individual
performance.

« The Group increased salaries for the workforce in
Aprit 2022 by an average of 3% and made specific
cost of living payments to the majority of the
workforce in August 2022 and January 2023.

» Flexible working arrangements coritinued in
2022/23 to support employees, with particuiar focus
on mental wellbeing.

Customer experience

« Strong support provided to the Group’s customers
notwithstanding the volatile market backdrop and
global supply chain issues.

Pay for performance in 2022/23

The Remuneration Committee remiains cornrmnitted
to a responsible approach 1o executive pay and
believes that variadle pay shculd only be earmed
for achievement against stretching targets.

Achievement against annual bonus targets — bonus
to be paid for strong performance

The executive directors were set a stretching target for
profit before tax ("PBT"), which accounts for 80% of
oonus opportunity for each executive director. The PBT
target range of £40m to £47m reflected the ambitions
for growth of the business set against challenging
external conditions, including the ongoing cost of living

crisis and worldwide supply chain challenges. By
rneeting and overcorning these external challenges, the
executive directors delivered strong growth in revenue
and achieved adjusted PBT* of £E43.5m. In assessing
bonuses 1o be awarded, the Remuneration Cornmittee
decided to adjust the profit outturn in the year for
c.£1.5m of adjusting items, primarily two exceptional
and unbudgeted cost of living allowances paid to the
vast majority of employees durinig the year; this was
wholly consistent with how wider workforce bonuses
were assessed. The Remuneration Committee
concluded that the executive directors wiill receive 75%
of the PBT portion of the bonus. The executive directors
did not receive either of the cost of living payments.

Each of the executive directors was also set stretching
individual strategic objectives tailored to their role and
responsibilities, which account for 20% of bonus
opportunity for each director. The Remuneration
Commiittee reviewed each of the directors’ strategic
objectives in turn, to fully understand the extent 1o
which each strategic objective had been achieved. The
Remuneration Cecmmittee was satisfied that strong
progress had been achieved by each of the executive
directors towards their strategic objectives and agreed
to sward 75% of the maximurn of 20% available for this
part of the bonus to each of the directors. resulting in
total bonus of 93.75% of basic salary for each director.

Further details of bonus awards can be found on pages
94 and 95.

—2020LTIP

Achil gainst LTIP targ
awards vest at 71.1%

The 2020 LTIP used the performance retrics of
cumuiative Earnings Per Share ('EPS’) and Total
Sharenolder Return ("TSR’) to assess the long-term
performance of the executive directors, with 50% of the
LTIP assessed on EPS and the balancing 50% assessed
on TSR, The cumulative EPS over the three years ended
29 January 2023 was 76.4p, which compared 1o the
EPS target range set in November 2020 of 65.0p to
75.0p. As a result, subject to the LTIP rules the EPS
elernent of the LTIP will vest ir full in November 2023,

In respect of TSR, the Company delivered a TSR over
the assessed period which was above the median
performance but below the upper quartile perfermance
of the agreed peer set of companies in the FTSE 250.
As a result, subject to the LTIP rules the TSR element of
the LTIP will vest at 42.2%. Trerefore, overail 71.1% of
the LTIP award wilt vest on the three year anniversary of
the award in November 2023, Further details can be
found on page 96.

The Committee has reviewed the outcomes arising
frorn the application of the Rernuneration Policy during
the year and considers these outcoies to be fair and
appropriate. In particular, the Commiittee considerad
the impact of any windfsll gairis over the vesting period.
However as the grant was deferred untit Novemiber
2020 by which time share prices nad stabilised
following the initial volatility caused by the start of the
pandernic, the Commitiee determined that there is no
evidence of any significant gain tc account for when
the award vests. The Commiittee is confident that the
Remuneration Policy has operated as intended during
the year.

Other pay decisions in respect of 2022/23
Set out betow are the other decisions made during the
year in respect of remuneration.

Base salary increases — in line with wider workforce
The Remuneration Committes reviewed executive
director salaries during the year and awarded increases
of 3% in line with the increases awarded to the wider
workforce.

Bonus awards - pay out at 125% for 2021/22

The Committee confirmed in March 2022 that the
bonuses payaole in respect to the 2021/22 financial
year were a full award at 125% of base salary. As & result,
bonuses totalling £1.3m were paid to the executive
directors in April 2022.



LTIP awards ~ awards granted using three
performance metrics of EPS, TSR and ESG

The Committee concluded that it was appropriate to
grant LTIP awards in April 2022 at a value equal to 150%
of base salary, consistent with the normal maximum
opportunity under the Remuneration Policy. These LTIP
awards will be assessed over the three year vesting
period using the performance metrics of EPS, TSR and
ESG with relative proportions of 60%, 30% and 10%.

Employee engagement

The Remuneration Committee recognises the
importance of culture and effective employee
engagement in the creation of a good workplace. The
Board's role is to ensure that effective processes and
procedures are in place for gathering workforce views
and engaging in meaningful dialogue with employees.
The Board receives regular updates on workforce
engagement throughout the year; the topic regarding
how executive directors’ remuneration aligns with wider
Company pay policy is included as a specific discussion
item at workforce engagement sessions at least once
per annum. Further information on employee
engagement is included in the Corporate Governance
Report on pages 78 and 79.

of

Looking forward — i
Remuneration Policy for 2023/24

Set out below are the decisions anticipated to be
made during 2023/24 in implementing the
Remuneration Policy.

Base salary - increase set lower than the average
for the wider workforce

Set at a level lower than the average of salary increases
across the workforce, and to reflect the commitment
and effort of our executive directors, an increase of
4.35% will be made to the executive directors’ base
salaries with effect from 1 April 2023. An increase of
4.00% will be made to the Chair’s fee and the other
non-executive directors’ basic fee with effect from

1 April 2023.

Strategic Report

Annual bonus - to be operated in line with
Remuneration Policy

The Remuneration Committee intends to operate the
bonus scheme for the year ending 28 January 2024

in line with the Remuneration Policy, with maximum
awards at 125% and continuing to be subject to a
combination of PBT and individuat strategic objectives.

Details of bonus award levels and performance
measure weightings are provided on page 95.
Performance targets for these bonus awards will be
disclosed in the Annual Report on Remuneration for
the year ending 28 January 2024.

LTIP - awards at normal level of opportunity with

gets based on EPS, TSR and ESG
measures
In line with the Remuneration Policy. the Remuneration
Committee intends to grant LTIP awards at the normal
maximum opportunity of 150% of base salary in April
this year. These LTIP awards will be assessed
cumulatively over the following three years based on
stretching targets set across three performance
measures: EPS, TSR and ESG.

EPS is a key performance indicator for the Company
and shareholders, and remains a highly credible
measure of long term performance. Significant
uncertainty for UK focused consumer goods
businesses remains, therefore setting a three-year
forward looking cumulative EPS target is challenging.
Howevar, the Remuneration Committee is confident
that the target range selected is appropriately stretching
and will help the Group drive growth in shareholder
earnincs. The EPS targets have been set specifically

not taking into account the future impact of the
introduction of the Deposit Return Scheme ("DRS’)

in Scotland from August 2023. The overall impact

of the DRS is very challenging to assess with acceptable
accuracy at this early stage. The Remuneration
Committee has resolved to monitor the impact of the
DRS pest its implementation with the expectation that
the EPS targets set in 2023 will be adjusted during the
vesting period to enable the DRS impact to be included
in the targets prior to the vesting date.

Corporate Governance Accounts

TSR is a relative performance measure which creates
strong alignment between the executive directors and
shareholders. As for the LTIP awards granted in 2022,
the TSR performance of the Company will be
compared over the three years to the TSR of the FTSE
250 index (excluding financial services).

The Remuneration Committee believes that
environmental sustainability is important to the long
term success of the business and the executive directors’
remuneration should be related to their performance in
this area. Consistent with the LTIP awards granted in
2022, the ESG performance of the Company will feature
as a performance metric for the 2023 LTIPs based on
environmental sustainability targets.

Details of the 2023 LTIP awards are provided on page
98. Details of the perforrance targets set for the 2023
LTIP awards will be disclosed in the Annual Report on
Remuneration for the year ending 28 January 2024.

| look forward to your support at the upcoming AGM.

David J. Ritchie
Chair of the Remuneration Committee
28 March 2023

* kems marked with an asterisk are non-GAAP measures.
Definitions and relevant reconcitiations are provided in the Glossary
on pages 199 to 204.
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A | reporton
Tie following parts of the Remuneraticn Report are subject to audit, other than the elemients explaining the application of the Remuneration Policy for 2023/24,

Single figure table — audited information
The aggregate remuneration provided to directors who have served as directors in the year ended 29 January 2023 is set cut below, along with the aggregate remunsration
provided to such directors for the yeasr ended 30 January 2022,

Jon23  Jan22 Jan23 Jan 22 Jan23Total  Jan22Total  Jan 23 Total  Jan 22 Total Jan 23 Jan 22
Salary/ Salary/ Jan23 Jan22 Jan23 Jan22 Llongterm longterm Jen23  Jan22 fixed tixea variable variaple Total Totat
fees fees Benefits Benefits Bonus Bonus incentives incentives Pensior Pension i i i i tion remuneration
Director £000  EO00  £000  £000 €000  EGOU £000 £000  E000  E000 £000 £000 £000 £000 E000 £000
Executive
R.A. White 503 487 41 38 462 599 506 - 269 167 813 693 968 599 1,781 1.292
S. Lorirner 340 335 18 12 318 412 348 - 77 58 435 421 666 412 1,101 833
J.D. Kemp 254 251 19 23 242 314 265 - 57 42 330 316 507 314 837 630
Non-executive
J.R. Nicolson* 25 147 - - - - - - - - 25 147 - - 25 147
M. Allen** 142 29 - - - - - - - - 142 29 - - 142 29
W.R.G. Barr 51 50 - - - - - - - - 51 50 - - 51 50
SV. Barratt 53 52 - - - - - - - - 53 52 - - 53 52
ZL. Howorth*** 48 29 - - - - - - - - 418 29 - - 48 2%
P, Powell*** - 21 - - - - - - - - - 21 - - - 21
D.J. Ritchie 59 58 - - - - - - - - 59 58 - - 59 58
N.B.E. Wharton 59 58 - - - - - - - - 59 58 - - 59 58
Total 1,534 1517 78 30 1,022 1,325 1,119 - 403 277 2,015 1,874 2,141 1,325 4,156 3,199

J.R. Nicoison resigned frorn the Board on 31 March 2022. The reriunel ation above was paic in respect of ris services until that date.
M. Allen was appointed te the Board or 1 July 2021 and became Chair on 31 March 2022. The remuneration: above was paid in respect of his services on the Board for the year to January 2022 and to 31 March
2022, and as Chair from 31 March 2022 o 25 January 2023.

" Z.L. Howorth was appointed to the Board on 1.July 2021. The remuneration above was paid in respect of her services from that date.

©. Poweii resigned frorn the Beard ors 1 Juiy 2021. The above remuneration was paid in respect of her services until that date.
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The figures in the singie figure table on the previous page are derived from the foliowing:

(a) Salary and fees The amount of salary/fees received in the year. A salary sacrifice arrangernent is operated by the Comparty. Employees who join this arrangement no
longer pay contributions tc the pension scherne but receive a lower tazable salary. Directors’ salaries are shown gross of any salary sacrifice pension
contributioris.

(b) Benefits The value of benefits received in the year. These include car allowance, fuel berefit, private medical insurance, healthcare cash plan, fiex-cash, the
value of SAYE options vesting in the year, and AESOP free and matching shares awarded in the year.

SAYE: option shares are valued at the rnarket price of the option shares at thie date of vesting less the option exercise price.
AESOP: free and matching shares are valued at market value at the date of award.

Detsils of the executive directors’ interests in the SAYE sre set out on page 106.

{c) Bonus . A description of the arinual bonus in respect of the year and Group and personal performance against which the bonus pay-out was determined is
provided cn pages 94 and 95.

(d) Long term incentives The value of LTIP swards that vest in respect of the year.

Details of the executive directors’ interests in the LTIP are set out on page 106.

{e) Pension The pension figure includes:

« perision cash alternatives equal to the executive directors’ contractual pension provision; and
« forindiviguals in the 2008 Scheme's defined benefit section, the additiona vaiue accrued in the year calculated using the HMRC method {using
a multiplier of 20).

Further detalls of pension benefits are set out on pages 88 and $9.

of ation

Base salary and fees
Base salaries for individus! executive directors for the year ended 29 January 2023 snd for the following year are set cut in the tabie below

Base satary for year ended Base salary for year

29 January 2023 ending 28 January 2024
Executive director £000 . Increase %
R.A. White 493 512 4.35%
S. Lorimer 339 352 4.35%

J.0. Kemp 258 269 4.35%
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Details of non-executive directors' fees for the year ended 29 January 2023 and for the following year are set out in the table below:

Year ended Year ending

29 January 2023 28 January 2024
Non-executive director fee . £000 £000 Increase %
Chair of the Company* 158 165 4.00%
Basic fee 51 53 4.00%
Additional fee for chairing Audit and Risk Committee 8 8 -%
Additional fee for chairing Remunieration Cornmittes 8 8 -%
Additional fee for chairing ESG committee - 2 -%

Agditional fee for Senior Independent Director 2 2

A market review of the Chair's fees oGk place as part of the recruitment process for a new Chair of the Company, with the result that M. Allen’s fees as Chair were £160k from 31 March 2022 when he
succeeded J.R. Nicolson as Chair.

e g in g
infor
The benefits figiure for each ot the executive directors is detsiled as follows.

Year ended 29 January 2023

Car and fuel benefit Other* AESOP awards Total
Executive director £000 E0QD £EQ0Q £000
R.A. White 39 1 1 41
S. Lorimer 16 1 1 18
J.D. Keinp 17 1 1 19
Total 72 3 3 78

Other costs included private medical insurance, heaithcare cash plan ana flex-cash as they are below E1,000 separately
The value of the AESOP awards is the surn of the AESOP free and matching shares swarded 1o the directors in the year.

Annual bonus

The maximum annual bonus award opportunity for each executive director in respect of the year ended 29 January 2023 was 125% of salary, with 80% of the bornus assessed
against the achievement of adjusted Group profit before tax, compared against a set of profit targets and 20% based on strategic objectives. In assessing boriuses to be
awarded, the Remuneration Committee decided to adjust the profit outturn in the year for ¢.£1.5m of adjusting items, primarily two exceptional and unbudgeted cost of

living allowances paid to the vast majority of employees during the vear; this was whoily consistert with how wider workforce bonuses were assessed. The executive directors
earnied a total of £1.0G2m as annual bonus for the year, representing 93.75% of R.A. White's salary, 93.75% of S. Lorimier's salary and 93.75% of J.D. Kemp's salary. 20% of the
benus wilt be deferred into shares for two years and subject to malus and clawback provisions, as set out in the current Rernuneration Policy.

The target for the annual bonus based on profit before tax and performance against that target is set out in the table below. 50% of this element of the bonus could be earned
for on-target performance with zero paid for threshold performance and a broadly linear scale through to full payrnent of this element of the tonus for performance at or
above the maximuimn target.
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Weighting as Actual outcome as

Threshotd Maximum Actuat percentage of total percentage of total

target On target target performance bonus opportunity bonus opportunity

Adjusted profit before tax £40.0m E43.0m £47.0m £45.0m 80% 60%

Strategic objectives for the year ended 29 January 2023 account for 20% of the bonus and targets were set around the Company's key areas of strateqic focus at the start of
the financial year. Details of the strategic objectives for the year ended 29 January 2023 and the Committee’s determination of performance aqgainst them is set out in the
table below.

The Remuneration Committee debated each of the directors’ stralegic objectives in turn, having an in-depth discussion on an objective by objective basis to fully understand
the extent to which each strategic objective had been achieved ard which elements of any objeciives remained cutstanding. The Remuneration Committee then attributed

sn individual score 1o each objective. Given the comimercial sensitivity surrounding the objectives these individuat scores have not beern disciosed. The cumulative totals are

set out below with 3 summary of the objectives set.

Measure Weighting Pay-out
R.A. White ] 20% 15%
Develop and deliver the DRS readiness plan

Deliver an objective related to the support of key growth drivers across the Group

Deliver an objective related to Group ESG initiatives

Deliver an objective related to enhancing shareholder value
S.Lorimer 20% 15%

Deliver an objective related to the internal performance reporting snd management process

Deliver ar: objective related to the Group structure

Deliver an objective related to the impact of technclogy on the Group

Deliver a supply chain exceilence objective
J.D. Kemp 20% 15%
Deliver a trading plan growth objective

Develop a plan related to the impulse chaninel

Deliver ari objective related to digital strateqy

Deliver an objective related to the cornmercial organisation

Annual bonus for 2023/24

For the 2023/24 financial year 8(% of bonus potential will be assessed against growth in adjusted Group profit before tax, which is an important indicator of the success

of the Company's strategy. Performance targets will be set at chalienging levels, with 50% of this element of the annual bonus being earned for on-target performance.

The remainder of the annual borus (20% of bonus potential) will be assessed against individual strategic objectives to align the reward structure with key strateqic priorities
and to encourage behaviours which facilitate profitable growth and the future development of the business. The actual performance targets are not disclosed as they are
considered to be cornmercially sensitive at this time and should therefore remain confidential to the Company. The Remuneration Comnittee will continue to disclose how
the borus earned relates to performance against the targets on a retrospective basis meaning this information will be disclosed in the Annual Report on Remuneratior for
the year ending 28 January 2024.
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Long termi ives — ited infor
Awards vesting in respect of the financial period
LTIP awards granted in November 2020 were subject to the following EPS and TSR performance mesasures:

Actual vesting

% cf maximum  Threshold vesting at 20%  Maximum vesting at 100% Actual cumulative (as a % of maximum for
opportunity of the maximum award of the maximum award EPS for period each measure)

Cumulative EPS for the period including 2020721, 2021/22
and 2022/23 50% 65.0p 75.0p 76.43p 50.0%
TSR* for the period including 2020/21, 2021/22 and 2022/23 50% Median Upper quartile - 21.1%

Ranked TSR performance measured against the constituents of the FTSE 250 index (excluding investment trusts and tinarcial services companies)
The salary used in the calculation of the award is the individual director’s salary at 1 October 2020.
Details of LTIP awards vesting in respect of the financial period are set out beiow:

Year ended 29 January 2023

Total shares Vesting (% of maximum Shares avsarded* Share price** LTIP vaive
Executive director Number opportunity) % Numboer E EQ00
R.A. White 133.899 71.1% 99.802 5.07 506
S. Lorimer 92,174 A% 68.702 5.07 348
J.0.Kemp 70.219 711% 52,338 5.07 265
Total ) 296,292 220,842 1,119

Shares vesting under the LTIP for the year ended 2% January 2023 include dividend equivalents from the award date for each director.

The long term incentives figure for the year ended 29 January 2023 has been valued using the average closing share price for the three moniths ended 29 January
2023 as an estirnate of the value of the incentive, as the actual value of the award will not be finalised until the closing share price is knowr when the incentive vests
in November 2023.

An estimate of the amount of LTIP awarded in November 2020 attributable to share price agpreciation is set out below:

Share price appreciaticn
Executive director £000

R.A. White 157
S. Lorimer 08
J.D. Kemp 32

Total ’ 347
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g during the fi ial period
During the year ended 29 January 2023 the following LTI® awards were granted equating to 150% of salary:

% of award Performance period

Market value at grant vesling at threshold Years

Executive director Type of award Number of shares Share price at grant £000 %* {ends 26 January 2025)
R.A. White - LTIP award - nil cost option 138,287 537p 743 20.0 3
S. Lorimer LTIP award - nil cost option 85187 537p 511 20.0 3
J.0. Kemp LTIP award ~ nil cost option 72512 537 389 200 3

Thie share price at grant is the five-day average of the middle-market ciosing share prices praceding the date of grant rounded down.
The salary used in the calculstion of the award is the individual director’s salary at 1 April 2022.

Vesting of the LTIP awards granted in the year ended 29 January 2023 wili be based 50% on a cumutative EPS performance rmeasure, 30% on a refative Total Sharehoider
Return ('TSR") performance measure and 10% on an Environmental Sustainabitity performance measure, &s set out below:

(i) EPS performance measure (60% of LTIP award):

Threshold vesting at 20%  Maximum vesting at 100%
% linked to award of the maximum award of the maximurn award

Cumulative EPS for the period including 2022/23, 2023/24 and 2024/25 60% 86.5p 95.7p

There is straight-line vesting between these points and no reward below threshold EPS performance.
(i) Ranked TSR performarnce measured against the constituents of the FTSE 250 index {excluding investment trusts and financial services companies) (30% of LTI® award):

Threshold vesting at 20%  Maximum vesting at 100%
% linked to award of the maximum award of the maximum award

TSR for the period including 2022/23, 2023/24 and 2024/25 30% Median Upper quartile

Thereis straight-line vesting between these points and no reward below threshold TSR performance.
{ii) Environmenital Sustsinability performance measure {10% of LTIP award):

Threshold vesting at 20%  Maximum vesting at 100%
% linked to award af the maximum avsard of the mavimum award

Science Based Target (carbon tonnes) for the period including 2022/22, 2023/24 and 2024/25 10% 4715 4,194

There is straight-line vesting between these points and nc reward if the threshold Science Based Target is not met.
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Long term incentives for 2023/24

LTIP swards granted in 2023 wil be granted with a maxirnum opportunity of 150% of basic salary for the executive directors. These LTIP awards will be based 60% on
a curnulative EPS perforrmance measure, 30% on 3 relative TSR performance messure and 10% o an Envirorirnentai Sustainability perforrmance meassure for 2023/24,
2024/25 snd 2025/26.

EPS is a key performance indicator for the Company and sharehclders, and remains s highly credible measure of long term performance.,

TSRis a relative performance measure which creates strong alignment between the executive directors and shareholders. The TSR performance of the Cornpany will be
compared over the three years to the TSR of the FTSE 250 index (excluding financial services). 20% of the rnaximurn award will vest for achieving threshold performance and
100% of the maximum award will vest for achieving maximum performance. There will be straight-line vesting between the points and no vesting below threshold performance.

The Environmerital Sustainability performance measure for the LTIP awards granted in 2023 will be based around the Group's No Time To Waste environmerital sustainability
programme.

The EPS targets are considered comrmnercislly sensitive at this time on the basis that they give competitors insight into the Company's longer term forecasts which the Board
considers confidential. The EPS targets will be disclosed in next year's Annual Report on Remuneration. Significant uncertainty for UK focused consumer group businesses
remains, therefore setting a three year forward looking cumutative EPS target is chalienging. However, the Rernuneration Cormmittee is confident that the target range
selected is appropriately stretching and will help the Group drive growth in shareholder earnings. The EPS targets have been set specifically not taking into account the future
impact of the introduction of the Deposit Return Scheme ("DRS’) in Scotland from August 2023. The overall impact of the DRS is very challenging to assess with acceptable
accuracy at this early stage. The Remuneraticn Committee has resolved to monitor the impact of the DRS post its irnplementation with the expectation that the EPS targets
setin 2023 will be adjusted during the vesting period to enable the DRS impact to be included in the targets prior to the vesting date.

Total pensi itl — audited inf i

Executive directors are all members of the A.G. BARR p.l.c. (2008} Pension and Life Assurance Scheme {the 2008 Scheme’) or the A.G. Barr Retirement Plan. The 2008
Scheme has a defined benetit section and a defined contribution section. The defined benefit section was closed to new entranits from 14 August 2003 and o future accrual
from 1 May 2016. All sssets held in the defined contribution section of the 2008 Scheme were transferred to the A.G. Barr Retirement Plan in Septernber 2021. R.A. White is a
deferred member of the defined benefit section of the 2008 Scheme and ceased his accrual on 5 April 2011,

The movement in value of executive director gensions {which exclude any pension contributions made in respect of an individual under the Company’s salary sacirifice
arrangement) are detailed in the foliowing tabile. This movernent is made up of Company perision contributions. changes in the vaiue of defined benefit pensicn scheme

accrual and pension cash equivaients:

Year ended 29 January 2023

Defined benefit accrual Pension cash equivalent Total
Executive director £000 £000 £000
R.A. White 157 112 269
S. Lorimer - 77 t 77
J.D. Kemp - 57 57
Total 157 246 403
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Details of the entitlement accruing to the director who is a deferred member of the defined benefit section are detailed in the table below:

Accrued persion at

29 January 2023
; £000  Normal retirement age
R.A. White 92 63"

The normal retirement age specified in the 2008 Scherne 1uies for R.A. White is age 63, however he is also entitled under the 2008 Scheme rules to retire at age 60 without ar actuarial reduction 1o his
pension benelils snd withoul any conseni required.

Early retirernent can be taken at age 55 subject to Trustee consent. The accrued pension would be reduced relative tc age 60 to take account of its early paymerit.

R.A. White ceased his accrual under the defined benefit plan on 5 Aprit 2011. Under the terms of his service contract. R.A. White is entitled to revaluation of his deferred
beriefits in line witih RPI until his normal retirement date. The rules of the 2008 Scheme provide for revaluation increases in deferment in line with CPI. R.A. Wite elected for |
Fixed Protection 2012 to protect his benefits accrued under the 2008 Scheme. To enable R.A. White to centinue to benefit fror Fixed Protection 2012, his deferred periefits
were re-valued in line with CPl arid, 1o the extent that RPI exceeds CPl in any year. 3 corresponding additionist contibution is paid to R.A. White in cash. In addition, R.A. White
will continue to be entitled to receive life assurance benefits as if he were in pensionable service under the 2008 Schieme until his normal retirement date notwithstanding the
termination of his employment with the Company. but oniy in circumstances where he is 5 "good leaver”.

Dependants of the executive directors are eligible for dependants’ pensions and the payment of a lump surn in the event of death in service. Where the 2008 Scheme
provides a pension on a defined benefit basis, final pensionable salary is used to determine the director’s pension entitlernent. Where benefits are provided on a defined
contribution basis, the beriefits depend on the director's accurnulated fund. Lump sum iife assurance cover is provided at five or eight times pensionable salary dependent
upon the date of joining the 2008 Scheme,

No contributions were paid to the defined contribution section of the 2008 Scheme or the A.G. Barr Retirement Pian during the years ended 29 January 2023 or 30 January 2022.

All directors have elected to receive Company pension contributicns in the form of a cash allowarce. R.A. White, S. Lorimer and J.D. Kemp receive 3 cash allowance equsal to
their contractual pension provision of 24% of salary.

Pay to past di s — audited infor

There were no payments made to past directors during the year ir respect of services provided to the Company as a director.

Payments for loss of office — audited information
No payments for loss of office were miade during the year.

Statement of directors’ shareholding and share i sts — audited infor i

The Rermuneration Commiitiee updated its share ownership guidelines applicable from 2020/21 and the CEO and other executive directors are required 1o build & shareholding
equal te 200% and 150% of gross basic salary respectively. Until this guideline is met, executive directors are required o retain all vested shares from the LTIP and half of any
bonus pay-out after tax to purchase shares in the Company. The full policy is disclosed in the Rernuneration Palicy approved by shareholders at the 2020 AGM.

For the purposes of assessing the extent to which the share ownership guidelines have been rnet by the executive directors, the following shares are included: wholly owned
shares (including those owned Ly a director’s spouse), LTIP shares that are in the holding period, and unvested deferred bonus shares provided there are o further performance
conditions. At the year end, R.A. White and J.D. Kerrip met the respective 200% and 150% of gross basic salary requirement applicable for the year ended 29 January 2023,
with shareholdings equal to 411% and 328% of gross basic salary as at 28 January 2023 respectively. S. Lorimer was appcinted to the Board on 5 January 2015 and is currently
required to build up & shareholding equal 1o 150% of his gross hasic salary. S. Lorimer’s shareholding was equal to 111% of gross dasic salary as 6t 28 January 2023. I accordance
with the Remuneration Policy, S. Lorimer is required tc retain aii net shares (after tax) acquired from the exercise of LTIP awards and half of his net bonus pay-out {after tax) ©
purchase shares in the Company; the latter requirement will be net f the 20% of S Lorimer's bonus which will be deferred into shares for two years referred to above.
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The interests of each executive director of the Comparny as at 29 January 2023 {including those held by their connected persons) were as set out below. There were no
changes 1o these interests between 29 January 2023 and 27 March 2023 with the exception of the following changes: an increase in R.A. White's holding of 82 shares,
anincrease in S. Lorimer’s holding of 83 shares and an increase in J.O. Kemp's holding of 82 shares.

Unvested
Subject to Not subject to
Exercised Lapsed during performance performance Total as at
Director Type Owned outright during the year the year conditions conditicrs 29 January 2023
Executive
R.A. White Shares 376,426 - - - - 376,425
LTIP share options - - {72.685) 415,523 - 415,523
SAYE options - - - - 3,925 3,925
AESOP matching shares - 97) - - 786 786
S. Lorimer Shares 53,828 - - - - 63.828
LTIP share options - - (42,946) 286,024 286,024
ESQOS share options - - (2.222) - - -
SAYE options - - - - 3925 3925
AESOP matching shares - (97) - - 785 785
Shares — connected persons’ hotding* - - - - - 749,326
J.D. Kernp Shares 156,523 - - - - 156,523
LTIP share options - - {38.114) 217893 - 217,893
SAYE options - - - - 3.925 3,925
AESGP matching shares - {93) - - 785 785
Non-executive
WR.G. Barr Shares 7,516,226 - - - - 7.516,326
Shares — connected persons’ holding** - - - - - 9,460,507
D.J. Ritchie Shares 1.060 - - - - 1.000
N.B.E. Wharton Shares 1,597 - - - - 1.597
Z.L. Howorth Shares 5,631 - - - - 5.63L
M. Allen Shares 10,000 - - - - 10,000

<. Lerimer's connected persons’ shareholding includes shares related to his position as director of Robert Barr Ltd, the trustee of various ernployee benefit trusts.
W.B.G. Barr's connected persons’ shareholding includes shares related 10 his position as trustee of various tamily arid charitable trusts.
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The "Owned cutright” shares set out in the table above are the shares owned outright by the directors. These include any AESOP free shares awarded during the year and any
shares retained during the year following the exercise of LTIP awards and SAYE options.

The number of AESOP free shares awarded and share options exercised under the LTIP and SAYE in the year are included in the "Exercised during the year” column.

The table beiow shiows the directors’ total shareholdings split between those with anag without performance conditions. The non-executive directors’ sharehcidings above are
all shares with no performance conditions.

Shares - no performance Share options — Share options — no Total shares/ share
Executive director <ccnditions performance conditions performance conditions options
R.A. White 377.212 415,523 3925 796,660
S. Lorimer 64,613 286,024 3,925 354,562
1.D. Kemp 157,308 217892 3,925 379.126

There were no shares vested and unexercised as at 29 January 2023.
The foliowing sections of the Remuneration Report are not subject to audit.

Performance graph and table

The graph below shows the Company’s Total Shareholder Return " TSR’} performance against the FTSE 250 excluding investment trusts over the past ten years. In the opinion
of the Board, the FTSE 250 excluding investment trusts is the most appropriate index against which the TSR of the Company should be reasured because it represents a broad
equity market index of which the Cornpany is a constituent member and reflects the Company’s scale and cornplexity of operations.
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CEO remuneration for previous ten years
The table below shows details of the total remuneration, annual banus and LTIP paid out for R.A. White over the last ten financia! years:

Total remuneraticn? Annual bonus as a % of LTIP as a % of maximum

£000 maximum opportunity opportunity

Year ended 29 January 2023 1781 75.0% 711%
Year ended 30 January 2022 1,292 100.0% 0.0%
Year ended 24 January 2021 710 0.0% 0.0%
Year ended 25 January 2020 739 0.0% 0.0%
Year ended 26 January 2019 1434 91.0% 39.9%
Year ended 27 January 2018 1,279 78.0% 22.8%
Year ended 28 January 2017 915 23.0% 40.0%
Year ended 30 January 2016 839 0.0% 379%
Year ended 25 January 2015 1,075 75.5% 31.9%
Year ended 26 January 2014 989 57.8% 38.2%

Percentage change in director remuneration

The table below sets out, in refation tG salary, taxable beriefits (car allowance, fuel benefit) and anriual borius, the increase between the pay for the years ended 25 January
2020 through to the pay for the year ended 29 January 2023 for the executive and non-executive directors compared to the wider workforce. For these purpaoses, the wider
workforce includes all Group employees who were continuously employed by the Group during the four years ended 29 January 2023 but excludes executive and nori-
execulive directors,

Year ended 29 January 2023

Salary Benefits Annual bonus Salary Benefits Annual bonus Salary Benefits Annual bonus Salary Benefits

Jan23~ Jan 23 Jan 23 Jan 22 Jan 22 Jan22 Jan21 Jan 21 Jan 21 Jan 20 Jan 20 Annual bonus

£000 £000 £000 EQOO EQ00 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000  Jan 20 £000
R.A. White 3.3% 51% (22.9%) 8.0% 21.2% 100.0% {4.3%) (8.5%) % 1.8% % (100.0%)
S. Lorimer 1.5% % (22.8%) 18.5% (30.8%) 100.0% 0.8% 4.4% % 1.8% (67.9%) (100.0%)
J.0. Kernp 1.2% (17.4%) (22.9%) 6.5% (4.2%) 100.0% (4.4%) -% % 21% % (100.0%)
M. Allen 385.7% % % 100.0% % -% -% -% % % % -%
W.R.G. Barr 2.0% % % 6.8%4 -% -% (5.0%) % -% 2.1% % %
SV. Barratt 1.9% -% -% 74% -% -% (1.7%) % -% 21% % -%
Z.L.roworth 65.5% % % 100.0% % -% -% % % -% % %
D.J. Ritchie 1.7% -% -% 6.6% -% -% (5.0%) -% -% 1.8% -% -%
N.B.E. Wharton 1.7% -% -% 10.4% -% -% 6.7% -% -% 38.2% -% -%
Wider workforce** 3.0% % (32.8%) 1.8% -% 195% -% % 100.0% 2.0% -% (100.0%)

The annual percentage change in salary is calculated by reference to actual salary paid for the tirancial year ended 29 Janwary 2022 compared 1o financial year ended 33 January 2022.
Wider workforce salary changes are based on average % increase across the year. Bonuses are dased or movement in annual bonuses accrued.
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CEO Pay Ratio
The table below sets out the ratio of the A.G. BARR p.l.c. CEO single total figure of remuneration for 2022 {as detailed on page 92) as a ratio of the equivalent sinale figure for
the lower quartile, median and upper quartile UK employee (calcuated on a full-time equivalent basis).

Total pay ratio Method 25tn Percentile Median Percentile 75th Percentite
Year ended 29 January 2023 8 56:1 45:1 32:1
Year ended 30 January 2022 B8 42:1 3411 231
Year ended 24 January 2021 B 25:1 211 16:1
Year ended 25 January 2020 B 27:1 22:1 16:1

As is permitted by the leqisiation, and consistent with last year, we have calculated the ratio using Opticri B whereby representative employees are identified using the latest
A.G.BARR p.l.c. gender pay gap statistics as this was the rnost pragmatic approach and believed to produce represeritative results. A nurnber of employees around the 25th,
50th and 75th percentile were ideritified and their total pay and benefits calculated to ensure that the most representative emplovees were selected. Empicyee pay for the
representative ernployees was caslculated on the sarne basis as the CEO and so includes items such as shiort-term and long-term incentive payments relating to the firancial
year ending 29 January 2023. The calculations have assumed that a full-time equivalent week consists of 37.5 working hours.

The regulations require the total pay and henefits and the salary cecmponent of total pay and benefits to be set out as follows:

Base salary Total pay and benefits
CEO remuneration £503.000 £1.781.000
25th percentile employee £21,349 £31,748
Median percentile employee £32.008 £35.785
75th percentile employee £46,423 £56,521

A.G.BARR p.l.cs principles for pay setting and progressior: in our wider workforce are the same as for our executives - total reward being sufficiently competitive to attract
and retain high caiibre individuais without over-paying and providing the opportunity for individual developmient and career progression. The pay ratios refiect how rernuneration
arrangernents differ as accountability increases for rnore senior roles within the organisation and in particular the ratios reflect the weighting towards long-term value creation
and alignmenit with shareholder interests for the CEQ. We are satisfied that the rmedian pay ratic voluntarily reported this year is consistent with our wider pay, reward and
progression poticies for employees. The median reference ernployee has the opportunity for annual pay increases, annual performance payrents and career progression
and development opportunities.

Relative importance of spend on pay
Thie following table sets out the percentage change in dividends and the overall expenditure on pay (as a whole across the crganisation),

- Year ended 30 January Year ended 29 January
Percentage change 2022 £000 2023 £000 % change
Dividends 13.365 13.922 4.2%
Overall expenditure on pay 45,400 50,200 10.6%
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The Remuneration Committee
The foliowing directors were members of the.Reruneration Committee during the year: D.J. Ritchie (Chair), S.V. Barratt and Z.L. Howorth.

M. Allen, in his role as Chair, is invited to attend the Rernuneration Committee meetings on some occasions arid to provide quidance on behalf of the Board as required.
During the year, the Remuneration Committee received advice from R.A, White (CEQ) in respect of the remuneration of the other executive directors, who was not in
attendance when his own remuneration was being discussed. The Remuneration Committee received assistance from J.A. Barr (Company Secretary), who scts as secretary
to the Rernuneration Committee, and from other members of managernent, who may attend rmestings by invitation, except whan matters relating to their own remuneration
are being discussed.

The Remuneration Committee meets at least twice a year and is responsible for determining, within agreed terms of reterence, all aspects of the remuneration of the
executive directors, the Executive Committee and such other mermbers of senior management as it is designated to consider. The Remurieration Committes reviews the
remuneration trends, pay levels and employment conditions across the Group. The Remuneration Committee is alsc responsibiz for determining the rernuneration of thie
Chair of the Company.

The Remuneration Committee recognises the impaortance of culure and effective employee engagement in the creation of s good workplace. Workforce engagernent
sessions are held during the year, led by the Board's designated workforce engagement director. The topic regarding how executive directors’ remurieration aligns with wider
Company pay policy — in terms of governance, structure and quanturn — is included as a specific discussion iterm at workforce engagement sessions at least once per annurn;
during the year this topic was discussed at the workforce engagement session hield in November 2022. The Board receives regu.ar updates on workforce engagernent
throughout the year. Further information on employee enigagement is included in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 78 and 79.

The Remureration Committee carried out an externally facilitated review of its performance and effectiveness during the year. This review included a detailed and
comprehensive evaluation of the performance and effectiveness of the Remuneration Committee using written survey questiornaires, which were conipleted by members
of the Remunerstion Commiittee and the Company Secretary. The results of the evaluation were shared with the Remuneration Commiittee. Overall, the review found that the
Remuneration Committes was functioning in an effective manner and performing satisfactorily, with no major issues identified.

Key activities in the year

The Remuneration Comimittee met four times during the financial year. Key activities are shown below:

« Undertocok a review of the existing Rernurieration Policy at the required three-year point, assessed the appropriateness of the Pelicy and agreed to recomimend proposed

changes to the Policy to shareholders for approval at the 2023 AGM;

Consulted with major shareholders in relation to the propased changes to the Remurieration Policy and considered feedback received in response thereto;

+ Undertook a review of the xisting LTIP rules, assessed the appropriateness of the rules arid agreed to recommend updated LTIP rules to shareholders for approval at the
2023 AGM;

+ Consulied and engaged with relevant shareholders who were unable to support the resolution to approve the Directors’ Rerruneration Report put to sharehclders at the
2022 AGHM o understand their views;

» Reviewed rernuneration trends, pay levels and employment conditions across the Company;

« Reviewed and set annual salaries for the executive directors, divisional directors and Executive Committee consistent with the wider workforce:

«  Settargets for the annual bonus for the executive directors, divisional directors and the Executive Commiittee;

» Reviewed and approved the grant of LTIP awards to the executive directors and the divisional directors:

« Set targets for the LTIP for the executive directors and a divisional director;

- Considered performance measures for the LTIP awards to be granted in the following year;

« Reviewed and approved a proposal in principle to introduce LTIP awards for level 1 employees with effect from 2023;

« Reviewed and set annual fees for the Chair of the Company: .

« Reviewad achievement against targets set and determined the appropriate level of pay-out for the annual bonus for the exec Jtive directors, divisional directors and the
Executive Committee in the context of wider business performance;

. Reviewed achievement against targets set and determined the appropriate level of pay-out for the LTIP for the executive directors in the context of wider business
performance;
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= Received status updates on in-flight LTIP awards;

= Reviewed and recommmended the Directors’ Rernuneration Report for the year ended 30 January 2022 to the Board for approval;

« Reviewed the executive directors’ shareholdings against shareholding guidelines;

« Reviewed market and corporate governance updates to ensure the Remuneration Committee remained up to date on the quickly evolving governance landscape and
best practice;

« Reviewed the Remuneration Committee’s terms of reference: and

= Review the Remuneration Commitiee’s performance and effectiveness during the year.

The terms of reference of the Renmuneratiors Committee are avsiladle on the Company's website, www.agbarr.co.uk.

External adviser
Duririg the year, the Rernuneration Cornmittee was assisted in its work by the following external corisultants:

Fees paid by the Company for  Other services provided to the
advice to the Remuneration  Company in the year ended

Adviser o Details of appointment Services provided by the Adviser Committee and basis of charge 29 January 2023
PricewaterhouseCoopers  Appoirted by the Assistance with the review of the Directors’ Remuneration Policy  £57,000 Consulting services to
LLP (PWC) Rernuneraticri © Assistance with the review of the LTIP ruies. Charged on a retainer rnanagernent

Coramittee in January Assistance with the preparation of the Directors’ Rernurieratiorn and time/cost basis.

2022 following a Report.

competitive tender Atteridance at Remuneration Committee meetings.

Process. Advice on market practice developments in executive pay.

The Remuneration Committee is satisfied that ali advice received was objective and independent. PwC is 8 member of the Remuneration Consultarits Group and, as such,
voluntarily operate under the Code of Conduct in reiation to executive remuneration consulting in the UK,

Statement of voting at last AGM
Trie following table sets out actual voting in respect of the resolutions to approve the 2022/22 Annual Repcrt on Remuneration at the Company’s AGM on 27 May 2022
{2022 AGM} and the Remuneration Policy at the Cornpany’s AGM on 25 June 2020.

Resolution Votes tor % of vote Votes against % of vote Votes withheld
Approve Annuat Report on Remuneration 57.671.927 73.29% 21,017.122 26.71% 1,856
Approve Remuneration Poticy 64,446,604 91.20% 5,216,945 8.80% 2.039.440

As noted above, at the 2022 AGM the resciution 1o approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report was passed with 73.29% votes in favour. As stated in the announcement
published on the date of the 2022 AGH, the Board subsequently consulted and engaged with its largest shareholders who were unable 1© support the resclution to
understand their views. An update statement was published on 27 Septernber 2022, which noted that the primary concern raised by shareholiders related 1o the structure
and performance targets in relation to the 2021 long-terr incentive arrangerments — these were specific to the exceptional circurnstances caused by the Covid pandemic
and will not be repeated under normal circumstances. The Board is grateful to those shareholders who took part in the engagement process and values the feedback
provided. The Committee will cortinue to engage with its largest shareholders on executive directors’ remuneration going forward. This statement is provided in accordarnce
with Provision 4 ot the Code.
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Additional information
Executive directors’ interests in the LTIP

The individual interests of the executive directors under the LTIP are as follows:

At 30 January 2022 At 29 January 2023
LTIP director Date of award . Number Awarded Number Vested Number Lapsed Number Number Exercisable from
R.A. White 04 April 2019 72,686 - - (72.686) - 04 April 2022
02 November 2020 133,899 - - - 133,899 02 November 2023
12 April 2021 143.337 - - - 143,337 12 April 2024
11 April 2022 - 138,287 - - 138,287 11 April 2025
S. Lorimer 04 April 2019 42,946 - - (42,94€) - 04 April 2022
02 November 2020 92,174 - - - 92,174 02 November 2023
12 April 2021 98,663 - - - 98.663 12 April 2024
11 April 2022 - 95.187 - - 95.187 11 April 2025
J.D. Kemp 04 April 2019 38.114 - - {38.114) - 04 April 2022
02 November 2020 70.219 - - - 70,219 02 November 2023
12 April 2021 75,161 - - - 75.161 12 Aprit 2024
11 April 2022 - 72,513 - - 72.513 11 Aprit 2025

Executive directors’ interests in the Executive Share Option Scheme ('ESOS')
The individual interests of the executive directors under the ESOS are as follows:

At 30 January 2022

At 29 January 2023

ESOS director Date of award Number Awarded Number Vested Number Lapsed Number Number Exercisable from
S. Lorimer 04 April 2019 2,222 - - 2,222 - 04 April 2022
Executive directors’ interests in the SAYE
The individual interests of the executive directors under the SAYE scheme are as follows:

At 30 January 2022 At 29 January 2023 Option price
SAYE director Number Granted Number Exercised Number Lapsed Number Number Pence Exercisable from
R.A. White 3,925 - - - 3,925 469 01 July 2024
S. Lorimer 3,925 - - - 3.925 469 01 July 2024
J.D. Kemp 3,925 ~ - - 3.925 469 01 July 2024
Approval

This report was approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by

David J. Ritchie
Chair of the Remuneration Committee
28 March 2023
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Directors’ Remuneration Policy

This part of the report sets out the Company's Directors’ Remurneration Policy (the "Policy’) which will be put to a sharehoider vote at the 2023 AGM and, subject to shareholder
approval, will become effective for three years fromn the close of that meeting. The Policy for the executive directors has been determined by the Remurieration Commiittee.

Certsin minor changes have been made to the Policy to create better alignment with UK corporste governance best practice. This includes changes to the pension provision
for new executive directors in order to align contribution levets witn the wider workforce. Otherwise, the Policy rernains broadly the same as that approved by shareholders
at the 2020 AGM.

Key changes to existing Policy .
The table below highlights trhe key changes between the previcusly approved Remuneration Policy and thie Policy being presented at the 2023 AGM.

Element Proposed changes to current Palicy

Pension New executive directors joining the Cormpany from 1 January 2023 will receive pension allowances in ling with the contribution levels
availabie to the wider workforce.

Annual bonus Increase in existing two-year deferrai applied to any borus paid from 20% to 25%. This change in deferral will apply to bonuses paid in
respect of the 2023/24 financial year and beyond.
Extension of malus and ctawback triggers {see beiow).

Long-term incentive Plan (LTIP") Al LTIP awards granted after the 2023 AGM will be subject to a holding period of two years post vesting. Under the current Policy the post
vesting holding period of two years only applies where an individual's shareholding is below 300% of salary.
Extension of malus and clawback triggers (see below),

In-position shareholding for all new executive director appointments, the shareholding requirement will be set at 200% of salary (currently 150% of salary for
requirement executive directors, excluding the CEO where the 1equirernent is aircady 2060%).

Post-employment For all new executive director appointments, the past-employment shareholding requirement will be set at the lower of their sharehoiding
shareholding requirement attheir point of departure and their in-position shareholding requirement for & period of two years. Under the current Policy, the

requirement appiies for 3 period of one year.

Mslus and clawback Malus and ciawback triggers extended beyond the current misstatement and risconduct triggers to align with latest governance quidelines.
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Executive directors
The table below describes each of the elements of the remuneration package for the executive directors:

Element Purpose and link to strategy Cperation Maximum opportunity Performance measures
Base salary Core element of fixed remuneration,  Usually reviewed annually. Although there is no overall maximum, Not applicatle.
reflecting the size and scope of the salary increases are normally reviewed
rote. Salary levels are determined by the in the context of the salary increases
Remuneration Committee taking into across the wider Group.
Purpose is to recruit and retain account a range of factors including:
directors of the calibre required for « role, experience and individual The Remuneration Committee may
the Company. performance; award salary increases asove this level
« pay for other employees in the Group; 10 take account of individual
« prevailing market conditions; and circurnstances such as:
« external benchmarks for similar roles « increase in scope and respensibility;
at comparable companies. « increase to reflect the executive
director's development and
perforrance in the role; or
« alignment to rnarket level.
Benefits Ensures the overall package is Executive directors receive benefits i line Whilst the Remuneration Committee Not applicatle.
competitive. with market practice, which may inciude, for  has not set an absclute maximum on
exarnpte. a car allowance cr provisicn of a the levels of benefits executive
Purpose is 10 recruit anid retain company car, 3 biennial health check, private  directors receive, the value of the
directors of the calibre required medical insurance, life assurance and the benefitis at a level which the
tor the Cornpany. ability to "buy” or “sell” holidays under the Remuneration Cornmittee considers
Cornpany’s flexible benefits plan. appropriate against the market and
- provides a sufficient level of benefit
Cther benefits rnay be provided based on kased on individual circumstances.
individuai circumstances. These may inchude,
for example, relocation and travel allowances.
Annual bonus Rewards performance against annual  Awards based on performance against key -Maximum bonus opportunity is 125% Targets are set annually

targets which support the strategic
direction of the Group.

finaricial and/or swrategic targets and/or the
elivery of personal objectives.

Pay-out ievels are deterrnined by the
Rernuneration Committee after the year end
based on performance against those targets.

The Remuneration Committee has discretion
to amend the bonus pay-outif, in its
judgement, any forrmulaic output does rot
produce a fair resuit for either the executive
director or the Company, taking into account
overall business performance.

of base salary.

reflecting the Campany's
strategy and aligned with
key finan: strategic and/
or individual objectives.

Targets, whilst stretching,
do not encourage
inappropriate business
risks to be taken.
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Performance measures

Annual bonus
continued

25% of any bonus earned will be deferred into
shares for two years.

At any time before the deferred bonus shares

are released, the Remuneration Cornimittee

has the right to cancel the award if it has not

been exercised, or require repayrment of

some or ad of the award in the following

circumstances:

« discovery of a material misstatement;

« error, Or inaccurate or misteading
information;

+ action or conduct of a participant which
amounts to fraud or gross misconduct;

- regulatory censure or reputational
darnags;

« rnaterial failure of risk management; and

« corporate failure.

For up to two years following the
determination of a bonus pay-out, the
Remuneration Committee has the right to
recover some or all of the bonus pay-out

in the circumstances set out sbove. The
Rernuneration Cornmittee may make 3
dividend equivalent payment {"Dividend
Equivalents’) to refiect dividends that woutd
have been paid over the period from grant
to vesting on shares that vest. This payment
miay be in the form of additional shares

or & cash payment equal to the value of
those additional shares.

Atieast 80% of the bonus
is assessed against key
financial performance
metrics of the business and
the balarice rmay be based
on non-financial strategic
measures and/or individual
performance.

Financial metrics

There is rio minirmum
paymernt &t threshold
performance, up to 50%
of the maximum patential
for this elernent of the
bonus will be paid out for
on-target performarnce
and all of the maximum
potential will be paid out for
maximurn perforrnarice.

Non-financial or
individual metrics
Payment of the rion-
financial or individual
metrics will apply on a
scale betweer 0% and
100% based ori the
Remuneratiors Committee’s
assessmerit of the extent
to which & nieri-financial
or individual performance
metric has been met.
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Element Purpose and link to strategy Operation

Maximum opportunity

Performance measures

Long Term Incentivises executive directors over  Under the LTIP. awards of conditional shares
Incentive the longer term snd aligns their or nit cost share options May be rmade with
Plan (“LTIP") interests with those of shareholders.  vesting dependent on the achievement
of performance conditions set by the
Remuneration Committee, normally over
a three year performance period. Awards
granted over shares may be settled in cash at
the eiection of the Remuneration Committee.

As described on page 120, awards may
alsc vestin ‘good leaver” circumstances
or on the desth of 5 participant or on a
change of controi.

All awards rade under the LTIP will
be subject to a two year post-vesting
holding period.

For up to two years following the vesting date
- of an award, the Remuneration Committee
has the right 1o cancel the award if it has not
been exercised, or require repayrnent of
some or all of the award, in the following
circumstances:
« discovery of a material misstaterient;
« error, or inaccurate or misleading
infarmation:
« action or conduct of a participant which
arnounts to fraud or gross misconduct;
« reguiatory censure or reputational
damage;
« rnaterial failure of risk managemenit; snd
« corporate faiture.

The Remuneration Committee has the righit
to reduce or cancel unvested awards and/or
delay their vesting in the circumstances set
out above.

The norrnal maximum award is 150% of
annual base salary in respect of a
finaricial year. Under the LTIP rules the
overail maximum cpportunity that rmay
be granted in respect of a financial year
will be 200% of annual base salary. The
normal rnaxirurn award lirmit will only
ke exceeded in exceptional
circumstances such as the recruitment
or retention of a senior employee.

The vesting of awards is
subject to the satisfaction
of performance targets set
by the Remurieration
Committee.

The performance rneasures
are reviewed regularly to
ensure they remain relevant
but will be based ori key
financiat and/or strategic
and/for totai shareholder
return related measures.
The reievant metrics and
the respective weightings
may vary each year based
upon Company strategic
priorities.

Perfarmance messures
and weightings will be set
out in the Annuai Report
on Remuneration for the
relevant financial year,
typically including a split
of key financial and/or
strateqic and/or total
shareholder return related
measures.

for achievernent of
threshoid perfermarnce
20% of the maxirnum
opporturiity witl vest.

There will usually be
straight line vesting
between threshold and
maximum perforrnance.
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Performance measures

Long Term
Incentive
Plan (“LTtP"}
cortinued

The Remuneration Committee has discretion
to amend the level of LTIP vesting if, in its
judgement, any forrnulaic output does not
produce a fair result for either the executive
director o7 the Company. taking into account
overall business performance.

The Remuneration Committee may make

a dividena equivaient payment {"Cividend
Equivalents’) to refiect dividends that would
have beer paid over the period from grant

to vesting on shares that vest. This payiment
may be in the form of additional shares

or 3 cash payment egusl to the value of those
additional shares,

All employee
share
schemes

To encourage alt employees

to make a long-termn investrnent
inthe Company’s shares in a tax
efficient way.

Executive directors are eligible to participate  Participation limits are those set by the
in 3 HMRC tax-advantaged All-Ernployee UK tax authorities frorm tirne to time.
Savings Related Share Option Scheme

("SAYE"} under which they make monthly

savings over a period of three or five years

linked to the grant of an option over the

Company's shares with an option price which

can be at a discount to the market value of

shares on grant.

Executive directors are also eligible to
participate in 8 HMRC tax-advantaged
All-Ernplovee Share Ownership Plan
{"AESOP"). The executive directors may
participate in all sections of the AESOP.
being the partnership and matching
shares section, the free share section
and the dividend share section.

Not applicable.
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Element Purpose and link to strategy Operation Maximum opportunity Pertarmance measures

Retirement Purpose is to recruit and retain Executive directors are eligible to participate  For newly appointed executive Not applicable.
benefits directors of the calibre required for inthe A.G. Barr Retirement Plan. There is slso  directors joining after 1 Jsnuary 2023,
the Company. Provides market a closed A.G. BARR p.l.c. (2008) Pension and  pension contribution levels will be
competitive post-employment Life Assurance Scheime (the "Scheme’), which aligned to the level available 10 the
benefits {or cash allowance comprises a defined contribution sectiori and  wider workforce {currenily 8% of
equivatent). a defined benefit section. The defined benefit salary).
section was closed to new entrants from
14 August 2003 and to future accrual from Incumbent executive diractors will
1 May 2016. The defired contribution section  receive their current persion
was closed to new entrants and new contribution of 24% of salary.
contributions from 30 .June 2021 and all
sssets held in the defined contribution The Renmurieration Committee has
section were transferred 1o the A.G. Barr discretion tG vary the delivery
Retirement Plan in September 2021. mechanisim for retirernent benefits,
however the exercise of this discretion
Details of the entitlernent accruing to the will riot exceed the relevant lirmits

executive director who is a deferred member  above for the provision of executive
of the defined benefit section are set outin directors’ retirement benefits.
the tabte on page 98. The contributicns paid

to the A.G. Barr Retirernent Plan in respect Incumbent executive director R.A.

of the executive directors are disclosed on White ceased his accruat under the

page 98. defined benefit section on 5 Aprit 2011.
For R.A. White, the Company’'s

Executive directors may elect to take 3 maxirnurn contribution is 24% of sa

cash allowance instead of contributions plus any contractual ent tlernent in

into a pension plan. respect of a shortfall in his deferred

pension revaluation as a conseguence
of Fixed Protection 2012.

The Company has ciosed the defined
benefit section of the Scheme to new
members and future sccrual. The only
executive director who is a deferred
mermiber will continue to receive
benefits in accordance with the terms
of the Scherne, subject to separately
agreed contractual arrangements,
including the arrangement summarised
below:

n2
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Element Purpose and link to strategy Operation Maximum opportunity Performance measures
Retirement R.A. White will continue to be entitled
benefits to receive life assurance benefits as if
corntinued he were in pensionable service under

the Scheme until his normal retirement
date notwithstanding the termination
of his ernployrnent with the Cornpany,
but only in circurnstances where he

is a 'good leaver’, as set out in his
service contract.

The maximurn Company contribution
under the AG. Barr Retirernent Plan

in respect of the remaining executive
directors is 24% of salary. All executive
directors have now elected to receive
Company pension contributions in the
form of 3 cash allowance.

Shareholding Purpose is to further aligri the
guidelines executive directors’ long tarm

interests with those of shareholders.

During employment

The CEO and new executive directors must
retain all shares acquired under LTIP awards
and deferred bonus shares and retain half of
any bonus pay-out after tax (net of the
relevant dzferred bonus shares) 1o purchiase
shares in the Company until the value of their
shareholding is equal to 200% of gross basic
salary. Incumbent executive directors (othier '
than the CEO) must retain all shares scquired
under LTIP awards and deferred bonus shares
and retain haif of any bonus pay-out after tax
{net of the relevant deferred bonus shares)

to purchase shares in the Compariy until the
value of their shareholding is equal to 150%
of gross basic salary.

Net applicable.

Unitil the ralevant shareholding is acquired,
the executive director may riot. withiout
Remuneration Committee approval, sell
shares other than to finance any tax liabilities
arising from the vesting or relesse of awards.

Not applicatle.
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Element Purpose and link to strategy Ogeration Maximum opportunity Performance measures
Shareholding Post-employment

guidelines Newly appointed executive directors rmust

continued retain for two years post-emgloyment any

sharehoiding arising from shares awarded/
vesting from both the deferred borius and
LTIP. up to the above shareholding quidelines.

Incumbent executive directors must retair
for one year post-employment any
shareholding arising from shares awarded/
vesting frorm both the deferred bonus and
LTIP after 26 January 2020, up to the above
sharehoiding guidelines.

Chair and non-executive directors
The table below sets out an overview of the remuneration of non-executive directors:

Purpose and link to strategy Appreach of the Company

Fees are the soie element of remuneration provided Fees are narmally reviewed snnually.
to non-executive directors in relation to the fuifilment

of this role. Fees are set at 5 level that reflects market  The reimunerstion of the Chair is determined by the Reniuneration Committee. Fees are set at a leval which reflects
conditions and is sufficient to attract individuals with  the skill. knowledge and experience of the individual, whilst taking into account appropriate market positioning.

appropriate knowledge and expertise.

The Board is responsible for setting the fees of the other non-executive directors. Fees may include a basic fee and
additional fees for further responsibilities {for exampie, chairing of Boarc commiittees and senior independent
directorship). Fees are set taking into account several factors, including the size and complexity of the business,
appropriate market data and the expected time commitment and contribution for the role.

Non-executive directors, iri their capacity as nori-executive. do not participate in any of the Company’s share
schernes or bonus schemes Nor 4o they receive any pension contributions. Non-executive directors may be eligible
10 receive benefits such as the use of secretarial support, ravel costs {including any tax incurred on these costs) or
other benefits that may be appropriate.

Actual fee levels are disclosed in the Directors” Annual Remuneration report for the relevant financial year.
Where an employee (other than an executive director) of the Company sits on the Board in ari individual capacity,

the fee they receivé as s director shall be governed by this Remuneration Policy for non-executive director fees,
but the Remuneration Pclicy does not apply to the pay and benefits they receive as a result of their empioyment.
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The Rernuneration Committees approach to executive director Policy and practices is alianed to the Company's strategic objectives, shareholders’ interests and the factors

set out in Provision 40 of the 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code (the "Code”), with the aim of supporting the Company's strategy and promoting the lorig term sustainable

success of the business.

The table below describes how the Remuneration Committee has addressed each of the factors set outin Provision 40 of the Code.

Factor

How this has been addressed

Clarity and simplicity

The reward framework aims to ermbed transparency ang simplicity in the Policy and remunerstion practices. The
Rermuneration Committee consults with rmajor shareholders in advance of key proposed changes to executive
remuneration, for example when reviewing the Policy ahead of the 2023 AGM. Feedback from interrial stakehotders
and comiments from the proxy voting agencies were also sought. The Rernuneration Comimittee also engaged
with indegendent external advisers to rminimise the risk of any conflicts of interest. The Rermuneration Committee
strived to create a refreshied Policy which is clear and simple, aligned to Company culture, values and strategy and
demonstrates strong corporate governance. It wants participants to be able to understand tre Poiicy and have

a clear line of sight between their decisions and behaviours and the effect that these decisions wiil hiave on the
variable reward outcomes. Equally. it wants to ensure that reward for executive directors is straighitforward for both
shareholders and the wider workforce to understand.

The Cornpany engages directty with the wider workforce on their reruneration through a variety of methods.
including workforce engagement sessions, regular brieting sessions and the annual employee engagement survey.

Risk

The Remuneration Committee aims to ensure that there is an appropriate balance between risk and reward. The
remuneration framework includes various features designed to rnitigate reputational, behavicural ang other risks,
including:

- The Polizy encourages directors to continue (o take a long-terr view when making decisicrs by increasing the
level of share deferral for the annual bonus and applying a default holding period for vesting LTIP awards, increasing
the shareholding quideline for new executive directors, and extending the post-employment sharehoiding
requirement for new executive directors to ensure that their interests continue to be aligned to shareholders aiter
they have left the business for longer.

- The Policy contains extended malus and clawback provisions which the Remuneration Committee can use in
certain prescribed circumstances to recover amounts paid to directors or to cancel any unreleased share awards.
- The Remuneration Comrnitiee has broad discretion to override the formulaic outcomes of the variable rewards
10 ensure that payments to directors reflect the Company's performance in the round.

Predictability

The Policy sets out the potential award levels and vesting outcomes applicable to the annual bonus and long term
incentive arrangernents. Incentive awards are capped as a percentage of salary, which reduces the risk of any
unanticipated pay outcomes. As set out above, the Remuneration Committee may apply malus, clawback and
reasonabieness discretion where appropriate.

Proportionality

The Policy was benchmarked against market practice by independent external advisers. Performance conditions for
the annual bonus and long-term incertive arrangemerits require a threshold level of performance to be achieved
before any pay-out is made. These performance conditions are set with the aim of ensuring that there is a clear link
between individual awards and the delivery of the Company's long-term: strategy and success of the busiriess.

Alignment to culture

The Remuneration Committee is satisfied that the Company's incentive schemes are fit for purpose and continue
to be atigned with Company strategy, through choosing performance metrics which refiect the Company’s most
important KPls and are aligned with Company purpose, culture and values.
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Exp ion of perf metrics and the target setting process

Performance measures are seiected that are sligned to the Company’s strategy. Stretching performance targets are set each year for the annual borus and LTIP awards. Wheri
setting these performance targets, the Remuneration Comirnittee will take into account a number of different reference points, 'which may include the Company's business
plans and strategy and the market envircrniment, Full payrment or vesting will only occur for whiat the Remiuneration Cornmiittee considers to be stretching performance.
Additionally, the Remuneration Committee has discretion to change formulsic outcornes to ensure that payments made thicugh variable incentive plans are proportionate

to the Company's oversll performance.

The annual bonus performance targets have been selected to provide an appropriate balance between incentivising directors to meet financial targets for the year and
achieving strateqic and/or personal objectives. The Remuneration Committee also aims to make sure that targets are set in line with the Comgany's risk appetite so as to
ensure that executive directors are not incentivised (o take inappropriate risks.

The LTIP performance targets reflect the Company’s strategic abjectives and therefore the financial and strategic decisions which ultimately determine the success of the
Company. The LTIP performance measures may be based on key financial and/or sirategic and/or total shareholder return related measures. LTIP performance will normally
be based on Earnings Per Share, which is 5 key measure of the Company's profitability, relative Total Shiareholder Return to further strengthen the link between the interests
of the executive directors and the shareholders and a performance measure aligned with Environmentat Sustainability.

The Rernuneration Committee retains the ability to adjust or set different performance rmeasures if events occur (such as & charge in strategy, 3 material acquisition and/or
a divestment of a Group business or a change in prevailing market conditionsj which cause the Rernuneration Cornmittee to determine that the alternative rmeasures are
rore suitable either for a defined period or for the foreseeable future so that they achieve their original purpose.

Awards and options may be adjusted in the event of a variation of share capital in accordance with the Scheme rules.

Policy for ther ion of employ g ly
Refriuneration arrangemerits are determined throughiout the Group based on the ssme principle that reward should be achieved for delivery of the business strateqy and
should be sufficient to attract and retain high caiibre talent.

All ernployees are eligible to receive base salary, retirement benefits and other benefits based on role, seniority and location. The majority of employees are currently eligible
to receive awards under an annuat bonus glan, with only the most senior employees curreritly eligible to participate in the LTIP as set out below.

The annual bonus arrangemernits for the senior management team are similar to those for the executive directors in that targets are set annually dependerit on financial and/or
non-financial performance metrics. The key principles of the remuneration philosophy are applied consistently across the Group below this level, taking account of the
seniority of employees.

Approach to recruitment remuneration .
The Policy aims to facilitate the appointment of individuals of sufficient calibre to lead the business and execute the strategy effectively for the benefit of shareholders. When
appointing a new director, the Remuneration Commitiee seeks to ensure that arrangements are in the bestinterests of the Con~pany and in line with market practice.

When agreeing the tevel of remuneration appropriate for the individual, the Remuneration Corniittee will take into consideraticn a number of relevant factors, which may
include the calibre of the individual, the candidate’s existing remuneration package, and the specific circumstances of the individual including the jurisdiction from which the
candidate was recruited.

The Remuneration Committee will typically seek to align the remuneration package, including salary, benefits and pension. with the Policy (as set out in the Policy table).
The maximum ievel of variable remurieration which may be granted (excluding buy-out awards referred to below) is 325% of salary (in line with this Policy). Subject to this
overall maximum variable remuneration, incentive awards will only be granted above the normat maximum annual award opportunities where the Remurieration Committee
considers there 1o be 3 commercial rationale, which may include but is not limited to circumstances where gn executive directo- is recruited st 3 time in the year when it
would be inappropriate to provide a bonus and/or LTIP award for that year as there would not be sufficient time to assess performance. The quantum i respect of the



Stralegic Report Corporate Governance Accounts

months employed during the year may be transferred 1o the subsequent year so that reward is provided on a fair ond appropriate basis. The Remuneration Commitiee will
ensure that any such awards are linked to the achievernent of appropriate and challenging performance targets and will be forfeited if perforrance or continued employment
conditions are not achieved. The Remuneration Committee ray atso alter the performance measures, perforrmance period and vesting period of the bonus and/or LTIP
awsard, if the Remuneration Committee determines that the circumstances of the recruitment merit such alteration. The rationale would be clearly explained in the Directors’
Remuneration Report following grant. The individual will move over time onto a remuneration package that is consistent with the normal maximum annual borius and LTIP
award opportunities set out in the Policy taple.

The Remuneration Committee retains discretion to include other remuneration cormponents or awards which are outside the specific terms of the Policy (but subject to the
limit on variable remuneration) to facilitate the hiring of candidates of an appropriate calibre, wiiere the Remuneration Committee believes there is & nesd to do so in the best
interests of the Company. The Remuneration Commiittee would ensure that awards within the 225% of salary variable rernuneration iimit are linked 1o the achievement of
appropriate and chalienging performance rneasures. The Remuneration Committee will not use this discretior: to make a non-performance related incentive payment (for
exampie a “golden hello’).

In some circumstances, the Remuneration Committee may make payments or awards to recogrise or "buy-out’ remuneration arrangements forfeited ori leaving a previous
ernployer. The Remuneration Commiittes will normaily aim to do sc broadly on a like-for-like basis, taking into account a number of relevant factors regarding the forfeited
arrangements, which may include the form of award, any performance conditions attached to the awards and the time at which they wouid have vested. These payments or
awards are excluded from the maximum level of variable remuneration referred to above, however the Remuneration Committee’s intention is that the vaiue awarded would
be no higher than the expected value of the forfeited arrangernents. Where considered appropriate, such payments or awards will be liabie to ‘malus” and/or ‘clawback™ on
early departure.

Ary share awards referred 1o in this section will be granted as far as possible under the Company’s existing share plans. If necessary, and subject to the limits referred to atove,
recruitment awards rnay be granted outside of these plans as currently permitted under the Listing Rules which aliow for the grant of awards to facilitate, in exceptional
circurnstances, the recruitment of an executive director.

Where a position is fulfilled internally, any origoing remuneration abligations or outstanding variable pay elements shall be allowed to continue according to the original
terms.

Where necessary, the Company wiil pay appropriate relocation. travel and subsistence costs. The Remurneration Comimittee will seek to ensure that no more is paid than
is necessary.

Fees payable 10 a newly appointed Chair or nori-executive director will be in line with the fee policy in place at the time of appointment.

Nustrations of application of R ation Policy

The charts below set out an illustration of the Policy for 2023/24 in line with the Policy above and include base salary, pension, benefits and incentives. The charts provide an
Hiustration of the proportion of total remuneration made up of each component of the Policy and the value of each cormponent.

m
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Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

R.A. White - totsl remuneration S. Lorimer - totsi remuneration

J.D. Kemp - total remuneration

W Base salary, benefits and pension MAnnualbonus ELTIP BLTIP - share price appreciation

ns



Four scenarios have beer illustrated for each executive director:

fixed pay

Strategic Report

Annual Borius

Carporate Governance Accounts

LTIP

Minimum performance

Performance in line with expectations

Maximum performance

Maximum performance plus 50%
growth in share price

Fixed elements of remuneration - base
salary, benefits and pension only.

Base salary is the forward looking salary
{i.e. the salary effective from 1 April
2023} and the value lor benefits has
been caiculated as par the single figure
table on paqe 92 {i.e. the benefits for
trie year ended 29 Jenuary 2023).

No bonus.

No LTIP vesting.

50% of maximum awarded for achieving
target performance (i.e. 62.5% of satary}.

60% of maximum award vesting for target
performance (i.e. 90% of salary).

100% of maxirmum awarded for achieving
maximum performarnce (i.e. 125% of
salary).

100% of maximum award vesting for
maximum performance {i.e. 150% of salary).

100% of maximum award vesting far
maximum perfearmance plus 50% growth
in share price (i.e. 225% of salary).

LTIP awards are included in the scenarios above at face value with no share price movement included {except in the "maximum plus 50%" scenario).

Service contracts

Evecutive directors’ contracts are on a rolling basis and ray be terminated on 12 months’ notice by the Company or on 6 months’ notice by the executive director. Service
contracts for new executive directors will generally be limited to 12 months’ notice by the Cornparny.

In iine with the Policy approved at the 2014 AGM. service contracts entered into prior 1o this date provide for a notice period of 12 months except during the six moriths
foilowing either a takeover of or by the Company or a Company reconstruction. Under these conditions and certain circumstances the executive directors sre entitled to

a liguidated darnages payrnent equal 1o the executive director's basic salary at termination plus the value of all contractual benefits for a two year period. In the event this
liquidated damages payment is triggered, the executive director will also be deerned to be a ‘good leaver” for the purposes of the Company’s share schemes. Given the size
of the Company and the sectar dynamics at the time the directors were recruited, the Remurieration Committee considered this provision appropriate in order to attract
and retain high calibre executive directors. The Remuneration Committee is cognisant of the fact that these provisions do not reflect best practice. It has therefore previously
considered the alternatives available to exit these contractual arrangements. including contractual buy-out. However, the Remuneration Commiittee concluded that it was
not feasible to place a value on these rignts, in order to remaove them from the contracts, which would be acceptable to both parties. It therefore determiined that the most

appropriate approach would be 1o maintain the legacy provisions, however for all future appointraents after the approvai of the 2014 Policy these provisions have nct and wilt

not appiy. S. Lorimer’s service contract dees not therefore include the legacy provisions.

Non-executive directors are appoirited for an initial period of three years, subject to annual re-election by shareholders in accordance with the Code. Their appointments
are terminable by either the Cornpany or the directors thernselves upon three months’ notice without compensation.

n9e
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Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

Payments for loss of office
The principles on which the determination of payrnents for toss of office will be approached are set out below:

Policy

Payment in lieu

Paymenits to executive directors upon termination of their service contracts will be equal to 12 montrs’ base salary or the highest annual salary

of notice earned by the executive during the preceding three years, whichever is higher {plus benefits in kind and pension contributions at the discretion
of the Remuneration Cornimittee).
Annual Bonus This will be at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee on an individual basis and the decision as to whether or not to award a bonus in

full or in part will be dependent upen a rumber of factors, including the circumstances of the individual's departure and their contribution to the
business during the bornus period in question. Any bonus armounts paid will typicaily be pro-rated for @ime in service to terminatior ang will,
subject to perforrnance, be paid at the usual time.

Deferred portion of
Annual Bonus

Deferred borius shiare awards will normaily vest in full at the end of the original deferral pericd.

LTIP

Thie extent to which any award under the LTIP will vest wouid be determined based ori the leaver provisions contained within the LTIP ruies.
The Remurieration Committee shall determine when awards vest in accordance with those provisions.

Awards will normially lapse if the participant leaves employment before vesting. However, awards ray vest in "good leaver” circumstances,
inciuding geath, disability. ill-health, injury. sale of the participant's employer, or any other reason determined by the Remuneration Cornimiittee.
Any "good ieaver” awards will vest at the date of cessation of employment uniess the Remuneration Cornmittee decides they should vest at the
normai vesting date. In ither case, the extent to which an sward vests will be determined by the Reimunerstion Committee taking into sccount
the extent to which the performance conditions have been satisfied and. unless the Remuneration Cornmittee determines otherwise, the
proportion of the performance period that has elapsed to the date of cessation of employment. The Remuneration Committee may vest the
award on any cther hasis if it believes there are exceptional circumnstances which warrant that.

Options are exercisable for six months {12 manths in the event of death) from leaving employrent or six months (12 months in the event of death)
from the normal vesting date as appropriate.

Change of control

Deferred bonus share awards and awards under the LTIP will generally vest early on a takeover, merger or other corporate reorganisation. The
Remurieration Cornmittee will determine the level of vesting taking accourit of perfarmance conditions and, unless the Rernuneratiors Committee
determines otherwise, pro-rating for tirne, where applicable. Alternatively, participants may be allowed or required to exchange their awards for
awards over shares in the acquiring company.

Awards under all-employee share schemes will be expected to vest on a change of control and those which have o rmeet specific requirements
to benefit from permitted tax benefits will vest in accordance with those requirements.

Mitigation

The executive directors’ service contracts do not provide for any reduction in paymernits tor rnitigatior or for early payment.

Other payments

Payments may be made under the Company’s ali-employee share plans which are governed by HMRT tax-advantaged plari rules and which cover
certain leaver provisions. There is rio discretionary treatment of leavers under these plans. In appropriate circumstances, payments may also be
made in respect of accrued holiday, cutplacement and legal fees.

Where a buy-out award is made under the Listing Rules then the leaver provisions would be deterrnined at the time of the award.
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The Rernuneration Convmittee reserves the right to make additional exit payments where such payrnents are made in good faith in discharge of an existing legal obligation
{or by way of darnages for breach of such an cbligation) or by way of settlement or compromise of any claim arising in connection with the termination of a director's office
or employment. In doing so, the Remuneration Cormmittee will rezognise and balance the interests of shareholders and the departing executive director, as well as the
interests of the remaining directors.

Where the Remuneration Committee retains discretion it will be used to provide flexibility in certain situations, taking into account the particular circumstarices of the
director’s departure and performance. .

H of ideration of employ diti isewhere in the Comp

The Remuneration Committee generally considers pay and employment conditions elsewhere in the Company when considering the executive direCtors’ remurnieration.
When considering base salary increases, the Remuneration Committee reviews overali levels of base pay increases offered to other empioyees. Employees are ot actively
consulted on gdirectors’ remuneration. The Company has regular contact with union bodies on matters of pay and rernuneration for einployees covered by callective
bargaining or consultation arrangemenits.

Existing contractual arrangements

The Remuneration Committee retains discretion to make any rernaneration paymerits and payments for loss of office outside the Policy in this report:

« where the terms of the payrnent were agreed before the Policy came into effect;

« where the terms of the payrnent were agreed at a time wher the relevant individual was not a director of the Company and. in the opinion of the Remuneration
Commitiee, the payment was not in consideration of the individual becoming a director of the Compariy: or

» 1o satisty contractual commitiments under fegacy remuneration arrangements.

For these purposes, the term “payments” includes the satisfaction of awards of variable remuneration and, in relation to an award over shares, the terms of the payment are
agreed at the tirmne the award is granted.

The Reruneration Committee may rake minor changes to this Policy which do rnot have a malerisl advantage to directors, to aid in its operation or implementation, taking
ints account the interests of sharehiolders but without the need to seek shareholder approval.

of of views
During the year, the Remuneration Committee engaged with sharzholders, seeking their convnents and feedback on the proposed minor changes to the Remuneraticn
Policy. The Committee is commitied to an ongoing dialogue with shareholders and welcomes feedback on executive and non-executive directors’ remuneration.

Pay in relation to existing ion ar
Trie Rermuneration Comirmittee reserves the right to make any remuneration payments and/or payrnenits for loss of office {including exercising any discretions available
to it in connection with such payments) notwithistanding that they are not in line with the Remuneration Falicy set out above where the terms of the paymernit were agreea:

i. before the date of the 2014 AGM (the date the Company's first snarehclder-approved Remuneration Poiicy came into effect);

after the date of the 2014 AGM and before the Remiuneration Policy set out above came into effect, provided that the terrns of the payment were consistent with the
shareholder-approved Remuneration Policy i force at the time they were agreed; or

5t 5 time when the relevant individual was rict 5 director of the Company and. in the opinion of the Remuneration Commiittee, the payment was not in consideration for
the individual becorning a director of the Company.

fii,

For these purposes “payments’ includes the Remuneration Commiittee satisfying awards of variable rernuneration and, in relation to an award over shares, the terrns of the
payrnent are "agreed” at the time the award is granted.

21
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Directors’ Report

The directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the 52 weeks (2022: 53 weeks) ended 29 January 2023.

Strategic Report

The Companies Act 2006 reguires the directors to present a review of the business during the year to 29 January 2023 and of the position of the Group at the end of the
financial year, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties faced. The Strategic Report can be found on pages 1 to 69 and is incorporated by refererice
into this Directors’ Report.

Corporate Governance Statement

The Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules require certain information to be included in s corporate governance statement in the Directors’ Report. Informiation that
fuifils the requirements of the corporate governance statement can be found in the Corporate Goverriance Report on pages 72 to 84 and is incorporated by reference into
this Directors’ Report.

Results and dividends
The Group's profit after tax for the financial year ended 29 January 2023 attributable to equity shareholders amounted to £33.5m (2022: £27.8m).

An interim dividend for the current year of 2.50p (2622: 2.00p) per ordinary share was paid on 28 October 2022. As repoited in the Annual Report and Accounts for the year
ended 3C January 2022, the Board recornmenced dividend payments during the course of that year, with the payment of an intzrim dividend of 2.00p per ordinary share

and a special dividend of 10.00p per cidinary share. both of which were paid on 29 October 2021. In line with its progressive dividend policy, the Board has proposed a final
dividend of 10.60p (2022 final dividend: 10.00p) per ordinary share, which will be paid on 9 June 2023 if approved at the Compeany's annual general meeting on 26 May 2023
{AGM"). The directors have taken advantage of the exemption available under s408 of the Cormpanies Act 2005 and have not presented an income staternent for the Company.
The Company’s profit for the year was £45.0m (2022: £21.4m).

Directors

The following were directors of the Company during the financial year ended 29 January 2023 and to the date of this report:
+ JR. Nicolson (resigned 31 March 2022)
+ M. Ailen OBE

+ R.A. White

+ S.Lorimer

+ J.D.Kemp

+ W.RG. Barr

« SV Barratt

« Z.L. Howorth

« D.J. Ritchie

+ N.B.E.Wharton

Subject to the Company's Articles of Association (the “Articles’) and any relevant legisiation, the directors may exercise ail of the powers of the Company and may delegate
their power and discretion to comimitiges. The powers of the directors to issue or repurchase ordinary shares are set by resolution at & general meeting of shareholders.

The Company’s Articles provide that the Company may by ordinary resolution appoint any perscn wha is willing to act to be a director, either to fill a vacancy or as an addition
to the existing Board. Mr William Robin Graham Barr will retire from the Board at the AGM and Ms Jutie Anne Barr will offer herself for efection at the AGM. The Articles also
give the directors power tc appoint and remove directors. Under the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee, any appointrnent must be recommended by the
Nornination Committee for approval by the Board. The Articles require directors to retire and submit themselves for election at the first Annual General Meeting foliowing
appointrent and to retire no later than the third Annual General Meeting after the Annual Gerieral Meeting at which they were last elected or re-elected. However, in order to
comply with the UK Corporate Goverriance Code, all directors other than W.R.G. Barr will submit themseives for re-etection at the AGM. J.A. Barr will offer herself for election
at the AGM. Biographical details of the Board and J.A. Barr as a proposed director are set out on pages 70 and 71 of this report.
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Directors' interests
Information regarding the directors’ interests in ordinary shares of the Company is provided in the Directors’ Remurieration Report on page 1G0. No director ias any other
interest in any shares or (oan stock of any Group cornpany.

Other than service contracts, no director had a material interest in any contract to which any Group company was & par'ty during the year.

There have been the following changes notified in the directors’ shareholdings between 29 January 2023 and 27 March 2023: an increase in R.A. White's holding of 82 shares.
anincrease in S. Lorimer's holding of 83 shares and ar increase in J.D. Kemp's holding of 82 shares.

Directors’ indemnity provisions

As at the date of this report, indemnities are in force between the Company and each of its directors under which the Company has agreed to indemnify each director, to the
extent permitted by law, in respect of certain liabilities incurred as 3 result of carrying out their role as a director of the Company. The directors are aiso indemnified against
the costs of defending any criminal or civil proceedinigs or any claim in relation to the Company or breught by a reguiator as they are incurred, provided that where the
defence is unsuccessful the director must repay those defence casts to the Company. The Comipany's total lisbility under each indemnity is limited to £5.0m for each event
giving rise 1o & clairn under that indemnity. The indemnities are qu. ing third party indemnity provisions for the purposes of the Companies Act 20306. In addition, the
Company rmaintained a Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance policy throughout the financial year and has reriewed that policy.

As at the date of this report, indemnities are in force between the Cornpany and each of the directors of the corporate trustee of the A.G. BARR p.L.c. (2008) Pension and Life
Assurance Scheme under which the Comgany has agreed to indemnify each director, to the extent permitted by law, in respect of certain liabilities incurred in connection
with the corporate trustee’s activities as a trustee of such scheme.

Research and development
The Group undertakes research and development activities in order 1o develop its range of new and existing products. Expenditure during the year on research and
development amounted to £1.4m (2022: £1.3m).

et o FTPeT di

and p p
No Group cornpany made any political donations or incurred any political expenditure in the vear (21

Post balance sheet events
Relevant post bailance sheet events requiring disclosure are includzd in Note 32 to the accounts.

Employee engagement
Information on employee engagement is included in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 78 and 79 and the Strategic Report on page 35.

All qualifying ermployees are entitled 10 joir the Savings Related Share Option Scheme ("SAYE™) anid the Ali-Empioyee Share Qwnership Plan ((AESOP). Details of these share
schemes are provided below.

AESOP .
The AESOP is HMRC approved and the executive directors participate in both sections of the scheme, which is open to all qualitying employees.

The partnership share element provides that for every two shares a participant purchases in the Company, up to a current maxirmum contribution of £150 per rrorith, the Company
will purchase one maiching share. The matching shares purchased are held in trust in the name of the individua.

Tnere are various rules as to the period of time that the shares must be held in trust but after five years the shares can be released tax free to the participant.
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The free share element allows participants to receive shares to the value of a common percentage of their earnings, related to the performance of the Group. The maximum
value of any annual award is currently £3,600 and the shares awarded are held in trust for five years. Under the terms of the AESOP rules, any award of free shares o
ernployees is made by the Trustee of the AESOP subject to the Cornpany’s consent.

Under the terms of this scheme, unless they are a ‘good leaver” the matching shares will be forfeited it the participant icaves the employment cf the Compary within three
years of the award. All partnership, matching and free shares must be removed from the trust if employment with the Company ceases.

SAYE

The SAYE is HMRC approved and is available to ali qualifying employees, including executive directors. Itis based on a three year savings contract which provides the
participant with an option to purchase shares after three years at a discounted price fixed at the time the contract is taken out, or earlier as provided by the scheme rules.
No performance conditions require to be met by any participant in order to exercise their cption under the SAYE.

P of P
The Company strives (o build an inclusive and diverse culture where all employees have the opporturity to succeed. Applications for employment by disabled persons
are always fully and fairly considered. In the event of employees becoming disabled every effort is made to ensure that their employment will coritinue. The Cornpany is
committed to the fair treatment of people with disabilities regarding recruitment, training, promotion and career development.

Stakehold - ion 172(1)

A staternent on how the Company hias engaged with key stakeholders, including employees. and the impact of that engagernent on the Company's strateqy and the principal
decisions taken during the vear is set cut in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 74 1o 80. This staternent alsc surnmarises how the directors have hiad regard to the
need to foster the Company's business relationships with suppliers. customers and others, and the effect of that regard, including on the principal decisions taken during the
year. This statement is incorporated by reference into this Directors’ Report.

Substantial shareholdings
As at 29 January 2023, the Comgariy had been notified under Rule 5 of the Financial Conduct Authority's Disclosure and Transgarency Ruies of the foliowing interests in the
Company's ordinary share capital

Number of shares % of voting rights Type of holding
Lindsell Train Limited (discretionary clients) 12.287.893 10956 Indirect
Sanford DeLand Asset Managernent 5,200,000 4.64 Direct
Caledonia Investments plc 3,279.347 292 Direct

The position remains the same as at 27 Marchi 2023 as it did at 29 January 2023,
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Share capital

As at 29 January 2023 the Company's issued share capital comprised a single class of ordinary shares of 4 1/6 pence each. All of the Company's issued ordinary shares are
fully paid up and rank equally in all respects. The rights attaching to the shares are set out in the Articies. INote 28 to the financial staternents contains details of the ordinary
share capital,

On a show of hands at & general meeting of the Cornpany every holder of ordinary shares present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote shall have one vote and, on a
poll. every rnember present in person or by proxy and entitied to vate shall have one vote for every ordinary share held. The Motice of AGM gives full details of deadlines for
exercising voting rights in relation to resolutions to be passed at the AGM. All proxy votes are counted and the nurmbers for, against or withheld in relation to each resolution
are announced at the AGM and published on the Cornpany’s website after the meeting. Subject to the relevant statutory provisions and the Articies, sharehiolders are entitled
to a dividend where declared and paid out of profits available for such purposes.

There are no restrictions on the transfer of ordinary shares in the Company other than:

« those which may from time to time be applicable under existing laws and requlstions {for exampie, insider trading taws); and

« pursuant o the Cornpany’s Share Dealing Codes and applicable requlations, whereby directors and certain empioyees of the Company require approvat o deal in the
Cornpany’'s ordinary shares and are prohibited from dealing during closed periods.

At 29 January 2023 the Company had authcrity, pursuant to the shareholders’ resolution of 27 May 2022, to purchase up to 10% of its issued ordinary share capital. This
authority will expire at the conclusion of the 2023 AGM. It is proposed that this authority be renewed at the 2023 AGM, as detailed in the Notice of AGM.

At 28 January 2023 Robert Barr Limited, as trustee of the Savings Related Benefit Trust and the All-Employee Share Ownership Plan Trust (the "RBL Trustee”), held 0.67% of the
issued share capital of the Company in trust for the bensfit of the executive directors and emiployees of the Group. As at 29 January 2623, Equiniti Share Pian Trustees Limited
{the "AESOQP Trusiee’) held 0.68% of the issued share capital of the Company in trust for participants in the AESOP.

A dividend waiver is in place in respect of the RBL Trustee’s hotdings under the Savings Related Benefit Trust. A dividend waiver is in place in respect of shares held by the
AESOP Trustee and the RBL Trustee under the AESOP which have 1ot teen appropriated to participants.

The voting rights in relation to the RBL Trustee's shareholdings are exercised by the RBL Trustee, who may vote or abstain from voting the shares as it sees fit in respect of
shiares which are unvested or have not been appropriated to employees.

Under the rules of the AESOP, eiigible ernployees are entitied to acquire shares in the Comipany. Details of the AESOP are set cut above. AESOP shares which have been
appropriated to participants are heid in trust for those participants by the AESOP Trustee. Voting rights i respect of shares which have been appropriated to participants are
exercised by the AESOP Trustee on receipt of participants’ instructions. If a participant does not submit an instruction to the AESOP Trustee, no vote is registered in respect
of those shares. In addition, the AESCP Trustee does not vote any unappropriated shares held under the AESOP as surplus assets.

The Executive Share Option Scheme ("ESOS™} was spproved by shareholders at the 2010 AGM. Approved Long Term Incentive Plan (ALTIP?) awards comprising both a
tax-approved option granted under the ESOS and a Long Term Incentive Plan award have been granited to executive directors. ALTIP awards ensble the participant and the
Company to benefit from HMRC tax-approved option tax treatment in respect of part of the award, without increasing the pre-tax value delivered to participants. Other than
to enabie the grant of ALTIP awards, the Cormnpany has not granted awards to executive directors under the ESOS. Details of the ALTIP awards granted to executive directors
are set out on page 106.

The Company is not awaie of any agreements between shareholders that may result in restrictions on the transfer of securities or on voting righits.
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Change of control
As disciosed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report. under certain conditions the notice period for R.A. White arid .).D. Kemp may increase from one year to two years in the
event of a takeover of or by the Company cr a Company reconstruction.

Alt of the Cernpany's share incentive plans contain provisions relating to a change of cantrol of the Company. The Company’s banking facilities may, at the discretion of the
lender, be repayable upon s change of control.

Articles of association
The Company’s Articles may only be amerided by a special resolution at a general meeting of shareholders. No amendments are proposed to be made to the existing Articles
atthe 2023 AGM.

Greenhouse gas emissions
Disclosures regarding greenhouse gas emissions required by the Companies Act 2006 (Strategic Report arid Directors' Report) Regulations 2013 are included in the Strategic
Report on pages 51 to 53. This inforration is incorporated by reference into this Directors’ Report,

Task Force on Climate-Related Fi ial Discl es (“TCFD*)
Disclosures consistent with the TCFD's recornmendations are included in the Strategic Report on pages 44 to 53.

Financial risk management
Information on the exposure of the Group to certain financial risks and on the Group's objectives and poticies for managing eacn of the Group’s main financial risk areas is
detailed in the financial risk managerment disclosure in Note 26.

Contracts of significance
There were no contracts of sigrificance as defined by Listing Rule 2.8 in existence during the finaricial year.

Going concern
The Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future developmertt, performiance and position are set out in the Strategic Report on pages 116 69.
The financial position of the Group, its cash flows, liquidity position and borrewing facilities are described in the financial review on pages 56 to 61.

After making the appropriate enquiries, the directors niave concluded that the Group will be akile to meet its financial obligations for the foreseeable future and therefore have
a reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group overall have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future {being at least one
year following the date of approval of this annual repert) and, accordingly, consider it appropriate to adept the geing concern besis in preparing the finarcial staternents.

The Cornpany’s viability staterment is set out or page 69 of the Strategic Report.

Directors’ as to di of infor ion to
So tar as each director is aware, there is ro relevant audit inforrnation (as defined by the Cornpanies Act 2006) of which the Cornpany’s suditor is unaware. Each director has
taken all steps that ought to be taken by a director t0 make themnselves aware of and to establish that the auditor is aware of any relevant audit information.
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Auditor
The Audit and Risk Committee has responsibility delegated from the Board for making recommendations on the appointment, reappointment, removal and remuneration
of the external auditor.

The auditor, Deloitte LLP. has indicated its willingness to continue in office and a resolution to appoint Deloitte LLP as auditor of the Company and its subsidiaries, and to
authorise the Audit and Risk Committee to fix their remuneration, will be proposed at the 2023 AGM.

Cautionary statement
This report is addressed to the shareholders of A.G. BARR p.l.c. and has been provided solely to provide information to them.

This report is intended to inform the shareholders of the Group's performance during the year ended 29 January 2023. This report contains forward-looking statements
based on knowledge and information available to the directors as at the date the report was prepared. These statements should be treated with caution due to the inherent
uncertainties underlying any forward-looking information and any statements about the future outlook may be influenced by factors that could cause actual cutcomes and
results to be materially different.

Annual General Meeting
The Company’s AGM will be held at 12.00 p.m. on 26 May 2023 at the offices of Ernst & Young LLP, G1 Building, 5 George Square, Glasgow. G2 1DY. The Notice of the AGM

is set out on pages 205 to 218 of this report. A description and explanation of the resolutions to be considered at the 2023 AGM is set out on pages 208 to 210 of this report.

Recommendation to shareholders
The Board considers that all the resolutions to be considered at the AGM are in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole and unanimously
recommends that you vote in favour of them.

By order of the Board

T as—

Julie A, Barr
Company Secretary
28 March 2023

127



128

A.G.BARRp.l.c. Annual Reportand Accounts 2023

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
In Respect of the Annual Report and the Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group and parent Company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors are required to prepare the Group financial statements
in accordance with international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. The directors have also chosen to prepare the parent
company financial statements under United Kingdom adopted international accounting standards.

Under corpany law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and

parent Company and of the consolidated profit or loss for that period. In preparing each of the Group and parent Company financial statements, Internationat Accounting

Standard 1 requires that directors:

« Properly select and apply accounting policies.

« Present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliabte, comparable and understandable information.

« Provide additional disclosures when cornpliance with the specific requirements in [FRSs are insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions,
other events and conditions on the Group and parent Company'’s financial position and financiat performance.

» Make an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the parent Company’s transactions and disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the parent Company and enable them to ensure that its financial staternents comply with the Companies Act 2006.
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

A copy of the Group and parent Company financial staterents has been ptaced on the Company’'s website, www.agbarr.co.uk. The directors are responsible for the
maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the Company’s website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination
of financial statements may differ from legistation in other jurisdictions.

Directors’ statement pursuant to the disclosure and transparency rules

Each of the directors, whose names and functions are set out on pages 70 and 71 of this report, confirm that. to the best of their knowledge:

» The financial statements, prepared in accordance with international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, give a true and
fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position of the Group and parent Company and of the consolidated profit.

The Annual Report and Accounts inctudes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the Group and the undertakings included
in the consolidation taken as a whote, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group.

They consider the Annual Report and Accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess
the Company's performance, business model and strategy.

By order of the Board

%" St Lo~

R.A. White S. Lorimer
Chief Executive Finance Director
28 March 2023 28 March 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of A.G. BARR p.l.c.

Report on the audit of the financial statements

1. Opinion

In our opinion:

+ the financial statements of A.G. Barr p.l.c. (the ‘parent pany’) and its ies (the 'group’) give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the
parent company'’s affairs as at 29 January 2023 and of the group’s profit for the year then ended;

« the group financial siatements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingd. dopted internati 1 ing dards;

+ the parent fi 1} have been properly prepared in accordance with United Ki dopted internati \ ing dards and
as appliedin with the provisi of the C ies Act 2006; and

« the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requil of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial staterents which comprise:

+. the consolidated income statement;

« the consolidated statement of compretiernsive incorme;

« the consolidated arid parent company statemients of financial position;
« the consolidated and parent company statements of changes in equity:
« the consolidated and parent company ¢ash flow staternents; and

the related notes 110 32.

The financial reporting framework that Fas beer: applied in their preparation is applicanle law and United Kingdom adopted international accounting standards and. as regards
the parent company financial staternents, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

2. Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK} (ISAs {UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are flJl'hFr
described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial staternents section of our report.

We are independent of the group arid the parent company in dccardance with the ethical reguiremerits that are relevant to our audit of the financial staternents in the UK,
including the Financial Reporting Couricil’s {the 'FRC's’) Ethical Standard as applied to listed public interest eritities. and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibitities
in accardance with these requirernenits. The non-audit services provided to the group and parent cornpany for the year are disciosed in note 3 to the financial statements.
We cenfirm that we have not provided any non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Staridard to the group or the parent compary.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 1o provide a basis for cur opinion.

3.  Summary of our audit approach

Key audit matters The key audit mattsr that we identified in the current year was:
« Compieteness and valuation of brand support discounts and cost accruals,

Materiality The materiality that we used for the group financial statements was £2,175,000 (2022:£2,070,000) which was determined
orni the basis of 5% {2022: 5%4) of adjusted profit before tax.

Scoping Qur full scope and specified audit procedures covered 95% of the Group's revenue, 98% of the Group's net assets, and 97%
of the Group's profit before tax.

Significant changes in our approach Qur audit approach is consistent with the prior year with the exception of Funkin Limited, a component which has increased
in scope to full scepe in light of its overall contribution to the group.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of A.G. BARR p.

4. Conclusions refating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have corcluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financiai staternents
is appropriate.

QOur evalustion of the directors’ assessiment of the group’s and parent company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting inciuded:

«  Challenging underlying data and considering the impact of economic uncertainty on the assurnptions;

« Assessing the integrity of the model used to prepare the forecasts, testing the clerical accuracy of those forecasts, and considering the historical accuracy of the forecasts
prepared by management; .

« Assessing headroom in the forecasts (liquidity and covenants);

« Evaluating the financing facilities that are in place during the forecast period including the repayment terms and covenants, and assessing whether these have heen
appropriately reflected in the model;

+ Assessing the reasonableness of the downside scenarios and sensitivities performed by management; and

« Assessing the appropriateness of the going concern disclosures in the financial staternents.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating t¢ events or conditions that. individually or collectively, may cast significant
doubt on the group's and parent cormpany’s ability to continue as & going cancern for a pericd of at least twelve months from when the financial staterments are authorised
forissue.

In relation to the reporting on how the group has applied the UK Corporate Governanice Code, we have nothing material to add or draw attention to in relation to the
directors’ statement in the financial staterments about whether the directors considered it appropriate 1o adopt the going concem basis of accounting.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report.

5. Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our sudit of the financial statements of the current pericd and inciude
the most significant assessed risks of material rnisstatement {whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matiers included those which had the greatest effect on:
the overall audit strateqy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement tearn.

These matters were addressed in the coritext of our audit of the financial statemernits as 3 whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
cpinion on these matters.
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5.1. Completeness and valuation of brand support discounts and cost accruals

Key audit matter description

Brand support discounts and cost accruals within trade and other payables of £12.3m (2022: £18.1m)

The Group incurs signiticant costs in agreeing sales discounts to support and develop its brands. Estimation is required

in deterrnining the level of variable consideration recognised and the accrual for such sales discounts and costs where
prometions and brand support campaigns span the year-end and where settlement has not been fully agreed at year-end,

or where prior year claims arise, as the year-end accrual can depend on information not yet made available by the customer.

Further detsils are inciuded within “Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty” as disclosed in the accounting policies within note
1 to the financial statements.

Due to the high level of estimation involved, we have determined there is 3 potential for fraud through possible ranipulation
of this batance.

Brand support discounts and cost accrusls are inchided within note 22 to the financial statements.

The Audit and Risk Cornmittee’s consideration in respect of the risk is included on page 86.

How the scope of our audit responded to
the key audit matter

The audit procedures we performed in respect of this matter included:

«  Obtaining an understanding cf and testing the relevant controls over the brand support discounts and cost accruals process;

+ Meeting with the commercial teams to understand and challenge the brand support discounts in place, by assessing the
movements in the brand support accrual;

« Testing a sample of customers with characteristics of audit interest {customers receiving material brand support
investment, customers with material apen promotions at year end, and flagship UK custorners), assessing the accuracy
of current vear sccruals;

- Performing s stand back assessment on judgements made in the previous year. including exarmining & sample of accrual

reieases and assessing the additional variable consideration recognised;

Examin g a sample of key commercial contracts and joint busingss plans to assess whether the compaosition of the

accrual is in line with the underiying comrnercial agreerment;

«  Obtaining confirrnations directly frorn custorners for a sarnple of open accruals. In cases where rio confirrnation reply
is received, we performed alternative procedures involving understanding the basis for the accrual and recalculating the
expected accrual based on related sales information;

» Selecting a sample of settlements and releases made after the year-end to determine the accuracy of the accrual:

« Understand ageing of the accrual and selecti sample of balances of aged balances; and

Assessing the appropriateness of the JAS 1 sensitivity disciosures made in the financial statements.

Key observations

We cornicluded that completeness and valuation of brand support discounts and cost accruals were appropriate.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of A.G. BARR p.l.c. continued

6. Our application of materiality
6.1. Materiality

We define materiality as the magnitude of misstaterment iri the financial statements that makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person
would be changed or influenced. We use materiality both in planning the scope of cur audit work aid in evaluating the resuits of our work.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Group financial statements

Parent

Materiality . £2.175m {2022: £2.07m) £1.96m (2022: £2.8%m)
Basis for determining materiality 5% (2022: 5%) of adjusted profit before tax. Parent company materiality equates to 0.6% (2022: 0.7%) of
reveriue, capped at 90% (2022: S0%) of Group materiality.
for the bench k applied We have used adjusted profit before tax as the benchrnark We have used revenue as the benchmark for our

for our determination of materiality as we consider this tc be
3 critical performance measure for trie Group on the tasis
thatitis s key metric to analysts and investors and has equal
prominence in the Annual Report. The adjusted itemns in the
year are summarised on page 201,

determination of materiality as we consider this tc be the
key driver of the business. As statutory materiality would
ke higher than component materiality, we have capped
materiality to be 90% of group materislity being £1.96m
{2022: £1.89my}. 90% is deerned to be appropriate based
on the campany only contribution to the Groups.
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6.2. Performance materiality
We set performance materiality at 3 level lower than materiality to reduce the probability that, in aggregate. uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceed the materiality
for the financial statements as a whole.

Group financial statements Parent fil ial

Performance materiality 707% (2022: 70%) of group materiality 70% (2022: 70%) of parent company materiality

Basis and rationalefor  In determining performance materiality. we considered the following factors:
determining < Ourrisk assessment, including cur assessment of the group's overail coritrol ervironment and that we considered it appropriate to rely on
performance materiality controls over a nurnber of business processes.

«  Our past experience of the audit, and our consideration of the nurnber of corrected and uncorrected misstatements identified in pricr periads.

6.3. Errorreporting threshold

We agreed with the Audit and Risk Committee thiat we would repcrt to the Committee all audit differences in excess of £111,000 {2022: £103,500), as well as differences
below that threshold that, in cur view, warranted reporting on gualitative grounds. We aiso report to the Audit and Risk Committee on disclosure matters that we identified
when assessing the overall presentation of the financial statements.

7. An overview of the scope of our audit

7.1. Identification and scoping of components

There are no significant changes in our approach in the current vear with the exception of our approach to Funkin Limited, a component which has increased in scope to full
scope in light of its overall contribution to the group. Our group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Group and its environment through discussions with
tinance, IT, commercial and supply teams and performing walkthroughs of processes across these areas, including Group wide controls, and assessirig the risks of material
misstatements at a Group level.

For components deemed significant to the group, full scope sudit procedures were performed to materiality levels applicable to esch component, which was lower than the
group materiality level and ranged from £0.76m to £1.96m {2022: £0.51m to £1.8%m). Components deemed significant are as foliows:

+ AG.Barrp.lc.

«  Funkin Lirmited

A.G. Barr p.l.c.. is also the entity in which the trading transactions relating to the brand owned by Rukicon Drinks Limited are recorded.

Boost Drinks Limited was subject to specified audit procedures based on the materiality of individual balarices, and the remaining non-significant comporierits were subject to
analytical reviews, the group audit team perforrned ait audit work. The other components to the Group are as follows:

»  Funkin USA Limited

+ AG. BARR Genersl Partner Limited

- A.G. BARR Capital Partner Limited

« AG. BARR (lretand) Limited

« MOMA foods Limited

| | Fuil audit scope [ | Specified audit procedures M Review at group level
Revenue Profit Net assets At the Group level, we aiso tested the consolidation process. All work ori the

before tax significant comparients and consolidation process was performed by the Group
engagement team.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of A.G. BARR p.l.c. continued

7. An overview of the scope of our audit corntinued

7.2.  Our consideration of the control environment

With the invoivement of our IT speciaiist we obtained an understanding of the relevant IT environmient and tested relevant genesal IT controls. We obtained an understanding
of the processes and relevant controis over the key business cycles, being the revenue, brand support accrual business process and the financiai reporting cycle. We tested
and took a conurols reliance approach on the reievant controls for certsin components within the revenue and brand support accrual business process cycles.

7.3.  Our consideration of climate-related risks
In planning cur audit, we have cornsidered the potenitial impact of clirnate change on the Group's business and its financial statements.

The Group has assessed the risk and opportunities relevant to climate change and has elevated this risk to a principal risk across the Group. This risk has also been considered
and embedded into the businesses as explained in the Strategic Report on pages 62 to 63.

As a part of our audit, we have obtained management’s climate-related risk assessment and ield discussions with those charged with goverriance to understand the
process of identifying climate-related risks, the determination of mitigating actions and 1o evaluate the impact on the Group's financisl staternents. While managernent has
acknowledged that the transition and physicai risks posed by clirate change have the potentiai to impact the medium 1o long term success of the business, they have
assessed that there is no material impact arising from clirmate change on the judgements snd estimates rmade in the financial statements as at 29 January 2023 as explained
irnnate 1on page 154,

We performed our own qualitative risk assessrent of the potential impact of climate change on the Group's financial statements. Cur procedures include evaluating the
appropriateness of disclosures included in rote 1 to the financial statements and reading disclosures included in the Strategic Report to consider whether they are materially
consistent with the financial staternents and our knowledge obtained in the audit.

8. Other information
The other information comgrises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial staterments and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are
responsible for the other information contained within the annual report.

Qur opinion on the financial staternents does not cover the other inforrmation and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any torm
of assurance conclusion thereor.

Our responsibility is to read the otrier informatior and. in doing so, consider whether the other informaticn is materiaily inconsistent with the finaricial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If we identify such raterial inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise (© a material misstatement in the
financial statemerits themselves. If, based on the work we have performed. we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

S. Responsibilities of di s

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they
give a true and fair view, and for such internial control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstaternent, whether due to fraud or error,

In preparing the financiat statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent company'’s ability to continue as a qoing concern, disclosing as
applicable, matters relsted to going concern and using the going concern basis of accountinig unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group cr the parent company
Of 10 Cease operations, or hiave no realistic aiternative but to do so.
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es for the audit of the financial statements

ives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
to issiie an suditor's report that inclizdes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is ot a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
ISAs {(UK) will always detect a material misstaternent when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered raterial if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users tasken on the dasis of these fingncial statements,

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description
forms part of our auditor's report.

11. Extentto which the audit was idered of ing irregularities, including fraud

Iirequiarities, including fraud, are instances of non-comptiance with laws and requlations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect

rnaterial misstaternents in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irrequiarities, inciuding fraud is detailed below.

11.1. Identifying and assessing potential risks related to irregularities

In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect of irreguiarities, including fraud and nen-compliance with laws and regulations, we corisidered the fellowing:

» the nature of the industry and sector, control environment and business performance including the design of the group's reruneration policies, key drivers for directors’
rernuneration, bonus levels and perforrnance targets;

« results of our enguiries of management, internal sudit, the directors and the Audit and Risk Committee about their own identification and assessment of the risks of
irregutarities, including those that are specific to the group's sector;

« any ratters we identified having obtained and reviewed the group's documentation of their policies and procedures relating to
- identifying, evaluating and complying with iaws and regulations and whether they were aware of any instances of nen-compliance:
- detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud;
- the internal controls established to mitigate risks of fraud or non-comptiance with laws and requlations;

« the matters discussed among the audit engagement team and relevant internal specialists, including vaiuations, pensions and IT specialists regarding how and where fraud
rnight cccur in the financisl statements and any potential indicators of fraud.

As a result of these procedures, we considered the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the organisation for fraud and identified the greatest potential for fraud
in the following areas: completeness and valuation of brand support discount and cost accruals. In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), we are also required to perforn
specific procedures to respond to the risk of management overrida,

We also obtairied an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that the group operates in, focusing on provisions of those laws and regulations that had a direct
effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The key laws and regulations we considered in this context inciuded the UK
Comipanies Act, Listing Rules, pensions legislation and tax legisiation.

In addition, we considered provisions of other iaws and reguiations that do not have a direct effect on the financial statements but compliance with which may be
fundamental to the group’s ability to operate or to avoid a material penalty. These included the group’s operating licence and environmental regulations.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of A.G. BARR p.l.c. continued

11. Extent to which the audit was idered cap. of ing irreg i ing fraud continued

11.2. Audit response to risks identified

As & result of performing the above, we identified completeness and valuation of brand support discounts and cost sccruals as a key audit matter related to the potential
tisk of fraud. The key audit mistters section of our report explsins the matter in more detsil and slso describes the specific procedures we perforied in response to that key
audit matter.

In addition to the ahove, our procedures to respond o risks identified included the followina: .

« reviewing the financial staternent disclosures and testing to supporting documentation o assess cornpliance with provisions of relevant laws and regulations described
as having a direct effect oni the financial statements;

enquiring of management, the Audit and Risk Committee and in-house legal counset concerning actual and potential litigation and ciairms;

+ performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of material misstatement due to fraud;

« reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, reviewing internal audit reports and reviewing correspondence with HMRC;

in addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, testing the appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments; assessing whether the
judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential biss; and evaluating the business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual
or outside the normal course of busiriess.

.

We also cormrmunicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement tearn members including internal specialists, and remained alert
to any indications of fraud or non-cornpliance with laws and regulations throughout the audit.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
12. Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opirion the part of tihe directors’ remunsration report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Comipanies Act 2006.

In our opinion, based on the work undertakeri iri the course of the audit:

« the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statemenits are prepared is consistent with the financial
statements; and

« the strategic report and the directors' report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirernents.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and their envircnment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified any
material misstatemerits in the strategic report or the directors’ report.

13. Corporate Governance Statement
The Listing Rules require us to review the directors’ staternent in relation to going concern, longer-ter viability and that part of the Corporate Governarice Staternent relating
to the group’s compliance with the provisions of the UK Corpaorate Governance Code specified for our revievs.

Based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we have concluded that each of the following elernents of the Corporate Governance Statermerit is materially consistent
with the tinancial staterents and our knowledge obtained during the audit:
+ the directors’ staternent with regards to the appropriateness of adopting the going concern basis of accounting and any material uncertairties identified set out on
page 126;
« the directors’ explanation as (o its assessment of the group's prospects, the pericd this assessment covers and why the period is appropriate set out on page 69;
» the directors’ statement on fair, balanced and understandable set out on page 128;
» the hoard’s confirmation that it has carried out a robust assessment of the emerging and principal risks set out on pages 64 to 68;
+ the section of the annual report that describes the review of effectiveness of risk management and internal control systerns set out on pages 83 and 84; and
« the section describing the work of the Audit and Risk Committee set out on page 85 to 87.
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14. Matters on which we are required to report by exception

14.1. Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records

Unider the Companies Act 2006 we are required (o report to you if. in our opinion:

« we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

« adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
« the parent company financial statemerits are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

14.2. Directors’ remuneration

Urider the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to report if in our opinion certain disctosures of directors' remurieration have not been made or the part of the directors’

remuneration report to be audited is ot in agreemient with the accounting records and returis.
We have nothing to report in respect of these miatters.

15. Other matters which we are required to address

15.1. Auditor tenure

Foliowing the recommendation of the Audit and Risk Cornmittee, we were appointed on 31 May 2017 t¢ audit the financial statements for the year ended 27 January 2018
and subsequent financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement including previous renewals and reappointments of the firm is 6 years, covering the years
ending 27 January 2018 to 29 Jaruary 2023.

15.2. Consistency of the audit report with the additional report to the Audit and Risk Committee
Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the Audit and Risk Committee we are required to provide in accordance with 1SAs (UK}

16. Useof ourreport

This report is made solely to the company’'s mernbers, as a body. in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken
so that we rmight state to the cormpany’s members those matters we are required to state to thern in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility t anyone other than the corpany and the company’s rembers as a body, for our audit work, for this report,
or for the cpinions we have formed.

As required by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rule (DTR) 4.1.14R, these financial statements form part of the European Singie
Electronic Format (ESEF) prepared Arnual Financial Report filed or the National Storage Mechanism of the UK FCA in accordance with the ESEF Reguiatory Technical
Standard {ESEF RTS'). This suditor’s report provides no assurance over whether the annual financial report has been prepared using the single electronic format specified

in the ESEF RTS.

D/t~

David Mi CA (Senior y itor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP

Statutory Auditor

Glasgow, United Kingdom

28 March 2023
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Consolidated Income Statement
For the year ended 29 January 2023

2023 2022
Note £m Em
Revenue 2 317.6 2686
Cost of sales (189.5) (150.0)
Gross profit 2 128.1 1186
Other income 5 13 07
Operating expenses 5 (84.1) {76.6)
Operating profit 453 427
Finance income 7 05 -
Finance costs 7 "(1.4) 0.4
Share of after tax results of associates 15 - (0.1)
Profit before tax 444 422
Tax on profit 8 (20.5) {14.4)
Profit for the year 339 278
Earnings per share (pence)
Basic earnings per share 9 30.47 25.09
Diluted earnings per share 9 30.22 2495
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Statements of Financial Position

Asat 29 January 2023
Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
Note £m Em £m Em
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 1 116.2 98.6 2.7 39
Property, plant and equipment 12 102.5 93.8 83.3 74.4
Right-of-use assets . . 13 5.4 4.2 23.0 232
Loans and receivables 14 1.5 15 1.5 15
Investment in subsidiary undertakings 15 - - 113.6 90.3
Investment in associates 16 0.7 07 0.7 0.7
Retirement benefit surplus 27 24 - 172.7 15.1
- 228.7 198.8 242.5 209.1
Current assets .
Inventories 19 34.7 24.2 227 21.0
Trade and other receivables 20 60.4 443 44.7 372
Derivative financial insruments 14 0.1 - 0.1 -
Current tax asset - 0.3 1.6 25
Short-term investments 17 40.0 - 40.0 -
Cash and cash equivatents 18 13.6 68.7 1s 59.1
148.8 1375 120.6 119.8
Total assets 372.5 336.3 363.1 3289
Current liabilities
Loans and other borrowings 21 0.7 0.3 - -
Trade and other payables 22 72.3 54.0 60.5 59.6
Derivative financial instruments 14 0.1 0.2 0.1 02
Lease liabilities . 13,21 15 13 29 2.6
Provisions 23 0.8 2.0 0.6 18
Current tax liabilities 0.7 - - -
76.1 578 64.1 64.2
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 25 28.2 215 11.8 9.1
Lease liabilities 13,21 3. 2.8 18.4 19.3
Put liability 24 - 5.0 - -
Contingent consideration 24 0.8 - 0.8 -
Retirement benefit obligations 27 - 1.0 - -
32.6 30.3 31.0 28.4
Capital and reserves
Share capital 28 4.7 47 4.7 4.7
Share premium account 28 0.9 09 0.9 09
Share options reserve 28 3.4 1.6 33 1.5
Other reserves 28 0.1 (5.1) 0.1 (0.1)
Retained earnings 28 259.7 2424 259.0 229.3
Total shareholder equity 268.8 244.5 268.0 236.3
Non-controlling interest in equity - 37 -
268.8 248.2 268.0 236.3
Total equity and liabilities 377.5 336.3 363.1 3289

The Company reported a profit for the financial year ended 29 January 2023 of £45.0m (30 January 2022: £21.4m).
Company Number: SCO05653

The financial statements on pages 138 to 198 were approved by the Board of directors and authorised for issue on 28 March 2023 and were signed on its behalf by:

Roger White . Stuart Lorimer /
Chief Executive Finance Director o 139



140

A.G.BARRp.l.c. Annual Reportand Accounts 2023

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 29 January 2023

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

Note £m Em £m Em
Profit for the year 339 27.8 45.0 214
Other comprehensive income
ltenns that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Remeasurements on defined tenefit pension plans 27 (1.5) 47 {1.5) 47
Deferred tax movements on items above 25 0.6 (12 0.6 (1.2)
Deferred tax rerneasurement for movement in tax rate 25 - 15 - 15
Items that will be or have been reclassified to profit or l0ss
Cash flow hedges: 14
Gains arising during the period 0.2 01 0.2 0.1
Deterred tax movements on items above 25 - - - -
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (0.7) 51 (0.7) 51
Total comprehensive income for the year 33.2 325 44.3 26.5
Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the parent Company 33.2 330 44.3 26.5
Non-controlling interests - 0.1) - -
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 29 Janvary 2023
Share Share Non-
Share premium options Other Retained controlling

capltal account reserve reserves earnings Total Interests Total
Group Note £m Em £m £m £m £m Em Em
At 30 January 2022 4.7 0.9 1.6 (5.1) 2424 2445 37 248.2
Profit for the year - - - - 33.9 33.9 - 339
Other comprehensive income - - - 0.2 (0.9) {0.7) - 0.7)
Total ccmprehensive income for the year - - - 0.2 33.0 33.2 - 33.2
Company shares purchased for use by employee benefit trusts 28 - - - - {0.7) (0.7) - {0.7)
Recognition of share-based payment costs 25 - - 2.0 - - 2.0 - 20
Transfer of reserve on share sward - - (0.2) - 0.2 - - -
Deferred tax on items taken direct to reserves 25 - - - - - - - -
Derecognition of put liability - - - 13 1.3) - - -
Recognition of tiabilities with non-controlling interests - - - 3.7 - 3.7 {3.7) -
Dividends paid 10 - - - - {13.9) (13.9) - (13.9)
At 29 January 2023 4.7 0.9 34 0.1 259.7 268.8 - 268.8
At 24 January 2021 4.7 09 1.8 0.2) 2216 228.8 - 228.8
Profit for the year - - - - 279 278 (0.1 278
Other comprehensive income - - - c.1 5.0 5.1 - 51
Total cornprehensive income for the year - - - 01 329 33.0 (0.1) 328
Company shares purchased for use by empioyee benefit trusts 28 - - - - 0.5) (0.5) - (0.5)
Recognition of share-based payment costs 29 - - 1.2 - - 1.2 - 1.2
Transfer of reserve on share award - - 1.8 - 18 - - -
Deterred tax on items taken direct 1o reserves 25 - - 04 - - 04 - 04
Recognition of tiabilities with non-controlling interests - - - (5.0 - (5.0} 38 1.2)
Dividends paid 10 - - - - {13.4) (13.4) - {13.4)
At 30 January 2022 a7 0.9 1.6 (5.1) 242.4 2445 7 248.2

141



A.G.BARRp.l.c. AnnualReportand Accounts 2023

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 29 January 2023

Share Share
Share premium options Other Retalned

capital account reserve reserves earnings Total
Company Note Em Em Em Em Em Em
At 30 January 2022 4.7 0.9 1.5 {0.1) 229.3 2363
Profit for the year - - - - 45.0 45.0
Other comprehensive income - - - 0.2 (0.9) (0.7)
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 0.2 441 443
Company shares purchased for use by employee benefit trusts 28 - - - - (0.7) {0.7)
Recognition of share-based payment costs 25 - - 2.0 - - 20
Transfer of reserve on share award - - 0.2) - 0.2 -
Deferred tax on items taken direct to reserves 25 - - - - - -
Dividends paid 16 - - - - 13.9) {13.9)
At 29 January 2023 4.7 0.9 3.3 0.1 259.0 268.0
At 24 January 2021 47 09 17 0.2) 215.0 2221
Profit for the year - - - - 214 214
Other comprehensive income - - - 0.1 5.0 51
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 01 264 26.5
Company shares purchased for use by employee benefit trusts 28 - - - - 10.5) {0.5)
Recognition of share-based payrment costs 25 - - 1.2 - - 1.2
Transfer of reserve on share award - - {18 - 1.8 -
Deferred tax on iterns taken direct to reserves 25 - - 0.4 - - 0.4
Dividends paig 16 - - - - (12.4) (13.4)
At 30 January 2022 47 0.9 1.5 (0.1) 229.3 236.2
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Cash Flow Statements
For the year ended 29 January 2023

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

Note £m £m £m £m
Operating activitles
Profit before tax 44.4 422 53.7 310
Adjustments for:
Interest and dividends receivable (0.5) - (22.5) -
Interest payable 7 1.4 0.4 03 0.4
Contingent considerstion 24 0.8 - 0.8 -
Revatuation of put liability 2.7) - - -
Oepreciation of property, plant and equipment 3 9.8 9.9 9.3 95
Amortisation of intangible assets 3 1.2 1.3 1.2 1.2
Share-based payrment Costs 2.0 1.2 2.0 1.2
Share of results in associates - 0.1 - 01
Gain on sale of property, plant and equiprrnient and available for sale assets (1.0) (0.7) {1.0) 0.7}
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 55.4 54.4 43.8 427
Increase in inventaries (4.5) 4.3 1.7) (4.0)
Increase in receivables (7.6) (5.6) {7.5) {2.8)
Increase in payatles 4.3 77 15.7 1.8
Differance between ermnpioyer pension contributions and amounts recognised in the incorne staterment 4.9) (2.3) (4.9) (2.3)
Cash generated by operations 42.7 499 45.4 45.4
Tax paid (6.8) 6.5) (6.8) (6.5}
Net cash from operating activities 35.9 43.4 38.6 389
Investing activities )
Acquisition of subsigiary (net of cash acquired) 15 (18.6) (5.1} (23.3) {5.5)
Dividgends received - - 8.0 -
Loans made - - 1.8) -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 14.6) 5.0 (14.6) (4.9)
Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipmernit and assets held for sale 1.6 i 1.6 1.1
Funas placed on fized terr deposit 17 (40.0) - {40.0) -
Interest received 0.1 - 0.1 -
Net cash used in investing activities (71.5) (9.0} (70.0) (9.3)
Financing activities
Acquisition of mirority interest 15 (3.9) - - -
Loans rmade - {0.5) - {0.5)
Loans repaid 0.3) - . - -
Lease payrnents wn (L5 {1.5) (L5)
Purchase of Cormpany shares by employee beueiit trusts 28 0.7) 0.2 (0.7) (0.2)
Dividends paid 10 (13.9) 13.4) 13.9) (13.4)
Interest paid {0.2) {0.1) (0.1) 0.1
Net cash used in fi i iviti (20.2) (15.7) (16.2) 15.7)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents {55.8) 18.7 (47.6) 135
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 68.7 50.0 59.1 45.2
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 12.9 68.7 11.5 58.1

Cash and cash equivalents per the Group cash flow statements above comprises cash and cash equivalents per the statement of financial position of £13.6m, net of bank overdrafts
of £0.7m.for the year.ended 2§ Jaruary 2023. Cornpany orily cash and equivalents comprise cash and cash equivalents per the staternent of financial position of £11.5rn.

Non-cash transactions

During the year the Company received a £14.0m dividend frorn Rubicon Drinks Limited, another Group company. This was satisfied by way of a dividend in specis using the
intercormpany balance due by the Comipary to Rubicon Drinks Limited.
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Notes to the Accounts

1. Accounting Policies

General information

A.G.BARR p.Lc. (the ‘Company’) and its subsidiaries (together the "Group’) manufacture, distripute and sell a range of beverages. The Group has manufacturing sites in the
UK and sells mainly to customers in the UK with sorne international sales.

The Company is 3 public limited company, which is listed on the London Stock Exchange and incorporated and domiiciled in Scotland. The address of its registered office
is Westfield House, 4 Mollins Road, Cumbernauld, G68 9HD.

The financial year represents the 52 weeks ended 2$ January 2023 (prior financial year 53 weeks ended 30 January 2022).

y of signifi " tici
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out beiow. These policies have been consistenitly appiied to all
the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidsted and parent Company financiat statements of A.G. BARR p.l.c. have been prepared in accordance with Internat.onal Finanicial Reporting Standards {IFRS) as
adopted by the UK. They have been prepared under the historical cost accounting rules except for the derivative financial instrurnents and the assets of the Group pension
scheme which are stated at fair value and the liabilities of the Group pension scheme which are valued using the projected unit credit imethod.

The directors have adopted the going concerr basis in preparing these accounts after assessing the principal risks. This assessment was undertaken through the use of
a number of reasonably possibie downside scenarios that could impact the business (both individually and cumulatively).

These scenarios include adverse brand damage to the Group's largest brand (IRN-BRU), reimposition of restrictions associated with the Covid-19 paridemic, significant
disruption to supply chain {including the closure of a factoryl, a cyber attack, and significant energy cost inflation.

The director's experience of the Covid-19 pandemic provides confidence over the resilience of our brands, and that the business can react appropristely to significant
downside scenarios. [Material cash preservation rneasures are available, including reducing discretionary spend on overheads, non-essential capital, marketing investrnent,
and the suspension of dividends.

As at 29 January 2023, the consolidated balance sheet reflects a net asset position of £268.8m, including net cash at bank of £52.6m. The Group has £20m of commiitted and
unutiliced debt facilities, corsisting of one revolving credit facility with one bank, providing the busirniess with a secure funding platform. Throughout these severe but plausible
downside scenarios, and with ne cost miitigation, the Group's liquidity requirements wouid be satisfied within existing credit facilities, and headroom is maintained on
associated covenants.

The directors believe that the Group is well placed to manage its financing and other business risks satisfactority. and have a reasonable expectation that the Group and parent
Company will have adequste resources to continue in operation for at least 12 months from the signing date of these consolidated financial statements. They therefore
consider it appropriate 10 adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial staterents.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement
in the process of applying the Group's accouriting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed on page 154.

The directors have taken advantage of the exempticn available under s408 of the Companies Act 2006 and have not presented a separate income siatenient or statement of
comprehensive income for the Coripany.
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Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(a) New and amended standards adopted by the Group

Arnumber of new or amended standards became applicable for the current reparting period and the Group had to change its accounting policies as a result of adopting the
following standards:

< Property. Plant and Equipment Proceeds before Intended Use — Amendments to IAS 16;

«  Onerous contracts - Cost of Fuffilling a Contract - Amendments to IAS 37;

= Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018 - 2020; and

- Reference to the Conceptual Framework ~ Arendments to IFRS 3.

The amendments listed above do not have a material impact on the resuits for the current and prior reporting periods.

{b) New standards, amendments and interpretations issued but nat effective for the financial year beginning 30 January 2023 and not adopted early

Certain new accounting standards, amendrnents to accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 29 January 2023 reperting
periods and have not been early adopted by the Greup. These standards. smendments or interpretations are not expected to have a material impact on the entity in the
current or future reporting periods or on foreseeable future transactions.

C idation — idiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controtled by the Corripany. The Company controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvernent with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns trrough its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries ar¢ included in the consolidated financial statements from
the date over which control commences until the date on which contiol ceases.

Ori the acquisition of a business, identifiable assets and liabilities acquired are measured at their fair value. The cost of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair
values, at the date of exchanae, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued. Any contingent consideration is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date and subsequently until it is settled. The cost of the acquisition in excess of the Group's interest in the net fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill.

Non-controlling interests represent the portion of comprehensive incorne and equity in subsidiaries that is rict attributable to the parent Cornpany shareholders and is
presented separately frorm the parent shareholders’ equity in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Intercompany transacticns, balances, income and expenses on trensactions between Group comparies are eliminated. Profits and losses resulting from intercompany
transactions that are recognised in riet assets are also eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries are consistent with those adopted by the Group.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when control of the goods Fias passed to the buyer. All revenue is recogriised on 5 point of time basis being primarily the point of gelivery 1o
custorners’ sites. The majority of goods are dispatched by the Group's own distribution network and delivery often cccurs on the day of dispatch although some are & few
days later therefore revenue is recognised on delivery to the customer site. None of the Group's contractual arrangements lead to revenue being recognised over time.,

Revenue is the net invoiced sales value, after deducting promotional sales related discounts invoiced by customers, including: brand support costs; custormer incentives: and
exclusive of value added tax of goods and services supplied o external customers during the year. Brand support costs are investments in customer promiotional activities.
Sales are recorded based on the price specified in the sales invoices. net of any agreed discounts and rebates. Brand support accruals are inciuded in the statement of
financial position.

Saies related discounts and rebates are calculated based on the expected amounts necessary to meet the claims of the Group’s customers in respect of these discounts and
rebates. When the Group expects to grant & giscount or rebate 10 s customer, this is treated as variable consideration and adjustments are made to the transaciion price using
the expected value method. This variable consideration is only inc'uded to the extent that it is highly probable the inciusion will not result in 3 significant revenue reversal in
the future.
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Notes to the Accounts continued

1. Accounting Policies contirusd

Excise tax

For the cocktail business, excise duties become payable on alcoholic products when goods are moved frorn bonded warenousas. This duty is effectively a production tax,
porne by the Group and passed o in full to customers through pricing. Excise duty on our own-produced goods are included within cost of goods scld snd net revenue as
all sales are delivered duty paid.

Segment reporting

An operating segrnent is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expernises
that relate (o ransactions with any of the Group's other components and for which discrete financial information is available. Seament results that are reported to the Board
and senior executives (as chief operating decision makers) include items directly attributable to 2 segment as well as those that can be allocated on a corisistent basis.

Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group's entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates
{"the functional currency’). The consolidated financial staterents are presented in £ sterling, which is the Company’s functional and the Group's presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the excriange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where iterns are
remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and lcsses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement in the samie lire in which the transaction is recorded.

intangible assets

Goodwill

Goeowill represents the excess of the consideration of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group's share of the net identifiable assats of the acquired subsidiary at the
date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill is tested arinuaily for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated
impairment charges. Impairment chiarges on goodwill are not reversed. Goodwill is allocsted to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The sllocation
is made to those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business cornbination in which the goodwill arose. :

An intangible asset acquired as part of & business combination is recognised outside of goodwill if the asset is separable or arises from contractual or other legal rights and its
fair value can be measured reliably.

Brands

Separately acquired brands are recognised at cost at the date of purchase. Brands acquired in a business.combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Brands
acquired separately or through a business combination are assessed at the date of acquisition as to whether they have an indefinize life. The assessment inciudes whether the
vrand name will continue 1o trade, ard the expected lifetime of the trand. All trands scquired 1o date have been assessed as having an indefinite life as they are expected to
continue 1o contribute to the long-term future of the Group. The trands are reviewed annually for impairment, being carried at cost less sccumulsted impairment charges.

The fair value of a brand at the date of acquisition is based on the Relief frorm Royatties rmethod, which is a valuation model based on discounted cash flows,
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Customer relationships
Customer relationships acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair vaiue at the acquisition date. The customer relationships have a finite useful life and are
caniied at cost less accumuiated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method over the expected life of the customer relationship.

The fair value of the customer relationships at the acquisition date was based on the Muitiple Excess Earnings Method {MEEM] which is a valuation model based on discounted
cash flows. The useful lives of customer relationships are based on the churn rate of the acquired portfoiio and are up to 10 years corresponding to a yearly amiortisation of
between 10% and 33%. The useful lives of all intangible assets are reviewed annuslly and amended, as required, on a prospective dasis.

Software costs

Software expenditure is recognised as s intangible asset oniy afterits technical feasibility and cornmercial viability can be demonstrated. Acquired cornputer software
licences and software developed in-house are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bririg Lo use the specific software. Costs include resources focused
on delivery of capital projects where the choice has been rmade to use internal resources. These costs are amortised using the straight-line method over the expected useful
iife of the software, which is 10 years.

Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings comprise mainly factories, distribution sites and offices. All property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation ard
impairraents. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of the assets. The purchase price of an asset will include the fair
value of the consideration paid to acquire the asset. Borrowing costs directly atiributable to acquisition, construction and/or preduction of assets that take a substantiai time
to compiete are capitalised.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amourit or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate. only when it is probabte that future econormic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

The carrying amount of ary replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period ir which they
are incurred.

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation is charged from the date that assets, other than land, are availsble for use. Itis calculated using the straight-line method to sliocate the
cost o the residual values of the related assets using the foliowing rates:

Buildings - 1%
Leasehold buildings - Term of lease
Piant, equipment and vehicles — 10% to 33%

Property. plant and equipment residual values and usefui lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each year end date. The carrying value of the property, piant
and equiprnent is reviewed for irnpairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the recoverable arnount may be less than the carrying value.

An asset’s carrying armourit is written dowri immediately to its recaverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
Anitemn of property, plant and equiprneritis derecognised on dispasal or where no future econornic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the net proceeds with the carrying armount and are recognised within administration costs in the income staternent.
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Notes to the Accounts continued

1. Accounting Policies continued

Government grants

The Group recognises government grants in accordance with IAS 20. Grants received by the Group are recognised in the income statement and rmaiched against the costs
thiat the grant are intended to compensate for and are therefore shown net.

Leases

The Group as lessee

For any new contracts entered intothe Group considers whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A lease is defined as any cortract, or part of a contract, that conveys the

right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To apply this defirition the Group assesses whether the contract meets three

key evaluations which are whether:

+ The contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly specified by being identified at the time the asset is made availabie
1o the Group; .

+ The Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified asset throughout the period of use, considering its rights within the
defined scope of the contract; and

« The Group has thie right to direct the use of the identified asset throughour the period of use. The Group assesses whether it nas the right to direct the use of the identifieg
assets through the period of use. The Group sssesses whether it has the right to direct "how and for what purpose” the assetis used throughout the period of use

and g! of leases as a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recogrises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the balarice sheet. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made
up of the initiai measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct costs incurred by the Group, an estirnate of any costs to dismantie and remove the asset at the end of the
iease, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease commencement date (net of any incentives received). The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a
straight-line basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the asset or the end of the lease term. The Group also assesses the
right-of-use asset for impairment where such indicators exist.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are made up of fixed payments, varisble payments based on an index or rate, amounts expected 1o be
payable under a residual guarantee anid payments arising from options reasonably certain 1o be exercised. Subsequent to initial measurement. the liability will be reduced
for payrnents made and increased for interest. It is remeasured o reflect any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed payrnents, When
the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding adjustrent is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to zero.

The Group has elected to accourit for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets (less than £1,000) using the practical expedients. Instead of recognising thie right-of-
use asset and lease liabiiity, the payments in relation to these are recognised as an expernse in profit or l0ss on a straight-line bas’s over the lease term.

On the balance sheet, right-of-use assets and lease liabilities have been disclosed separately.

Investment in associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence that is neither a subsidiary rior an interest in a joint venture. Significarit influence is the power 10
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not controt or joint control over those policies.

The results. assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements using the equity methriod of accounting. The investment is recognised initialty

in the statement of financial position at cost, and is adjusted thereafter 1o recognise the Group's share of the profit or ioss and other comprehensive iricome of the associate.
On acquisition, any excess of the cost of the investmerits over the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiabie assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised &s
goodwill, which is included within the carrying arnount of the investment. Ary excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of identifiabie assets and liabilities over the cost
of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediateiy in profit or loss in which the investment s acquired.
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Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that sre subject to amortisation are reviewsd for
impairment whenever events or chianges in circumistanices indicate that the carrying armount may ot be recoverable.

An impairment charge is recognised in the incorne statement for the amount by which the asset’s carrving amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable smount
is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
post-tax discount rate that is based on current rnarket assessments of the time value of money and risks specific to the asset for which the future cash flow estimates have not
heen adjusted.

For the purpcses of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest ievels for which there are separately ideritifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the irnpairment at each reporting date.

A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed oniy if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the assel's recoverable amount since the impairment
loss was recognised although any reversal cannot result in a carrying armount that would exceed the carrying arnount that would have been recognised, riet of depreciation,
had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.

-
instr .

Non-derivative financial instruments cornprise investments ir equ ty and debt securities, short-term investments, loans receivable, trade and other receivables, cash and cash

equivalents, loans and borrowings, put liability, contingent corisideration and trade payables.

Trade receivables

Trade receivabies are recognised initially at transaction price. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
3n allowance for expecied credit losses (ECL). The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables. The expected credit toss on these financial assets are estimated
using a provisior: matrix based on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
sssessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate. The carrying amount
of the asset is reduced by the allowance for expected credit losses and the amount of the loss is recognised iri the incorme statement within administration costs.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest methogd.

Investments
Investrnents in subsidiaries are carried at cost less impairrnent in the parent Company accounts.

Short-term investments
Short-term investrnents are interest-bearing depasits. They are recognised initially at fair value plus attricutable transaction costs. Subsegquent to initial recogriition, they are
rmeasured at aimariised cost using the effective interest method. The Group always recognises 12-months ECL for trade short-term investments as they are lows credit risk.

Financial assets classification

The Group classifies its financial assets at amaortised costs if both the following criteria are met:

« The asset is held within a business model whose cbjective is tc collect the contractuai cash flows; and

« The contractual terms give risk to cash fiows that are solely payments of principal and interest on principal cutstanding.
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1. Accounting Policies contirued
R ition and d. gnition of fi jal instr

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a timeframe established by regulation or convention in the market-place (reqular way trades) are
recognised at the trade date, i.e. the date that the Group commits o purchase or sell the asset. All other financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised at trade date.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the contractual sssets have expired or have been transterred and the Group has transferred all
the risks and rewards of ownership. .

Financial liabiiities are derecognised when, and only when, the Group’'s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cashi in hand, on demand deposits with banks and other shiort-termn, highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less,
which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to insignificant risk of changes in vaiue. For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, bank
averdrafts repayabie on dermand that form an integral part of the Group's cash managerment are included as components of cash and cash equivaients.

bearing b ing
Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated
at amortised cost using the effective interest rmethod.

Putlia
A put liability is recognised wiriere the Group is obliged 1o purchase the shares of a subsidiary from nori-controlling shareholders. It is initially measured at the presenit value
of the redemption amount in the consolidated financial statements with any changes in the measuremeant recogrised in the income statement. The lizbility is recognised
as a non-current liability if it is not expected to be exercised within 12 months.

Contingent consideration

Contingent consideration resulting from business combinations, is measured 5t fair value using the income spproach. When the contingent corsideration meets the
definition of a financial liabiiity, it is subsequently remeasured to fair value at each reporting date. The determination of the fair value of contingent consideration is hased
ari cash flows and is classified as a norni-current liability in the balance sheet.

Derivative fi fal instr and hedgi iviti
The Group enters into derivative finaricial instrurnents to manage its exposure to foreign exchange rate risks using foreign exchange forward contracts. Further details of
derivative financial instruments are disclesed in Note 14.

Derivatives are recognised initiaily at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured o their fair value. The gain or loss on
remeasurement is recognised in the income statement irnrmediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as 3 hedqing instrument, in which event the timing
of the recognition in the income staternent depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

A derivative with a positive fair vaiue is recognised as a financial asset, whereas a derivative with a negative fair value is recognised as a financial liability. Derivatives are not
offset in the financial staterents unless the Group has both legal right and intention to offset. The irnpact of hedging on the Group's financial position is disclosed i Note 14.
A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is more than 12 months and it is not expected to be
realised or settied within 12 months. Other derivatives are presented as current assets or current liabilities.
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Cash flow hedges
The Group designates certain derivatives as hedqing instruments in respect of foreign currency risk in cash flow hedges, including hedges of foreign exchiange risk on
firm commitments. )

At the inception of the hedae relationship, the Group documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, along with its risk management

objectives and its strateqy for undertaking various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis. the Group documents whether

the hedging instrurnent is effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk. which is when the hedging relationship

rneets ali of the following hedge effectiveness requirements:

« There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument;

« The effect of credit risk does not dominate the value chianges that result from that'economic relaticnship. {The Group does not consider credit risk to be material but will
rnonitor on an ongoina basis); and

+ The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the
hedaing instrument that the Group aciually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item.

The Group designates the full change in the fair value of & forward contract as the hedging instiuments for il of its hedging relaticnsnips.

The etfective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated under the heading of casn flow hedging reserve. The gain or 10ss relating to the ineffective portion is recagnised imrediately in the incormne staterment
within administration costs. Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled through the income statement in the pericd when the hedged item affects profit or loss.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estirnated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
of completing production and selling expenses.

The cost of inventories is based on the first-in first-out principle and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and oringing them to their primary distribution
location and condition. This includes direct labour costs and an appropriate share of overheads based on normal operatirg activity.

Company shares held by employee benefit trusts

Company shares are puichased on behalf of employee benefit trusts to satisfy the liability of various emiployee share schemes. The armount of the consideration paid,
including directly attributable costs, is recognised as a charge in equity. Purchased shares are classified as Comnpany shares held by emplcyee benefit trusts, and preserited
as a deduction from retained earnings.

Current and deferred income tax
Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax.

Current 1ax is charged in the income statement except where it relates to tax on iterns recognised directly in equity, in which case it is charged ¢ equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable ori the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the year end date and any adjustment G tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided in full using the lishility method, providing for temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts,
in the cansolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Accounts continued

1. Accounting Policies contirusd

Thie foliowing temporary differences are not provided for:

»  Theinitial recognition of goodwill; ang

- Differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably rot reverse in the foreseeable future

Deferred tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the year end date and are expected 10 apply wiier the related deferred
tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is settled. A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that itis no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised,

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit plans

The Group operates two pension schemes, as detailed in Note 27. The schemes are generally funded through paymients to trustee-administered funds. The Group has both
defined benefit and defined contribution plans.

Defined contribution pension plans
A defined contribution plan is & pension plan under wiich the Group pavys fixed contributions into 3 separate entity. Obkligations for contributions are recognised as an
expense in the incorne statement as they fall due. The Group has no further payrment obligations once the contributions have been paid.

Defined benefit pension plans
A defined henefit plan is 3 pension plan that is not a defined contribution plan. Typicaily defined benefit plans define an amount of pension benefit that an employee will
receive on retirement, usually dependent on ore or rnore factors such as age, years of service and compensation.

The iiability/surplus recognised in the staternent of finaricial position in respect of defined beriefit pension plans is the present value of plan assets tess the fair vaiue of the
defined benefit obligation. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method.

The present value of the defined benefit obligstion is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high-guality corporate bonds that
are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approxirnating to the terms of the related pension liability.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assurmiptions are charged or credited to equity in other comprenensive income in the
pericd in which they arise.

The Group recognises Jains and losses o the settlerent of a defined benefit plan when the settlernent occurs. The gain or loss on a settlemerit is the difference between
the present value of the defined beneiit obligation being settied as determined on the date of settiernent and the settlernent price, including any plan assets transferred and
any payiments made directly by the Group in cennection with the settiement.

The Group's defined benefit plan was closed to future accruat on 1 May 2016.
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Share-based compensation

The Group grants equity-settled share-based paymernts to certain =rmployees. These are measured at fair value {excluding the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions)
at the grant date. The fair value of the equity-settied shars-based payment determined at the grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on
the Group's estimate of the shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions. Fair value is measured using the Black-Scholes
pricing model.

The Group also provides empioyees with the ability to purchase the Company’s ordinary shares st a discount to the current market value through payroll.

The Group records as an expense the fair value of the discourit on the shares purchased by the ermployee as a charge to the income statement and a credit to the share
options reserve. :

At each year end date, the entity revises its estimnates of the numboer of options that are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting conditions. It recognises the impact
of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the income statement, with a corresponding adjustment to the share options reserve.

Profit-sharing and bonus plans
The Group recognises a liability and an expense for varicus bonuses based on formuiae that take into consideration the profit atuibutable to the Company's sharehclders
after certain adjustments.

The Group recognises a provision where there is a contractual obligation or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obiigation.

Provisions
A prevision is recognised if, as the result of a past everit, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estirnated reliably and it is probabte that an
outflow of economic bernefits will be required to settle the obligation.

A restructuring provision is recogrised wher: the Group has approved 5 detailed and formal restructuring plan which has heen either announced or has commerced.
Future operaling costs are not provided for.

Dividend distributions
Dividend distributions to the Company’s shareholders are recognised as 3 liability in the Group's financiai statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by
the Cornpany’'s sharenolders.

Share repurchase programme
Any share repurchase programmes would result in the cancellation of repurchased shares and the transfer of the relevant permanent capital into 5 Capital Redemiption
Reserve. The Capitai Redemption Reserve is included in "Other reserves” within equity. Refer to Note 28.

Alternative performance measures

Alternative performance measures (APMs) are tracked by management to assess the Group's operating performarice and to inform financial, strategic and operating decisions.
These are therefore presented within the Annual Report and Accounts. Definitions of APMs and reconcitiation to GAAP measures can be found in the Glossary o pages 199
to 204.

Adjusting items

The Group exciudes adjusting items from its non-GAAP measures because of their size, frequency and nature to allow shareholders to better understand the elemerits of
financial performance in the year, so as to facilitate comparison with prior periods and to assess trerds in financial performance more readily. These iterns are primarily
non-operational.
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Notes to the Accounts continued

1. Accounting Policies contiriusd

Critical ing jud and key of ion uncertainty

The preparation of financial statenients requires management to make assumptions and estimates that affect the amounts reported for assets and liabilities as at the ststernent of
financial position date and the amourits reported for revenues and expenses during the year. Due to the nature of estimation, the actuai outcomes may well differ fron these estimates.

The directors do not consider there to be any critical accounting judgements. The key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that may have a
significant risk of causing 3 material adjustrent to the carrying amounts of assets and liabiiities within the next financial year, are:

Estimates

Retirement benefit obligations

The determination of any defined benefit pension scheme surplus/obiigation is based on assumptions determined with independent actuarial advice. The assurptions used
include discount rate, infiation, pension increases, salary increases, the expected return on schieme assets and mortality assumptions. The material estirations are those for
which a sensitivity analysis is provided in Note 27. The directors consider that those sensitivities provided in Note 27 represent the range of possible outcomes that could
reasonably be expected to occur in the next 12 months.

Sales related rebates and discounts

The Group agrees to pay customers various arnounts in the form of sales related rebates and discounts. Accruals are made for each indivigual promotion or rebate based
on the specific terrns and conditions of the custorner agreement. Managernent make estimates on an ongoing basis to assess customer performance and sales volurne to
calculate the total amounts earnied to be deducted frorn revenue. Based on total rebate and discourit spend in thie year 3% of sp=nd would need to be omitted to result in
a rnaterial error in the value of accruals made at year end.

Climate change considerations

Climate change is a global challenge and an emierging risk 1o businesses, people and the enviroriment across the world. We have a role to play in lirniting warming by improving
our energy management, reducing our carbon ermissions and by helping our customers and suppliers do the same. In cur view, climate change does not create any further key
sources of estirnation uncertainty in these financiat statements. For further details, see the Risk Managernent snd Sustainabitity sections of the Strateqgic Report.

2, Segment reporting
The Board and senior executives have beeri identified as the Group's chief cperating decision-nakers, who review the Group's internat reporting in order to assess
performance and allocate resources.

The performance of the operating segments is assessed by reference to their gross profit.

Year ended 29 January 2023

Cocktall
Soft drinks solutions Other Total
Em Em £m Em
Total revenue 266.6 42.8 8.2 317.6
Gross profit 109.6 16.2 23 128.14
Year ended 30 January 2022
Cockrail
Soft drinks solutions Other Total
Em £m £m Em
Total revenue 2306 365 11 268.6
Gross profit 103.5 14.7 G4 1186
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There are no material intersegment sales. All revenue is in relation to product sales, which is recogrised at a point in time. upon delivery to the custorner.

All of the assets and liabilities of the Group are managed on a central basis rather than at a segment level. As a result, ne reconciliation of segment assets and liabilities to the

statement of financial position has been disclosed for either of the periods presented.

Inciuded in revenues arising from the above segmients are revenues of approximately £60.3m, which arose from sales to the Group’s largest customer (2022: £51.5m).

No other single customers contributed 10% or more to the Group's revenue in either 2022 or 2023.

All of the segments included within “Soft drinks” and "Cocktail solutions” meet the aggregation criteria set cutin IFRS 8 Operating Segmerits.

Geographical information.

The Group operates predominantly in the UK with some worldwide sales. Ail of the operations cf the Group are based in the UK.

2023 2022
Revenue £m £m
UK 303.7 257.3
Rest of the world 13.9 11.3
3176 2686
The rest of the world revenue includes sales to the Republic of lretand and internationsl wholesale export houses.
All of the assets of the Group are located in the UK.
3. Profit before tax
The following items have been inchided in arriving at profit before tax:
2023 2022
Note £m £m
Degpreciation of property, piant and equipment 12 8.2 84
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 13 1.6 1.5
Arnortisation of intangitie assets 1 1.2 13
Cost of inventories charged in cost of sales 189.5 150.0
Trade receivables irpairment movement 20 0.1
Staff costs 4 55.6 50.2

RED costs for the year otalled £1.4m (2022: £1.3m). with elernents of these costs included in the table above.

Inciuded within administration costs (Note 6) is the auditor's remuneration. including expenses for audit and non-audit services.
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3. Profit before tax contirued
The cost includes services from the Company’s auditor and its associates:

2023 2022
£'000 £000
Statutory audit services
Fees payable 1o the auditor of the parent Company and consolidated accounts 229 170
Fees payable to the auditor for other services:
Audit of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation - 20
Audit-related assurance services 35 30
Other services 6 5
4. Employees and directors
. 2023 2022
Average monthly number of peopie employed by thie Group {including executive directors)
Production and distribution 644 64
Administration 293 23
937 879
Staff costs for the Group for the year
2023 2022
£m £m
Wages and salaries 44.2 40.2
Social security costs 54 4.8
Share-based psyments 2.0 1.2
Pension costs - defined contribution plans 4.0 38
Pension costs - defined benefit pians - 02
55.6 50.2
5. Otherincome
2023 2022
£m Em
Gain on sale of property 13 0.7
Total 13 Q7

The gain on sale has been included as an adjusting item, See adjusied income statement on page 201,
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6. Operating expenses

2023 2022

£m £m

Distribution costs {including selling costs) 48.7 417
Administration costs 354 249

84.1 756
7. Net finance costs

2023 2022

£m Em

Interest receivable on short-term deposits 0.5 -
Interest payabie (0.2) 0.2)
Lease interest {0.1) [(eX0]
Finance costs relating to defined benefit pension plans {Note 27) - 0.1)
Unwind of discount (1.1) -

(0.9) {0.4)
8.  Taxation

2023 2022
Group £m £m
Chargel/(credit) to the income statement
Current tax on profits for the year 7.0 71
Agjustrnents in respect of prior years 0.7 {0.3)
Total current tax expense 77 6.8
Deferred tax
QOrigination and reversal of:
Temporary differences 3.5 1.3
Adjustment for change in carparation tax rate - 5.7
Adjustments in respect of prior years 0.7) 06
Total deferred tax expense (Note 25) 2.8 76
Total tax expense 10.5 14.4

I addition to the above movements in deterred tax, a deferred tax debit of £0.6m (2022: credit of £0.2m) has been recognised in other cornprehensive income and a debit of

£0.2rn {2022: credit of £0.4m) has been taken direct to reserves (Note 25). In addition, a deferred tax liability of £4.3r has been recognised on the acquisition of Boost {Note 15).
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8.  Taxation continued
The tax on the Group's profit before tax differs from the amount that would arise using the tax rate applicable to the consolidated profits of the Group as follows:

2023 2023 2022 2022
£m % Em %
Profit before tax 44.4 422
Tax at 19% (2022: 15.0%) 8.4 19.0 8.0 19.0
Tax effects of:
Itemns that are not deductible in deterrining taxable profit 2.1 4.6 0.4 09
Current tax adjustment in respect of prior years 0.7 1.6 {0.3) 0.7)
Deferred tax adjustment in respect of prior years (0.72) (1.6) 06 1.4
Deferred tax adjustmerit in respect of change in corporation tax rates - - 57 135
Total tax expense 10.5 23.6 14.4 341

The weighted average tax rate was 23.6% (2022: 34.1%).

In March 2021, the UK Government announced that the corporation tax rate would increase from 19% to 25% effective from 1 Aprit 2023, which was substantively enacted on
24 May 2021. The impact of this was a one-off increase in the deferred tax charge of £5.7m. The Finance Act 2022, which received Royal Assent on 24 February 2022, will ot
have any impact on the corporation tax figures.

9. Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share nas been caiculated by dividing the earnings attributable to equity holders of the parent by the weighted average nurnber of shares in issue during the
year, excluding shires held by the employee share scheme trusts.

2023 2022
Profit atiributable to equity holders of the Company {Em) 339 279
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 111,258,209 111,187.778
Basic earnings per share (pence) 30.47 25.09

For diluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of ordinary shares iri issue is adjusted to assume conversicn of all potentially dilutive ordinary shares. These
represent share options granted to employees wriere the exercise price is less than the average market price of the Campany’s ordinary shares during the year. The number
of shares as calculated above is compared with the number of shares that would have been issued assurning the exercise of the share options.

2023 2022
Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company (Em) 33.9 279
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 111,258,209 111,187,778
Adjustment for dilutive effect of share options 920,512 657.074
Diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 112,178,721 111,844,852

Diluted earnings per share (pence) 30.22 2495
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10. Dividends
Dividends paid in the financial year were as follows
2023 2022 2023 2022
per share pershare £m Em
Final dividend 10.00p - 1.1 -
Interirn dividend 2.50p 2.00p 2.8 22
Special dividend -p 1C.00p - 1.2
12.50p 12.00p 13.9 134

The directors have proposed s final dividend in respect of the year ended 29 January 2023 of 10.6p per share. It will be paid on  June 2023 to all shareholders who are on

the Register of Members on 12 May 2023.

In the year ended 30 January 2022, foliowing a review of the Group's net cash position and future funding requirernents, the Board approved a special dividend of 10.0p per

share recognising the benefit of a number of one-off cash inflows that were outside normal trading.

Dividends payabie in respect of the financial year were as foliows:

2023 2022

pershare per share

Finai dividend 10.60p 10.00p
Interim dividend 2.50p 2.00p
13.10p 12.00p

Special dividend - 10.00p
Total dividend payable 13.10p 22.00p
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11. Intangible assets

Software
Customer development
Goodwill Brands relationships Waterrights costs Totatl
Group £m £m £m Em £m £m
Cost
At 24 January 2021 39.0 571 39 07 1.8 1125
Additions 10 8.4 - - - g4
At 30 January 2022 40.0 €5.5 39 07 1.8 1219
Additions 19 16.9 - - - 18.8
At 29 January 2023 41.9 824 39 0.7 11.8 1407
Amortisation and impairment losses
At 24 January 2021 3.6 73 38 0.7 6.6 220
Arnortisation for the year - - 0.1 - 1.2 13
At 30 January 2022 3.6 73 39 0.7 78 233
Arnortisation for the year . - - - - 1.2 12
At 29 January 2023 36 73 39 0.7 9.0 245
Carrying amounts
At 29 January 2023 38.3 754 - - 28 116.2
At 30 Janvary 2022 26.4 582 - - 4.0 986

During the year ended 29 January 2023, the Group acquired a 100% interest in Boost Dririks Holdings Limited (‘Boost™). In addition the Group acquired the remaining 38.2%
interest in MOMA Foods Ltd ("MOMA") having acquired a 51.8% controlling interest in the prior year. Details of brand and goodwill recognised or acquisition are included in
Note 15.

The remaining goodwill and brands recogrised relate primarily to the acquisition of Rubicon Drinks Limited and FUNKIN Limitec. The software developrment costs represent
internally generated software developrnent costs and third party consultancy costs in relation to the Business Process Redesign project imptemented in 2015.

The opening customer relationships batance represents intangible assets recognised on the acquisition of Rubicon Rrinks Limited and FUNKIN Limited. The amortisation
charge represents the spreading of the cost over the assets’ expected useful lives. All customer relationships are fully amortised.

The amacrtisation costs for the year to 29 January 2023 have been included in the income staternent 3s administration costs.
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Software
Customer development
Goodwill Brands relationships Waterrights costs Total
Company Em £m £m Em £m Em
Cost
At 24 January 2021 19 7.3 1.0 0.7 11.8 27
At 30 January 2022 19 73 1.0 0.7 11.8 227
At 29 January 2023 1.9 73 1.0 0.7 11.8 2227
Amortisation and impai losses
At 24 January 2021 1.9 73 1.0 0.7 6.7 176
Arortisation for the year - - - 12 1.2
At 30 January 2022 1.9 73 1.0 0.7 79 18.8
Arnortisation for the year - - - - 1.2 1.2
At 29 January 2023 1.9 73 1.0 0.7 9.1 200
Carrying amounts
At 29 January 2023 - - - - 27 27
At 30 January 2022 - - - - 39 39
The goodwill and brands recoarised in the Comparny relate to the acquisition of the Strathmore Water business. Thie software development costs represent internally
generated software development costs and third party consultancy costs incurred in relation to the Business Process Redesign project.
Impairment tests for goodwill and brands
For impairment testing, goodwyill and brands are aliocated to the cash-generating unit (CGU) representing the iowest level at which goodwill is imonitored for internal
management purposes. The Group tests whether there has been any impairment of intangitle assets on an annual basis or when there is an indication of impairment.
The recoverable amount of a CGU is based on vaiue in use Calculations. These caicuiations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial forecasts approved
by management which cover a five-year periogd. Cash flows beyond five years are extrapolated using the growth rates and other key assumptions noted beiow.
The aggregate carrying amourits of goodwill allocated to each CGU are: Goodwill Brands Totat
At 29 January 2023 Em £m £m
Rubicon 21.0 43.0 64.0
FUNKIN 14.4 6.8 212
MOMA 1.0 8.4 9.4
Boost 1.9 16.9 18.8
Total 38.3 75.14 1134
Goodwitl Brands Total
At 30 January 2022 Em Em £m
Rubicon 210 43.0 54.0
FUNKIN 144 6.8 21.2
MOMA 1.0 8.4 o4
Total 36.4 58.2 946
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11. Intangible assets continued
Key assurnptions for esch CGU:

2023 2022
Long Long-t Discount
growth rate rate growth rate rate
% % %
Rubicon 3.0 9.5 2.0 87
FUNKIN 3.0 9.5 20 87
MOMA 3.0 9.5 30 180
Boost 2.3 9.5 - -

Key assumptions used in value in use calculations

The following describes each key assumption on which management has based its cash flow projections to undertake impairmant testing of goodwill:
« Volume growth rates - reflect management expectations of volume growth based on growth achieved to date, current strategy and expected market trenas, and wilt vary

according to each CGU.

« Marginal contribution - being revenue less materiai costs and alt other marginal costs that management considers to de directly attributatle (o the sale of 5 given product.
Marginal contribution is based on approved financiai budgets. Key assumptions are made within these budgets about pricing, discounts and costs based on historical data,

current strategy and expected market trends,

« Advertising and prornotionai spend - financial budgets approved by rmanagement are used to deterrnine the value assigned Lo advertising and prornotional spend. This is

based on planned spend for year one and strategic intent thereafter.

« Raw material price, production and distribution costs, selling costs and other overhead inflation — based on approved financial budgets, which incorporate current material

coverage, current strategy and expected market trends.

» The discount rate reflects management’s estirnate of post-tax cost of capital adjusted for the specific risks impacting on each operating unit. The estimated pre-tax cost of

capital is based on quidance provided by an independent third party to the Group.

Sensitivity analysis was carried out on the above calculations to review possible levels of impairment under & range of different assumptions, e.g. adjusting discount rates. At &
pre-tax rate of 20%, or & reduction in long-term growth of 1%, there would be no impairment, Whilst cash flow projections used within the impairment reviews are subject to
inherent uncertainty, ressonably possible changes to the key assumptions applied in assessing the value in use calculation would not resuit in a change in the impairment

conclusions reached
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12. Property, plant and equipment
Land and Plant,
Long equipment Assets under

Freehold teasehotd and vehicles construction Total
Group £m £m Em £m £m
Cost or deemed cost
At 24 January 2021 64.8 04 1055 2.6 1777
Additions 0.2 - 10 4.6 5.8
Transfer from assets under construction 0.6 - 27 3.3) -
Disposals [{eR}] - (0.4) - {0.5)
At 30 January 2022 65.5 04 113.2 39 183.0
Additions 0.4 - 40 126 170
Transfer fiom assets under construction 0.3 - Q0.3 0.6 -
Disposals {0.3) - 6.9 - (7.2)
At 29 January 2023 65.9 0.4 110.6 15.9 192.8
Depreciation
At 24 January 2021 7.4 04 735 - 81.3
Amount charged for year 08 - 76 - 8.4
Disposals 0.1 - (0.4) - 0.5)
At 30 January 2022 8.1 04 80.7 - 89.2
Amount charged for year Q.8 - 74 - 8.2
Disposals 0.1 - (7.0 - (7.1)
At 29 January 2023 8.8 04 81.1 - 90.3
Netbook value
At 29 January 2023 571 - 29.5 15.9 102.5
At 30 January 2022 574 - 32.5 39 93.8
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12. Property, plant and equipment coritinued

Land and bulldings

Plant,
Long equipment Assets under

Freehold leasehold and vehicles construction Total
Company £m £m £Em £Em £m
Cost or deemed cost .
At 24 January 2021 419 0.3 1091 2.7 154.0
Additions 01 - 0s 45 5.5
Transfer from assets under construction 06 - 27 (3.3) -
Disposals - - {0.4) - {0.4)
At 30 January 2022 42.6 0.3 112.3 39 1591
Additions G4 - 38 126 169
Transfer from assets under construction Q0.3 - 0.3 0.6) -
Disposals (0.3) - {7.0) - (7.3)
At 29 January 2023 43.0 0.3 109.5 15.9 168.7
Depreciation
At 24 January 2021 4.0 0.3 72.8 - 771
Arnount charged for year 05 - 75 - 8.0
Disposals - - 0.4) - {0.4)
At 30 January 2022 45 0.3 759 - 847
Arnount charged for year 0.5 - 7.2 - 77
Disposals 0.1 - {6.9) - (7.0
At 29 January 2023 4.9 0.3 80.2 - 85.4
Net book value
At 29 January 2023 38.1 - 29.3 15.9 83.3
At 30 January 2022 38.1 - 32.4 39 74.4

At 29 January 2023, the Group and the Company had entered into contractual cormitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment amounting to £8.7m

(2622: £9.5m).
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13. Leases
This note provides information for leases where the Group is a lessee. The Group is not a lessor.
@ A ised in the bal sheet
The balance sheet shows the following amourits relating to leases:
Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
Em £m Em Em
Right-of-use assets
Buildings 1.8 Q0.7 18.9 19.7
Plant, equipment and vehicies 3.6 35 4.1 35
5.4 4.2 23.0 23.2
Lease liabilities
Current 1.5 13 2.9 256
Non-current 3.6 28 18.4 193
5.1 4.1 213 219
Company only right-of-use assets and lease liabilities relate to assets leased under the asset-hacked funding arrangements, as outlined in Note 27.
Additions to the right-of-use assets during 2023 were £2.9m (2022:£3.1m) for the Group E1.4m (2022: £3.1m) for the Company.
G A gnised in the i
The income statement shows the following amounts relating to lesses:
2023 2022
£m £m
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
Buildings R 0.6 04
Plant, equipment and vehicies 1.0 11
1.6 L5
Interest expense (including finance cost) . 0.1 01
Expense related 1o short-term leases fincluded in cost of goods sold and sdministrative expenses) 0.1 0.1

The total cash outflow for leases in 2023 was £1.7m (2022: £1.5m).

At 29 January 2023 the Group has no cormritments for short-teri leases.

There are no expenses in relation to variable lease payments not included in the measurement of the lease liabilities or income from sub-leasing right-of-use assets.
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13. Leases continued

(iii) The Group’s leasing activities and how these are accounted for

The Group leases various offices, equipment and vehicles. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 12 months to 10 years, but may have extension options
as described in fivj.

Contracts may contain both {ease and non-lease components. The Group allocates the corisideration in the contract to the lease and non-lease components dased on their
relative stand-alone prices. Howsever for (eases for real estate for which the Group is a lessee, it has elected not to separate lease and non-lease components and instead
accounts for these as a single lease.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other
than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not e used as security for borrowirg purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present vaiue of the following lease payments:
« Fixed payments (including in-substarice fixed payrments), less any lease incentives receivable

« Variable lease payments that are based on an index or & rate, initially measured using the index cr rate as at the commencemsant date

«  Amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees

« The exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option

« Paymerits of penalties for terminating the iease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising that option

Lease payments to be msde under reasonably certain extension options are slso included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the rate implicit in the ease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is generaily the case for ieases in the Group,
the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the Group would have to pay (¢ borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of sirnilar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with sirmilar terms, security and conditions,

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

« Where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the Group as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since third-party financing
was received

« Uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases

= Makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, country, currency and security

Lease payments are allocated between principat and finance cost. The finance cost is charged 1o the income statement over the lease period so as (o produce a constant
pericdic rate of interest on the remaining balarice of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

«  The amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability

- Any lease payrnents made at or before the commericement date less any tease incentives received
«  Any initial direct costs

» Restoration costs

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Paymenits associated with short-term leases of equipment and vehicles. and all leases of low-value assets, are recognised on a straight-lirie basis as an expense in the income
staterment. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise IT equipment and small items of office furniture,
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(ivi E ion and ter p
Extension and termination options are included in a number of property and equipment {eases across the Group. These are used to raximise operational flexibility in terms
of rmanaging the assets used in the Group's operations. The rajority of extension and termination options are exercisable only by the Group and not by the respective lessor.

(v)  Residual value guarantees
To optimise lease costs during the contract period, the Group sometimes provides residual value guararitees i relation to equipment lesses.

The Group initially estirates and recognises arnounts expected to be paid under residual value guaranitee as part of the lease liability. Typically, the expected residual value
at lease commencement is equal to or higher than the guaranteed amount. so the Group does ot expect to pay anything under the guarantees.

14. Financialinstruments

2023 2022
£m £m

Derivative financial assets — current
Derivatives that are designated and eftective as hedging instrurnents carried at fair value:
Foreign currency forward contracts 0.1 -
Derivative financial liabilities - current
Derivatives that are designated and effective as hedging instrurments carried at fair value:
Foreign currency forward contracts 0.1 0.2

Itis the policy of the Group to enter into foreign exchiange forward contracts to manage the foreign currency risk associated with anticipated purchase transactions cut to
18 months. This is hedged on a sliding scale hasis where the nearer the time of the purchase, the greater the armount hedged will be.

For the hedges of highly probable forecast purchases, as the critical terms {i.e. the notional amount, life and undertying contracts) of the foreign exchange forward conwracts
and their corresponding hedged items are the same. the Group performs a gualitative assessment of effectiveriess anid itis expected that the value of the forward contracts
and the value of the corresponding hedged itams will systematically change in opposite direction in response to movements in the underlying exchange rates. The Group
assesses the ineffectiveness by comparing past changes in the fair vaiue of the foreign exchange forward contracts with changes in the fair value of a hypothetical derivative.

The main sources of hedge ineffectiveness in these hedging relationships are foreign currency basis spread and trie effect of the counterparty and the Group's own credit risk
on the fair vaiue of the forward contracts, which is not reflected in the fair value of the hedged item attributable to changes in foreign excharnge rates. Both items are not

materiai t the Group. No other sources of ineffectiveness emerged from these hedge relationshigs.

The cumulative amount of gains and losses on effective hedging instruments are held within the cashflow reserve in ‘Cther reserves’.
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14. Financialinstruments continued

The foliowing table details the foreign currency forward contracts Gutstanding &t the end of the reporting period, as well as information regarding their related hedged items.

Foreign currency forward contract assets and liabilities are presented in the line "Derivative financial instrurnents” {either as assets or as liabilities) within the staternent of

financial position. All of the currency forwsrd contracts are designated as cash flow hedges.

Average exchange rate

Notional value:
Foreign currency

Notional value:
Local currency

Carrying amount of the hedging

instruments liahilities

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
2023 2022 €m €m Em £m £m Em

Buy EUR
Less than 3 menths 1.15 117 4.3 36 3.8 31 0.1 0.1
3to 6 months 1.14 116 3.5 31 31 25 - 0.0
6 to 12 months 1.13 116 2.5 18 2.2 16 - -
aver 12 months 1.12 115 0.4 04 0.4 0.3 - -
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
2023 2022 $m Sm Em Em £m £m

Buy USD
Less than 3 months 1.22 - 1.7 - 1.4 - (0.1) -
3to 6 months 1.22 135 1.3 14 1.1 1.0 - -
- 0.2)

Group and Company

Fair value hierarchies 1 to 3 are based on the degree to which fair value is observable:
Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or (iability, either directly {i.e. as orices) or indirectly {i.e. derived from prices)

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are nict based on observable market data

The fair value of financial instruments that are riot traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined by using valuation techniques. These
valuation technigues maximise the use of observable rmarket data where itis available and rely as littie as possible on entity specific estimates. The fair value of the forward
foreign exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange rates at the date of the staternent of financial position, with the resuiting vaiue discounted accordingly

as relevant.
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The following tables show the carrying amaounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities. It does not include fair value information for financial assets and

financial liabilities not rneasured at fair valug if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

Carrying amount

Other financlal

Falrvalue ~ Other atfalr Other
hedging assetsat  value through liabitities at
Group Instruments amortised cost  profitand loss amortised cost Total
AL 29 January 2023 £m £m Em £m Em
Financial assets — Non-current
Loan receivable™ - 0.5 - - 0.5
Loan receivable from associate - 1.0 - - 1.0
- 1.5 - - 1.5

Financial assets — Current
Foreign exchange contracts used for hedging 0.1 - - - 0.1
Trade receivables - 55.8 - - 55.8
Short-term investments - 40.0 - - 40.0
Cash and cash equivalents - 13.6 - - 13.6

0.1 109.4 - - 109.5
Financial liabilities = Non-current
Contingent consideration - - 0.8 - 0.8
Lease liabilities - - - 3.6 3.6

- - 0.8 3.6 4.4

Financial liabilities — Current
Bank borrowings - - - 0.7 07
Foreign exchange contracts used for hedging 0.1 - - - 0.1
Lease liabilities - - - 1.5 15
Accruals - - - 272.2 27.2
Trade payables - - - 37.2 37.2

0.1 - - 66.6 66.7
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14. Financiatinstruments continued

Trie contingent consideration is carried at fair value and classified as level 3 fair value in the fair value hierarchy. The main unobservable input is whether or the profit targets

for the pay-out are expected to be met. The performance targets are expected to be met and the fair value of this contingent consideration esrned was estimiated to be

£0.8rm &t 29 January 2023. See slso Note 24,

Carrying amount

Other financial

Fairvalue - Other financial  liabitities at fair ~ Other financial
hedging assets at value through liabilities at

Group instruments  amortised cost profit and loss amorlised cost Total
At 30 January 2022 £m £m £m En £m
Fi ial assets = N
Loan receivable* - 05 - - 0.5
Loan receivable from associate - 1.0 - - 1.0

- 15 - - 1.5
Financial assets — Current
Trade receivables - 416 - - 41.6
Cash and cash equivalents - 68.7 - - €8.7

- 110.2 - - 110.3
Financial liabilities —~ Non-current
Put option - - 5.0 - 5.0
Lease liabilities - - - 28 2.8

- - 5.0 28 7.8
Financial liabilities — Current
Barik borrowings - - - 0.3 0.3
Foreign exchange contracts used for hedging Q.2 - - - 0.2
Lease liabilities - - - 1.3 13
Accruals - - - 313 313
Trade payables - - - 15.8 15.8

0.2 - - 487 48.9

* Theloan receivable was proviged in August 2021. The eariiest repayrnent date is August 2023,
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Carrying amount

Fairvalue = Other financial Other financial
hedging assets at liabilities at
Company instruments amortised cost amortised cost Total
At 29 January 2023 £m £m £m £m
Financial assets — Non-current
Loan receivable” - 0.5 - 05
Loan receivable from associate - 1.0 - 1.0
- 1.5 - 1.5

Financial assets — Current
Foreign exchange contracts used for hedging 0.1 - - 0.1
Trade and otner receivables and amounts due from subsidiary cornpanies - 39.0 - 39.0
Short terrn investments - 40.0 - 40.0
Casn and cash equivalents - 115 - 115

0.1 90.5 - 90.6
Financial liabilities — Non-current
Contingent consideration - 0.8 - 0.8
Lease liabilities - - 18.4 18.4

- 0.8 18.4 19.2

Financial liabilities — Current
Foreign exchange contracts used for hedging 0.1 - - 01
Lease liabilities - - 29 29
Accruals - - 20.6 206
Trade payables and amounts due to other subsidiary companies - - 33.0 33.0

0.1 - 56.5 56.6
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14. Financialinstruments continued

Carrying amount

Fair value - Other financial Other tinancial
. hedging assets at liabilities at
Company instruments amortised cost  amortised cost Total
Al 30 January 2022 Em Em Em Em
Fi ial assets— N t
Loan receivable” - c5 - 05
Loan receivable from associate - 1.0 - 1.0
- 5 - 15
Financial assets - Current
Trade and other receivables and arnounts due from subsidiary companies - 346 - 3456
Cash and cash equivalents - 59.1 - 59.1
- 937 - 937
Financial liabilities — Non-current
Lease liabilities - - 19.3 19.3
- - 19.3 19.3
Financial liabilities — Current
Foreign exchange contracts used for hedging 0.2 - - 0.2
Accruals - - 271 271
Lease liabilities - - 26 26
Trade payables snd amounts due to other subsidiary companies - - 259 259
0.2 - 55.6 55.8

*  Theloan receivable was provided in August 2021. The eatliest repayment date is August 2023.

All financial instruments at fair value sit within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy with the exception of the contingent consideration that sits within Level 3.

The carrying amount of the other financial assets and liabilities approzimates to the fair value due to the short term to maturity &nd/or not bearing interest.

The cumulative amount of gains and losses on effective hedging instruments are heid within the cash flow hedge reserve in "Qther reserves”.
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15. Investment in subsidiaries

Compary
2023 2022
£m Em
Opening investment in subsidiaries 90.3 84.1
Investments made in the year 233 5.2
Closing investment in subsidiaries 113.6 99.3

On 5 December 2022, the Group acquired 100% of the shares anc voting interests in Boost Drinks Holdings Lirnited ("Boost’) granting it control. Included in the identifiable
assets and liabilities of Boost are inputs (inventories, receivabies and payables) and an experienced workforce with technical expertise. The Group has concluded that,
together, the acquired inputs and processes are a business that wiil create value by generating revenue in the soft drinks category, supported by the Group's brand

building capability.

For the two months ended 29 January 2023, Boost contributed revenue of £7.3im and had an immaterial irnpact on profit. Had Boost been a subsidiary for the fuil financial
year, it would have conuibuted ¢.£50m reveniue to the Group and ¢.£1.0m profit

Thre value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Boost at the date of acquisition were:

Em
Property. plant and equipment 0.2
Right-of-use assets 9.2
Intangitie assets X 169
Inventory 5.0
Trade receivables 85
Cash and cash equivalents 13
Trade payabies (7.1)
Accruals 2.8
Lease creditors 0.3)
Other taxes and social security 0.7}
Current tax (0.2}
Deferred tax (4.1)
Total identifi. net assets acquil 18.0
Goodwill 19
Value on acquisition 199
Total consideration 199
Represented hy:
Cash 199

The acquisition includes a potential additional consideration of up 10 £12.0m payable depending on the successful delivery of future performance during an earn-out period
comrnencing 1 December 2022 and ending 20 Novermber 2024 as outlined in Note 24.
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15. Investmentin subsidiaries continued
On 20 December 2022 the Group acquired the remaining 38.2% equity stake in MOMA Foods Ltd ("MOMA’) for a total cash consideration of £3.4m.

On € December 2021, the Group acquired £1.8% of the shares and voting interests in MOMA granting it control. Included in the identifiable assets and liabilities of MOMA

are inputs (inventories, receivables and paysbies) and an experienced workforce with technical expertise. The Group has concluded that, together, the acquired inputs and

processes are a business that will create value by generating revenue in the growing plant-based drinks category. supported by the Group's brand building capability.

The value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of MOMA at the date of acquisition were:

Em
Property, plant and equipment 0.2
Intangible assets 8.4
Inventory 06
Trade receivables 1.0
Prepayments 0.1
Cash and cash equivalents 0.4
Trade payables (0.7)
Accruals (0.7
Loans (0.3)
Total identifiable net assets acquired 9.0
Geoedwill 1.0
Value on scyuisition 100
Non-controliing interest {3.8)
Total consideration 6.2
Represented by

6.2

Cash

As part of the arrangements with non-controiling sharehotders of MOMA, the Group issued put options to the seliers to sell the rernaining shares and sirnultaneously the
seller issued call eptions to the Group to purchase the remaining shares. At the acquisition date, the Groug recognised a put liabiiity of E8.6rm recorded at a present value of

£5.0m being the estimated redemption value, using forecast revenue of MOMA, discounted at a post-tax rate of 18%.

The put liability was derived from an internal vaiuation, using forecast revenue over the exercise period, discounted at a post-tax rate of 18% and assumed the option was
exercised in full in the third year following the date of acquisition. As the Group now owns 100% of MOMA the put liability has been released in the year t 29 January 2023.
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Acquisition-related costs
The Group incurred acquisition-related costs of £1.2m {year to 30 January 2022 £0.2m) ori legal fees and due diligence costs. These costs have been inciuded
in ‘Adrninistrative experses’,

The goodwill arising represents potential revenue synergies. It is anticipated that on disposal. goodwili and brand will be deductivle for tax purposes.

The principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Courtry of Counuy of principat
Principal subsidiary Principal activity i i peration:
FUNKIN Limited ! Distribution and selling of cocktail solutions England UK
FUNKIN USA Limited Distribution and selling of cocktail solutions England UK
Rubicon Drinks Lirnited Distribution of fruit based soft-drinks . England UK
MOMA Foods Ltd Distribution and selling of oat drinks and cereals England UK
Boost Orinks Limited Cistribution and selling of soft-drinks England UK

A.G. BARR p.lL.c. holds 100% cf the equity and votes of the subsidiaries. (Year ended 30 January 2022: 100% with the exception of MOMA: 68.2%). The sutsidiaries have the
sarne year end as A.G. BARR p.l.c. and have been inciuded in the Group consolidation. The companies listed are the trading subsidiaries. Refer to Note 31 for a full list of
subsidiary companies.

16. Investment in associates .
In June 2019, the Group made a E£1m investment in Elegantly Spirized Limited, acquiring a 20% stake in the business. In November 2020, a £1m loan was provided as disclosed
in Note 14,

The following entities have been included in the consclidated financial staternents using the equity method:

% of ownership interest Carrying amount
Country ot incorporasion and 2023 2022 2023 2022
Name of entity principai place of business % % Em Em
Elegantiy Spirited Limited UK 20 20 0.7 07

The primary business of Elegaritly Spirited Limited is & brand builder, rnarketing and selling & range of zero proof distilled spirits. The address of its registered office is
19 Langham Street, London, England, WIW 6BP. This investment is consistent with our strategy of building a branded portfolic of products across both alcohiot and
ricri-alcohol beverages. The investment is not considered a material associate and therefore disclosures are limited to the section below.
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16. Investment in associates continued
Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material

2023 2022

£m Em

Carrying arnount of individually immaterial associates 0.7 07
Aggregate arnounts of the Group's share of:

Loss frorn continuing operations - 0.1)

Total comprehensive expense - 0.1}

2023 2022

£m £m

Opening balance st start of year 0.7 08

Share of operating losses - 0.0

Closing balance at end of year 0.7 0.7

17. Short-term investments
Group Company

2023 2022 2023 2022

£m £m £m Em

Short-term investments 40.0 - 40.0 -

These deposits are made for durations of three months tc no more than six months. These investments are due to rmature by April 2023 when accrued interest will then

be received.

18. Cash and cash equivalents

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
£m Em £m £m
Cash and cash equivalents 13.6 68.7 115 59.1
Cash and cash equivalents in the table above are included in the cash flow statements.
19. Inventories
Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
£m Em £m Em
Materials 9.8 9.8 9.8 28
Finished goods 24.9 14.4 129 1.2
34.7 242 227 210
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20. Trade and other receivables

Group Company

2023 2022 2023 2022

£m Em £m £m

Trade receivables 56.0 4.7 39.1 247
Less: loss allowance {0.2) 0.1 (0.1) 0.1
Trade receivables - net 55.8 416 39.0 346
Prepayments 4.6 27 3.8 23
Arnounts due by subsidiary companies - - 1.9 03
60.4 44.3 44.7 372

Trade receivables
The average credit period ori sales of goods is 60 days. No interest is charged on outstanding trade receivables.

The Group always measures the toss allowance for trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The expected credit losses on trade receivables are estimated using
a provision rnatrix by reference to past default experience on the debtor and an analysis of the debtor's current financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at
the reporting date. Accordingly, the credit risk profile of these assets is preserited based on their past due status in terms of the provision matrix.

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information that the debtor is in severe finanicial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
e.g. when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceeding. None of the trade receivables that have been written off are
subject to enforcement activities.

The maximum exposure for both the Group and the Company o redit risk for trade receivatles are the balances in the table above.
The foliowing table detaiis the risk profile of trade receivables based on the Group's provision matrix. As the Group's historical credit ioss experience does riot show
significantly different loss patterris for different customer segments, the provision for loss allowance based ori past due status is not further distinguished between the Group's

different customer base.

The Group's and Cornpany’s most significant custormer, a UK major customer, accounts for £9.1m of the trade receivabies carrying amount at 25 January 2023
{30 January 2022: £5.4m).
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20. Trade and other receivables coritinued

Trade receivables — days past due

Not past due <30 31-60 61-90 >90 Total

Group - 29 January 2023 Em Em Em Em £m Em
Expected credit loss rate 0.1% 0.1% 0.6% 42.4% 6.0%
Expected total gross carrying amount st default 48.9 4.2 15 - 14

Lifetime ECL 0.1 - - - 0.1 0.2

Trage receivables — days past due

Not past due <30 31-60 61-90 >90 Total

Group - 30 January 2022 Em £m £m £m Em Em
Expected credit toss rate 0.1% Q.4% 1.8% 7.4% 50.8%
Expected total gress carrying armourit at default 376 . 21 0.8 01 01

Lifetirne ECL = - - = 01 0.1

Trade = days pastdue

Not past due <30 31-60 61-90 >90 Total

Company - 29 January 2023 £m £m £Em £Em £m £m
Expected credit loss rate 0.1% 1.4% 19.9% 39.2% 50.3%
Expected total gross carrying amount at defautt 39.0 - - - 0.1

Lifetime ECL - - - - 0.1 0.1

Trace receivables — days past due

Not past due <30 31-60 61-90 ~90 Total

Company - 30 January 2022 Em Ein Em £m £m Em
Expected credit loss rate 01% 1.7% 259% 41.2% 52.0%
Expected totai gross carrying amount at default 245 01 - - 01

Lifetime ECL - - - - 0.1 0.1

The carrying amount of the Group and Company's external trade and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies:
Group Company

2023 2022 2023 2022

Em £m £m Em

UK sterling 59.5 438 443 369

Eure 0.5 0.4 04 0.3

US dollar 0.4 0.1 - -

60.4 443 44.7 372
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21. Loans and other borrowings

Group Compary
2023 2022 2023 2022
£m Em £m Em
Current
Bank barrowings 0.7 0.3 - -
Lease liabilities 1.5 13 29 26
Non-current
Lease liabilities 3.6 2.8 18.4 193
Total borrowings 5.8 4.4 213 219

Alt of the Group's borrowings sre denominated in UK sterling.

As disclosed in Note 15, the Group rmade an investient in Boost in the year enced 29 January 2023. The bank borrowing at the year end represents the overdrait of Boost at
the year end date.

As disclosed in Note 15, the Group made ari investment in MOMA in the year ending 30 January 2022. MOMA hiad two CEIL loans totalling £0.3m, as rioted in the table above.

This was a sterling debt facility expiring in June 2026. The £0.3m was fully repaid in the year ended 29 January 2023.

As at 30 January 2022, the Group had access 1o £30m of revolving credit facilities over periods of three to five years with Royal Bank of Scotland plc and HSBC Bank plc.
In the year ending 29 January 2023 these facilities were reduced to £20m held with Royal Bank Scotland pic which is due to expire in February 2026.

Arrangement fees associated with loan facilities are included in the finance costs line in the income statement,

During the year to 26 January 2014, certain property assets were transferred into A.G. BARR Scottish Limited Partnership and are being leased back te the Cornpany under
a 21-year lease agreemerit. Further details are inciuded within Note 27.

The maturity analysis of the lease liabiiities are shown in the table below:

Group Company

Lease liabilities Lease liabilities
2023 2022 2023 2022
£m Em £m £m
Less than cne year 1.5 13 2.9 25
QOne to wa yesrs 1.4 1.0 2.8 24
Two to three years 1.1 0.8 2.6 24
Three te four years 0.8 0.6 23 20
Four to five years 0.3 04 18 20
Later than five years - - 144 16.1
5.1 4.1 26.8 275
Less: Unearned interest - - (5.5) (5.6)
51 4.1 21.3 219
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21. Loans and other borrowings coritinued
The movements in the Group borrow/ings are analysed as follows:

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
Em Em £m Em
Opening borrowings balance 4.4 5.4 219 235
Net lease movements 1.0 (1.3} {0.6) 13
Bank overdraft utilised 0.7 - - -
Borrowings acquired/drawn-down - 03 - -
Repayments of borrowings (0.3) - - 29)
Closing borrowings balance 5.8 4.4 213 219
Reconcitiation 1o et funds:
2023 2022 2023 2022
Em £m £m £m
Closing borrowings balance (5.8) (4.4 {21.3) 21.9)
Short-term investrnents (Note 17) 40.0 - 40.0 -
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 18) 13.6 €68.7 115 59.1
Net funds 478 64.3 30.2 372
The facilities at 28 January 2023 were as follows:
Total facility Drawn Undrawn
£m £m £m
Revolving credit facility - five years, expires February 2026 20.0 - 20.0
Qverdraft 1.0 0.7 0.3
21.0 0.7 20.3
The facilities as at 30 January 2022 were 3s follows:
Total facility Drawn Undrawn
Em Em Em
Revolving credit facility — three years, expires February 2022 10.0 - 10.0
Revelving credit facility — five years, expires February 2025 20.0 - 20.0
Qverdraft 51 - 5.1
CBILS loan facility - six years, expires June 2026 0.2 0.2 -
CBILS revolving credit facility - thres years, expires May 2024 01 01 -
35.4 03 35.1
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Trie table below details changes in the Group and Company's liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.

At At
30 January Interest New Financing 29 January
2022 charged leases cash flows 2023
Group £m Em £m £m £m
Borrowings 0.3 - - 04 0.7
Interest paid . - 0.2 - (0.2) -
Lease liabilities (Note 13) 44 - 27 1.7 5.4
Total liabilities from financing activities 44 0.2 2.7 {1.5) 5.8
Company £m Em Em £m £m
Lease liabilities (Note 13) 219 - 0.9 {1.5) 21.3
Total liabilities from financing activities 219 - 0.9 (1.5) 213

22. Trade and other payables

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
£m Em Em Em
Current

Trade payables . 372 15.8 273 137
Other taxes and social security costs 3.6 11 3.0 11
Accruals 31.5 371 245 26
Amounts due to subsidiary companies - - 5.7 12.2
723 54.0 60.5 59.6

Trade payabies have increased £21.4r1 as a result of the incorperation of Boost and the phasing of the January 2023 supplier payrnent runs.

Trade payabies and amounts due to subsidiaries are repayable within six months.
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23. Provisions

Customer
Business related Repairs/  Supplier related
ganisati provisi Ditapidati cf 15 Totat
Group Em £m Em £Em Em
Opening provision at 24 January 2021 11 0.3 0.5 - 19
Provision created during the year - 0.1 - 05 0.6
Provision utilised during the year (0.5) - - - {0.5)
Closing provision at 30 January 2022 06 0.4 0.5 05 20
Provision created during the year 0.3 0.1 0.2 - 0.6
Provision utilised during the year (0.6) (0.4) (0.3) {0.5) {1.8)
Closing provision at 29 January 2023 0.3 0.1 0.4 - 0.8
Customer
Business related Repairs/  Supplier related
reorganisati provisi Ditapidati S i Total
Company Em Em £m £m Em
QOpening provision at 24 Janusry 2021 11 0.3 0.3 - 17
Provision created during the vear - 0.1 - 0.5 [X)
Provision utilised during the year 0.5) - - - {0.5)
Closing provision at 30 January 2022 G.6 04 0.3 05 1.8
Provision created during the year 0.3 0.1 - - 04
Provision utilised during the year {0.6) (0.4) (0.1) {0.5) {1.6)
Closing provision at 29 January 2023 . 0.3 0.1 0.2 - 0.6
The provisions above prirnarily relate to redundancy costs, customer related provisions, snd for any known obligatiors for substantial repairs and supplier related
commitments. The majority of the provisioris are expected to be utilised within 12 months.
24. Other non-current liabilities
Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
£m £m £m £m
Contingent considerstion 0.8 - 0.8 -
Put liabitity - 5.0 - -
0.8 5.0 0.8 -

On 5 December 2022, the Group acquired 100% of the shares and voting interests in Boost Drinks Holdings Limited ("Boost’} Tre acquisition consideration comprised both
an initial payment of £15.5m and & potential future consideration of up to £12.0m payable depending on the successful delivery of future performanice during an earn-out
period comrencing 1 Decernber 2022 and ending 20 November 2024,

The put liability related to the initial purchase of a 62% stake in MOMA Foods Lid under which the vendor had a right but not an obligation to sell the remaining 38% of the
Cornpany to the Group in June 2025.
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The put liability was derived from an internal valuation, using forecast revenue over the exercise period, discounted at a post-tax rate of 18% and assurned the option was
exercised in full in the third year following the date of acquisition. As the Group now owns 100% of MOMA the put liability has been released in the year to 29 January 2023.

Details of the acquisition of Boost and MOMA are provided in Note 15.

25. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Foreign
exchange . Retirement Accelerated

Share-pased contract  Total geferred benefit Share-based tax  Total deferred Net deferred

payments hedge tax asset obligations payments depreciation tax liability tax liability

Group Em Em £m £m Em Em £m £m
At 24 January 2021 - - - (2.4) {0.4) {11.8) (14.6) {14.6)
(Credit)/charge to the income staternent (Note 8) - - - 2.8) 03 5.1) (7.6) {7.6)
Charge to other comprehensive incomie - - - 0.3 - - 0.3 2.3
Chiarge to other reserves - - - - 0.4 - 0.4 04
AU30 January 2022 - - - (4.9) 0.3 (16.9) (21.5) 21.5)
{Creditl/charge to the incorne statement (Note 8) - - - {1.2) (0.3) {1.5) {3.0) {3.0)
Charge to other comprehensive income - - - 0.6 - - 0.6 0.6
Acquired on acquisition - - - - - {4.3) 4.3) {4.3)
Charge to equity - - - - - - - -
At 29 January 2023 - - - {5.5) - (22.7) {28.2) {28.2)

Foreign
exchange Retirement Accelerated

Share-based contact  Total deferred benefit Share-based tax  Total deferred Net deferred

payments hedge tax asset obligations payments depreciation tax liability tax liabitity

Company £m £m Em Em £m Em £m Em
At 24 January 2021 - - - (2.4) 0.4) (2.4) (5.2) 5.2}
{Credit)/charge to the income statement - - - (2.8) 0.3 2.0 {4.5) (4.5)
Charge to other comprehensive income - - - 0.3 0.3 - 0.6 0.6
At 30 January 2022 - - - (4.9 0.2 (4.4} 9.1) (CRY)
{Creait)/charge to the income statement - - - 1.2) {0.3) (1.8) (3.3) (3.3)
Charge to other comprehensive income - - - 0.6 - - 0.6 0.6
Charge to equity - - - - - - - -
At 29 January 2023 - - - (5.5) (0.1) (6.2) (11.8) (11.8)

No deferred tax asset is recognised in the statement of financial position for unused capital losses within the Comparny of £4.0m (2022: £4.0rn).
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26. Financial risk management

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk {including foreign exchanige risk, cash flow and fair value interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The Board has deieqated the maniagement the Group's overall financisl risk programime to the Treasury and Commodity Comuviittee; this risk programme
focuses on the unpredictatility of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financisi performance. The Group uses derivative financial
instrurnents to hedge certain risk exposures.

Financial risk rmanagement is carried out in accordance with policies approved by the Board cf Directors. Management identifies, evaluates and manages financial risks in
close cooperation with the Group's business units. The Board provides guidance on overall market risk management, including use of derivative financial instruments and
investment of excess liquidity.

In addition, the Treasury and Comrmeodity Cornmiittee deals with a range of other treasury matters, details of which are provided in the Corporate Governance Report.

Market risk

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally. The Group primarity buys and sells in Sterling but does imake purchases and sales denominated in US dollars and eurcs. Due to the
hedging arrangements that have been in place for the year ended 29 January 2023, if Sterling had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the US dollar or euro. with all other
variables held constant, there would not have been a material effect on post-tax profit (year ended 30 Janiuary 2022: no material impact on post-tax profit). See also Nate 14
for information regarding hedging.

The Group periodically enters into option contracts to purchase foreign currencies for known purchases whiere the value and volume of trading purchases is known.
The Treasury and Commodity Cormmittee assesses whether hedge accounting should be applied for each £X option contract.

Price risk
The Group is not exposed to equity securities price risk because no such investments are held by the Group other than within pansior scherne assets.

The Group purchases a wide range of cominodities in the ordinary course of business. Expasure to changes in the market price of certain of these commodities, including
sugar, plastic, aluminium and mango, is ranaged through the use of forward physical supply contracts, primarily to convert floating or indexed prices to fixed prices.

The use of such contracts to hedae commadity exposures is governed by the Group's risk policies and is continually monitored by the Treasury and Commiodity Committee.
Commodity derivatives also provide a way to meet customers’ pricing requirermenits whilst achieving a price structure consistent with the Group's overall pricing strateay.

All of the Group's commodity derivatives are treated as ‘own use” contracts, which are outside the scope of IFRS 9, since they are both entered into, and continue to be held,
for the purposes of the Group's ordinary cperations, and are not net settled (the Group takes physical delivery of the commodity concerned). *Own use” contracts do not
require accounting entries untii the cornmiodity purchase actually crystallises.

The majority of the Group's forward physicsl contracts and commodity derivatives have original maturities of less than one vear

As alt of the commodity contracts qualify for the “own use” treatment, no sensitivity analysis has been carried out.
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Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The Group's interest rate risk arises from tong-term borrowings and short-term irvestrnents. Borrowings and investments are obtained at fixed rates reducing the Group's
exposure {o cash flow interest rate risk.

For the year ended 29 January 2023, if interest rates on sterling-denominated borrowings at that date had been 1.0% higher/lower, with sll other variables held constant,
there would have been an immaterisl change in the post-tax profit for the year (year ended 30 January 2022: immaterial impact on post-tax profit).

Creditrisk
Credit risk is managed on a Group basis. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with bariks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to
major and direct tc store customers, inciuding outstanding receivabies and committed tranisactions.

For banks and financial institutions whiere the cormpany hoids cash and cash equivalents, short-terns irvestiments and borrowing, only independeritly rated parties with a
rrinimum rating of "A” are accepted. If major customers are independently rated. these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent rating, risk control processes
assess the credit quality of the customer, taking inte account its financial position, past experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are set by senior nianagement, based
on internal or external ratings. The utilisation of credit iimits is regularly monitored. Sales to direct o store custerners are largely settled in cash in order to mansge credit risk
from smaller, independent stores.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management imglies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit
facilities and the ability to close out market positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying business, the Group maintains flexibility in fundina by maintaining sufficient
cash reserves and the availability of borrowing facilities. See Note 21 for disclosures of committed facilities.

Management raonitors rolling forecasts of the Group's liquidity reserve (which comprises undrawn borrowing facilities and cash and cash equivalents) on the basis of
expected cash flows. This is carried cut at 3 Groug level and involves projecting forward cash flows and considering the level of liquid assets necessary (o meet excesses of
expenditure relative to income.

The Group and Company also enters into forward commodity contracts that are not held on the balance sheet. Comimitrnents are shown in the table beiow, all of which are
payable within one year.

Total contractual outflow

2023 2022
Group and Company £m £m
Forward commodity contracts 13.8 9.0
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26. Financial risk management coritinued
The undiscounted contractual cash flows of financial liabilities are presented in the table below:

Total
contractual
Year ended 29 January 2023 Within 1 year 1-2years 2-3years 3 —-4years 4-~Syears Syears + outflow
Group £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Trade and other payables 37.2 - - - - - 37.2
Accruals 315 - - - - - 315
Contingent consideration - 0.8 - - - - 0.8
Leases 1.5 1.4 11 0.8 0.3 . - 51
Borrowings 0.7 - - - - - 0.7
Derivatives 11.5 0.4 - - - - 119
82.4 2.6 11 0.8 0.3 - 87.2

Company
Trade and other payables 27.3 - - - - - 273
Arnounts due to subsidiary companies 5.7 - - - - - 5.7
Accruals 24.5 - - - - - 245
Contingent consideration - 0.8 - - - - 0.8
Leases 29 2.8 2.6 23 1.8 144 26.8
Derivatives 11.5 0.4 - - - - 11.9
71.9 4.0 2.6 2.3 1.8 144 97.0
Total
contractual
Year ended 30 January 2022 Within 1 year 1-2years 2 -3 years 3 -4 years 4 - Syears 5years + outflow
Group B Em Em Em £m Em Em £m
Trade and other payables 15.8 - - - - - 15.8
Accruals 371 - - - - - 371
Put liabitity - - 5.0 - - - -
Leases 13 1.0 08 06 c4a - 4.1
Derivatives 8.5 - - - - - 8.5
62.7 1.0 58 0.6 G4 - 65.5

Company
Trade and other payables 27 - - - - - 137
Arnounts due to subsidiary companies 122 - - - - - 12.2
Accruals 326 - - - - - 326
Leases 26 2.4 24 20 2.0 16.1 275
Derivatives 85 - - - B - 8.5
69.6 2.4 24 20 2.0 16.1 24,5
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Capital risk management
The Group defines “capital” as being net debt plus equity including tease liabilities.

The Group's objective when mariaging capital is lo maintain an appropriste capital structure to balance the needs of the Group. whilst operating within its bank covenants.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group has

a nurnber of options available to it, including moditying dividend payments to shareholders, returning capital to shareholders or issuing new shares. In this way. the Group
halances returns to shareholders betweeri long-term growth and current returns whilst rmaintaining capital discipling in relation to investing activities and taking any necessary
action on costs to respond to the current environment. :

The Group monitors existing equity in issuance on the basis of the net debt/EBITDA ratio. Net debt is calculated as being the net of cash and cash equivalerits, interest-bearing
toans and borrowings. The riet debt/EBITDA ratio enables the Group to plan its capital requirernents in the medium term. The Group uses this measure to provide useful
information to financial institutions and investors. The Group believes that the current net debt/EBITDA ratio togetner with existing shares in issuance provides a secure capital
swucture with a strona level of financial flexibility 1o enable the Group o take advantage of opportunities that may arise.

For the year ended 25 January 2023, there was & net cash surplus of £52.6m (year ended 30 January 2022: net cash surplus of £64.3m) with cash and cash equivalent’
balances of £13.6m, short-terr investrnents of £40.0m and bark borrowings of £1.0m (year ended 30 January 2022: cash and cash equivalents balance of £68.7m and bark
borrowings of £C.3im). .

The Group monitors capitai efficiency on the basis of the returr on capital employed ratio (ROCE). In the financial year ended 29 January 2023, ROCE remairied strong
3t 18.0% (2022: 19.9%).

27. Retii benefit obligati

During the year the Company operated two pension schemes, the A.G. BARR p.l.c. (2005) Defined Contribution Schieme {the "2005 Scheme”) and the A.G. BARR p.l.c. (2008}
Pension and Life Assurance Scheme {the 2008 Sctieme’). The 2098 Scheme comprises a funded defined benefit section based on final sslary and a defined contribution
section. The defined benefit section was closed to future accrual frorn 1 May 2016, The defined contribution section of thie 2008 Scheme and the 2005 Scheme were closed
to news entrants and new contributions frorn 30 Jurie 2021 and all defined contribution assets were transferred to the A.G. Barr Retirernent Plan, an cutsourced rnaster trust
pension arrangernent, in Septernter 2021. The 2005 Scheme was terminated on 31 May 2022. Under the defined benefit section of the 2008 Scheme, ernployees are entitled
to retirement benefits based on final pensionable pay. No other post-retirement benefits are provided.

Defined benefit sch Actuarial
The assets of the defined benefit section of the 2008 Scherre are held separately from those of the Compariy and are invested in managed funds. A full valuation cf the
defined benefit section of the 2008 Schemnie was conducted as at 5 April 2020 using the attained age methiod and a deficit of £7.7m was determined at that date.

The defined benefit section of the 2008 Scheme exposes the Group 1o actuarial risks such as longevity risk, interest rate risk and rnarket investmerit risk.

Responsibility for governance of the plans, including investment decisions and contribution schedules, lies jointly with the Company and the board of pension trustees.
The board of trustees is composed of representatives from the Campany scheme mernbers and an independent trustee in accordance with the 2008 Schermne's ruies.
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27. 9
Defi i IAS 19 infor
The full actuarial valuation carried out at 5 April 2020 was updated to 25 January 2023 by s quslified independent actuary.

continued

The valuation used for the defined berefit schemes hss been based on market conditions as at the Company year end.

The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are as follows:

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
£m £m £m Em
Present value of funded obligations (76.9) (114.9) {76.9) {114.9)
Fair value of scherme assets 79.3 1135 79.3 1139
Deficit recognised under IAS 19 2.4 (1.0) 24 (1.0
Cormpany contribution made te pension scheme in the year to 26 January 2014 - - 15.3 16.1
plus/(deficit) ised in the of fi ial positi 2.4 (1.0) 12.7 15.1
Thie movement in the defined benefit obligation over the year is as follows:
Fair value of Present value
plan assets of obligation Total
Group and Company £m £m £m
At 30 January 2022 113.9 {114.9) 1.0
Current and past service cost - - -
Interest incorne/(expense) 2.4 {2.9) -
Total cost recognised in income statemenit 2.4 (2.4) -
Remeasurements
- changes in dernographic assurngtions - 44 4.4
- changes in financial assumgtions - 345 345
- experience - {3.3) (3.3)
- aCtuarisl return on assets excluding amounts recognised in net interest {37.1) - (37.1)
Totai remeasurements recognised in cther-cornprehensive income (37.1) 35.6 {1.5)
Cash flows
Emplover contributions 4.9 - 4.9
Benefits paid (4.8) 4.8 -
Total cash outflow 0.1 4.8 4.9
79.3 (76.9) 2.4

At 29 January 2023

This table excludes the Company contribution made to the pension scheme through the asset-backed funding arrarigement as described below arid reconciled in the tabie

above,
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On 1 May 2016, the defined benefit section of the 2008 Scheme was closed to future accrual following a regotiated agreernent between the Cornpany and the board
of rustees.

The Company made a £1.0m contribution to the defined benefit section of the 2008 Scheme each year in May 2016 through May 2022. A further contributicn of £1.0m was

due to be paid in May 2023 but was paid in the current financial year to support the 2008 Scheme’s liquidity during a period of stock market turbulence.

The movement in the defined benefit obligaticr in the year to 30 January 2022 was as follows:

Fair value of Present value

plan assels of obligation Toral
Group and Company Em Em Em
At 24 January 2021 116.0 {123.9) (7.9)
Current service cost and past service cost - 0.1) {0.1)
Interest income/(expense) 16 (1.7) {0.1)
Total cost recognised in income statement 15 (1.8) 0.2)
Rerneasurements
- changes in dermographic assumptions - (0.9) 10.9)
- changes in financial assumptions - 9.5 95
- experience - 2.2) 2.2)
~ actuarial return on assets excluding amounts recogrised in net interest .7 - (1.72)
Total remeasurernents recognised in other compreherisive income (.7 5.4 47
Cash flows
Employer contributions . 2.4 - 2.4
Benefits paid 4.4) 44 -
Total cash outflow (2.0) 44 24
At 30 January 2022 1135 {114.9) (1.0)

This table excludes the Company contribution made to the 2008 Scheme through the asset-backed funiding arranigement as described below and reconciled in the
tabie above.

Agsat-backed fundi

arrang .
During the year to 26 Jarwary 2014, the Company estatlished the A.G. BARR Scottish Limited Psrinership (the “Partnership’) and through the Partnership has entered into

a long-term pension funding arrangement with the 2008 Scherne.

Under this arrangement certain property assets were transferred into the Partnership and are being leased back to A.G. BARR p.l.c. under a 21-year lease agreement,
generating an income stream of £1.1rm per annurn for the 2008 Scheme, increasing annuatly iri line with inflation.

The Partnership is controlied by A.G. BARR p.l.c. and its results are consolidated by the Group. The value of the properties transferred into the Partnership remains inciuded on

the Group's and Comipany’s balance sheet at carrying values at the date of transfer with the Group and Company retaining full operational control over these properties.
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27. Reti benefi igati cortinued

At the end of the term of the relevant lease, or eartier if the 2008 Scheme becomes fully funded to the extent that the members’ benefits can be secured with an insurance
companry, the Cornpany has the option to repurchiase the properties in the Partnership for an agreed fixed price.

A'structured entity” is an entity that has been designed so that voting or simitar rights are not the dominant factor in deciding who controls the entity, such as when any
voting rights relate only to administrative tasks and the relevant activities are directed by means of contractual arrangements. As outlined above, during a pricr year, certain
freehold properties were transferred to a limited Partnership {3 structured entity) established by the Group, the main purpose of which is to lease these properties to 3 Group
company and, as a result, to provide the Group's 2008 scherme with a distribution ot profits in the Partnership.

The distribution is subject to discretion exercisable by the Group in certain circumstances; however, given that the Group has tha ability to control the limited Partnership
by making an additional contribution into the 2008 Scheme, it is the view of the directors that the Group controls the limited Partnership and therefore it is treated as a

consolidated entity.

The carrying value of the properties sold to the Partnership and leased back to the Company remairt included on the Group's snd Company's balance sheet and continue
to be depreciated in line with the Group’s and Cornpany’s accounting policies with the Group and Company retaining full operational control over these properties.

The Group has taken advantage of the exemption coriferred by Regulation 7 ot the Partnerships (Accounts) Regulations 2008 and has, therefore, not appended the accournts
of this qualifying partnership to these financial staterments. Separate accounts for the Partriership are not required to be, and have not been, filed at UK Companies House.

As part of the funding arrangement, the Company made a one-off payment (o the 2008 Scheme of £20.4m to allow it to invest in the Partnership and in prior years
this has been treated as a reduction in the carrying vaiue of the retirement benefit obligation.

As the Fartnership results are consolidated within the Group results, no balances are recognised in the consolidated staternent of financial position.

Financial assumptions

2023 2022
Oiscount rate 4.4% 2.2%
Inflation assumption 3.2% 3.6%
Mortality assumptions

2023 2022
Average future life expectancy (in years) for a male pensioner aged 65 22 22
Average future life expectancy (in years) for a fernale pensicner aged 65 23 24
Average future life expectancy (in years) at age 65 for a male non-pensioner aged 45 23 23
Average future life expectancy (in years) at age 55 for a female non-pensioner aged 45 25 26

The mortality tables adopted in finalising the fair vaiue of the liabilities are the 2019 VITA tables based or the member's year of birth

This assumes that the expected age at death for mates is &7 to 88 and for fernales is 89 to 51, depending ori their age at 29 January 2023.
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The fair value of scheme assets at the year end dates is analysed as follows:
2023 2022
Quoted* Unquoted Quoted* Ungucted
£m £m £m £m
Equities 23 - 6.3 -
Bonds 19.2 - 320 -
Debt 15.2 - 21.8 -
Cash - 71 - 5.4
Buy-in policy - 35.5 - 454
Total market vaiue of scheme assets 36.7 42.6 61.1 52.
Quoted prices lor identical assets or liabilities in active markets.
Sensitivity review
The sensitivity of the overall pension liability to changes in the prinzipal assurnptions is:
Year anded 29 January 2023 Changein assumption Impact on overati liabilities
Discount rate Increase/decrease by 2% Decreases/increases liabilities by £24.2m

Rate of inflation
Life expectancy

Increase/decrease by 1%
Increase/decrease by one year

Increases/decreases liabi

Increases/decreases liabilities by £3.1m

Year ended 30 January 2022

Change in assumption

Impact on overal! liabilities

Discount rate
Rate of inflation
Life expectancy

Increase/decrease by 1%
Increase/decrease by 1%
Increase/decrease by one year

Decreases/increases liabilities by £20.4m
Increases/decreases liabilities by £6.8m
Increases/decreases liabilities by £4.6m

Methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analyses

The sensitivities disciosed were calculated using approximate methods taking into account the duration of the 2008 Scherne's liabilities. They have been caiculated

consistentiy with last period's disciosures, however these change over time with financial conditions and assumptions.
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Notes to the Accounts continued

27. Retirement benefit obligations cortinued
Risks to which the 2008 Sch p the C

The nature of the 2008 Schemie exposes the Cornpany to the risk of paying unanticipated additional contributions to the 2008 Scheme in times of adverse experience.
The most financially significant risks are likely to be:

- Asset volatility

The 2008 Scherme’s liabitities are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to corporate bond yields in line with the requirernents of IAS 19R. If the 2008 Scheme
assets underperform this yield, this will create a deficit. The plan holds investrents in a diversified portfolio, prirnarily equity and bonds, which are expected to outperform
corporate bonds in the long term but provide velatility and risk in the short term.

The board of persion trustees have made s number of steps to control the level of investment risk within the 2008 Scheme. The Trustee and the Company agreed to
purchase an annuity policy with Canada Life in April 2016 to cover ali future pension paymenits to certain rembers of the 2008 Scheme. This policy was purchased at

5 cost of £34.7m and secures the total amount of future pension payments for 100 of the 2008 Scheme’s pensioner members. A second annuity cortract was purchased
with Canada Life in September 2019 at a cost of £22.7m and secures the totat amount of future pension payments for 82 of the 2008 Scherne’s perisicrier members.
Trie board of pension trustees will continue to reviews the risk expasures in light of the longer-terr objectives of the 2008 Scheme.

- Changes in bond yields .
A decrease in corporate bond yields will increase the 2008 Scherne’s liabilities. In the event of a reduction in the corparate bonc yields, there will be an increase in the value
of the 2008 Scheme's bond holdings.

- Inflation risk
The Group persion obligations are linked to inflation, and higher inflation will lead to highier iiabiiities. The rmajerity of the 20G8 Scheme’s assets are either unaffected by
inflation {fixed interest bonds} or loosety correlated with inflation (equities). meaning that an increase in irflation will also increase the deficit.

- Life expectancy
The 2008 Scheme’s obligation is to provide benefits for the life of the members. An increase in life expectancy will result in an ircrease in the 2008 Scheme's liabilities.

Policy for recognising gains and losses
The Company recogrises actuarial gains and losses immediately, through the remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability

Asset-liability matching strategies used by the 2008 Scheme or the Company

Excluding insurance poiicias held within the 2008 Scheme the Trustee's target ailccation to growth assets and return seeking income focused assets is ¢.30%. with the
remaining ¢.70% in liability matching bends including corporate borids, with the aim of striking a balance between:

< rnaximising the returris on the 2008 Scheme’s assets; and

« minimising the risks associated with the lower than expected returns on the 2008 Scheme's assets.

The Trustee has entered into a Liability Driven Investrnent (LDI) mandate with Legat & General Investiment Management. This has resulted in interest rate and inflation hedging
levels of over 50% of liabilities (exciuding insurance policies and the asset-backed funding arrangement). The LDI funds are invested in a mix of levered gilts. levered index-linked
gilts and cash, with the aim of matching. as closely as possible, the 2008 Scheme's liability cash flows.

D iption of funding arrang and ing policy that affect future contributions
The Schedule of Contributions dated March 2018 sets out the current contributions payabie by the Comipany to the 2008 Schere to eliminate the Scheme deficit. Thisis in
addition to the rental income stream from the asset-backed funding arrangement, that is a commitment which will offset the requirement for future deficit contributions.
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Expected contributions over the next accounting period

The E£1.0r payment which A.G. BARR p.l.c. was expected to contribute to the 2008 Scherne for the year to 28 January 2024 in respect of commitrnents in reiation to the
Schedule of Contributionrs was paid in Cctober 2022, and the approxirmate £1.5m due for the year to 28 January 2324 from the asset-backed funding arrangerment in which
tne 2008 Scheme holds an interest were also paid in advance in the year to 25 January 2023.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 14 years.

The expecled rnaturity analysis of the undiscounted defined beneit pension benefit, estimated on the 2008 Scheme's funding is as follews:

Less than One to Twio to Greater than
cne year WO years five y=ars five years
Proportion of total pension benefits to be paid as at 5 Aprii 2022 2% 2% 7% 89%
Proportion of total pension benefits to be paid as at 5 April 2021 2% 2% 7% 89%

Note the above disclosure is giver: as at the date of the last signed financial statements for the 2008 Scheme, and for the cornparative year,

Defined contribution scheme
The pension costs for the defined contribution schemes are as follows:

2023 2022
£m £m
Defined contribution costs 4.0 3.8
28. Share capital
2023 2022
Shares £m Shares £m
Authorised, issued and fully paid 112,028,871 4.7 112,028,871 4.7

The Company has one class of ordinary shares which carry no right t fixed income. The shares have a nominal vaiue of 4 1/6 pence.
During the year to 29 January 2023, the Company's ernployee benefit trusts purchased 141,890 shares (2022: 42.778) shares. The total amount paid 1o acquire the shares nas

been deducted from shareholders’ equity and is included within retained earnings. At 29 January 2022.the shares held by the Company’s employee benefit trusts represented
887,553 (2022: 782,873) shares at 3 purchased cost of £5.2rn (2022: £4.7m).
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28. Share capital continued

Share repurchase programme

During the year ended 25 January 2020, the Group cornpleted a share repurchase programme, purchasing 1,915,772 shares at a total cost of £30.0m. The permanent capital
has been replaced through the crestion of a Capital Redemipticn Reserve, which is included in “Other reserves” within equity in the table belovs.

The cash flow hedqe reserve is also included in “Other reserves” in equity and records the effective portion of movements in the fair value of forward foreign exchange
contracts that have been designated as part of 3 cash flow hedge relationship.

Capital Non-

Cash flow redemption controlling
hedgereserve reserve interest Total
Other reserves £m £m £m £m
At 30 January 2022 (0.3) 0.2 (5.0) {5.1)
Derecognition of non-controlling interest on acquisition of MOMA - - 5.0 5.0
Maovement on cash fiow nedge reserve 0.2 - - 0.2
At 29 January 2023 (0.1) 0.2 - 0.1

The share premium reserve contains the premium arising on the issue of equity shares, riet of issue expenses.

29. Share-based payments

As disclesed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report, the Group runs a number of share award plans and share option plans:
« Savings Related Share Option Scheme whichi is open 10 all employees

» LTIP and ESOS options which are granted tc directors

« AESOP awards that are available to all employees

Share-hased payment costs and related deferred and current lax charges are recognised within the share option reserve.
Savings Related Share Option Scheme (SAYE)
Alt SAYESs outstanding at 29 January 2023 and 30 January 2022 have no performance criteria attached other than the requirement for the employee to rermain in the empioyment

of the Company and to continue contributing to the plan. Options granted under the SAYE must be exercised within six menths of the relevant award vesting date.

The SAYE is open to all qualifying employees in employment at the date of inception of the scheme. Options are normally exercisable after three years from the date of grant.
The price at which options are offered is not less than 80% of the average of the middle-market price of the five dealing days immediately preceding the date of invitation.

194



Strategic Report Corporate Governance Accounts

The movements in the number of share options outstanding and their related weighted average exercise prices determined using the Black-Scholes valuatior model are
3s follows:

2023 2022
Average Average
exercise price exercise price
inpence per in pence per
Options share Options share
At start of the year 679,758 486p 896,005 535p
Granted in the year 160,830 506p 277647 459p
Forfeited (165,721) 529p {495,553) 559p
Exercised" . 2,317) 428p (98.341) 460p
At end of the year 672,550 530p 679,758 486p

The weighted average fair value of the share awards made during the period was determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model. The significant inputs to the model
were as follows:

SAYE
Date of grant 3 May 2022
Nurnber of share awards granted 160.830
Share price at date of grant 562p
Contractual life in years 3
Dividend yield 2%
Expected outcome of meeting performarice criteria {at grant date) 70%
Fair value determined at grant date 145p

None of the options listed above were exercisable at the respective year end dates. The outstanding options at the year end had exercise prices of £7.45, £4.28, £4.59 and
£5.06 (2022: £6.20, £7.45, £4.28 and £4.59).

The weighted average share price on the dates that options were exercised in the year to 30 January 2022 was £4.59.

The weighted average remaining contractual life of the cutstandirg share options at the year end is two years (2022: two years).
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29. Share-based payments continued
LTip
During the year. LTIP awards were made (o the executive directors as disclosed ini the Directors’ Rernuneration Report.

The weighted average fair value of the share awards made during the period was determined using the Biack-Scholes valuation model. The significant inputs to the model

were as follows:

LTIP
Date of grant 8 April 2022
Number of share awards granted 322,560
Share price at date of arant 537p
Contractual life in years 3
Dividend yield 2%
Expected outcorne of meeting perforrance criteria {at grant date) 100%
Fair value determined at grant date 501p

AESOP
As described in the Directors’ Remuneration Report, there are two elements 1o the AESOP.

The partnership share element provides that for every two shares (year to 30 January 2022: two shares) that a participant purchases in A.G. BARR p.l.c., up to a rmaximum
contribution of £15G per month, the Compariv will purchase one matching share. The matching shares purchased are Feld in trust in the name of the individual. There are

various rules as to the period of time that the shares must be held in trust but after five years, the shares can be reieased tax free to the participant.

The second element of free shares allows participants to receive shares to the value of a comrmon percentage of their earnings, related 1o the performance of the Gioup.

The maximum value of the annusl award is £3,600 and the shares awarded are held in trust for five years.
Under the terms of the AESOP rules, any award of free shares to employees is made by the Trustee of the AESOP subject to the Company's consent.

30. Related party-transactions

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, have been eliminated on consolidation. Details of transactions between

the Company and related parties are as follows:

Purchase of goods and services

2022
£m

Rubicon Drinks Limited
FUNKIN Limited
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The arnounts disclosed in the table below are the amounts owed to and due from subsidiary companies that are trading subsidiaries.

The balanc
subsidiary companies (Note 22) are balances due by and due to dormant subsidiary comparies:

are unsecured and are due on demand. The differerice between the total of these balances and the amounts disclosed as amounts due by (Note 20) and to

Amounts owed by related parties Amounts due to related parties
2023 2022 2023 2022
£m £m £m £m
Rubicon Drinks Limited - - 4.5 131
FUNKIN Limited - 0.2 2.2 -

The amounts disciosed in the table below are the amounts owed from investments in associates. The balance is an interest-free equity convertibie loan note.

Amounts due by related parties

2023 2022
£m Em
Loans 1o associates
Qpening and closing balance 1.0 1.0
Comp ion of key g P L
The remuneration of the executive directors, non-executive directors and senior executives during the y2ar was as fallows:
2023 2022
£m £m
Salaries and short-term benefits 4.9 4.4
Post-employment benefits 0.5 0.4
5.4 50

The Directors’ Remunerstion Report can be found on pages 92 to 106.

Retirement benefit plans

The Group's retirement benefit plans are administered by an independent third-party service provider. During the year. the service provider charged the Group £0.5m
{2022: £0.5m) for adrministration services in respect of the retirement benefit plans. At the year end, Enii (2022 Enil) was outstanding to the service provider on behalf
of the retirement benefit plans.
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31. Subsidiaries

The Group's subsidiaries at 29 January 2023 are set out below. Unless otherwise stated, they have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares that are held directly by
the Group. and the proportion of ownership interests held equals the voting rights held by the Group. The country of incorporation or registration is aiso their principal place
of business.

Ownership interest held

by the Group

Place of business/ 2023 2622
Name of entity country of incarporation  Address % %  Principal activities
FUNKIN Limited* UK Milton Keynes 100 100  Distribution and selling of cocktail solutions
FUNKIN USA Lirnited* USA Milton Keynes 100 160  Distribution and selling of cocktail solutions
Rubicon Drinks Limited* UK Milton Keynes 100 100  Distribution of fruit based soft-drinks
A.G. BARR Capital Partner Limited* UK Milton Keynes 100 100 Investrnent holding comipary
A.G. BARR Gerneral Partrier Limited™ UK Cumbernautd 100 100  Investment holding compary
A.G. BARR Pensien Trustee Limited UK Curnbernauld 100 100 Investrnent holding company
A.G. BARR Scottish Limited Partnership UK Cumbernauld 100 100  Investrnent holding company
Robert Barr Limited UK Cumbernauld 100 100  Nor-trading entity
Mandora St Clements Limited UK Milion Keynes 100 160  Non-trading entity
Tizer Limited UK Milton Keynes 100 100  Non-trading entity
A.G. BARR (Ireland) Limited Republic of Iretand Oublin 100 100  Morn-trading entity
MOMA Foods Limited* UK Mitton Keynes 100 61.8  Distribution and selling of oat drinks and cereals
Boost Drinks Holdings Limited* UK Milton Keynes 100 - Investment holding company
Boost Drinks Limited UK Milton Keynes 100 - Dist-ibution and seliing of soft drinks

" Under section 479A of the Companies Act 2006 the Group is claiming exernption fror audit for the subsidiary cornpary with an *** in the tabie above. The parent undertakings, A.G. BARR plc. regisiered
nurnber SCO05653, guarantees all cutstanding liabilities to the which the subsidiary company is subject at the end of the financisi year {being the year ended 25 Janvary 2023 for each companyi.
The guarantee is enforceable against the parent undertaking by any person to whom the subsidiary company is liable iri respect of those liabilities.

The full address for Curnbernauld is: Westfield House, 4 Mollins Road, Cumbernauld. Scotiand, G568 9HD.
The full address for Miiton Keynes is: Crossley Orive, Magna Park, Milton Keynes. England, MK17 8FL.
The full address for Dubilin is: 25-28 North Wall Quay, Dublin 1, Dublin, Ireland.

32. Subsequentevents
There have been no events that have had s material impact on the Group after the balarce sheet date.
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Glossary

Non-GAAP measures are provided because they are tracked by managerent to assess the Group’s operating performance and to inform financial, strategic and
operating decisions

Definition of non-GAAP measures used are provided belovs:

Adjusted earnings per share is a nori-GAAP measure calculated by dividing adjusted profit attributabie to equity holders by the weighted average number of shares in issue.
Adjusted EBITDA is 3 non-GAAP measure anid is defined as adjusted operating profit before depreciation and amortisation.

Adjusted EBITDA margin is a non-GAAP ineasure and is calcuiated as adjusted EBITDA divided by adjusted revenue.

Adjusted operating margin is a non-GAAP mieasure calculated Ly dividing adjusted operating profit by adjusted revenue.

Adjusted operating profit is a non-GAAP measure calculated as operating profit after adjusting items.

Adjusted profit before tax is non-GAAP measure calcuiated as regorted profit before tax after adjusting entries as disciosed in the adjusting entries accounting poticy.
Adjusted revenue is 3 nor-GAAP measure Calculated as revenue after adjusting items.

Capital expenditure is 5 non-GAAP measure and is defined as the purchases of property. plant and equipment, and is disclosed in the property, plant and equipment note.
EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure and is defined as operating profit before depreciation and amortisation.

EBITDAmarginis a non-gAAP measure and is calculated as EBITDA divided by revenue.

Free cash flow is a non-GAAP measure and is defined as the net cash flow as per the cash flow staternent excluding the movements in borrowings, the net cash flow ori the
purchiase and saie of shares by emiployee benefit trusts and dividend payments.

.
Full-year dividend is s non-GAAP measure and is defined as the total dividends deciared for the financial year excluding any special dividends.

Gross margin is a non-GAAP measure calculated by dividing gross profit by revenue.

Like-for-like revenue growth is 3 non-GAAP measured comparing adjusted revenue in the current year to the pricr year excluding MOMA and Boost revenues in each year.

Market capitalisation i a non-GAAP measure and is defined as the ciosing share price at the end of a reporting period muitiplied by the number of issued and fully paid
shares of the Company.

Net cash at bank is 3 non-GAAP measure and is defined as the riet of cash and cash equivalents plus short-term investments less l0ans and othier corrowings as shown in the
statement of financial position.
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Glossary continued

Net funds/(debt) is 5 non-GAAP measure and is defined as cash and cash equivalents plus short-term investments less lease liabilities and overdrafts.

Operating margin is 5 non-GAAP measure calculated by dividing operating profit by revenue.

Return on capital employed (ROCE) is a non-GAAP rmeasure and is defined as reported profit before tax as a percentage of invested capital. Invested capital is a non-GAAP
measure defined as period end non-current plus current assets less current liabilities excluding ail balances reiating to any provisions, financial instruments, interest-bearing

liabilities and cash or cash equivalents.

Revenue growth is a non-GAAP measure calculated as the difference in revenue betvseer two reporting periods divided by the revenue of the earlier reporting period.
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Reconciliation of Non-GAAP measures

" P a
Year ended 29 January 2023 Year ended 30 January 2022
MOMA Gainon Boost
isiti sale of isiti Boost Gainonsale  Extraweei
Reported impact property fees earn-out Adjusted Reported  of property trading Adjusted
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m Em £rn Em
Revenue 3176 - - - - 317.6 268.6 - 6.8) 261.8
Cost of sales (189.5) - - - - (189.5) {150.0) - 37 (146.3)
Gross profit 1281 - - - - 128.4 118.6 - 3.1 1155
Other incorne 1.3 - 1.3) - - - 07 (0.7} - -
Operating expenses (84.1) .2 - 1.2 0.8 {84.8) (76.6) - - {76.5)
Operating profit 45.3 2.72) 1.3 1.2 0.8 433 42.7 {7 (3.1) 389
finance income 0.5 - - - - 0.5 - - - -
Finance costs 1.4) 1.1 - - - (0.3) {0.4) - - {0.4)
Shiare of after tax resuits of associates - - - - - - {0.1) - - Q.1)
Profit before tax 44.4 (1.6) 1.3) 1.2 0.8 435 42.2 07) (21 384
Tax on piofit {10.5) - - - - (10.5) (14.4} - - (14.4)
Profit for the period 33.9 (1.6) 1.3) 1.2 0.8 33.0 278 07 (31 24.0
Adjusting ent

n impact - the remeasurement and release of the contingent consideratior in respect of MOMA Foods Ltd following the Group's acquisition of the
remaining 38.2% minority interest in December 2022.

Gain on sale of property — the gain on the disposal of the Newcastle distribution site in the year to 29 January 2023 and Sheffield distribution depot in the year to
30 January 2022.

Boost acquisition fees - the acquisition fees incurred on the successful acquisition of Boost Drinks Holdings Limited.
Boost earn-out - the accrual related to the potential payment of £10m associated with the acquisitior: of Boost Drinks Holdings Limited earn-out.

Extra week trading - the 12 months to 29 January 2023 was a 52 week period and the year ended 30 January 2022 was a 53 week period. This extra week of trading
is removed for comparative purposes.
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Reconciliation of Non-GAAP measures continued

Adjusted Consolidated Income Statements coritinued

Like-for-like revenue growth Em
Adjusted revenue for year to 29 Jariuary 2023 317.6
Less Boost (7.3)
Less MOMA revenue {8.2)
302.1

Adjusted revenue for period to 30 Jaruary 2022 261.8
Less MOMA 1.1)
260.7

Movement 414
Growth 15.9%

EBITDA

2023 2022

. £m Em

Qperating profit reported 45.3 . 42.7
Depreciation and amortisation 11.0 1.2
EBITDA 56.3 539

EBITDA margin

2023 2022

£m £m

Revenue 317.6 268.6

EBITDA 56.3 539

EBITDA margin 17.7% 201%
Adjusted EBITDA

2023 2022

£m Em

Operating profit adjusted 433 389

Depreciation and arnortisation 11.0 1.2

Adjusted EBITDA 54.3 50.1
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Adjusted EBITDA margin
2023 2022
£m Em
Adjusted revenue 317.6 2618
Adjusted EBITDA 54.3 50.1
Adjusted EBITDA margin 17.1% 19.1%
Adjusted EPS
2023 2022
Adjusted profit attributabie to equity holders of the Cornpany £ 33.0 240
Weighted average number of shares in issue 111,258,209 111.187.778
Adjusted EPS (p) 29.66 2159
Full year dividend
2023 2022
pence pence
Interim dividend paid 2.5 20
Final dividend declared 10.6 10.0
Full year dividend 13.1 12.0
Gross margin reported
2023 2022
£m Em
Revenue 317.6 2686
Reported gross profit 128.1 1186
Gross margin reported 40.3% 44.27%
Net cash at bank
2023 2022
£m £m
Cash and cash equivalents 13.6 687
Short-term investments 40.0 -
Lcans and other borrowings {0.7) (0.3)
Net cash at bank 52.9 68.4
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Reconciliation of Non-GAAP measures continued

Operating margin

2023 2022
£m £m
Revenue 3176 2685
Reported operating profit 45.3 427
Operating margin 14.3% 15.9%
Adjusted operating margin
2023 2022
£m Em
Adjusted reveriue 3176 261.8
Adjusted operating profit 433 389
Adjusted operating margin 13.6% 14.9%
ROCE
2023 2022
£m £m
Profit before tax 444 42.2
Intangible assets 116.2 986
Property. plant and equipment 1025 93.8
Right-of-use assets 54 4.2
Investment in associates 0.7 07
Inventories 347 24.2
Trade and other receivables 60.4 443
Current tax . {0.7) 0.3
Trade and other payables (72.3) (54.0)
Invested capital 246.9 2121
ROCE 18.0% 19.9%
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION. If you are in any doubt as to any manev referred to in this report
or as to tha action you should take, you should seek your own personal financial advice from: (i) a stockbroker, bank or other

] pr authomed under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 if you are resident in the Umled Kingdom; or (ii) another
appropriately authorised ind d ial adviser if you are not resident in the United Kingdom,

If you have sold or otherwise transferred all of your shares in A.G. BARR p.lL.c., please pass this report, together with the panying d { pt the

panying personalised form of proxy), as soon as possible to the purch or ee, or to the stockbroker, bank or other person who arranged the sale
or transfer so they can pass these documents to the person who now holds the shares.

Notice is hereby given that the one hundred and nineteenth Annual General Meeting of A.G. Barr p.l.c. {the "Company’) wili be held at the offices of Errist and Young LLP,
G1 Building, 5 George Square, Glasgow, G2 1DY on Friday 26 May 2023 at 12.00 p.m. to consider and, if thought fit, pass the resolutions set out belovs. Resolutions 1 to 16
{inctusive) will be proposed as ordinary resolutions and Resolutions 17 and 18 wili be proposed as speciat resolutions. Voting on each of the resolutions will be conducted by
way of & poll. .

1. To receive and approve the sudited accounts of the group and the Company for the year ended 29 January 2023 together with the directors’ and suditor’s reports thereon.
2. To approve the directors’ rernuneration policy set out on pages 107 to 121 of the Cornpany's annual report and accounts for the year ended 29 January 2023.

3. To receive and approve the annual staternent by thie chair of the remuneration committee and the directors’ remuneration report as set out on pages 89 to 91 and pages
92 to 106 respectively of the Comparny's annual report and accounts for the year ended 29 Jaruary 2023.

4. To deciare 3 final dividend of 10.60 pence per ordinary share of 4 1/6 pence for the year ended 29 January 2023.
5. To re-elect Mr Mark Allen OBE as  director of the Company.

6. To re-elect Mr Roger Alexander White as 5 director of the Company.

7. To re-elect Mr Stuart Lorimer as a director of the Company.

8. To re-elect Mr Jonathan David Kemp as a director of the Company.

9. Te re-eiect Ms Susan Verity Barratt as & director of the Cornpany.

10.To re-elect Ms Zoe Louise Howorth 3s a director of the Compeny.

11. To re-elect Mr David James Ritchie as & director of the Company.

12. To re-elect Mr Nicholas Barry Edward Wharton as a director of the Company.

13.To elect Ms Julie Anne Barr as a director of the Compariy.

14. To re-appoint Deloitte LLP as the Company’s auditor, to hold c*fice until the conclusion of the next general meeting st which accounts are laid, and to authorise the audit
and risk commitiee of the board of directors of tie Company ta fix their remuneration.
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15. THAT the board of directors of the Company {the "Board’) be and it is hereby generally and uncernditionally authorised pursuant to and in accordance with section 551

of the Companies Act 2006 (the "2006 Act’) to exercise all the powers of the Company to ailot shares in the capital of the Cornpany and to grant rights to subscribe for

or to convert any security into shares in the Company:

{a) up to an aggregate nominal smount of £1,555,956.54; and

{) up 1o a further agareaste nomirai amournt of £1,555,956.54 provided that: {i) they are equity securities {within the meaning of section 560 of the 2006 Act); and {if) they
are offered by way of & rights issue in favour of the holders of shares (excluding the Cormnpany in its capacity s a holder of treasury shares) on the register of members
of the Company on a date fixed by the Board where the equity securities respectively attributable to the interests of such holders are proporticnate (as nearly as
practicable) to the respective numbers of shares held by thern on that date subject to such exclusions or other arrangernents as the Board deems necessary or
expedient to deal with: (i) equity securities representing fractioral entitlements; (i} treasury shares; arid/or {iii) legal or practical problems arising in any overseas territory,
the requirements of any regulatory body or any stock exchange or any other matter whatsoever,

provided that this suthority shall expire on the earlier of 31 July 2024 and the conclusion of the next annuat general meeting of the Cormpany after the passing of this
resclution, save that the Company may before such expiry make an offer or enter into an agreement which would or imight require shares to be allotted, or rights to
subscribe for or to convert securities inte shares to be granted, after such expiry and the Board ray allot shares or grant such rights in pursusnce of such an offer or
agreement s if the suthority conferred hereby had not expired.

.THAT:

{a) the A.G. BARR p.l.c. 2023 Long Term Inceritive Plan (the "2023 LTIP") the principal terrns of which are suramarised in Appandix 1 to this Notice of Annual General
Meeting and the rules of which are produced at the meeting (and. for the purposes of identification. initialied by the Chair) be and hereby is approved and
adogted, and that the directors be authorised to do all acts and things which they may consider necessary or expedient to carry the 2023 LTIP into efiect; and

{b) the directors be and are hereby authorised to establish such further plans based on the 2023 LTIP as they consider necessary or desirable but which have been
rmodified to take account of local tax, exchange control or securities laws in overseas territories, provided that any share made available under such furtier plans
are trested as counting against any limits on individual or overall participation in the 2022 LTIF.

17. THAT, subject to the passing of Resolution 15 set cut in the natice of the annual general meeting of the Comipany convened for 26 May 2023 ("Resolution 15°). the board

of directors of the Company {the “Board’) be and it is hereby generally empowered, pursuant o sections 570 and 573 of the Cornpanies Act 2006 (the “2006 Act’), to allot

equity securities (within the meaning of section 560 of the 2006 Act) {including the grant of rights to subscribe for, or to convert any securities into, ordinary shares of 4 1/6

pence each in the capital of the Company ("Ordinary Shares’)), wholly for cash either pursuant to the authority conferred on them by Resolution 15 or by way of a sale of

weasury shares (within the meaning of section 560(3) of the 2006 Act) as if section 561(1) of the 2006 Act did not apply to any such allotment or sale, provided that this
power shall be limited to:

{a) the allotment of equity securities, for cash, in connection with a rights issue, open offer or other pre-emptive offer in favour of holders of Ordinary Shares {excluding
the Cornpany in its capacity as a holder of treasury shares) on the register of members of the Carnpany on a date fixed by the Board where tiie equity securities
respectlively attributable 10 the interests of such holders are proportionate {(as nearly as practicable) te the respective numbers of Ordinary Shiares held by thern on
that gate subject o such exclusions or other arrangements in connection with the rights issue, open offer or other offer &s the Board deem necessary or expedient
to deal with: {i} equity securities representing fractional entitlements: {ii} treasury shares; and / or (iii) iegal or practical protlems arising in any oversess territory,
the requirements of any regulatory body or any stock exchange or any other matter whatsoever: and

{b) the allotment {otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraph (a) above) of equity securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of £466,786.96,

provided that this authority shall expire ori the earlier of 31 July 20624 and the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Comgany after the passing of this
resolution, save that the Company may before such expiry make an offer or enter intc an agreernent which would or might require equity securities to be aliotted after
the expiry of this authority and the Board may allot equity securities pursuant to such an offer or agreement as if the authority conferred hereby had not expired.
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18. THAT the Company be and is hereby generally and unconditionally authorised for the purposes of section 701 of the Comnpanies Act 2006 (the "2006 Act’) (G rmake one
or more rmarket purchases (within the meaning of section 693(4) of the 2006 Act) of ordinary shares of 4 1/€ pence each in the capital of the Corpany ("Ordinary
Shares’), on such terms and in such manner that the directors think fit, provided that:

{3) the maximum aggregate number of Ordinary Shares hereby suthorised 1o be purchased shall be 11,202.887;

() the maximum price {exclusive of expenses) which may be paid for an Ordinary Share is an armount equal to the higher of: (i} 105% of the average of the middie market
quotations for an Ordinary Share as derived from the London Stock Exchange Daily Official List for the five gealing days immediately preceding the day on which the
Ordinary Share is purchased: and (i) the higher of the price of the last independent trade ard the highest current independent bid for an Ordinary Share on the trading
venue where the purchase is carried out;

(c) the minirmum price which may be paid for an Ordinary ‘;har= Jis an amount equal to its neminal value {in each case exclusive of associated expenses);

(d) untess previously renewed, varied or revoked, the authority he:eby conferred shall expire on the earlier of 31 July 2024 and the conciusion of the riext annual generai
meeting of the Company after the passing of this resolution, but a contract to purchase Ordinary Shares may be made before such expiry which wili or may be
completed wholly or partly thereafter, and a purchase of Ordinary Shares may be made in pursuance of any such contract; and

(e} an Ordinary Share so purchased shall be cancelled or, if the directors so determine and subject 1o the provisions of applicable laws or regulations of the Financial
Conduct Authority, held as 5 treasury share.

By order of the Board

anm——

J.A.Barr
Company Secretary
25 April 2023

Registered Office
A.G. BARR p.l.c., Westfield House, 4 Mollins Road, Cumbernauld, G68 9HD. Registered in Scotland SCO05653.

Shareholders should also read the notes to lhis Notice of Annual General Meeting which are set out on pages 211 to 214 of this report. Those notes provide
furtheri ion about sh { to attend, speak and vote at the Annual General Meeting (and their ability to appoint another person
to do so on their behalf).
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Explanatory Notes

The following notes provide an exp ion of the i to be idered at the one hundred and nineteenth annual general meeting (the “AGM") of
A.G. BARR p.l.c. (the “Company”).

Thie board of directors of the Company (the "Board’) considers that all the resolutions to be considered at the AGM are in the best interests of the Comparny and its
shareholders as a whole and urianimously recommends that you vote in favour of them.

Resolutions 1 to 16 (inclusive) will be preposed as ordinary resolutions. This means that for each of those resolutions to be passed, more than half of the votes cast rmust be
in favour of the resolution.

Resolutions 17 and 18 will be proposed as special resolutions. This mears that for each of those resolutions to be passed, at least three-quarters of the votes cast must be
in favour of the resolution.

Resolution 1 - Receive and approve the reports and accounts
Shareholders are being asked 1o receive and approve the audited accounts of the group and the Company (s audited by Deloitre LLP) for the year ended 29 January 2023
together with the associated reports of the directors and auditor.

Resolutions 2 and 3 - Directors’ remuneration

The directors’ remuneration report is divided into three parts: the annual statement by the chair of the remuneration committee, the directars’ remuneration poticy and the

directors’ remuneration report.

«  The annual statement by the chair of the rernuneration committee {which is set out on pages 85 to 91 of this report) provides a summary of the directors’ rernurieration
policy and the directors’ remuneration report.

« The directors’ remuneration policy (which is set out on pages 107 to 121 of this report) sets out the Company's future policy on direciors’ remuneratiori.

« The directors’ remureration report {which is set out on pages 92 to 106 of this report) gives detaits of the payments and share awards made to the directors in connection
with their and the Company’s pertormance during the year ended 29 January 2023. It also details how the Company’s policy on directors’ remuneration will be operated
in the coming year.

) Resolution 2 invites shareholders to approve the directors’ remuneration policy. This is a binding policy and, after it takes effect, the directors will not be entitled to
remuneration unless such remurieration is consistent with the approved policy or shiareholders otherwise approve the remureration. If Resolution 2 is approved,
the policy wiil take effect from the conclusion of the AGM. Shareholders will be given a binding vote on the directers’ remuneration policy at least every three years.

Resolution 2 invites shareholders to approve the annual statement by the chair of the reruneration comimnittee and the directors’ remurieration report {other than the
directors’ remuneration policy) for the year ended 29 January 2023. This resolution is an advisery vete and will not affect the way in which the Cornpany’s remuneration
policy has been implemented. Each year, shareholders will be given an advisory vote on the irnpiementation of the directors’ reruneration policy iri relation to the
payments and share awards made to directors during the year under review.

Resolution 4 - Final dividend
Shareholders are being asked 1o approve a final dividend of 10.60 pence per ordinary share of 4 1/6 pence for the year ended 29 January 2023. If shareholders approve the
recommended finat dividend, it will be paid on 9 Jurie 2023 to all shareholders on the Company's register of members on 12 May 2023.
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Resolutions 5 to 13 inclusive — Re-election and election of directors
The Company’s Articles of Association provide that the Company may by ordinary resolution appoint any person who is willing to act 1o be a director, either to fill a vacancy
or as an addition 1o the existing Board. Mr William Robin Graham Barr wili retire from the Board at the AGM and Ms Juiie Anne Barr will offer herself for election st the AGM.

The Board complies with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code whereby all directors are subject to annual re-election. Accordingly, all directors of the
Company are retiring and, with the exception of Mr Williarm Robin Graham Barr, offering themselves for re-eiection.

Biographical details of the directors and Ms Julie Anne Barr as a proposed director are set out on pages 70 to 71 of this report. The Board has confirmed that, following formal
perforrnance evaluation. all of the directors continue to perforim e‘tectively and demonstrate commitment to their roles. The Board therefore unanimcusly recomimends the
proposed re-election (or election in the case of Ms Julie Anne Barr) of the directors.

Resolution 14 — Re-appointment of auditor

Trie Company is required to appoint an auditor at each general meeting at which accounts are preserited to shareholders and Deloitte LLP have indicated their willingness
to continue in office. Accordingly, shareholders are being asked to approve the re-appointment of Deloitte LLP as auditor of the Company to hold office until the conclusion
of the next general meeting at which accounts are laid before the Company and to authorise the audit and risk committee of the Board to fix their remuneration.

Resolution 15 - Authority to allot shares

The directors rnay not allot shares in the Company unigss authorised to de so by shareholders in the general meeting. Sub-paragraph (a} of Resolution 15, if passed, will
authorise the directors 1o allot shares having an aggregate nominal value of up to £1.555.956.54. representing approximately cne third of the Company's issued share capital
3s at 12 April 2023 (being the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this report). The directors have no present intenticn to exercise this authority.

In line with quidance issued by the Investment Association, sub-paragraph {b) of Resolution 15, if passed, will authcrise the directors to allot additional shares in connection
with a righits issue having an agaregate nominai value of up to £1,555,956.54, representing approximately one third of the Company's issued share capital as at 19 April 2023
(being the latest practicable date prior to the publicaticn of this report). The directors have no present interition to exercise the authority sought under sub-paragraph (b) of
Resolution 15. However, if such authority is obtained, it will give the Company greater flexibility to allot additionai shares for the purpose of a pre-emptive rights issue. This
authority will be used when the directors corisider it to be in the best interests of shareholders,

The authorities sought under Resolution 15 will expire on the earlier of 31 July 2024 (being the latest date by whichi the Campany must hoid its annual general meeting
in 2024} and the conclusion of the annual generai ineeting of the Company heid in 2024, :

Resolution 16 — Adoption of new LTIP

The Board has recommended that the new A.G. BARR p.l.c. 2023 Long Term Incentive Plan {the "2023 LTIP") be approved and adopted. The 2023 LTIP would replace the
existing A.G. BARK p.l.c. Long Term Incentive Plan 2014 {the "2014 LTIP'), which was approved by the Company in general meeting on 27 May 2014 and is due to expire in
2024. Given that the Company is seeking approval for a iew Directors’ Remuneration Policy st the AGM, the Remuneration Committee has recommiended that shareholder
approval is sought this year for the new 2023 LTIP. The 2023 LTIP is based on the 2014 LTIP but has been updated to reflect changes in the proposed Directors’ Remuneration
Pclicy and developments in market practice.

Resotution 16, which approves the adoption of the 202 LTIP, is proposed as an ordinary resolution. The principsl terms of the 2023 LTIP are summarised in Appendix 1 to this
Notice of Annual Generat Meeting.
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Resolution 17 — Disapplication of statutory pre-emption rights

If the directors wish to allot new shares for cash, the Companies Act 2006 states that the shares must be offered tirst 1o existing shareholders in proportion to their existing
shareholdings. For legal, regulatory and practical reasons, it might not be possible or desirable for shares allotted by means of a pre-emptive offer to be offered to certain
shareholders, particularly those resident overseas. Furtherrore, it might, in some circumstances, be in the Company's interests for the directors to be able to allot some shares
for cash without having to offer then first to existing sharehclders. To enable this to be dorie, sharehclders’ statutory pre-emption rights must e disapplied. Accordingty,
Resolution 17, if passed. will emipower the directors to allot a limited number of new equity securities without sharenolders” statutory pre-emption rights applying to such
sliotment. The authority conterred by Resolution 17 would also cover the sale of treasury shares for cash.

Sub-paraqgraph (a) of Resolution 17 will, if passed, confer authority on the directors to make any arrangements which may be necessary to deal with any legal, regulatory or
practical problerns arising on a rights issue, an open offer or any other pre-emptive offer in favour of ordinary shareholders, for example, by excluding certain overseas
shareholders from such issue or offer.

Sub-paragraph (b) of Resolution 17 will, if passed, disapply sharehoiders’ statutory pre-emption rights by empowering the directors to aliot equity securities for cash onia non
pre-emptive basis but only new quity securities having a maximum aggregate nominal value of £466,786.96. representing approximately 10% of the Company's issued share
capital as at 19 Aprit 2023 (beinq the latest practicabie date prior to the pubiication of this report).

The suthority sought under Resolution 17 will expire o the earlier of 31 July 2024 (being the iatest date by which the Company must hold an annual general meeting in 2024)
and the conclusion of the annual genersl meeting of the Company held in 2024.

Resolution 18 - Purchase of own shares
Thie Companies Act 2006 permits a company t¢ purchase its own shares previded the purchase has been authcrised by shareholders in general rneeting.

Resolution 18, if passed, will give the Comnpariy the authority to purchase any of its own issued ordinary shares at a price of not less than an amount equal to the nominal
value of an ordinary share and not more than the higher of: (i} 5% above the average of the middle market quotations of the Company's ordinary shares as derived from the
London Stock Exchange Daity Official List for the five dealing days before any purchase is made; and (ii) the higher of the last independent trade of an ordinary share and the
highest current independent did for an ordinary share on the trading venue where the purchase is carried out. .

The authority will enable the purchiase of up to a maxirum of 11,202,887 ordinary shares, representing approximately 10% of the Company's issued ordinary share capital
3s at the date of the AGM, and wiil expire on the earlier of 31 July 2024 (being the latest date by which the Company must hold an annual general meeting in 2024) and the
conclusion of the annual general rreeting of the Company held in 2024.

The directors will only exercise this buy back authority after careful consideration, taking into account market conditions prevailing at the time, other investment opportunities,
appropriate gearing levels and the overall position of the Company. Purchases would be financed cout of distributable profits ano shares purchased wouid eithier be cancelled
{and the number of shares in issue reduced accordingly) or held as treasury shares.

The Company operates two share option schemes under which awards may be satisfied by the allotrrient or transfer of ordinary shares to a scheme participanit. However, in
practice, the Company has always satisfied awards to participants by the transfer of ordinary shares frorn the trustee of each of the schemes.

As 3t 19 April 2023 (being the iatest practicable date prior to the publication of this report), opticns had been granted over 1.974,345 ordinary shares {the “Option Shares’)
representing approximately 1.76% of the Company’s issued share capital at that date. If the authority to purchase the Company's ordinary shares (as described in Resolution 18)
was exercised in full, the Option Shares would have represented approximately 1.95% of the Company's issued share capital as at 19 April 2023. As at 19 Aprit 2023, the
Company did not hold any treasury shares.
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NOTES

1.A ding the A { | Meeting in person
If you wish to attend the Annual General Meeting ((AGM’) irs person. you should arrive at the venue for the AGM in good time to allow your attendance to be registered. It is
advisabie to have some form of identification with you as you may be asked to provide evidence of your identity to the Company's registrar, Equiniti Limited (the "Registrar’),

prior to being admitted to the AGM,

2. Appointment of a proxy

Members are entitled to appoint one orf rmore proxies to exercise ali or any of their rights to attend, speak and vote at the AGM. A proxy need ot be a member of the
Company but must attend the AGM to regresent a member. To be vaiidly appointed, a proxy must be appointed using the procedures set out in these notes and in the notes
to the accomparying proxy form.

If a mernber wishes a proxy to speak on their behalf at the AGM, the mernber will need to appoint their own choice of proxy {nct the Chair of the AGM) and give their
instructions directly to them. Such an appaintrrent can be rnade using the proxy form accompanying this notice of AGM, electronically, through CREST, or through Proxyrmiity.

Members can only appoint rore than one proxy where each proxy is appointed to exercise rights attached to different shares. Members cannot appoint mare tharn one proxy
to exercise the rights attached to the same share(s). If a rmember wishes to appoint more than one proxy, they shiould contact the Registrar at Equiniti Lirnited, Aspect House,
Spencer Road. Lancing, BN99 6DA.

A member may instruct their proxy to abstain trom voting on a particular resolution to be considered at the AGM by marking the "Withheld" option in relation tc that particular
resoiution when appointing their proxy. It should be noted that an abstention is not a vote in iaw and will ot be cournted in the calculation of the proportion of votes “For” or
“Against” the resolution.

The appointment of a proxy will not prevent 3 member from sttending the AGM and voting iri persen if he or she wishes.

A person who is not a member of the Company but who has been nominated by 3 member 10 enjoy information rights does not have a right to appoint a proxy under the
pracedures set out in these notes and should read riote 9 belovs.

3. Appointment of a proxy using a proxy form or electronically

A proxy form for use in connection with the AGM is enclosed. To ke valid, any proxy form or other instrurnent appointing a proxy. together with any powsr of attorney

or other authority under which it is signed or a certified copy thereof, must be received by post or (during normal business hours only} by hand by the Registrar at Equiniti
Limited, Aspect House, Spericer Road, Lancing, BN99 6DA, or submitted electronically at www.sharevote.co.uk at least 48 hours before the time of the AGM or any
adjournment of that rmeeting.

If you do not have a proxy form and believe that you shoutd have one, or you require additionsl proxy forms. plesse contact the Registrar at Equiniti Lirnited, Aspect House,
Spencer Road. Lancing, BN99 6DA.

m
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4. Appoi of a proxy gh CREST

CREST mermbers who wish to appaint 3 proxy threugh the CREST electionic proxy appointiment service rmay do so by using the procedures described in the CREST Manual
and by logging on to: www.euroclear.com. CREST personal members or other CREST sponsored members and those CREST members who have appcinted (a) voting service
provider(s) shouid refer to their CREST sponsor or voting service provideris) who v#ll be able to take the appropriate action on trheir behalf.

In order for 5 proxy appointment or instruction made using the CREST service to be valid, the appropriste CREST message (a "CREST Proxy Instruction’) imust be properly
authenticated in accordance with Euroclear UK & International Limited's specifications, and must contain the information required for such instruction, as described in the
CREST Manual. The message, regardless of whether it constitutes the appointrent of a proxy or is an amendrnent to the instruction given 1o a previously appointed proxy.
raust, in order to be valid, be transmitted so as to be received by the Registrar (ID RA15) no later thian 48 hours before the time ¢f the AGM or any adjournment of that
rneeting. For this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to be the time (as determined by the timestamp applied to the message by the CREST Apglication Host) from
which the Registrar is able to retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST. After this time any change of instructions to a proxy appainted
through CREST should be communicated to the appointee through other means.

CREST members ano, where applicabile, their CREST sponsars or voting service provider(s) should ncte that Eurociesr UK & Internationsi Limited does not rnake availabie
special procedures in CREST for any particular message. Normal systern tirings and limitations will, thierefore, apply in relation to the input of CREST Proxy Instructions. Itis
the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to take (or, if the CREST member is 3 CREST personal member, or spansored member, or has appointed (a) voting service
provider(s), to procure that his/her CREST sponsar or voting service provider(s) take(s)) such action as shali be necessary to ensure that a message is transimitted by mieans of
the CREST system by any particular time. In this regard, CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting systern provider(s) are referred to those
sections of the CREST Mariual concerning practical limitations of the CREST system and timings.

The Company may treat as irvalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances set out in Reguiation 35(5Ma) of the Uncertificated Securities Reguiaticns 2001.

5. Appoint t of a proxy throug
If you are an institutiona! investor you ray be able to appoint a proxy electronically via the Proxymity platiorm, s process which has been agreed by the Company and

approved by the Registrar. For further information regarding Proxymity, please go to www.proxyrnity.io. Your proxy must be lodged by 12.00 p.m. on 24 May 2023 in order to
be considered valid. Before you can appoint a proxy via this process you will need to have agreed o Proxymity's associated terms and conditions. [tis important that you read

thiese carefully as you will be bound by thern and they will govern the electronic appointmerit of your proxy.

6. Appaintment of a proxy by joint hotders

In the case of joint hoiders, wheie more than one of the joint holders purports to appoint a proxy. only the purported appointmant submitted by the most serior holder wili
be accepted. Seniority is determined by the order in which the names of the joint holders appear in the Company’s reqister of members in respect of the joint holding (the
first named being the most senior).

7. Corporate representatives

Any corporation which is a member can appoint one or rmore corporate representatives. Members can only appoint rmore than one corporaste representative where each
corporate representative is sppointed to exercise rights attached to different shares. Members cannct appoint more than one corporate representstive to exercise the righits
attached (o the sarne sharels)
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8. Entitiement to attend and vote

To be entitied to attend and vote at the AGM (and for the purpose of determining the votes they may cast), members must be registered in the Company's register of
members at 6.30 p.rn. on 24 May 2023 (or, if the AGM is adjournec, at 6.30 p.rm. on the day two days prior 1o the adjourned meeting). Any changes to the Company’s register
of members after the retevant deadline will be disregarded in determining the rights of any person to vote at the AGM.

9. Nominated persons

Any person to whom this notice is sent who is a person norminated under section 146 of the Companies Act 2006 {the "2006 Act’) to enjoy information rights (3 "Nominated
Person’) may, under an agreernent between hirn/her and the member by whom he/she was nominated, have a right to be appointed (or to have someone else appointed) as
a proxy for the AGM. If 3 Nominated Person has no such proxy appointment right or does not wish to exercise it, he/she may. under any such agreement, have a right to give
instructions tc the member as to the exercise of voting rights.

10. ite giving infor ion regarding the AGM
Inforrnation regarding the AGM, including information required by section 311A of the 2006 Act, and a copy of this notice of AGM is available from www.agbarr.co.uk.

11. Audit concerns

Members should note that it is possible that, pursuant 1o requests made by members of the Company under section 527 of the 2006 Act, the Comipany may be required

to publish on 3 website a staterment setting cut any matter reiating to: {a) the audit of the Cormpany’s accounts (including the auditor's report and the conduct of the audit)
that are to be laid before the AGM; or (b) any circumstance connected with an auditor of the Cornpany ceasing to hold office since the previous meeting at which anriual

accounts and reports were laid in accordance with section 437 of the 2006 Act. The Company may nct require the members requesting any such website pubiication to

pay its expenses in complying with sections 527 or 528 of the 2005 Act. Where the Company is required to place a statement on a website urnder section 527 of the 2006 Act,

it must forward the statement to the Company’s auditor not later than the time when it makes the statement available on the website. The business which may be dealt with
at the AGM includes any statemerit that the Company has been required under section 527 of the 2006 Act to pubiish on a website.

12. Voting rights

As at 19 April 2023 {being the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this notice), the Company's issued share capital cansisted ot 112,028,871 ordinary shares of 4 1/6
pence gach, carrying one vote each. As at 19 April 2023, the Company did not hold any treasury shares. Therefere. the total voting rights in the Company s at 19 Aprit 2023
were 112,028,871 votes.

13. Shareholder questions
Shareholders have the right to ask questions related to the business of the meeting. Shareholders can submit questions related tc the business of the meeting by email to
agm2023@agbarr.co.uk. Answers to shareholder questions will be sent to individual shareholders as scon as practically possible after the AGM.

14.Voting at the AGM
Shiareholders are able to vote in advanice of the meeting using their proxy form enclosed. The proxy form covers ali resolutions to be proposed st the AGM.

Shareholders are being encouraged to submit their votes as early as possible and by no tater than 48 hours tefore the time of the AGM. Votes can be submitted either by
returming the proxy form in the post (postage is pre-paid), or electronically by following the instructions set out on the proxy form,

Voting on all resolutions at the AGM will be conducted by way of a poll. The results of the poll will be anncunced to the London Stock Exchange as soor a3 possidle after the
cornclusion of the AGM and will be published on our website.
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15. Notification of shareholdings
Any person holding 3% or more of the total voting rights of the Cornpany who appoints a person other than the Chair of the AGM as his/her proxy wilt niged to ensure that
both he/she, and his/her proxy, comiply with their respective disclosure obligations under the UK Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rutes.

16.Furtherq i and i

Under section 319A of the 2006 Act, the Company must cause 1o be answered any question relating to the business being dealt with at the AGM put by a member attending
the meeting unless answering the question would interfere unduly with the preparation for the meeting or involve the disctosure of contidential inforrnation, or the answer
has already been given on a website in the form of an answer to a question, or it is undesirable in the interests of the Company cr the good order of the meeting that the
question be answered.

Members who have any general queries about the AGM should contact the Company Secretarial Department by email to: companysecretarialdepartment@agbarr.co.uk.

Members may not use any electronic address provided in this report or in any related documerits {inciuding the accompanying proxy form) to communicate with the
Cornpany for any purpose other thar those expressly stated.

12.D i forinsp
The foliowing gocurnents will be available for inspection an the day of the AGM at the offices of Ernst and Young LLP, G1 Building, 5 George Square, Glasgow, G2 1DY frorm
11.45 a.m. untii the conclusion cf the AGM:

17.1 copies of the service contracts of the Company’s executive directors;

17.2 copies of the letters of appointment of the Company’s non-executive directors; and

17.3 the draft rules of the A.G. BARR p.lc. 2023 Long Term Incentive Plan {the "2023 LTIP") will be availabie for inspection on the National Storage Mechanism at https://data.
fca.org.uk/#/nsm/nationialstoragemechanism from the date of sending this document. The draft rules of the 2023 LTIP will also be on display at the place of the AGM for
at least 15 minutes before the AGM and during the AGHM,
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Appendix 1

PRINCIPAL TERMS OF THE 2023 LTIP
The principal terms of the A.G. BARR p.l.c. 2023 Long Term Incentive Plan (the "2023 LTIP") are summarised below. A copy of the rules of the proposed 2023 LTIP rnay be
inspected as specified in note 17 to the Notice of Annuat Generai Meeting.

Background and operation
The 2023 LTIP will have & 10-year life-span from the date of adoption (for awards and options to be granted under it),

The Rernuneration Committee of the Board of the Comipany {the “Committee”} will supervise the operation of the 2023 LTIF.

Eligibility
Any employee or executive director of the Company or any of its subsidiaries is eligible if selected by the Committee.

Grant of awards
The Committee may grant awards s conditional snare awards or 35 options {either of these being ari "Award’). The Comimittee anticipates that ary such option wouid usually
have a nil {or nominal) exercise price but may set the exercise price differently.

Awards may be granted within six weeks following the Company's adoption of the 2023 LTIP, announcernent of its results for any period or implementation of a new directors’
rermuneration policy. The Committee may also grant Awards at any other time when it considers there are exceptional circurnstances which justify the granting of Awards.

Awards may not be granted more than 10 years after the date of adoption of the 2023 LTIP.
Awards are not transferable or pensionable.

Individual limit

Ordinarily. Awards will not be aranted to a participant in respect of any financial year under the 2023 LTIP over shares with a market value in excess of 150% of the participant’'s
annual base salary. In exceptional circurnstances, as determined by the Committee, this limit mav be increased to 200% of annual base salary. The limit wili ot take into
accourtt any dividend equivalents awarded (see below as to “dividend equivalents}. In addition, the tirnit does not apply tc Awards granted to replace elererits of remuneration
forfeited by an individual on leaving a previous employment in order to take up employment with a group company.

Vesting of Awards
Awards may be granted subject to performance conditions set by the Committee which will be tested in respect of a performance period. The proposed performarice conditions
for Awards to be granted to executive directors of the Company in 2023 are described in the Company's Directors’ Rernuneration Report for the year to 26 January 2023.

A performance period will normally be a period of at least three years. Once the performance period has passed, the extent to which an Award vests will be determined by
the Commitiee. Ordinarily, awards will vest on the third anniversary of the date of grant, or such earlier date as the Commmittee shall determine. Vesting may also occur earlier
on certain events such as the individual leaving employment or certain corporate events (as described further under the relevant headings betow).

Any performance condition ray be amended or substituted if one or more events occur which cause the Committee to consider that an amended or substituted
performance condition would be more appropriate. Any amended or substituted performance conditicn would not be materially less difficult to satisty.
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Tihe Comimittee retains discretion to adjust the level of vesting of Awards upwards or downwards if in its opinion the level of vesiing resulting from the application of any
applicable perforrmance condition is not a fair and accurate reflection of business performance or the participant’s personal performance or if there are any other factors the
Comrnittee considers would rake the level of vestng inappropriate without adjustment.

Awards granted in the form of options will usuaity be capable of exercise from the date on which they vest until the tenth anniversary of the date of grant (cr such earlier date
as the Committee shall determirie). Awards rnay aiso lapse on certain events such as the individual leaving employment or certain corporate events (as described further
under the relevant headings below).

Dividend equivalents
The Committee may decide that participarits will receive additional shares on vesting/exercise which have a value equivalent to the dividends that have beer paid on vested
shares over the period from grant until the vesting date.

Holding period post vesting
At its discretion, the Committee may grant Awards subject t¢ a holding period following vesting. The Committee anticipates that a holding period of two years following
vesting will apply to Awards granted to executive directors of the Company under the 2023 LTIP.

Iri the everit of cessation of emiployment {except where cessation is by reason of death), the participant will normally rerain subject to any post-vesting holding requirements.
Iri the event of a takeover or reconstruction, or if the Cormmittee determines at its absolute discretion, the Awards {and resulting shares) will be released from the halding period.

Cash alternative
Trie Committee may determine {in its discretion) that participants will receive an amount of cash on the vesting of their Awards which is equivalent to the value of the vested
shares and/or equivalent to the value of any dividend equivalents {rather than satisfying either or both of these in shares).

Leaving employment

Awards will normally lapse upon a participant ceasing to hold employment or be a director within the Company’s group. However, if a participant ceases to be an employee
and/or director (as applicabie) because of their death, ill-health, injury, disability, their employing compariy or the busiriess for which they work being sold out of the Company’s
group or any other reason determined by the Commiittee in its discretion as being relevant, then their Award rmay vest if the Comitiee so decides. The Comimittee will decide
whether an Award will vest at the date of cessation or will continue and vest on the originally articipated vesting date. In either case, the nurnber of shares in respect of which
the Award vests will ordinarily be deterimined taking into account the extent to which any applicable perforrnance condition is satisfied (at terrninatiorn or the end of the
pertarmance period as appropriate) and, uniess the Comimitiee determines ctherwise, the proportion of the perforrance period (or for any Awards granted that are nct
subject to performance conditions, the proportion of the relevant vesting period) that has elapsed at the date of termination. The Committee retains discretion in exceptional
circurnstances to determine the number of shares in respect of which an Award vests on another basis which it considers reasonable in all the circumstances. If a participant
ceases ernployment as a "good teaver” after an award granted in the forrn of an option has vested but before it has been exercised, the option may be exercised in the geriod
of six months after the participant ceases employment {or 12 months in the event of death).

Corporate events

In the event of a reconstruction or takeover before an Award vests, the Committee will determirie thie extert to which the Award vests, taking into account the extent to which
any applicable performance condition hias been met and, unless the Committee determines otherwise. the proportion of the performance period {or for any Awards granted
that are not subject 10 performance conditions, the propartion of the relevant vesting pericd) that has elapsed. Alternatively, the Commitiee may decide 1o aliow or require
Awards 10 be replaced by new awards (which are equivalent in the Committee’s opinion) over shares in another company or companies.
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Any Award which has not {or to the extent it has not) vested or been replaced on such corporate events will lapse. Any option which has vested but not been exercised
{or to the extent it has not) will lapse at the expiry of the timeframe set by the Cornmittee for the participant to exercise their option or accept a replacement award.

If there is a reconstruction or takeover after an award granted in the form of an option has vested but before it has been exercised, the option may be exercised during the
period set by the Committee.

If @ variation to the share capital of the Compary. a demerger. special dividend or other similar corparate event occurs, the Commitiee may adjust Awards in such ways
s it considers appropriate.

Malus

The Cornmittee may decide, at the vesting of ari Award or at any tirne before the vesting date of an Award, that an Award shall be reduced or cancelled or made subject t©©

additional conditions (including arnending performance conditions, perforrance periods or vesting periods or deferring the vesting date) in the following circunstances:

() discovery of a material misstatement resulting in an adjustrnent in the historical audited accounts of the Company ©r any group company;

(i) the assessment of any performance target or conditiorn in respect of an Award was based on error, 6r inaccurate or misieading information;

(i) the discovery that any information used to determirie the nurmber of shares subject to an Award was based on error, or inaccurate or misteading informistion;

{iv) action ¢r conduct of 5 participant which, in the ressonable opinion of the Committee, arnounts ta fraud or gross misconduct;

{vi events or the behaviour of a participant have led to the censure of a group cornpany by a regulatory authority or have had a significant detrirnentalimpact on the
reputation of any group company provided that the Cornmittee is satisfied that the relevant participant was responsible for the censure or reputational darnage and that

the censure or reputational damage is attributable to them;

{vi) & material failure of risk management of the Company. a group company or a business unit of the group provided that the Committee is satisfied that the relevant
participant was responsible; and/or

{vii) the Company or any group compariy or business of the group becomes insolvent or otherwise suffers & corporate failure so that the value of shares is materially reduced

provided that the Committee determines following an appropriate review of accountability that the participant should be held responsible (in whole cr in part) for that
insolvency or corporate failure.

Clawback

The Committee may apply clawback to all or part of a participant’s Award in substantially the same circurnstances as apply to malus (as described above} during the period of

two years following the vesting of sn Award. Clawback may be effected. among other means, by requiring the transfer of shares, payment of cash or reduction of Awards.

Overall 2023 LTIP limits
The 2023 LTIP may operate over newly issusd ordinary shares, treasury shares or ordinary shares purchased in the market or transferred from one of the Company's
employee benefit trusts.

“The 2023 LTIP shall be operated so that, in any 10 year period, the Company does not issue {or grant options or other rights 1o be issued with) shares which {ignoring any
options or rights which have lapsed) exceed (i) 10% of the issued ardinary share capital of the Cornpany urder the 2023 LTIP and all employee share plans operated by the
Comipany: or (i} 5% of the issued ordinary share capital of the Conmpany under the 2023 LTIP and ariy other discretionary share plan adopted by the Company. For these
purposes, treasury shares shail be counted as newly issued when ihey are transferred from treasury for so long as the Comrnittee considers it best practice to do so.
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Participants’ rights
Awards will not confer any shiarehiolder righits uritil the Awards have vested (and in the case of options been exercised) and the participants have received their shares.
Neither the grant of an Award nor vesting of it will confer any entitlement to dividend equivalents (as this is at the Commiittee’s discretion),

Amendments to the 2023 LTIP
The Committee may. in its discretion, amend the rules of the 2023 LTIP in any way. Amendments may not normally adversely affect the rights of participants except where
participants are notified of such amendment and the rmajority of participants affected by the change approve such amendrnent.

Shareholders in general meeting must approve proposed changes which are to the advantage of participants arid which relate to eligikility, individual and plan lirnits, the basis
for determining a participant’s entitiement to and the terms of shares provided under the 2023 LTIP, the adjustments that may be made on a variation of share capitat and the
rule in the 2023 LTI requiring sharehoider approval for amendments.

The Comimittee may, however, without sharehcider approval, make minor changes to the advantage of participants which benefit the administration of the pian, to comply
with or take account of s change in legislation or to obtain or maintain favourable tax, exchiange control or requlatory treatment of ariy group compariy Or any participant.

The Board may. at any time, establish further pians based on the 2023 LTIP for overseas territories but modified 1o take account of local tax, exchange control or securities
{aws. Any shares made available under such furthier overseas plans must be treated as counting against the limits on individual and overall participation under the 2023 LTIP.
The Committee has discretion t¢ terminate the 2023 LTIP at any time, without prejudice to subsisting Awards.
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